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Our new business lines

To support our drive towards differentiated 
services and improved customer retention,  

we have decided to adopt our proven business 
line structure across all business areas. 

We are therefore establishing two more  
business lines: Hospitality and Healthcare.

2015 business lines

Given the timing of our business line reorganisation,  
our 2015 results are reported, for the final time,  

across our previous five business lines:

More details in the Financial Review
Pages 36–43

£1,006m +3%*
Total Group revenue

£153.8m* +5%**
Total Group operating profit

Shaped for  
the future

1 Workwear 30% £304.6m

2 Facility 22% £224.3m

3 UK Flat Linen 21% £210.1m

4 Flat Linen  
(outside UK) 19% £195.0m

5 Clinical solutions  
and decontamination 8% £72.0m

1 Workwear 40% £65.3m

2 Facility 35% £58.1m

3 UK Flat Linen 14% £22.8m

4 Flat Linen  
(outside UK) 8% £13.7m

5 Clinical solutions  
and decontamination 3% £5.2m

 * Underlying growth rates.  * Adjusted operating profit including 
central overheads. 

** Underlying growth rates.

More details
Page 16

More details
Page 18

Hospitality Healthcare We offer solutions for hospital wards, 
operating theatres and elderly care 
homes in Ireland, UK, Germany, Sweden 
and Denmark. 

We provide market-leading linen 
solutions, such as linen hire and laundry 
services, primarily to customers 
who operate in hotel, restaurant and 
catering businesses.

Understanding our business



Our world of opportunity

15,000+
Employees

140+ 
Sites across 16 European countries

€10.5bn
European textile rental market* 

More details on our Vision, Mission and Values 
Page 04

More details in the Our people section
Page 47

 * Source: ETSA Deloitte Study May 2014.

es

and Values 

on

More details
Page 20

More details
Page 22

Workwear FacilityWe provide convenient and cost-
effective outsourced workwear services 
to 80,000 customers across 12 countries. 

Our Facility business line covers our 
Mats and Washroom and Cleanroom 
operations, which address very different 
customer bases at both ends of the 
spectrum; broad and specialised. 



“Berendsen develops and provides  
value-added textile, hygiene and  

safety solutions. We operate across growth 
markets where we are a leading player –  

but where we also have exciting opportunities 
to maximise our growth potential.

We will unlock these opportunities  
through great customer partnerships and 

innovation – becoming respected for  
being the best, setting new standards  

and developing services that benefit all  
our stakeholders.”

James Drummond
Chief Executive Officer

Our world of  
opportunity
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“ We are delighted to appoint James to succeed Peter. James has 
the right skills and experience to help unlock further value creation 
for the group.

“ I would like to thank Peter Ventress for his excellent leadership 
of Berendsen over the past six years. During this time, the team 
at Berendsen has delivered significant shareholder value and has 
created a business with continuing momentum towards  
achieving its strategic objectives.” 
Iain Ferguson
Chairman

Berendsen’s track record
Berendsen is recognised in the investor 
markets for delivering on its promises. 
The company communicates strategic 
progress transparently and has an 
excellent track record for creating 
financial and shareholder value. At a 
business line level, Berendsen prides 
itself on the quality of its’ people and 
their commitment to the business. 
People at Berendsen have a tremendous 
customer service ethos and a genuine 
passion for the business.

Berendsen is a successful company 
with core attributes underpinned 
by a commitment to continuous 
improvement.

These attributes include:

 a An impressive track record of 
value creation

 a A motivated senior management 
team leading engaged employees

 a Existing business in growth markets 
with great potential

 a A strong regional presence and 
market leadership in core areas

 a Customer-driven culture with excellent 
local and global customers

Strong track record of value creation

James Drummond became Berendsen  
Chief Executive Officer on 1 August 2015.

Below we set out his background and his 
aspirations for the company’s future.

rship
team 

and has 

Share price graph –  
total shareholder return
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Background
Prior to joining Berendsen, James was  
CEO of Avincis Group, which was owned 
by KKR & InvestIndustrial before being 
sold to Babcock in 2014. 

Before working at Avincis, James was 
CEO at Invensys Rail, a major division of 
Invensys plc. 

With these companies, James was 
responsible for transformation 
programmes that focused on customer

solutions, introduced new technologies 
and helped the businesses expand into 
untapped international markets.

The opportunities for Berendsen:

 a Placing customers at the centre of  
all we do

 a Creating superior operating models 
that deliver the best value to the 
customer in the market

 a Building LEAN operations that align  
to customer needs

 a Growing both organically and via 
well executed acquisitions

Berendsen plc  
Report and Accounts 2015
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Working in growth markets to unlock opportunity
Dynamic markets with 
excellent opportunities
Driven by external factors including 
continued financial pressures, the 
outsourcing market continues to grow 
and to demonstrate its resilience to 
economic cycles. 

We provide specialist textile service 
solutions that keep the businesses 
of our customers running effectively. 
Typically, these services are non-core 
to our customers’ activities, and 
outsourced to specialist providers, 
including Berendsen, who can provide 
cost-effective and efficient services.

Local leadership,  
global potential 
We have established ourselves as 
an excellent regional (European) 
service provider. We see an enormous 
opportunity to leverage growth from 
our existing position within our current 
geographical markets and, over 
the longer term, beyond them – by 
moving into new service areas and 
expanding into new geographies with 
existing and new customers, within our 
core competencies. 

The macro trends driving the growth of outsourcing are:

Financial pressure 
Lack of consumer confidence and uneven economic recovery continue to put 
downward cost pressure on public and private sector industries and services. 
There is a clear long-term focus on efficiency gains in non-core operations.

Globalisation 
The expanding global economy crosses national boundaries, with producers 
focusing on international competition. The emerging economies are important 
to the growth of the GDP.

More regulation 
There is growing public concern about safety, accountability and reliability. 
Stricter regulations require improved information systems and solutions.

Sustainability
The public is increasingly aware of the scarcity of resources and this is driving  
demand for more sustainable practices.

Motivated senior management  
team leading engaged employees 

Applying innovative technology  
to enhance value

A customer-driven culture  
delivering excellent service to 
local and global customers

Slovakia

UK

Ireland

Holland
Norway

Denmark

Sweden

Estonia

Latvia

Poland

Lithuania

Czech Republic

Austria

Russia

Germany

Finland
Strong regional 
presence

1-2%
We have the opportunity 
to gain shares in a 
growth market.

Conservatively, our 
markets will grow 1–2% 
ahead of predicted 
GDP, based on further 
outsourcing opportunities. 

+30%
use of hygiene products  
with the Berendsen  
LightGuide system,  
which uses light to  
guide washroom  
guests through the 
handwashing process.

A selection of customers from our 
diverse client base:83%

of our employees  
understand their role  
and responsibilities  
and feel comfortable  
about sharing their  
opinions with senior  
management. 
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Cementing our purpose
Vision, Mission and Values
On joining Berendsen, James’ first 
task was to get to know the senior 
management team and to visit as many 
of the operational sites as possible. 
Based on these observations, We’ve 
since examined the Berendsen vision, 
values and strategy and worked 
with the teams to introduce a new 
mission statement, which cements 
our overall purpose. 

Our mission:

We are here to develop 
and provide value-added 
textile, hygiene and safety 
solutions.

We’ve also revised our vision to become 
more aspirational and one which will 
resonate with our customers. We’ve 
adopted two new values – safety 
and integrity. These represent areas 
which we could see were evident in 
the business but which had not been 
formally articulated. The themes 
behind all the work on the mission and 
values have been to build on existing 
best practice and to focus on being 
more aspirational. 

Our vision:

Through great customer 
partnerships and innovation 
we will be respected for 
being the best, setting new 
standards and developing 
services that benefit all  
our stakeholders.

Our values:

vices that benefit all 
stakeholders.

the best. 
Teamwork.
t

the best. 
Integrity.

the best. 
Safety.

the best. 
Empowerment.

the best. 
Caring.

the best. 
Determination.
h

Berendsen plc  
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Structured to move closer to our customers
Strategic restructuring
Regarding the strategy, our changes 
have been more far-reaching. We believe 
passionately in the benefits of being 
focused solely around our customer 
needs. By deepening our understanding 
of our customers’ markets, regulations  
and trends on a sector-by-sector basis 
we can differentiate our offer and  
can serve our customers better.

In turn, this will unlock opportunities 
for the business to deliver greater  
economies of scale and make us 
more cost-effective. 

In order to maximise the benefits, we 
needed to restructure the business. 
As announced at our Capital Markets 
Day on 19 November 2015, our 
business is now structured around 
four key sectors: 

 a Hospitality

 a Healthcare

 a Workwear

 a Facility

Looking ahead
Monitoring strategic progress
Execution remains the key to good 
strategy and many of the levers for 
this are already in place. The Executive 
Board has agreed an implementation 
plan with the board, including a number 
of workstreams. During 2016 the board 
will meet with each Business Line 
management team to monitor these 
developing workstreams and to ensure 
progress is made. We are already making 
good progress in building the capabilities 
needed to implement the strategy. 

This phase of our strategy features 
clear financial objectives and we are 
committed to reporting progress against 
these in an open and consistent way.

Outlook
We are pleased to report good 
operational progress for the year, in line 
with our expectations. Last November, 
we presented our Strategy Update 
reconfirming significant market 
opportunities and announcing the move 
to a revised four Business Line structure 
to accelerate the pace of delivery. 

During the course of 2016, we will be 
focused on completing the Business Line 
structure and on implementing a series 
of new initiatives designed to capture 
these growth opportunities. The board 
expects to achieve a further year of 
good underlying progress in 2016.

James Drummond
Chief Executive Officer

1 
Customer 

focus

3 
People  

effectiveness

4 
Effective use of 
available capital

2 
Operational 
excellence

Berendsen  
Excellence  

(BE)

Estimated revenue shares

More about our four new business lines
Pages 16–23

Evolving our strategic aims
Strategic refocusing
While the restructuring will focus our 
operations, it is not enough to deliver  
our growth aspirations. 

We need to build on current ‘self-
help initiatives’ already in evidence 
across our operations. We will do this 
more effectively using our Berendsen 
Excellence System (BES) to develop 
our core competencies, processes and 
people in these critical areas.

On the following  
pages we show how our  
new strategy will help us 
unlock the potential within  
our world of opportunity…

Hospitality

18%

Healthcare

30%

Facility

19%

Workwear

33%
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Getting closer.
We’re continuing to develop a deeper 

understanding of our customers’ 
worlds – enabling us to predict 

and meet the changing needs of 
our core markets… 

1

Unlocking our 
world of  

opportunity: 
Customer 

focus
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How we will achieve this
By aligning our operations, innovations 
and investments with our customers’ 
requirements. We achieve this 
through customer-centric business 
line organisation, customer feedback 
programmes and specialised 
service training. 

How we will measure this
By carrying out customer service 
feedback programmes and 
benchmarking our customer services 
KPIs, including our ability to meet 
expectations and develop additional 
business with existing clients. 

Driving customer focus…



…allowing our customers to concentrate 
on the unpredictable world they serve 

every day.

For hospital healthcare teams, it is vital 
that garments meet the strictest hygiene 

standards and are in the right place at 
the right time. Our SmartGarment chip 
technology ensures that this happens. 

Where we are on our journey
Our enhanced business line and 
business unit structure will be 
established throughout 2016. 

This will group together key competencies 
and skills, generate customer and 
industry insight and further drive 
the development of customer 
differentiated services. We will support 
this by providing our people with 
specialised training.
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2

Working smarter.
We’re establishing an operational  
model that truly meets customer 
requirements – making first class 

delivery second nature… 

Unlocking our 
world of  

opportunity: 
Operational 
excellence

Berendsen plc  
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Embedding operational excellence…
How we will achieve this
Over the coming years, we will further 
implement our superior LEAN based 
CL blueprint to Workwear laundries and 
also introduce this operational model to 
Hospitality and Healthcare laundries. 

How we will measure this
Our Berendsen Excellence programme 
incorporates group-wide operational 
excellence KPIs and best practice 
reporting. These will guide our way 
and be the platform for evaluating 
our success.



…improving efficiencies, enhancing 
environmental credentials  

and ensuring fail-safe reliability  
to our customers.

We aim for operational excellence in  
every link of the value chain. In 2016,  

we will roll-out our superior CL blueprint  
to five additional laundries, including our 

Hospitality laundry in Reading, UK. 

Where we are on our journey
In 2016, we will apply the CL blueprint 
to an additional five laundries 
within Workwear, Hospitality and 
Healthcare and we will extend this 
to more laundries as a top priority 
going forward.

In addition, we will continue to 
incorporate elements of best practice 
from all business areas into the 
operating models of each business line.
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Strengthening 
skills.

We continue to motivate our people  
and give them the skills and tools to 

do their jobs effectively… 

3

Unlocking our 
world of  

opportunity: 
People 

effectiveness

Berendsen plc  
Report and Accounts 2015



How we will achieve this
We provide extensive training for 
our employees on industry specific 
standards, on our processes and 
solutions and on customer service. 

In 2016 we’ve introduced a 
comprehensive Berendsen Academy 
e-learning platform to give this training 
programme even greater momentum. 

How we will measure this
Staff working in highly technical areas 
receive continuous training, technical 
development and industry and product 
standards. In addition, we provide 
internal training that focuses on 
products, sales and operations. We use 
competence maps to monitor and assess 
both types of training. 

Maximising people effectiveness…



…to ensure they grow with us, 
as we unlock our potential and  
deliver outstanding customer  

service and satisfaction.

Comprehensive employee training  
underpins the deep insight and industry 

expertise that lies at the heart of our strong 
customer partnerships in technical areas  

such as high-visibility workwear. 

Where we are on our journey
In 2016, we will continue to roll-out our 
e-learning programmes to support both 
customer-facing staff and operations 
based employees. This programme 
will give us greater understanding of 
technical competencies and skills. 

In addition, we are intensifying our 
training on industry specific standards, 
such as high-visibility workwear 
specifications, contamination control 
and hygiene-specific issues.
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Accelerating 
investment.

Our strategy for growth is underpinned  
by our focus on generating  

sustainable returns…

4

Unlocking our 
world of  

opportunity: 
Effective use of 
available capital
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Generating sustainable returns…
How we will achieve this
Through clear prioritisation and focus 
of capital investment and robust 
investment procedures.

In addition, we will have a 
dedicated Business Development 
function to enhance business 
development capability.

How we will measure this
Return on investment is our key measure. 
We target double digit after tax returns. 

Scale and complexity of the investment 
will determine the time period over 
which we can increase returns on this 
level. We will monitor these returns in the 
post-implementation period.

 



Where we are on our journey
We have prioritised investments in our 
Workwear and Cleanroom operations 
where our superior operating models 
are most clearly established and the 
returns available are currently highest. 

Each business line is tasked with 
developing strong investment 

propositions which can compete 
for capital allocation. 

On appointment, our new Business 
Development Director will work with 
our business line teams to identify, 
engage and execute on acquisition 
investment opportunities. 

…which ensures that we invest wisely  
for the benefit of our customers,  

whether we grow organically 
or through fast-track acquisition.

Our investments are targeted at  
delivering market differentiation,  
value-added services, increased  

operational efficiency and enhanced 
capacity, as well as supporting our business 

contingency plans. Our new Cleanroom 
facility in Beelitz, Germany, achieves all  

of these objectives at once.
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Creating value  
through deep customer 

understanding.

Customer-focused knowledge  
informs our business decisions…

…and allows us to apply LEAN principles across 
the business to eliminate waste, ensure continuous 

improvement and unlock opportunity.

Operational 
excellence

Where and how  
we become  

more efficient  
in meeting  
customer  

requirements

New business  
developments
Who and where 

we target 

Capital  
allocation
Where and 
how quickly 
we spend  
our money 

Innovation
Where and why 

we invest 

Technical  
capability

Environmental  
credentials

Employees
How we recruit,  
train and retain  

our people

Suppliers
How we  
choose 

our preferred  
suppliers 

and partners

Superior operating model
Our competitive advantage

Enhanced 
reputation and 

supplier  
of choice

New business 
wins/ 

reduced  
customer  

churn

Confidence 
to grow  

more quickly

Creating 
shareholder value 

and attracting 
superior  

investment

Better access  
to capital  
for growth

d

Customer  
requirements

Knowledge and 
understanding

Our  
markets

Re
gu

lat
ions

Operational fl exibility

Leadership
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Key beneficiaries
Our customers and their 
customers
Through providing our customers with 
a customer-driven service which gives 
their respective customers peace of 
mind and helps to keep core industries 
and institutions moving. 

Our employees
Through salaries, bonuses, sharesave 
schemes and our commitment  
to training and career development.

Societies and countries 
in which we operate
Through collection and payment  
of a wide range of taxes.

Our suppliers
Through long-term partnerships and 
reasonable terms and conditions.

Our shareholders
Through our progressive dividend 
policy, by using cash to pay down 
debt and reinvesting in the business 
to improve returns. 

Our environment
By consolidating laundry services  
on behalf of our clients, we are able 
to wash and circulate textiles more 
efficiently and therefore reduce the 
impact on the environment.

Our communities
We create employment and also invest 
in social initiatives in the areas where 
we operate.

Key facilitators

Our new strategic focus
Our new strategy is about gearing up for further growth by 
focusing on four key strategic areas fundamental for our long-
term success: customer/market focus, operational excellence, 
organisation capabilities and effective use of capital.

Our new way of working
Berendsen Excellence provides a systematic approach to 
extending excellence across every part of the group and is 
supported by the Berendsen Excellence Team.

Our new market-focused structure
Hospitality Healthcare Workwear Facility

Our employees
United by a clear mission, vision and set of values,  
our employees are integral to our customer understanding 
and to our service delivery.

1

3

4

2

More details in the Corporate responsibility section
Page 44–51

More details in the Chief Executive Officer’s introduction
Page 01

Facilitators
Superior operating model

Benefificiaries
Superior operating model
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Hospitality

Attention to  
the detail.

Our strong operational setup matches every 
need, enabling our customers and their guests 

to have a great experience – every time.

Berendsen plc  
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Our services
The continued steady growth of 
the hospitality sector in our UK, 
Scandinavian and Irish markets is 
unlocking opportunities across our core 
textile rental services; providing our 
customers with bed linen, towelling, table 
linen and chefswear. We are developing 
our operating model in terms of physical 
processing and advanced delivery 
systems by using technology such as 
online portals and RFID, to enhance the 
customer’s experience and strengthen 
our service differentiation.

Our customers
 a Hotel groups, independent and 
boutique hotels (> 10 rooms)

 a Ferry companies

 a Restaurants

 a Events companies

 a Corporate canteens

Market drivers
 a New openings 

 a Increasing trend for a greater 
proportion of the hotel sector 
to be owned by groups, evident 
through new openings and 
industry consolidation

 a Greater outsourcing tendency, 
particularly in catering

 a Increased leisure and tourism, 
including from India and China

Market size

£650m
Addressed market*

Estimated Hospitality share  
of group revenue**

18%

 

Niels Peter Hansen
Managing Director,  
Hospitality

*  The addressed market is a subset of larger total market. 
The information has been extracted from internal analysis.

** Internal analysis of revenue by end market.
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Providing  
a lifeline.

For patients, the highest standards of  
cleanliness mean everything. As experts in  
infection control and linen management,  

we are devoted to continuous improvements.

Healthcare

Berendsen plc  
Report and Accounts 2015
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Our services
In 2016, we will be expanding our elderly 
care services, particularly into the UK 
care sector, unlocking opportunities 
by building on our expertise and 
experience in providing similar services 
in Denmark, Sweden, Germany and 
Ireland. Our core hospital textile services, 
which continue to benefit from a drive 
towards outsourcing in many of our 
markets, are complemented by new 
opportunities for our sterile supplies 
and decontamination businesses.

Our customers
 a Public and private hospitals and 
healthcare providers in the UK and 
across Continental Europe

 a Elderly care organisations in both 
the private and public sectors 

 a Hospices

 a Private sector manufacturers of 
medical devices

Market drivers
 a Increasing trend towards outsourcing 
among public hospitals as part of 
efficiency programmes

 a Ageing population driving demand  
for elderly care

 a Increasing concern over regulation 
relating to infection control

 a Continued innovation of new 
products and services 

Market size

£1,350m 
Addressed market*

Estimated Healthcare share  
of group revenue**

30%

Steve Finch
Managing Director,  
Healthcare

* The addressed market is a subset of larger total market. 
The information has been extracted from internal analysis.

** Internal analysis of revenue by end market.
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Workwear

Setting the  
standard.

As innovators in our markets, we integrate 
regulatory requirements, functionality and 
specific customer needs in every solution.

Berendsen plc  
Report and Accounts 2015
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Our services
Our efficient and cost-effective outsourced 
workwear solutions unlock opportunities 
by providing our customers with a supply 
of functional and legally compliant 
workwear solutions. Our services include 
workwear rental and delivery, repair, 
stockholding and stock management, 
including specialised garment dispensing 
systems. We are dedicated to being 
the natural partner for workwear and 
protection management. 

Our customers
 a Private and public industries across 
Continental Europe and the UK

 a Non-sector specific but we have 
a strong track record in: food and 
beverage, pharmaceuticals, energy, 
construction, light industry, catering, 
automotive, and petrochemical 
businesses, amongst others

 a Large and medium sized companies, 
which are potentially present in more 
than one country 

Market drivers
 a Increasing focus on outsourcing to 
reduce administrative complexity  
and/or business risk

 a Stricter health and safety regulations 
for workwear

 a Increasing demand for environmentally-
friendly solutions that reduce water 
usage and use of chemicals

 a Increasing role of workwear to underpin 
customer branding, values and image

Market size

£3,500m 
Addressed market*

Estimated Workwear share  
of group revenue**

33%

Peter Havéus
Managing Director,  
Workwear

* The addressed market is a subset of larger total market. 
The information has been extracted from internal analysis.

** Internal analysis of revenue by end market.

21

Strategic report
G

overnance
F

inancial statem
ents

Berendsen plc  
Report and Accounts 2015



Uncompromising 
approach.

As hygiene experts, we constantly innovate  
and develop our services, adding value to  

our customers.

Facility

Berendsen plc  
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Our services
This business line has three 
distinct services: Washroom, Mats 
and Cleanroom.
We unlock opportunities in this highly 
regulated and compliance driven area 
by providing serviced washroom and 
mat solutions to a broad range of 
offices and industries. With our support, 
our customers are able to access high 
standards of hygiene, in-door climate 
and safety. 
We also supply individually customised 
solutions for controlled areas and 
cleanrooms to protect sensitive products 
and processes from human particles. 

Our customers
 a Washroom and Mats: a wide range of 
businesses requiring facility services, 
including offices, government 
organisations, retailers, restaurants 
and garages

 a Cleanroom: specialised companies, 
primarily within the pharmaceutical 
and high-tech industries

Market drivers
 a Washroom: increasing hygiene 
awareness and the growing trend 
towards the outsourcing of fully 
serviced solutions

 a Mats: Significant and largely 
undeveloped market supported 
by increased demand for 
outsourced solutions

 a Cleanroom: greater regulation 
and need for documentation, plus 
increasing hygiene awareness

Market size

£1,200m 
Addressed market*

Estimated Facility share  
of group revenue**

19%

Christian Ellegaard
Managing Director,  
Facility

* The addressed market is a subset of larger total market. 
The information has been extracted from internal analysis.

** Internal analysis of revenue by end market.
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Nagore Marco
Group Risk  
Manager

By managing risk effectively and embracing 
opportunities, we will be in a stronger 

position to deliver our strategy and enhance 
shareholder value. 

Managing our risks, 
embracing our opportunities 

Our key focus areas in 2015
 a Reviewed our risk management 
processes to ensure these are more 
responsive to any potential changes 
in activities, processes or the 
business environment 

 a Supported IT risk management 
through our IT Steering Group, in 
particular through the development 
of a group IT risk management plan 

 a Implemented a mechanism for 
sharing lessons learnt from incidents 
across the businesses 

Next steps and 
key priorities for 2016

 a Provide support to deliver key 
strategic initiatives, with particular 
focus on project and change 
risk management 

 a Maintain effective operation of the 
new risk management processes, 
ensuring a sharp focus on areas of 
potential change, both internally 
and externally 

 a Complete an information risk 
assessment exercise in order to 
identify high risk areas where we can 
strengthen information security

Risk appetite 
The board is responsible for the amount 
of risk that the group is willing to take. 
The board fulfils this responsibility when 
it agrees and sets the business strategy 
and cascades it down to the organisation 
by setting the group’s delegation of 
authority and approving group policies 
and procedures. This enables the group 
to reduce risks, where possible, to 
the tolerance levels set by the board. 
The board considers the inherent risk 
attributes of our business, highlighted 
in the table below, when identifying 
its appetite and tolerances for risk 
and opportunities. 

Inherent attributes

 a We have an open communication 
culture where it is normal practice to 
escalate issues promptly 

 a We operate predominantly in Western 
Europe, which has a well-developed 
business culture 

 a We have a stable and experienced 
management team 

 a The group operates a large number of 
plants, and this reduces the potential 
impact on our business should 
problems occur in a specific plant 

 a Our organisation is strongly 
process-oriented 

We operate within a low risk tolerance in 
respect to strategic objectives associated 
with corporate responsibility, and with a 
marginally higher tolerance towards our 
financial strategic objectives. 

Risk culture
We maintain an open style of 
communication. This is designed to 
identify any problems and issues early 
so that appropriate action can be taken 
quickly to minimise any impact on 
the business. 

The characteristics of our group 
culture are supported by our group 
intranet, the Berendsen Universe. 
This provides an extensive platform for 
our employees to keep updated with 
the latest news, key group policies and 
procedures and to share best practice 
with others. Our Vision, Mission and 
Values complement and drive the 
characteristics of our culture. 

Identification, evaluation and 
management of principal risks
The board is responsible for identifying 
the principal risks that face the group. 
Throughout 2015 and up to the date 
of the approval of these financial 
statements, there has been an ongoing 
process through which the board 
reviewed the most significant risks facing 
the group including the identification 
and evaluation of potential new risks. 

In addition, there has also been a process 
through which the audit committee has 
regularly monitored the management of 
these risks.

Details on the identification, evaluation 
and management process of our 
principal risks are outlined on page 25. 
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Ongoing process for risk identification, 
evaluation and management

The board
 a Sets strategic objectives

 a Agrees risk appetite, identifies and evaluates key risks and tolerance levels and ensures they 
are appropriately managed

 a Sets delegation of authority

 a Approves group policy and procedures

 a Identifies, assesses, 
manages and reports 
local risks 

 a Maintains local risk 
management plans 

 a Implements key risk 
mitigation plans 

Provides guidance and 
advice to business line and 
business unit management 
to help with: 

 a Risk identification 
procedures, quantification 
and mitigation plans

 a Health and safety

 a Fire management

 a Insurance

Reports to the board and 
audit committee on status of 
business risks. 

 a Monitors assurance 
and risk management 
arrangements

Review of the effectiveness 
of key risk management and 
control processes through:

 a Internal audit

 a External audit

 a Insurance 

 a Risk surveys

 a Monitors performance 
and changes in key risks 
facing the business, and 
provides regular reports 
to the board 

 a Agrees key actions to 
manage risks 

Executive  
Board

Business line 
and business unit 

management

Group risk 
management  

Audit  
committee

Effectiveness 
of risk and 

control processes

Assurance lines of defence
1 2 3

Business line and business  
unit management

Group  
support

Independent  
assurance

Internal control
The board also has responsibility for 
maintaining sound risk management 
and internal control systems, and 
reviewing the effectiveness of these 
systems at least annually. Our internal 
control systems are designed to manage 
rather than eliminate the risk of failing to 
achieve a business objective. They can 
therefore only provide reasonable and 
not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss. 

Read more about the board’s annual 
assessment of the effectiveness 
of internal control systems on page 74

Operational Risk 
Management Group
The Operational Risk Management 
Group aims to improve our systems 
and procedures in order to share 
risk management best practice 
around the group. This group, which 
comprises several senior managers 
from across our organisation, meets 
at least twice each year to discuss 
emerging risk management issues and 
to identify opportunities for us to share 
best practice. 

In response to the new business 
strategy and, in particular, to the new 
business line structure, the terms of 
reference and membership of the group 
will be reviewed in 2016 to ensure it 
remains fit for purpose and aligned to 
our organisation. 
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Our strategic objectives drive the ways in 
which we identify and prioritise risks. 

Identifying and 
prioritising our risks

Prioritising our principal risks
Risk heat map
The following risk heat maps illustrate the 
relative positioning of our principal risks 
in terms of impact and likelihood before 
and after mitigating actions, as well as 
the level of management focus for each. 

The board has performed a robust 
assessment of the principal risks facing 
the group, taking into account those 
that would threaten our business 
model, future performance, solvency 
or liquidity, as well as the group’s 
strategic objectives. 

All principal risks identified by the 
board may have an impact on our 
business strategic objectives within 
the next six to twelve months. 
The development of mitigation plans 
and actions to manage these risks 
is delegated to the Executive Board 
and other senior management. 
Mitigation plans and the actions 
required are then communicated to 
business unit management who are 
responsible for the implementation 
and management of risks. 
Business unit management teams are 
also responsible for the identification, 
evaluation and management of 
local risks. 

1 Failure to put in place the structure 
and culture as well as build the 
necessary capabilities that will enable 
the delivery of the strategic change 
programme’s objectives 

2 Business disruption and lack of focus 
resulting from organisational changes 
occurring during 2016

3 Failure to deliver health and safety 
systems to reduce accidents and 
improve safety

4 Textile suppliers are found not to be 
adopting appropriate employment and 
human rights practices

5 Inadequate talent management 
and inability to recruit and retain 
sufficiently qualified and experienced 
senior management

6 Sales model fails to deliver the 
necessary new contract wins to drive 
targeted organic growth

7 Significant change in the political 
environment arising from government 
policies or expenditure levels

8 Non-compliance with laws 
and regulations

9 Discovery of historic environmental 
issues at laundries

10 Unforeseen loss of operational/
IT capacity

11 Movements in exchange rates affect 
the translation of our group results into 
UK sterling

12 Further economic uncertainty

Level of management focus

Low priority

Medium priority

High priority
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Understanding why and how our principal risks change
New risks Why?

“Failure to put in place a structure 
and culture to deliver the strategic 
change programme” and “Business 
disruption and lack of focus resulting 
from organisational changes”

Although the revised strategy is 
evolutionary consisting in further focused 
business lines and accelerated investment 
where we have probed success; this 
implies changes within the business 
which increases risk. 

 Increased risk profiles Why?

Movements in exchange rates Exchange rate volatility negatively impacts 
the translation of our statutory results.

Changes in political environment New regulations introduced in the UK and 
EU together with an increased risk of the 
UK leaving the EU. 

Failure to deliver health and safety 
systems to reduce accidents and 
improve safety

As part of the Berendsen Excellence, we 
are increasing focus on health and safety 
processes in order to operate to a much 
higher standard than mere regulatory 
compliance. In addition, our major injury 
rate has increased 23% in 2015.

 Decreased risk profiles Why?

Economic uncertainty GDP growth forecasted for all European 
countries we operate in for 2016, except 
for Russia where we only have a small 
operation*. However, there is some 
uncertainty in global markets which 
may impact our markets. 

Risks removed Why?

Return on Invested Capital (ROIC)  
is not sufficiently greater  
than the group’s cost of capital

The target of double-digit ROIC has 
been achieved.

One of our major textile suppliers  
is unexpectedly unable to meet  
our textile requirements

Our group procurement function has 
placed a significant focus on reducing this 
risk during the last two years by awarding 
large contracts to a select number of 
suppliers and ensuring that sufficient 
flexibility and back-up procedures are 
in place. In addition, we have had no 
historical incidents in this regards.

The ongoing review of the most 
significant risks faced by the group 
focuses on how these risks may evolve, 
as well as the identification of potential 
new risks.

Since the publication of last year’s 
Annual Report, our principal risks have 
changed as follows:

 * As per International Monetary Fund analysis from 
October 2015.

Viability statement
Our board assessed the prospect of 
the company over a longer period than 
the 12 months required by the ‘Going 
Concern’ provision (which can be found on 
page 108).

The review was conducted for a period of 
three years for the following reasons: i) the 
group’s strategic review covers a rolling 
three-year period; ii) is aligned with our 
long range plans; and iii) is an appropriate 
period for our market, especially when 
considering that our usual customer 
contracts extend for at least three years.

The process required for the board’s review 
was approved by the audit committee and 
is detailed on page 75.

The board considered the wider context  
of the group, including our business model, 
strategy and risk appetite. They concluded 
that as a group, we remain focused on 
our strengths, are a diversified business 
operating in predominantly mature 
countries across multiple business sectors 
and have a track record of delivering to  
plan and proven resilience. 

We have a strong, experienced 
management team and we are following 
an evolutionary rather than revolutionary 
strategy update.

Based on the results of this review, our 
board have a reasonable expectation that 
the company will be able to continue in 
operation and meet its liabilities as they 
fall due over the three-year period of 
their assessment.
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Strategic focus area
 a This underpins all our four strategic areas 
outlined on page 05.

Strategic focus area
 a Operational excellence

KPI: 
Revenue growth

Strategic focus area
 a Operational excellence

KPI: 
Major injury rate 

Read more details 
Pages 32–35

Read more details 
Pages 32–35

1
 

NEW

Failure to put in place 
the structure, culture and 
capabilities necessary for the 
delivery of the strategic change 
programme’s objectives: 

a)  Establish new group structure with 
four business lines

b)  Enhance business development 
capabilities and develop 
bolt-on acquisitions

c)  Establish Berendsen Excellence 
with the use of LEAN techniques

d)  Strengthen use and scope 
of shared services

e)  Maintain financial and capital 
discipline, and strong balance 
sheet and funding profile 

Potential impact

 a Insufficient support to the new 
group strategy

Mitigation in first half of 2016
a)  The new business line structure 

established and all key senior 
management positions are in place 
for Workwear, Facility and Hospitality. 
During 2016, we will be searching 
for Steve Finch’s successor who will 
be appointed as Managing Director, 
Healthcare when Steve retires

b & c)  A Director of Business 
Development and a Berendsen 
Excellence Director have been 
appointed. The former will join in 
Q2 2016

d)  A Shared Service Director has been 
appointed and will take responsibility 
from 1st of March 2016

e)  The delegation of authority limits 
policy for each of the business lines 
has been reviewed and updated. 
A capital expenditure and bids 
committee has also been set up in 
order to bring a more disciplined 
approach to investment and 
contractual agreements decisions

2
 

NEW

Business disruption and 
lack of focus resulting from 
organisational changes 
occurring during 2016 

Potential impact

 a Reduction in future profitability 
and cash flow

 a Failure to deliver targeted 
revenue growth

Mitigation in 2016

 a Develop and regular monitoring of 
business KPIs

 a Executive board will meet monthly 
to monitor progress on strategy 
implementation and business 
performance against targets agreed 
for the year

 a The Group Berendsen Excellence 
Director has been tasked with 
coordinating group initiatives 
to ensure we use our resources 
effectively and avoid overloading

 a Develop and monitor a project 
tracker for group initiatives

The opportunity
Managing change effectively will enable 
us to deliver further business value and 
growth while maintaining current value.

3
 

Failure to deliver health and 
safety systems to reduce 
accidents and improve safety 
 

Potential impact

 a Failure to deliver strategic objective 
to be the best

Mitigation in 2015

 a Health and Safety Director appointed

 a Group health and safety policy 
approved by the executive board 
and in place

 a Three year plan to move Berendsen 
to best practice standard 
defined and approved, with 
implementation started

 a Local health, safety and fire 
management systems in place

 a Cleaning and maintenance 
programmes regularly updated 
and monitored

 a Prompt incident reporting 
procedures maintained

 a Regular board review of major 
incidents and statistics

Mitigation in 2016

 a Continue to implement the three-year 
plan to move Berendsen health and 
safety standards to best practice

 a Increase focus on reducting the 
group’s major injury rate

 a Review health and safety KPIs

The opportunity
Best in class health and safety systems 
will contribute to an increase in process 
efficiency and effectiveness.
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Strategic focus area
 a Customer/market growth

KPI: 
Revenue growth

Read more details 
Pages 32–35

Strategic focus area
 a Operational excellence

KPI: 
Adjusted earnings per share 

Read more details 
Pages 32–35

6
 

Sales model fails to deliver 
the necessary new contract 
wins to drive targeted 
organic growth 

Potential impact

 a Reduction in future profitability 
and cash flow

 a Failure to deliver targeted 
revenue growth

Mitigation in 2015

 a Continuation of commercial terms 
and pricing education programme 
for managers and frontline personnel 
including tender training

 a Reporting system provides 
monthly progress against business 
line budgets, including key 
performance indicators

 a Monthly management accounts 
distributed to the board include KPIs 
on organic revenue growth, contract 
gains and customer losses

 a Business strategy review completed, 
with an implementation plan defined 
and agreed

Mitigation in 2016

 a Implement the revised 
business strategy

 a Establish the new business lines 
Healthcare, Hospitality, Mats and 
Washroom for further focus on sales 
in each business line

 a Key performance indicators review 
and alignment to new revised strategy

The opportunity
There is still a great deal of opportunity 
to continue growing in the markets 
where we currently operate.

4
 

Textile suppliers are 
found not to be adopting 
appropriate employment 
and human rights practices 

Potential impact

 a Loss of licence to operate, loss of 
goodwill and/or damage to reputation

 a Significant stakeholder concern

Mitigation in 2015

 a Regular visits to major suppliers by 
experienced internal personnel and 
external parties to assess suppliers’ 
compliance with appropriate 
working practices 

 a New anti-Bribery and corruption 
policy and procedures became 
effective from January 2015 and 
include a tailored risk assessment 
for procurement

 a Training on anti-bribery and corruption 
and modern slavery delivered to 
group procurement staff

 a Prompt incident reporting  
procedures to senior management 
and subsequent monitoring

Mitigation in 2016

 a Continue with regular visits to 
suppliers as well as external audit by 
an independent assurance provider 

 a Continue to monitor compliance 
with our anti-bribery and 
corruption procedures

 a Further focus on modern slavery and 
develop an appropriate of statement

The opportunity
Enhance and maintain our reputation as 
a socially responsible partner.

Strategic focus area
 a Organisation capability/people development

KPI: 
Senior management retention rate

Read more details 
Pages 32–35

5
 

Inadequate talent 
management and inability to 
recruit and retain sufficiently 
qualified and experienced 
senior management
Potential impact

 a Loss of key personnel

 a Shortage of appropriately 
skilled management

Mitigation in 2015

 a Extended succession plans to  
Country Managers and their teams

 a Reviewed Executive Board and 
business line succession plans 

 a Integrated the LEAD leadership 
framework into the performance 
management process

 a Enabled 96 Managers to participate 
in LEAD development centres

 a Continued building on the 
management trainee scheme

 a Implemented the group 
recruitment policy

 a Developed short and long-term 
management incentive plans 

Mitigation in 2016

 a Re-visit the LEAD model to reflect 
LEAN enterprise thinking as part 
of Berendsen Excellence within the 
revised strategy

 a Address those areas for 
improvement highlighted by the 
2015 employee survey

 a Enable more Managers to participate 
in LEAD Development Centres

The opportunity
Build further expertise, knowledge and 
capability in the business.

29

Strategic report
G

overnance
F

inancial statem
ents

Berendsen plc  
Report and Accounts 2015



Strategic focus areas
 a Operational excellence

 a Effective use of capital

KPI: 
Adjusted earnings per share 

Read more details 
Pages 32–35

Strategic focus area
 a Operational excellence

KPI: 
Adjusted earnings per share  
Revenue growth

Read more details 
Pages 32–35

9
 

Discovery of historic 
environmental issues 
at laundries 
 

Potential impact

 a Emergence of unaccounted 
for liability

 a Adverse impact on cash flow and 
retained earnings

 a Damage to our reputation

Mitigation in 2015

 a Established procedures for incident 
reporting to senior management, 
with subsequent monitoring

 a Established indemnities with the 
previous owners of a number of 
acquired sites

 a Reviewed the extent and coverage 
of these indemnities with the relevant 
third-party as appropriate

 a Continued to vigorously defend 
these indemnities

Mitigation in 2016

 a Continue our current approach to the 
management of this risk

The opportunity
Enhance and maintain our reputation as 
an environmentally responsible partner. 

8
 

Non-compliance with laws 
and regulations 
 
 

Potential impact

 a Damage to our reputation

 a Loss of licence to operate

Mitigation in 2015

 a Group policy and guidance developed 
and translated into local languages, 
and regularly monitored to ensure 
compliance to those laws and 
regulations identified as significant 
for the group

 a Ongoing training programme 
for employees

 a Prompt incident reporting procedures 
to senior management with 
subsequent monitoring

 a Regular board review of major 
incidents and statistics

Mitigation in 2016

 a Continue to maintain our current 
approach to the management of this 
risk will continue

The opportunity
Enhance and maintain our reputation as 
a trusted and compliant partner. 

Strategic focus areas
 a Customer/market growth

 a Operational excellence

KPI: 
Adjusted earnings per share 
Revenue growth

Read more details 
Pages 32–35

7
 

Significant change in the 
political environment arising 
from government policies 
or expenditure levels 

Potential impact

 a Reduction in future profitability and 
cash flow

 a Failure to deliver targeted 
revenue growth

 a Adverse impact on reputation

Mitigation in 2015

 a Careful planning and monitoring 
of political developments

 a Deep understanding of domestic 
market and political environment

Mitigation in 2016

 a Continue to monitor changes in the 
political environment

The opportunity
Further business opportunities could 
arise from the implementation of new 
required customer solutions due to 
legislation changes.
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Strategic focus areas
 a Customer/market growth

 a Effective use of capital

KPI: 
Return on invested capital 
Free cash flow/year’s adjusted profit 
Net debt to EBITDA

Strategic focus area
 a Operational excellence

KPI: 
Adjusted earnings per share 
Revenue growth

Read more details 
Pages 32–35

Read more details 
Pages 32–35

Strategic focus area
 a Effective use of capital

KPI: 
Adjusted earnings per share

Read more details 
Pages 32–35

10
 

Unforeseen loss of 
operational/IT capacity 
 
 

Potential impact

 a Inability to service 
customer requirements

 a Adverse impact on reputation

Mitigation in 2015

 a Documented and evaluated 
business continuity plans including 
the identification of alternative 
production locations

 a Undertook desktop scenario-based 
testing of business continuity 
planning arrangements 

 a Carried out fire protection and 
security procedures, with regular 
compliance audits

 a Initiated comprehensive 
property damage and business 
interruption insurance 

Mitigation in 2016

 a Continue to undertake desktop 
scenario-based testing of business 
continuity planning arrangements

 a Continue to monitor fire protection 
and security systems, and respond to 
the results of our regular independent 
survey programme

 a Maintain the appropriate 
property damage and business 
interruption insurance cover for 
our individual businesses

The opportunity
Enhance and maintain our reputation 
as a reliable partner able to continuously 
meet our customers’ needs.

11
 

Movements in exchange 
rates adversely affect the 
translation of our group  
results into UK sterling 

Potential impact

 a Unexpected variations in group 
net earnings

Mitigation in 2015

 a Continued to maintain and regularly 
monitored a high-level of balance 
sheet hedging

 a Regular communication with the 
market on impact on earnings

Mitigation in 2016

 a Maintain our current approach to 
managing this risk

The opportunity
Our track record for maintaining a 
good financial position can attract 
more investment

12
 

Further economic  
uncertainty 
 
 

Potential impact

 a Reduction in future profitability and 
cash flow

 a Adverse pressure on pricing 
and margins

 a Failure to deliver targeted 
revenue growth

 a Limit of our ability to implement 
the strategy

Mitigation in 2015

 a Preparation of long-term plans for 
business lines to 2018 

 a Maintain tight and close monitoring of 
controls over capital expenditure and 
working capital

 a Monitor various lead indicators against 
previous experience, including Hotel 
and Workwear volumes 

Mitigation in 2016

 a Continue monitoring lead indicators, 
including hotel and workwear volumes

 a Continue tight and closely monitored 
controls over capital expenditure and 
working capital

The opportunity
The resilience of the business supported 
by self-help procedures will ensure 
expert and cost-effective services.
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Our KPIs help us to measure our  
strategic progress and determine  

board remuneration.

Tracking progress, 
rewarding performance.

Evolving our KPIs in 2016
Through our strategy update in 2015, 
we took the opportunity to evaluate and 
re-set objectives for the medium term. 

These not only build on our performance 
to date but also reflect the investment 
priorities we currently envisage, as well 
as the returns available. 

Health and safety, developing 
our workforce, and caring for 
our environment remain priorities. 

Read more on our new strategic objectives 
Page 05 

Measuring our 2015 
performance
In 2015 we delivered on the strategic 
priorities we set ourselves in 2010. 
Our principal priority was to achieve 
double digit return on invested capital, 
and in 2015 this was 10.3%. 

We are convinced that there 
remains more opportunity for us to 
continuously improve our performance. 

Our 2015 strategic priorities

1 Delivering sustainable 
organic growth

2 Improving capital efficiency

3 Maintaining a sound 
financial position

4 Improving financial returns by 
leveraging operational efficiency

5 Maintaining health and safety 
as a priority

6 Maintaining a motivated 
workforce driven by an 
experienced management team

7 Reducing our impact 
on the environment

Board
Monitoring performance  

against targets

A balanced set of 
meaningful measures
Our KPIs comprise a set of financial and 
non-financial measures – these are lived 
and breathed by everybody throughout 
our organisation. Each of our seven 2015 
strategic priorities has its own measure 
and targets and we analyse our key 
risks against them, identifying which key 
strategic objective and target could be 
most affected by this risk. Each risk is 
detailed in the following pages. 

Transparent measures  
to reward performance
We use our KPIs to determine specific 
elements of our directors’ remuneration 
package, as set out in detail in the 
following pages. There is a clear link 
between how we perform against our 
strategic objectives and how we reward 
our directors.

How we monitor our progress
The board sets the strategy and monitors management activity and  
performance against strategic targets through the review of the KPIs.

Human resources team

CSR team

Business line Managing Directors

Finance team

Read more on Governance 
Pages 52–109
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3%

2015

3%

2014

3%

2%2%

201320122011

1
Delivering sustainable 
organic growth

Measure
We believe that organic revenue 
growth – defined as underlying growth 
excluding the impact of foreign 
currency translation and acquisitions 
– demonstrates that we are capturing 
the opportunities available to us in our 
existing markets. 

Performance
We increased our underlying organic 
revenue growth rate by 3% for the group 
as a whole (2014: 3%) with the underlying 
revenue growth in our core growth 
businesses also 3%.

Target

 a GDP +1%-2%

Remuneration 
See 2015 annual bonus measure 
Page 95

2
Improving capital efficiency 

Measure 
We believe that a measure of return 
on invested capital that incorporates 
the value of goodwill and other 
intangible assets previously written-off 
or amortised, reflects the full use of 
our shareholders’ capital. This shows 
how efficiently and effectively we 
are allocating capital to our business. 
Converting our growth into cash is 
key to the successful management of 
our invested capital, and we believe 
this is best expressed by a cash 
conversion ratio. 

Performance
We delivered strong free cash flow with 
a conversion rate above our target. 
By delivering improved returns through 
organic growth and higher margins, and 
converting our growth to cash, we have 
again increased our ROIC. Since 2011, 
we have improved our ROIC by 2.4%.

Target

 a Double-digit in ROIC (post-tax) 

 a Cash conversion of at least 100%

Remuneration 
See long-term incentive measure 
Page 97

See 2015 annual bonus measure 
Page 95

Link to principal risks
6   Sales model fails to deliver the necessary 

new contract wins to drive targeted 
organic growth

7   Significant change in the political 
environment arising from government 
policies or expenditure levels

Organic revenue growth

+3%

Link to principal risks
5   Inadequate talent management and 

inability to recruit and retain sufficiently 
qualified and experienced senior 
management

11   Movements in exchange rates adversely 
affect the translation of our group results  
into UK sterling 

12   Further economic uncertainty

99%

2015

116%

2014

137%
146%

114%

201320122011

10.3%

2015

9.9%

2014

9.3%
8.5%

7.9%

201320122011

Return on invested capital

Free cash flow/year’s adjusted profit

99%

10.3%

KPI

KPI

KPI
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31.5

2015

30.0

2014

28.0
25.5

23.4

201320122011

60.4

2015

62.1

2014

59.8

50.7
48.4

201320122011

1.0

2015

1.1

2014

1.2

1.5
1.6

201320122011

3
Maintaining a sound 
financial position 

Measure 
The financial covenants we have with 
our key banking relationships are 
expressed in terms of the ratio of net 
debt to EBITDA and EBITDA to net 
interest. We believe that the net debt to 
EBITDA best captures the sustainability 
and soundness of our financial position. 
By decreasing this ratio we reduce the 
financial risk to our business.

Performance
Our strong free cash flow generation 
has allowed us to reduce net debt from 
£374.4 million at the end of 2014 to 
£370.9 million in 2015.

Target

 a Within covenant level of 3.0 times

Link to principal risks
7   Significant change in the political 

environment arising from government 
policies or expenditure levels

11   Movements in exchange rates adversely 
affect the translation of our group results  
into UK sterling 

12   Further economic uncertainty

Link to principal risks
5   Inadequate talent management and 

inability to recruit and retain sufficiently 
qualified and experienced senior 
management

7   Significant change in the political 
environment arising from government 
policies or expenditure levels

10   Unforeseen loss of operational/IT capacity

12   Further economic uncertainty

Adjusted earnings per share

-3%

Dividend per share

+5%

Net debt to EBITDA

1.0

4
Improving financial returns 
by leveraging operational 
efficiency

Measure 
Earnings per share and dividend per 
share best represent both the future 
returns available to shareholders and 
the current year cash returns from 
the improvements we are making to 
our business. 

Performance
Our adjusted earnings per share 
decreased by 3% in 2015 impacted 
by strength of sterling during the year. 
We increased our proposed dividend 
by 5% per share. 

Target

 a High single-digit % EPS growth 

 a Progressive dividend policy

Remuneration 
See Long-term incentive measure 
Page 97

See 2015 annual bonus measure 
Page 95

KPI

KPI

KPI
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364

2015

379

2014

402411
434

201320122011

97%

2015

97%

2014

96%98%
92%

201320122011

0.54

2015

0.44

2014

0.79

0.51
0.57

201320122011

Link to principal risks
3   Failure to deliver best practice Health and 

Safety systems to be the best-in-class

7   Significant change in the political 
environment arising from government 
policies or expenditure levels

8   Non-compliance with laws and regulations

Link to principal risks
4   Textile suppliers are found not to be 

adopting appropriate employment and 
human rights practices

9   Discovery of historic environmental issues 
at laundries

Link to principal risks
5   Inadequate talent management 

and inability to recruit and retain 
sufficiently qualified and experienced 
senior management

5
Maintaining health  
and safety as a priority 

Measure 
We have recorded and monitored our 
business unit, business line and group 
major injury rate for a number of years. 
This remains an area of significant focus 
throughout the group. 

Definition
We use the ‘RIDDOR – Reporting 
of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous 
Occurrence Regulatory’ legislation in 
the UK to define how incidents should 
be classified, including the definition of 
‘major injuries’. 

Performance
Over the last five years we have reduced 
our incident rate. However, we are very 
disappointed that the incident rate 
increased by 23% in 2015. We have 
revised our approach to health and 
safety as a result.

Target

 a Zero major injuries

See our CR priorities 
Page 44

6
Maintaining a motivated 
workforce driven by an 
experienced management

Measure 
A stable and experienced management 
team strongly influences our ability to 
motivate and engage our workforce, which 
in turn supports our growth strategy. 

Definition
We measure the percentage of leavers 
from senior management positions in the 
calendar year, not including retirement 
or promotions. Senior management is 
defined as the top 130 positions, and 
includes business line management 
teams, country management teams, 
group and other designated senior roles. 

Performance
The five-year trend shows that we 
have a strong senior management 
retention rate. This drives continuity 
of company knowledge and expertise 
and reflects our continued investment 
in performance management and 
leadership development. In addition, 
we work hard to identify and develop 
future talent.

Target

 a Senior management retention rate  
of more than 90% 

See our CR priorities 
Page 44

7
Reducing our impact 
on the environment 

Measure 
We record and monitor scope 1 and 
scope 2 CO2 emissions from all of 
our plants and other sites, using the 
Greenhouse Gas Protocol methodology. 

Definition
Because reporting of CO2 emissions 
alone is of limited value to our 
stakeholders, we also show kg of CO2 
per tonne of laundry shipped. 

Performance
In 2015, we achieved a 4% reduction in 
kg of CO2/tonne of laundry shipped. 
We continue to move in the right 
direction and are committed to further 
improvements in the future. 

Target

 a Ongoing reductions in the use of 
water, electricity, chemicals and  
fuel/oil/gas 

See our CR priorities 
Page 44

Group CO2 emissions  
(kg/tonne shipped)

-4%Major injury rate*

+23%
Senior management retention rate

97%

 * Number of deaths and major injuries/total 
hours worked x 1,000,000.

KPI

KPI

KPI
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In 2015, we delivered on our strategic objective 
of double-digit return on invested capital. 

Continuing our track record 
of strong performance.

Group performance overview
We delivered underlying growth in 
revenue and operating margin, strong 
cash flow and a 5% increase in dividend 
for the year. 

We have built a strong foundation and 
momentum for the next phase of our 
strategy with a strong balance sheet and 
good capital disciplines. 

We have identified opportunities for 
further investment to accelerate delivery 
of returns. 

Net debt to EBITDAReturn on invested capital

Adjusted operating profit

1 Workwear 30% £304.6m

2 Facility 22% £224.3m

3 UK Flat Linen 21% £210.1m

4 Flat Linen  
(outside UK) 19% £195.0m

5 Clinical solutions  
and decontamination 8% £72.0m

1 Workwear 40% £65.3m

2 Facility 35% £58.1m

3 UK Flat Linen 14% £22.8m

4 Flat Linen  
(outside UK) 8% £13.7m

5 Clinical solutions  
and decontamination 3% £5.2m

Revenue

-10bps
1.0

5
1

23

4

5

1

2

3

4

153.8

2015

158.7

2014

158.9

142.4139.8

201320122011

£153.8m*
+5%**
 * Including central overheads

** Underlying growth rates

10.3%

2015

9.9%

2014

9.3%
8.5%

7.9%

201320122011

1.0

2015

1.1

2014

1.2

1.5
1.6

201320122011 20152014201320122011

1,006.0

2015

1,038.6

2014

1,054.2
985.1992.0

201320122011

£1,006m
+3%*

 * Underlying growth rates

+40bps
10.3%
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Group overview
Revenue at £1,006 million was 3% lower 
compared to last year (£1,038.6 million). 
Adjusted operating profit (before 
exceptional items and amortisation 
of customer contracts) was down 
3% to £153.8 million (£158.7 million). 
The negative impact of currency 
translation decreased revenue and 
adjusted operating profit by £71.4 million 
and £13.5 million respectively compared 
to last year. Excluding currency 
translation and the contribution from 
acquisitions, underlying revenue grew 
3% and adjusted operating profit grew 
5%. The negative impact of currency 
translation was apparent throughout 
2015 as sterling strengthened against 
the currencies in which we operate 
in Continental Europe. We delivered 
a 30 bps improvement in adjusted 
operating margin, reflecting strong 
margin improvement in our Continental 
European businesses as a whole. 

Our net finance expense was 
£18.7 million, a decrease from 
£20.2 million last year as a result of our 
strong cash flow and lower average 
interest rate. In March, we successfully 
concluded the renegotiation of our 
Revolving Credit Facility (RCF) with 
a new €510 million facility extending 
out to March 2020 with the possibility 
to extend for a further two years. 
This replaced existing facilities which 
were due to expire in July 2016. The total 
facilities available to the group are 
£834 million with our new RCF and our 
private placements notes extending 
from 2016 to 2025. The average fixed 
interest rate on our borrowings is 4.1% 
and we took the opportunity in 2015 to 
pre-fund the maturity of our May and 
December 2016 US private placement 
notes at substantially lower rates.

Adjusted profit before tax was 
£135.1 million compared to £138.5 million 
last year and adjusted earnings per 
share were 60.4 pence (62.1 pence). 
Our effective tax rate on adjusted profit 
before taxation was 23.4%, similar to last 
year. We expect the tax rate for 2016 to 
be at a similar level.

Capital expenditure on tangible assets*

2015 
£m

2014 
£m

Textile assets and washroom equipment 144.5 149.9

Plant, machinery and vehicles 32.7 30.7

Land and buildings 6.2 4.8

Total 183.4 185.4

 * Based on note 10 of the group financial statements and includes finance lease additions.

We incurred exceptional costs of 
£0.9 million (£nil) in relation to the 
implementation of our strategic 
initiatives. These relate to recruitment 
and programme management costs, 
as well as some restructuring in our 
business lines to reflect the new 
priorities. As previously announced, we 
expect to incur a total of £5-10 million 
of one-off cash costs in implementing 
our strategy over the next 24 months 
to establish our business line structure 
and invest in capabilities to deliver on 
the growth opportunities available to 
us. We expect the additional ongoing 
cost of building this capability and 
investment in our new business lines to 
be approximately £2 million in 2016. 

As part of our strategy update, we 
reviewed the market structure of each 
of our businesses and the opportunities 
for growth and profit improvement. 
We characterised the market structure in 
Germany Healthcare to be aggressively 
competitive and while we have good 
management and are making significant 
progress in our growth and profit 
improvement plans, there remains 
substantial free capacity within our 
plants, which we believe will take some 
time to fill. Following this review we 
announced at the beginning of 2016, the 
closure of one of our German Healthcare 
plants where the services provided 
did not meet the requirements of our 
core portfolio and profit improvement 
agenda. Accordingly, in evaluating the 
goodwill related to this business for 
impairment this year, as required by 
accounting standards, we applied a 
higher risk factor and this resulted in an 
impairment charge of £6.4 million this 
year, after which the goodwill in this part 
of the business has been fully written 
down. This charge is shown as part of 
exceptional costs.

Amortisation of acquired customer 
contracts was £14.4 million (£21.5 million). 
Operating profit after exceptional items, 
goodwill impairment and amortisation 
was £132.1 million (£137.2 million) and 
profit before tax was £113.4 million 
(£117.0 million). Basic earnings per share 
were 51.9 pence compared with 52.6 
pence in 2014.

Our free cash flow was £102.5 million in 
2015 (£122.6 million), a conversion of 99% 
of group adjusted profit after tax with 
our net capital expenditure down on 
last year at £173.9 million (£179.5 million) 
but above depreciation of £168.2 million 
(£174.8 million). Investment in textiles 
was £144.5 million (£149.9 million) 
reflecting a good level of new contract 
activity. Plant investments amounted to 
£37.4 million, compared to £33.3 million 
last year, as we continued to upgrade 
our UK Workwear plants, add capacity 
in our Flat Linen plants outside the UK to 
accommodate the significant contract 
gains and make further investments in 
technology in our Cleanroom plants. 

We have completed the expansion of 
our plant in the Czech Republic and have 
invested in capacity upgrades in Poland, 
where we continue to see excellent 
growth. We remain well invested to 
serve our business today and have an 
excellent footprint across the markets 
we serve. We have also identified 
opportunities to accelerate the delivery 
of returns in certain of our key markets 
where the momentum of the business 
is strongest. We will target higher levels 
of plant investment in UK and German 
Workwear over the next 24 months, 
to capture the margin improvements 
available from extending our CL2000 
operating model. In Cleanroom, where 
we have excellent revenue growth based 
on deep customer relationships, we see 
opportunities to expand our footprint. 
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Overall, we expect net capital 
expenditure to be ahead of depreciation 
in 2016 and our free cash conversion 
to be in the range of 75%-90% of our 
adjusted profit after tax.

We purchased shares for the Employee 
Benefit Trust amounting to £14.2 million 
and we contributed an additional 
£3.7million to the UK pension fund in 
the year. We are not planning for further 
additional contributions to pension in 
2016 pending the results of our triennial 
valuation which is due in late 2016. 
At 31 December 2015, the pension 
accounting surplus for the group was 
£15.8 million (£1.0 million surplus at the 
end of 2014).

Net borrowings at 31 December 2015 
were £370.9 million (31 December 
2014: £374.4 million), reflecting strong 
cash flow conversion, with dividends 
paid of £52.1 million and £9.2 million on 
acquisitions, as we acquired the assets 
and customer contracts of a UK Hotel 
laundry and also invested in small bolt-
on acquisitions in Denmark. There was 
an adverse currency movement of 
£17.4 million largely as a result of the 
retranslation of the US dollar component 
of our US private placement notes. 
These have been swapped to euro, 
Danish krone and Swedish krona, the 
currencies in which we fund our business 
and the positive impact of retranslation 
to these underlying currencies is shown 
in derivative assets on our balance 
sheet. The covenants on our RCF reflect 
adjustment to the underlying currencies.

The group retains a strong balance 
sheet with funding and flexibility 
for future growth and a ratio of net 
debt to earnings before exceptional 
items, interest, tax, depreciation and 
amortisation (EBITDA) of 1.0 times 
(2014: 1.1 times), compared with the 
RCF covenant level of not more than 
three and a quarter times. We have total 
private placement notes of £458 million 
and the group’s bank facilities extend to 
March 2020 and amount to £376 million, 
of which £336 million was undrawn at 
the year end. 

Committed funding

As at  
31 Dec 2015 

£m

As at  
31 Dec 2014 

£m

€510m revolving credit facility March 2020 376 399

$200m US private placement notes 2016–2018 135 129

$259m and £25m private placement notes 2016–2021 200 192

DKK654.8m and €79.7m private placement notes 2025 123 –

Total 834 720

Return on invested capital (average)*

2015 
£m

2014
restated

£m

NOPAT return

Adjusted operating profit 153.8 158.7

Add back: Pension interest less returns on investment (1.4) (1.8)

Less tax at effective rates (35.8) (36.8)

Net operating profit after tax 116.6 120.1

Operating capital and Invested capital

Total equity 494.2 525.0

Add back:

Net debt 395.0 396.3

Retirement benefit obligations (10.8) (9.0)

Derivatives (52.4) (5.1)

Intangible Assets (385.8) (436.8)

Operating capital 440.2 470.4

Add back:

Intangible assets (including goodwill previously written-off, 
amortisation and other) 690.8 743.9

Average invested capital 1131.0 1214.3

Return on operating capital (post tax) 26.5% 25.5%

Return on invested capital (post tax) 10.3% 9.9%

 * Based on 12-month average.

We seek to create value by increasing 
our return on invested capital in line 
with our strategic objectives: we aim 
to increase our returns by growing 
revenues and margins and managing 
our invested capital by converting our 
growth to cash. This year, we increased 
our return on invested capital (ROIC)
by 40bps from 9.9% last year to 
10.3%. Since the announcement of our 
Strategic Review in 2010, our return 
has increased by 290 bps from 7.4% 
and we have delivered on our objective 
of double-digit returns. We intend to 
maintain ROIC at double-digit at the 
same time as increasing our investment 
in the business. 

In addition, our return on operating 
capital, which is before goodwill 
and other intangible assets related 
to acquisitions and reflect the high-
level of returns available from organic 
investment, was 26.5% (25.5%).

The board is recommending a final 
dividend of 21.5 pence, which, together 
with the interim dividend of 10 pence 
paid in October 2015, gives a total of 
31.5 pence; an increase of 5% on last 
year’s level. The final dividend will be 
paid on 6 May 2016 to shareholders on 
the register at the close of business on 
8 April 2016.
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Core growth

Workwear

2015 performance

£304.6m +3%* 
Revenue

£65.3m +7%* 
Operating profit

21.4% +50bps 
Operating margin

 * Underlying growth at constant currency.

Revenue was £304.6 million 
(£314.4 million), with adjusted operating 
profit at £65.3 million (£65.7 million). 
The adjusted operating margin increased 
50bps to 21.4%. On an underlying 
currency basis revenue was up 3% with 
adjusted operating profit up 7%.

We see significant opportunity to 
continue to grow well in Workwear. 
It is the largest of our business lines, 
operating in a well-established 
outsourcing market with £3.5 billion  
of addressed opportunity across  
all the territories in which we operate. 
We see a significant proportion  
of this market potential from those  
who do not currently outsource  
and this virgin opportunity of  
£1.6 billion is biggest in the UK and 
Germany which we are targeting for 
further investment.

We are well positioned to capitalise 
on this potential. Our CL 2000 model, 
based on customer-specific workflow, 
allows us to provide solutions to 
individual customer needs with higher 
levels of service, productivity and 
efficiency than traditional mechanised 
laundry flows. Improved market 
segmentation is driving successful 
targeting of large and mid-sized 
companies where the levels of service 
complexity are higher and our solutions 
are most valuable to the customer, 
allowing us to differentiate further 
our offering from the competition. 
This business line is making good 
progress in defining our next generation 
CL model, CL 3.0, which will further 
streamline the end-to-end management 
of our service to the customer and 
capitalise further on the application  
of Lean operating principles. Central to 
this will be enhanced service delivery 
with investment in online solutions and 
key account management.

We are innovators in our markets  
and our Product Design Centre  
in Sweden continues to address 
regulatory requirements and produce 
bespoke solutions for customer-specific 
requirements, for example in the 
food industry. The standard product 
collections from our Design Centre 
represent almost half of all new  
contract sales, leading to greater  
utility for the customer and efficiencies 
for order processing and lead times 
for delivery.

We are pleased to report that the 
operating margin of our UK and 
German businesses has now reached 
17% in combination, up 500bps from 
2010. In the UK, we have seen further 
productivity improvements from the 
three plants operating under CL2000, 
enabling consolidation of our plant 
in Croydon during the year at a cost 
of £2.1 million, which was charged to 
operating profit in the first half of the 
year. In the second half of 2015, we 
announced that our fourth CL2000 
plant will be in Durham where we have 
acquired a new site to build a state-of-
the-art facility. We will close our existing 
site in the area, having realised a profit 
of £2.0 million on the sale of that site, 
offsetting the plant closure costs of 
Croydon in the first half. 

In Germany, our revenue growth was 
9% and this continues to be the highest 
level of growth for the business line, 
driven primarily by increases in market 
share through our differentiated 
approach. Ongoing productivity 
improvements delivered a double-digit 
increase in operating profit and strong 
margin improvement. 

In the last three years, we have 
converted five plants to CL2000 across 
the division with proven benefits to 
customer service, productivity and 
margin. We believe we now have the 
experience and capability to accelerate 
the pace of development and we are 
planning to convert 12 plants over the 
next three years. This investment will 
be focused on the UK and Germany 
where we are targeting to swiftly close 
the margin gap to our ‘Best Practice’ 
countries, which currently stands 
800bps higher. In addition, at the start 
of 2015, we transferred management 
of our Workwear business in Ireland to 
our Workwear business line team: this 
transition has gone well, and Ireland is 
now performing ahead of plan and we 
see further opportunity to drive best 
practice improvements and profitability 
in this region.
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Core growth

Facility

2015 performance

£224.3m +4%* 
Revenue

£58.1m +6%* 
Operating profit

25.9% +0bps 
Operating margin

 * Underlying growth at constant currency.

Reported revenue was £224.3 million 
(£237.7 million) with adjusted operating 
profit, at £58.1 million (£61.6 million), 
down 6%. Adjusted operating profit 
margin was consistent with last year 
at 25.9%. On an underlying constant 
currency basis excluding acquisitions, 
revenue grew by an encouraging 4% 
and adjusted operating profit was up 
6%. We made progress in each of the 
three operating units within Facility: 
Cleanroom, Mats and Washroom, all of 
which have leading market positions. 

Our Cleanroom business, a leader in its 
market where customers require a very 
high integrity service, has a significant 
opportunity to move with its customers 
to new markets. These customers 
operate primarily in highly regulated 
pharmaceutical or technology sites 
and we offer a unique platform with a 
network of back-up facilities to deliver 
superior service. Our expertise is in 
managing contamination control in 
cleanroom environments and we are 
expanding the tool kit of solutions 
we offer our customers. This is 
enabled through our plant structure 
which, like Workwear, is based on the 
CL2000 customer specific workflow. 
Cleanroom delivered excellent double-
digit organic revenue growth and margin 
improvement in 2015, with a strong 
pipeline of contracts and enhanced 
solutions to existing customers. 

In Germany, we are winning a high level 
of new contracts and this, together with 
on-going operational focus, contributed 
to an improved margin which is moving 
closer to the average for this business 
activity. Our UK Cleanroom acquisition 
is performing ahead of our expectations. 
As announced in our Strategy Update, 
we will be targeting future investment in 
both new capacity in Germany and the 
UK, along with upgrades in Denmark and 
Sweden, to capture the opportunities 
available to us in the Cleanroom market.

In Mats and Washroom, our markets are 
growing and favourable outsourcing 
trends provide opportunities to grow 
in virgin markets, where we estimate 
that there is almost £0.7 billion of 
opportunity. Innovation is at the heart of 
our Mats and Washroom businesses, and 
focuses on the growing awareness of 
the importance of safety, cleanliness and 
hygiene in public places.

Economic activity in our ‘Best Practice’ 
countries, Denmark, Sweden and 
Holland, was mixed. We saw limited 
momentum overall, but we did achieve 
good progress in Sweden where 
GDP growth was around 3%. Here we 
delivered a 5% increase in revenue, 
demonstrating the leverage of the 
business to economic growth even in a 
well-developed market. We are pleased 
with the level of new sales in Denmark 
where customers who are new to the 
outsourcing model accounted for 82% 
of new contracts. We held our position 
in Holland, despite the fact that this 
continues to be a highly competitive 
and more challenging market. 
These countries also benefited from a 
focus on operational improvements, 
increasing productivity and growing 
margins, as we continue to leverage 
the opportunities inherent in our 
CL2000 model.
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Core growth

UK Flat Linen

2015 performance

£210.1m -0.1%* 
Revenue

£22.8m -14%* 
Operating profit

10.9% -190bps 
Operating margin

 * Underlying growth at constant currency.

Revenue in 2015 was 1% ahead of the 
prior year at £210.1 million (£207.5 million) 
and adjusted operating profit lower at 
£22.8 million (£26.5 million). The adjusted 
operating margin was 10.9% (12.8%). 
Revenue growth was impacted by the 
extra billing week in 2015 and adjusting 
for this, underlying revenue and adjusted 
revenue was unchanged and operating 
profit down 14%.

In Mats, which is over half the revenue 
of the Business Line and has the greater 
scale and density necessary to deliver 
higher margins, we continue to improve 
the business mix with a higher level 
of sales of premium categories in all 
markets and we continue to increase the 
number of mats at existing customer 
sites. Further, we introduced our new 
‘zone concept’ focusing on unmet needs 
for mat solutions inside the buildings 
in addition to the typical entrance 
zone solution. This has resulted in a 
broader portfolio of services, meeting 
the individual customer’s needs. In our 
emerging markets, we invested in 
additional sales capacity, and this was 
rewarded with higher growth rates. 
In the Danish market, we introduced 
our new microfiber mat with greater 
absorbency and durability. We have 
been very pleased with the take up of 
this premium product, which we will 
now roll out in several other markets 
in 2016. As announced in our Strategy 
Update and in order to facilitate further 
development of the Mats business we 
have appointed a Business Unit Director 
of Mats services, who will lead this 
business within the Facility Business Line.

In Washroom, we have seen good 
growth in our full service product 
packages, adding profitability to our 
services. We are further differentiating 
our sales efforts with greater success 
being delivered from our field salesforce 
which is selling to smaller customer 
establishments where the level of 
administration in managing the service 
effectively in-house is a greater burden. 

At the same time we are seeing more 
demand for innovation from those 
customers where maintaining high 
hygiene standards and integrity is critical, 
such as in food processing. We have 
introduced the Berendsen LightGuide 
system which guides the user through 
the use of the washroom services. Here, 
we have demonstrated to customers 
that there is a 30% increase in hygiene 
routines after introduction. 

A number of our larger contracts in the 
facilities management segment, where 
price competition is greatest, were 
renegotiated in 2015. While we remain 
committed to this segment, we are 
increasing our focus on higher integrity 
customers and on supporting our field 
salesforce. In order to facilitate this focus 
we have also appointed a Business Unit 
Director of Washroom services who will 
lead this business within Facility. 

Overall our Mat and Washroom 
businesses contract base expanded, with 
solid growth in Sweden and improving 
activity in Denmark. Progress continued 
to be slower in Holland and Norway, 
with the latter being impacted by the 
downturn in oil. We put a number 
of initiatives in place to address this 
and consequently we saw improved 
performance in the second half. In our 
emerging Central European markets, 
we saw double-digit revenue growth 
and margin improvement, and we are 
pleased with the progress made by these 
businesses in underdeveloped markets. 
We completed a £2 million investment to 
extend our plant in the Czech Republic 
and we have also planned capacity 
upgrades in Poland to capture the 
further opportunities available to us. 
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Manage for value

Flat Linen outside 
the UK

2015 performance

£195m +5%* 
Revenue

£13.7m +16%* 
Operating profit

7.0% +70bps 
Operating margin

 * Underlying growth.

Revenue in our Flat Linen businesses 
outside the UK was £195.0 million 
(£207.2 million) and adjusted operating 
profit was up to £13.7 million 
(£13.1 million). On an underlying constant 
currency basis, revenue grew 5% and 
adjusted operating profit was up 16%. 
The adjusted operating margin increased 
by 70bps to 7.0%.

New outsourcing activity continued 
to be limited but we won some new 
contracts that were already in the 
market. We continue to believe that 
increased outsourcing will provide the 
NHS Trusts with good opportunities 
to make savings. We are focused on 
continuous operational improvements to 
help improve profitability in this business 
line. We believe the move to a business 
line structure for Healthcare will allow 
us to deliver hygiene and cleanliness 
promises to hospitals and offer fuller 
service solutions to meet our customers’ 
needs. Our pilot programme, based 
in South London, to deliver services 
to the large and as yet untapped care 
home market is progressing well and 
we are allocating resource to accelerate 
development of a scalable solution for 
our service and operating model.

Niels Peter Hansen was appointed 
Managing Director of Hospitality at the 
start of 2016. Niels Peter is leading a 
development team to define a leading, 
customer-specific, workflow for our 
hospitality customers. His team is drawn 
from each of our UK and Scandinavian 
hospitality units and also includes a 
number of process experts. Our research 
shows that customers demand a flexible 
and individually tailored linen service 
which is aligned to their own brand 
values. The acquisition in the year of 
the assets and contract base of White 
Knight Laundry Services (UK) provides 
us with additional capacity and a laundry 
system that delivers the sophisticated 
linen processing technology needed to 
provide this level of service, efficiently 
and with higher levels of productivity. 
We are looking to improve the 
acquired business as we work towards 
delivering the superior operating model. 
We are also trialling the use of ultra-high 
frequency chip technology (RFID) for 
improved tracking and identification 
of linen, which will assist in improving 
linen utilisation. The contract churn in 
UK hotels, which has been previously 
reported, impacted the business line 
results in the first half of the year having 
exited a major national contract at 
the end of the first half last year and 
the start-up of new contract wins this 
year resulting in higher depreciation. 
There were several new contract wins 
in the second half, particularly with 
budget hotel groups, which led to 
some improvement but there will be a 
period of rebuilding in this part of the 
portfolio as we align it to the broader 
Business Line. 

In Healthcare, we made good progress 
in generating add-on sales from existing 
contracts, with continued product and 
service innovations to hospitals and 
through better contract management.
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Manage for value

Clinical 
Solutions and 
Decontamination

2015 performance

£72m +1%* 
Revenue

£5.2m -5%* 
Operating profit

7.2% -50bps 
Operating margin

 * Underlying growth.

Revenue was £72.0 million (£71.5 million) 
with adjusted operating profit of 
£5.2 million (£5.5 million) and adjusted 
operating margin was 7.2%.

The businesses in this segment 
demonstrated that they have 
opportunities to grow within their 
markets, which further supports 
their integration into the business line 
structure as we progress through 2016. 

In our Hotels market underlying revenue 
increased following the good contract 
wins, particularly in Scandinavia hotels, 
and the sharing of ‘best practice’ which, 
combined, led to improved margins. 
Scandinavian hotels are organised under 
shared management which will facilitate 
our new Business Line structure, and this 
has benefited our customers through 
higher levels of service and improved 
quality. These contract successes have 
improved our market position and, 
following the downsizing of a competitor 
in Sweden, we took the opportunity 
to invest in additional plant capacity. 
Higher volumes and a continuous focus 
on operational improvements helped to 
improve profitability.

We are pleased with our overall 
progress in Healthcare, where we 
saw modest revenue growth and 
improved profitability compared to 
last year. Our markets were more 
challenging during the year as a 
result of pricing pressure as contracts 
came up for renewal. The Healthcare 
markets have benefited from significant 
innovation and high levels of service 
and we are undertaking a review to 
ensure that our services are properly 
aligned to customer need and that 
we are appropriately rewarded where 
we deliver added value through a 
differentiated service.

We saw good revenue growth in our 
decontamination business with new 
volume from existing contracts and the 
start-up of a significant new contract. 
Our service levels are strong and we are 
discussing our service offering with a 
number of potential new customers to 
utilise available capacity at our existing 
sites. We are pleased with the progress 
being made and the business continues 
to grow its profits. In the clinical solutions 
business, sales of consumables and 
single use drapes and gowns were up, 
but revenue from re-usable textiles was 
slightly reduced due to lower volumes, 
which adversely impacted the level 
of profitability. 

Summary and outlook for 
the group
We are pleased to report good 
operational progress for the year, in line 
with our expectations. Last November, 
we presented our Strategy Update 
reconfirming significant market 
opportunities and announcing the move 
to a revised four Business Line structure 
to accelerate the pace of delivery. 
During the course of 2016, we will be 
focused on completing the Business Line 
structure and on implementing a series 
of new initiatives designed to capture 
these growth opportunities. The Board 
expects to achieve a further year of 
good underlying progress in 2016.
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“We stay close to our key stakeholders in order to 
understand their expectations of us on all aspects 

of CR and this guides our business decisions. 

More than ever, our credentials in these areas 
are influencing our ability to attract and retain 
customers, employees, investors and suppliers.

They also underpin our licence to operate 
by strengthening our relationships with local 

communities, industry partners and regulators.”
James Drummond

Chief Executive Officer

Our integrated approach  
to sustainability.

How we make it happen
CR policies

Formal reference 
point for all employees 

and external  
stakeholders

Values

Expected behaviours 
and a culture which 
underpin the way 

we work

CR governance

Established processes,  
procedures and  
responsibilities to  
facilitate robust  

non-financial reporting

k

Innovative 
 and efficient  

solutions

Operational  
environmental  

efficiency

A responsible  
supply chain

Stakeholder  
engagement

People  
and H&S

Our CR  
focus  
areas
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Group CR actions and progress
What we said we would do  
in 2015

 a Review the corporate responsibility 
policies following completion of the 
strategy review

 a Roll-out the new anti-bribery and 
corruption policy and focus training 
to ensure to embed it in the business 

 a Review the current incident reporting 
process, making it more effective 
and efficient

Our progress  
in 2015

 a As the business strategy review was 
prolonged due to the input from the 
new CEO, and only finalised in Q4 our 
review of the corporate responsibility 
will be now performed in 2016

 a The new anti-bribery and 
corruption policy was issued to all 
our businesses in January 2015. 
Training materials were circulated 
across the group, with tailored 
training delivered to all procurement 
staff. In addition, we completed 
risk assessments for all businesses 
and these will now be revised on an 
annual basis 

 a The incident reporting process has 
been reviewed and updated, with 
changes including greater emphasis 
on instant reporting

Next steps and priorities 
for 2016

 a Complete a review of our corporate 
responsibility approach, including 
a review of our policies to ensure 
alignment with the revised 
business strategy

 a Review corporate responsibility 
related KPIs

 a Develop and deliver an e-learning 
programme on anti-bribery 
and corruption, to ensure that 
training is consistent across all of 
our businesses

 a Automate the current incident 
reporting system to further 
improve performance 

 a Develop our first statement in 
respect to the Modern Slavery 
Act 2015 

CR governance and policies

Board
Sets all group CR policies

Reviews CR KPIs twice a year, 
notably health and safety and 

CO2 emissions 

Is informed of all incidents

CR management  
and key policies

The Group Risk 
Manager

 a Reports CR KPIs  
and incidents to 
the board

 a Manages external 
CR communication 
and surveys 

 a Reports annually on 
progress to the UN 
Global Compact

Business lines
 a Implement group 
CR policies

 a Report on KPIs from all 
business units 

 a Report to group 
management on any 
CR-related issues 
and incidents

Country managers 
and shared service 
Finance Directors

 a Report on 
compliance with  
the CR group policies 
twice a year 

 a Report any known or 
suspected cases of 
non-compliance

Our group-wide  
CR policies include

 a Ethics

 a Health and safety

 a Environment

 a Human resources and employees

 a Community

 a Business continuity planning

More information can be found at: 
www.berendsen.com/crpolicies
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Building relationships that 
stand the test of time.

Stakeholder engagement – actions and progress
What we said we would do  
in 2015

 a Continue the development of our 
customer satisfaction survey tools 

 a Undertake our second company-
wide employee engagement survey 

 a Ensure that our non-executive 
directors meet with key investors 
to discuss any investment issues, 
without executive management 
being present

Our progress  
in 2015

 a We launched our customer 
loyalty survey programme, with 
KPIs reported monthly. We also 
developed an ambitious Customer 
Loyalty e-learning programme for 
employees at all levels

 a We completed our second company-
wide employee engagement survey 
in October 2015 

 a We enabled our non-executive 
directors to meet investors at the 
annual shareholders’ dinner in 
November 2015 

Next steps and priorities  
for 2016

 a Roll-out the Customer Loyalty 
e-learning programme, and also 
introduce incentive programmes for 
customer service staff, rewarding 
loyal customers

 a Agree and implement actions to 
address the areas for improvement 
identified by the employee 
engagement survey 

 a Review our current approach to CR, 
focusing on how we can improve 
stakeholder engagement

Read People and H&S 
Page 47

We listen carefully to the concerns and needs of 
our key stakeholders, working together to ensure 

sure that the way we run Berendsen delivers 
optimum outcomes for all.

Engaging and understanding our stakeholders

Stakeholder 
engagement

Customers
We regularly invite feedback from 
customers about our services and 
innovations. This is supported by 
independent satisfaction surveys.

Find out more 
Page 49

Suppliers
Our investments in the central 
procurement and supply chain 
function open up greater 
opportunities for us to develop 
long-term strategic relationships with 
suppliers, supporting our ambition to 
rationalise our supplier base.

Find out more 
Page 50

Employees
We utilise a variety of employee 
engagement channels, including 
group-wide employee surveys which 
are conducted every two years.

Find out more 
Page 47

Industry partners
In our key markets, we engage 
with the wider textile services 
industry through trade associations, 
sharing issues around legislation, 
technical standards and safety. 
Our commitment to the industry 
and reputation for integrity often 
provide opportunities to acquire local 
companies when the owners seek to 
retire or exit.

Investors
Executive management meets 
regularly with investors and potential 
investors, and receives regular input 
from brokers and advisors which are 
shared with the board. In addition, 
the non-executive directors meet 
annually with investors without 
executive being present.

Find out more 
Page 66

Local communities
We are conscious that our plants are 
part of their communities and that 
our workforce is drawn from this local 
environment. We actively engage 
with these communities, investing 
in local initiatives to ensure that our 
impact is positive and to provide 
further employment. 
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Looking after  
our people.

People – actions and progress
What we said we would do  
in 2015

 a Conduct and analyse a second 
OneBerendsen employee survey

 a Invite a minimum of 50 managers to 
take part in leadership programmes

 a Develop the intranet and 
communicate regular CEO 
statements on strategy and 
business progress 

 a Review and benchmark market 
pay data and the effectiveness of 
incentive programmes

Our progress  
in 2015

 a Employee survey was conducted, 
analysed and results communicated

 a 97 managers took part in leadership 
development programmes

 a We enhanced our intranet and 
organised internal roadshows around 
our new strategy and CEO. We also 
trained 200 ambassadors in the new 
vision, mission and values 

 a We developed a pay database 
facilitating effective benchmarking. 
long term incentive plan reviewed

Next steps and priorities  
for 2016

 a Use employee focus groups to help 
implement site specific action plans

 a Develop the capabilities required to 
build Berendsen Excellence. Put in 
place new business line management 
and business development teams

 a Further embed and communicate 
the new Vision, Mission and Values, 
strategy and business progress 

 a Work on pay incentives to align with 
the new structure and underpin 
reward for performance

With our new strategy we’ve set ourselves 
the inspiring goal of being the best, and one of 

the pillars we will achieve this through is our 
people and their development.

People  
and H&S

Equipped for strategic growth
The strength and depth of our talent 
management processes came to the 
fore this year with the announcement 
in November 2015 of our new strategy 
and the restructuring of our business 
lines to enhance our customer focus. 
The resulting requirement for additional 
management team appointments is 
being, and will be, largely met from our 
talent pipeline.

Understanding and deepening 
our skills
Throughout the year, we continued to 
invest in our leadership development 
programmes. In 2016, we will revise 
our leadership framework to include 
capability requirements following the 
strategy review. We have upheld our 
focus on gender balance and increased 
the numbers of women in middle and 
senior management roles. We have 
maintained our investment in a group of 
over 20 management trainees across the 
business. We also conducted our second 
bicennial company-wide employee 
engagement survey (see right).

Chris Thrush
Group Director,  
Human Resources

Employee survey 2015

13,000 employees (84%) participated in our 
survey (up from 76% in 2013). We maintained 
an overall engagement score of 69%.

Areas of strength
 a Significantly 
higher than 
average levels 
of engagement

 a Employees 
understand 
how their role 
contributes to 
company success 

 a Employees feel 
comfortable 
sharing their 
opinions with 
their manager

Areas of attention
 a Employees think 
leaders could be 
more visible

 a Employees would 
like more regular 
feedback about 
their performance 

 a Managers 
could do more 
to show they 
care about their 
team members

97%

2015

97%

2014

96%
92%

98%

201320122011

Gender statistics
Female Male % Female

Board of 
directors 2 5

29%  
(2014: 29%)

Senior 
management 12 109

11%  
(2014: 9%)

Other 
management 158 380

29% 
(2014: 28%)

Employees 6,622 8,778
43%  

(2014: 43%)

Senior management retention rate

97%

hrush
Director,
Resources

KPI
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0.54

2015

0.44

2014

0.79

0.51
0.57

201320122011

Making health and  
safety part of our  

day-to-day business.

Health and safety – actions
Next steps and priorities for 2016

 a New health and safety systems  
and policies in place including:
 – Training to site management in 
health and safety;

 – New reporting requirements 
and procedures;

 – Implementation of new KPIs; 
 – Implement the new incident 
investigation process to determine  
and analyse root cause of 
incidents; and

 – Record an monitor the 
effectiveness of corrective actions 
arising from various reports.

 a 25% of management and Executive 
Directors’ bonuses are related to 
health and safety performance

 a Complete an annual review to assess 
performance against objectives

“Nothing is more important than our employees’ 
health and safety. Safety is one of our core values.  

We are determined to drive continuous improvement 
in safety performance: our objective is zero accidents.”

People  
and H&S

Health and safety 
management
Although we operate in many countries, 
with different local standards, both 
in terms of regulation and accepted 
best practice we want to achieve a 
consistent standard much higher than 
mere compliance. We are seeking 
to implement best-in-class health 
and safety systems across all of our 
operations to ensure we improve 
our performance which is currently 
disappointing. Our objective is 
zero accidents.

Health and safety performance
We are very disappointed that the 
incident rate increased by 23% in 2015.

As a result of this and as part of the 
strategy review that concluded in 
November 2015, the Executive Board 
revised the approach to health and 
safety with the aim of increasing visibility 
of health and safety risks, increase 
understanding of root causes and take 
appropriate action to address these to 
drive continuous improvement. 

Major injury rate*

+23%

James Drummond
Chief Executive 
Officer

ummond
utive 

Major injuries statistics
Major  
injury 
rate*

Number  
of major  

injuries

Facility
2015: 

2014:

– 
–

– 
–

Workwear
2015: 

2014:

0.86 
0.79

5 
5

UK Flat Linen
2015: 

2014:

0.50 
0.38

4 
3

Flat Linen  
outside UK

2015: 

2014:

0.86 
0.54

4 
3

Clinical  
Solutions and  
Decontamination

2015: 

2014:
– 
–

– 
–

Total group 
2015: 

2014:

0.54 
0.44

13 
11

* Number of deaths and major injuries/total hours 
worked x 1,000,000.

Health and safety is now the first 
agenda item on all formal management 
meetings ensuring that business leaders 
at all levels clearly take responsibility 
and accountability for health and safety 
performance. In addition, the appointed 
Health and Safety Director is now a 
key part of the Berendsen Excellence 
function for which the Director is a 
member of the Executive Board.

Management bonuses have now also 
been aligned to health and safety 
performance. Below, we outlined further 
details on next steps.

KPI

 * Number of deaths and major injuries/
total hours worked x 1,000,000.
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Innovating and securing 
service continuity  
for our customers.

Innovative and efficient solutions – actions and progress
What we said we would do  
in 2015

 a Continue to work alongside our 
customers and suppliers to look 
for further innovative initiatives 
that will reduce environmental 
impact and enhance quality and 
process efficiency 

 a Continue to roll-out business 
continuity planning tests across 
the business

Our progress  
in 2015

 a We implemented a new enzyme 
process in the washing cycle in a 
further 31 laundries (20 in 2014)

 a ‘Cool chemistry’ introduced in 
8 of our 25 UK flatwork sites, to 
reduce wash temperatures and 
energy consumption 

 a We completed business continuity 
planning tests in each country

Next steps and priorities  
for 2016

 a Continue implementing the enzyme 
process across sites and introduce 
the ‘cool chemistry’ system in 
additional UK laundries

 a Continue to improve washing 
quality by testing a new washing 
process from Ecolab, called 
‘performance industry’ 

 a Continue regular business continuity 
planning tests

As industry experts, we are ideally placed 
to innovate new solutions – this is a key 

differentiator for Berendsen and a major 
advantage for our customers. 

Innovative  
and efficient  

solutions

Innovative solutions
Our customers know that working  
with Berendsen enables them to 
benefit from continual improvements 
in efficiency, which translate directly 
into reduced costs and an enhanced 
CR performance. 

We continuously work together  
with both suppliers and customers  
to identify further innovative initiatives 
that will reduce environmental 
impact and enhance quality and 
process efficiency. 

For example, across our laundries  
we are implementing a new enzyme 
process which partially replaces 
detergents and chemicals at the same 
time as improving whiteness and quality. 
From an environmental perspective, this 
leads to a reduction in resources used 
and fewer harmful substances in the 
waste water. 

In addition, we are also introducing 
‘cool chemistry’ in our UK flatwork 
laundries. This enables reduced 
wash temperatures with associated 
reduced energy. The wash chemicals 
are dynamically manufactured on site, 
reducing the need for resources as well 
as environmental impact. 

Business continuity
Our customers depend on us to meet 
their needs at all times and expect 
us to deliver, no matter what the 
circumstances. Service continuity 
is secured by a business continuity 
policy, which includes a requirement for 
up-to-date Business Continuity Plans 
(BCP) which are tested across all of 
our businesses. 

Improving hand hygiene 
through nudging

Comprehensive studies of hand-washing 
behaviour among washroom users in 
different customer segments provided the 
platform for the development of our new 
washroom solution, Berendsen LightGuide. 
This uses the principle of nudging with light 
signals to guide washroom users through the 
correct hand-washing procedure, thereby 
improving hand hygiene. In addition, the 
system collects data on user behaviour which 
we share with the customer. 
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Rationalising our long-term 
supply chain.

A responsible supply chain – actions and progress
What we said we would do  
in 2015

 a Develop a set of KPIs on delivery 
times and the warehouse network

 a Ensure that suppliers rapidly address 
any issues raised

 a Tighten our processes to encourage 
supplier compliance 

 a Launch the re-engineered 
supplier relationship management 
programme to ensure that we drive 
the relationship and performance of 
our strategic suppliers consistently 
across the group

Our progress  
in 2015

 a We closely monitored performance 
on delivery on time in full, as well as 
lead time variance

 a We reviewed the supplier code 
of conduct and whistleblowing 
procedures, communicated these to 
suppliers and made them available 
on our website 

 a We enhanced the process for 
securing supplier compliance by 
developing a central review and 
survey. This also served to enhance 
the work we have completed on 
supplier relationship management. 
In addition, we have extended our 
systematic supplier reviews and 
engagement initiatives. This remains 
an area of focus for 2016 and to 
support our commitment, we 
launched the Supplier Excellence 
Programme in December 2015

Next steps and priorities  
for 2016

 a Analyse warehouse 
network optimisation

 a Further develop and automate 
our KPIs

 a Process enhancements, particularly 
in forecasting reliability 

 a Develop enhanced procurement 
monitoring to complement 
developments in supplier 
relationship management

We work with a limited number of major suppliers, 
helping us forge strong relationships and enabling 

us to emphasise the importance of compliance 
with our CR policies. 

A responsible 
supply chain

Procurement and supply  
chain management
We continued to identify opportunities 
for improvement during the year, 
and these underpinned the strategic 
expansion of the central procurement 
and supply chain group. We have 
created centres of specialism, driving 
value optimisation, product quality and 
continuity of supply, while focusing on 
improving lead times and service. 

Across the business, we worked 
closely with colleagues to support the 
development of new product ranges and 
to meet specific customer demands. 

The recent severe flooding in the UK 
required us to exercise our disaster 
recovery plans, and the plans proved 
sufficiently robust to maintain excellent 
service levels in difficult conditions. 

Procurement and supply  
chain performance
In 2015, our central procurement 
and supply chain group continued 
to improve customer service. 
Corporate responsibility remained a key 
priority, with all major projects requiring 
risk management plans to comply with 
corporate requirements. 

Our focus on working with the 
business to deliver their requirements 
has facilitated the growth of internal 
supply chain throughput, as well as an 
increase in the number of areas where 
the procurement team has been able to 
provide assistance. 

We completed a pre-study of the 
end-to-end flow of goods across the 
warehouse network, and this identified 
opportunities for further development. 

Responsible sourcing

When we engage with suppliers, we evaluate 
their ability to meet the highest standards in 
relation to environmental protection, health, 
safety, human rights and employee welfare. 
In addition, we evaluate the contribution 
they make to the local community. One of 
our large knitwear suppliers, ID, has worked 
in Bangladesh for many years and has 
established close and strong ties with local 
communities, including sponsorship of the 
GLP Foundation programme which helps 
pupils aged 6-14 to receive schooling.
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Improving our  
environmental efficiency.

Operational environmental efficiency – actions and progress
What we said we would do  
in 2015

 a Meet the requirements of UK Climate 
Change Agreement by reducing 
energy usage by 25% by 2020, from 
a 2008 baseline

 a Meet the UK’s requirement of 
achieving the long-term target of a 
25% reduction

 a Review CO2 reporting guidelines;

 a Drive further efficiencies through 
collaborative working with our 
chemicals suppliers

 a Continue to monitor fuel usage, 
driver behaviour and routes to 
reduce the environmental impact of 
logistics and transport

Our progress  
in 2015

 a We have achieved a 16% reduction 
towards the 2020 target (25%)

 a We achieved a 1.9% reduction in 
energy use compared to the required 
2.08% per year

 a We reviewed the CO2 reporting 
guidelines

 a We included the requirement to 
deliver further efficiencies in our 
chemical contract

 a We continued to monitor compliance 
to requirements of low emission 
zones and the use of the most fuel-
efficient engines

Next steps and priorities  
for 2016

 a Continue with the current 
approach to drive further operation 
environmental efficiency by:
 – Focusing on energy 
usage reduction;

 – Working with our 
chemicals suppliers;

 – Monitoring fuel usage, driver 
behaviour and routes to look 
for further efficiencies in logistics 
and transport; and

 – Reviewing the environmental 
related KPIs.

By efficiently managing water, energy, chemicals, 
oil and gas (WECO), we will meet our own needs 

as well as those of our customers. Operational 
environmental 

efficiency

Our total CO2 emissions
kg of CO2 per tonne of laundry shipped

2015 2014 2013

Workwear 491 500 522

Facility 258 261 269

UK Flat Linen 370 369 387

Flat Linen 
outside the UK 328 359 391

Clinical 
Solutions and 
Decontamination

735 1,163 1,146

Group (total 
tonnes of CO2 
emissions)

235m 239m 248m

Scope 1 and 2 emissions
2015 

%
2014 

%
2013 

%

Scope 1 79.3 80.4 79.5

Scope 2 20.1 19.2 20.5

Outside of 
scope

0.6 0.4 –

Our Scope 2 CO2 emissions are calculated with the 
Location Based Method. We have attempted to also 
calculate these with the Market Based Method, however 
our suppliers have not been able to provide us with 
up-to-date information for this. We will engage with 
them during 2016 to ensure they get up to speed with 
our requirements.

Environmental management
We are committed to reducing the 
impact of our operations on the 
environment. Across the group, we 
continually review and investigate ways 
to reduce WECO usage. All businesses 
are expected to adhere to our 
environmental policy which requires 
them to: 

 a Engage with suppliers to research 
ways to minimise the amount and 
concentration of detergents used 
in our laundries and disposed of in 
effluent, and opportunities for low 
temperature washing

 a Routinely recover water for re-use

 a Minimise heat, energy loss and 
fuel usage

 a Recycle textiles, paper and packaging 
materials wherever possible

Environmental performance
We monitor performance of WECO 
efficiency at site level. Targets are set 
out in the sites’ budgets and these are 
regularly reviewed by management. 
In 2015, we started monitoring WECO 
figures monthly per site via a new 
database (QlikView) to react quickly and 
identify trends across all laundries and 
ensure reliable bench-marking. 

We are also introducing computerised 
production monitoring systems that 
allow sites to monitor current production 
efficiency and generate historic 
reports. We adopt the Greenhouse Gas 
Protocol methodology to assess our 
carbon footprint.

364

2015

379

2014

402411
434

201320122011

Group CO2 emissions  
(kg/tonne shipped)

-4%

KPI
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“I am delighted that our established 
governance framework has supported both the 
integration of our new Chief Executive Officer 

and the development of our new strategy.”
Iain Ferguson

Chairman

Good governance supporting 
business change.

Included in this report:
61 Leadership 

Key details on our board and senior 
management team

Our governance framework and how 
it supports the development of good 
governance practices 

Our board’s key achievements during 2015

63 Effectiveness

Our three-year approach to performance 
evaluations and the outcome of the board’s 
2014 and 2015 evaluations

Our nomination committee’s report on 
its key activities in the year including the 
appointment of our new CEO

66 Relations with shareholders

An overview of our shareholder engagement 
activities during the year including: 

 a Remuneration policy consultation 

 a Shareholder meetings 

 a Details of our 2016 AGM

71 Accountability

Our audit committee’s report on its key 
activities during the year including:

 a Monitoring the effectiveness of our risk 
management and internal control systems

 a Approving the viability statement process 

 a Conducting a review of the effectiveness of 
the external auditor

Our goal is to be at the forefront of best 
practice in corporate governance and 
we consistently challenge ourselves 
to achieve this. Our governance 
framework allows for the continued 
monitoring, review, development 
and implementation of the policies, 
procedures and culture that support our 
high governance standards.

Board achievements in 2015

Strategic review
I reported last year that the board had 
commenced a strategy refresh process 
and that this would continue during 2015. 
The timetable was obviously impacted 
by the change of our Chief Executive 
Officer, and the process was placed on 
hold until James took up the role of Chief 
Executive Officer. We were delighted 
to be able to conclude a thorough 
review of our strategy during the year, 
the result of which was presented to 
investors at a Capital Markets Day held 
on 19 November 2015. 

If you would like to discuss 
any aspect of our group’s 
governance with me, please 
feel free to email me at 
chairman@berendsen.eu

What good governance 
means to us
2015 has been a year of significant 
change for Berendsen at board 
level. This was the result of both the 
appointment of James Drummond, 
as our new Chief Executive Officer to 
replace Peter Ventress, and the ongoing 
review of our strategy which led to the 
announcement of our new strategic 
approach in November. Our ability to 
deal with change of this magnitude is 
due in no small part to the governance 
structures which have been developed 
over the years to support the effective 
operation of the board and the business 
as a whole.

I have previously reported to you that 
corporate governance at Berendsen 
is treated as a core and vital discipline 
complementing our desire to continually 
improve upon the success of the 
group on behalf of our shareholders. 
This remains the case. The governance 
framework described in this report is well 
established, and our Executive Board 
continues to ensure that our approach 
is effectively implemented across the 
whole business. I am pleased to report 
that James shares the board’s long-
held view of the importance of strong 
governance systems, and the board as a 
whole continues to believe that effective 
governance is achieved through 
leadership and collaboration, resulting 
in consistently focused and sensible 
business decisions.
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I was particularly pleased with the 
board’s input into the strategy review 
process, with all directors bringing 
ideas and suggestions based on their 
backgrounds and experience, and 
providing challenge to management 
suggestions where appropriate. 

Having agreed the new strategic 
approach, described in detail in the 
Strategic report on pages 1 to 15, the 
board now has a key leadership role in 
supporting its successful implementation 
in 2016 and beyond, to ensure that we 
continue to deliver exceptional standards 
to customers, and long-term sustainable 
value to shareholders.

Change of Chief Executive Officer 
We were of course sad to say goodbye 
to Peter Ventress following his decision 
to retire as Chief Executive Officer. 
Peter has made a significant contribution 
to the success of our business, and 
provided excellent leadership over 
the six years of his tenure. After Peter 
had informed me of his decision, we 
commenced a comprehensive search 
to identify his successor, led by the 
nomination committee. The search 
process is described in detail in the 
nomination committee’s report on 
page 68.

We are delighted that James, who we 
identified as the strongest candidate 
for the role, agreed to join Berendsen 
on 1 July to receive a comprehensive 
handover from Peter before taking on 
the role of Chief Executive Officer from 
1 August. 

This handover period formed part of 
the induction process that I designed 
for James with the assistance of our 
Company Secretary and the nomination 
committee, and which is described in 
detail on page 55.

In our announcement to the market of 
James’ appointment, I highlighted my 
belief that James has the right skills and 
experience to lead Berendsen in the 
next phase of its development, and we 
are already seeing this borne out in his 
significant input into our new strategic 
approach. I am confident that James will 
continue the tradition of strong executive 
leadership at Berendsen. I am delighted 
that the strong working relationship 
between Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer has continued since James took 
on the role, with James and I already 
working closely together due to both the 
handover from Peter and the ongoing 
strategy review process.

Board effectiveness
I am extremely conscious of my role 
in ensuring that our non-executive 
directors are provided with the 
information, culture and environment 
in which they are able to both support 
and offer constructive challenge, to 
the executive management team. 
I am delighted that our programme of 
non-executive director site visits has 
continued in 2015, and the feedback 
I have received from both the non-
executive directors and the teams on site 
is that these visits are viewed positively 
by all parties.

I have continued the approach of holding 
a number of board dinners during the 
year, usually ahead of a scheduled 
board meeting. We have found that the 
dinners provide a more relaxed forum 
than the formal meetings in which 
additional debate between directors 
on complex matters can be conducted. 
As a result, I find that the debate at 
the following formal meeting is usually 
more focused, with well-formulated 
constructive views espoused by the non-
executive directors. 

On 18 December, I held my annual 
scheduled meeting with the non-
executive directors without the executive 
management present. We had a 
full discussion looking back at the 
board’s activities in 2015 and forward 
to our priorities in 2016. In particular, 
we discussed the appointment and 
induction of James Drummond, the 
performance evaluation process, and 
the implementation of the new strategy. 
Although the non-executive directors 
did not raise anything that had not 
previously been considered in meetings 
of the whole board, we all found the 
session to be useful and agree that 
it is important for the independent 
directors to discuss their views in a more 
private environment.
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Performance evaluation
Our externally facilitated performance 
evaluation conducted in the latter 
part of 2014 and early part of 2015 
confirmed that the board and its 
committees operate effectively with 
all directors contributing to the overall 
success of the group. In line with 
our three-year evaluation cycle, the 
performance evaluation process in 2015 
was led by me with assistance from the 
Company Secretary. 

I felt that the positive nature of the 
external evaluation from the previous 
year allowed us to conduct a more 
focused evaluation this year, and I 
was particularly keen to establish the 
board’s view on the appointment and 
induction process adopted for James. 
I also wanted to understand whether 
the non-executive directors agreed with 
my view that our strong governance 
culture has continued following James’ 
appointment. 

The performance evaluation process is 
described in detail on page 63, and I’m 
delighted to confirm that no significant 
issues were raised and that the general 
consensus of the board is that the 
governance structure, the board and 
its committees continue to operate 
effectively, and the positive culture on 
the board has been maintained. 

Remuneration policy
You will note from the UK Corporate 
Governance Code compliance statement 
on page 55 that our remuneration 
committee has conducted a full review 
of our remuneration policy during 
the course of 2015. The remuneration 
committee was keen to await the 
finalisation of the strategy review so that 
any amendments to the policy could 
be matched to our strategy. Now that 
this is complete, I am pleased that our 
revised policy will be put to shareholders 
for approval at the AGM in 2016, and 
I would like to thank members of the 
remuneration committee for their efforts 
in developing these proposals. 

Meeting our major shareholders
We have continued to operate a 
comprehensive investor relations 
programme during the year with 
our executive directors meeting 
investors and analysts regularly, being 
supported where appropriate by both 
myself and David Lowden as Senior 
Independent Director. In addition to 
the regular programme of investor 
and analyst updates and presentations 
described on page 66, David and I 
also hosted a shareholder dinner on 
26 November which was attended by 
five of our major shareholders. We again 
received positive feedback and see 
the dinner as a valuable opportunity to 
understand the views of, and develop 
constructive relationships with, our 
major shareholders.

Iain Ferguson
Chairman

Board priorities in 2016
 a Support the implementation of the 
new strategy

 a Continue to develop and maintain 
best practice standards in 
corporate governance 

 a Support the further development 
of talent and succession planning

 a Participate and assist with the 
review of the group’s advisers

Our goal is to be at the forefront of best practice 
in corporate governance and we consistently 

challenge ourselves to achieve this. 
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CEO induction 
All new directors joining the Berendsen 
board undertake a formal and 
personalised induction programme 
which covers: the operation and 
activities of the group (including 
site visits and meeting members 
of the senior management teams); 
the group’s principal risks and 
uncertainties; the role of the board 
and the decision-making matters 
reserved to it; the responsibilities of the 
board committees; and the strategic 
challenges and opportunities facing 
the group.

James Drummond joined Berendsen 
on 1 July 2015 to begin his induction 
process, a significant part of which 
was a comprehensive handover from 
Peter Ventress. 

Elements of the induction process 
designed for James, by the Chairman 
and the Company Secretary, who took 
into account feedback from Maarit 
Aarni-Sirviö on her own induction in 
2014, included:

 a Meeting with major shareholders on 
28 July 2015 and attending other 
shareholder/analyst events;

 a Meeting with members of the board, 
Executive Board and business line 
management teams;

 a Site visits to facilities in all of the 
countries in which Berendsen 
operates;

 a Meeting with the Group Director, 
Human Resources on the culture 
and diversity of the group including 
succession planning procedures;

 a Discussions with the Group Risk 
Manager on the principal risks facing 
the group, Head of Internal Audit and 
the Group Tax and Treasury Director;

 a Meeting key group advisers;

 a Reviewing investor feedback reports 
with the Chairman and Senior 
Independent Director to understand 
shareholder requirements;

 a Full briefing on our main international 
competitors by Peter Ventress and 
our advisers; and

 a Discussions with the Chairman, Peter 
Ventress and Company Secretary.

We are delighted that we have 
received several external accolades 
for our governance and remuneration 
reporting during the year. 

 a Nominated for and won the ICSA 
Awards 2015: Best Annual Report 
in the FTSE 250

 a Nominated for ICSA Awards 2015:  
Best Strategic Report in the 
FTSE 250

 a Nominated for Building Public 
Trust Awards 2015: Executive 
Remuneration in the FTSE 250

 a Nominated for Building Public Trust 
Awards 2015: Corporate Governance 
Reporting in the FTSE 250

UK Corporate Governance Code compliance statement
A new version of the UK Corporate Governance Code (the ‘Code’) was introduced in September 
2014, and the revised provisions apply to Berendsen for the first time in respect of the year 
ended 31 December 2015. We have complied with all of the principles and provisions of the Code 
throughout 2015, with the exception of provision D.1.1 which requires that performance-related 
remuneration schemes should include both malus and clawback provisions. 

Following the completion of the strategy review, our remuneration committee conducted a review 
of our remuneration policy (which is described in detail on pages 78 to 80). Our revised policy, 
including amendments to our long-term incentive and bonus plans to introduce both malus and 
clawback provisions, is being proposed for shareholder approval at our 2016 AGM. Subject to 
such approval, we will be in full compliance with provision D.1.1, and therefore expect to be in full 
compliance with the Code, from 28 April 2016.

The corporate governance statement and the additional governance disclosures listed in the table 
below set out our approach to applying the Code.

See our business model, value generation 
and strategy in our Strategic report 
Pages 01–15

See our Directors’ remuneration report
Pages 78–104

See our approach to risk management and 
internal control in our Risk report 
Pages 24–31

See our Directors’ report
Pages 105–108

Key areas of uncertainty considered in the 
preparation of the financial statements
Page 72

Further information on the Code can be found on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at 
www.frc.org.uk. 
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Each of our directors bring valuable skills  
and experience which contributes to the  
effectiveness of the board as a whole.

A diverse and effective  
leadership team.

Diversity, independence and experience

100%
with international 
businesses experience

100%
with business-to-
business experience

71%
experienced CEOs

29%
female directors

66%
independent directors 
(excluding the Chairman)

Iain Ferguson CBE (60)
Non-executive Chairman 

N  Chairman R  Member

Date appointed to board:
March 2010

Independent:
No

Key strengths:

 a CEO experience with an international plc

 a Strong international strategic skills and experience 
of B2B and B2C businesses

 a Significant M&A experience in Europe, USA 
and Asia

 a Broadly based NED experience across the private 
and public sectors

 a Strong commercial skills

Current external commitments:
Chairman of Stobart Group Limited and a non-
executive director of Balfour Beatty plc and 
Chairman of Wilton Park (Foreign Office Agency) .

Previous roles:
Non-executive director of Defra (Government 
Department) and Chief Executive of Tate and Lyle plc, 
having also worked for Unilever and held a number of 
senior positions including Chief Executive Officer of 
Birds Eye Walls.

James Drummond (53) 
Chief Executive Officer 

N  Member E  Member

Date appointed to board:
August 2015

Independent:
No

Key strengths:

 a Developing people and teams to be successful

 a Strategy development and execution experience

 a Building and growing B2B contracting businesses, 
in both public and private sector in engineering 
services, rail, aviation and aerospace

 a Experience of running businesses in varied 
business environments – Europe, the 
Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS), India, 
S E Asia, China, Australia, Latin America, USA

Current external commitments:
None.

Previous roles:
Chief Executive of Avincis Group, the leading provider of 
aerial services for mission critical operations. Avincis was 
bought by Babcock plc in 2014. Before Avincis, James 
was the Chief Executive of Invensys Rail, a major division 
of Invensys plc. Earlier roles include Director of Business 
Development, Acquisitions and Projects at Kidde plc. 
Director of Strategy for Honeywell Aerospace Services 
and Allied Signal Aerospace Services. 

Maarit Aarni-Sirviö (62)
Non-executive director 

A  Member N  Member R  Member

Date appointed to board:
March 2014

Independent:
Yes

Key strengths:

 a In-depth knowledge of Scandinavian markets

 a Detailed operational expertise

 a Proven experience of restructuring, acquisitions 
and integrations

 a A strong track record of growing businesses

 a Extensive international experience

 a Experienced non-executive in several sectors

Current external commitments:
Non-executive director of Wärtsilä, Senior Adviser 
at Eera Oyj, Board Member of ecoDa and Secretary 
General of the Directors’ Institute of Finland.

Previous roles:
VP of Borealis, non-executive director of Vattenfall 
Ab (in Sweden) and of Ponsse Oyj and Rautaruukki 
Oyj and President & CEO of Mint of Finland.
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Lucy Dimes (49)
Non-executive director 

A  Member N  Member R  Member

Date appointed to board:
June 2012

Independent:
Yes

Key strengths:

 a Extensive experience of B2B, outsourcing and 
complex managed services contracts

 a Track record in international sales and customer 
relationship management

 a Significant experience in alliances, ventures 
and partnerships

 a Operational and complex contractual experience

 a Strong marketing, portfolio development and 
commercial skills

 a Well-developed leadership and global team 
management skills

Current external commitments:
Trustee for the Garden Bridge Trust.

Previous roles:
COO and Executive Director of Equiniti Group, CEO 
UK & Ireland of Alcatel-Lucent and has held various 
senior roles at BT Plc, including Managing Director of 
Group and Openreach Service Operations.

David Lowden (58)
Senior Independent Director 

A  Member N  Member R  Chairman S

Date appointed to board:
March 2010

Independent:
Yes

Key strengths:

 a Extensive experience in both general 
management and financial management

 a Many years of operating within international 
businesses with cultural diversity

 a Strong strategic understanding

 a Knowledge of B2B service related 
industry requirements

 a Proven ability for delivering shareholder value

 a Strong financial, marketing and commercial skills

Current external commitments:
Non-executive Chairman of Michael Page 
International plc and non-executive director of 
William Hill PLC.

Previous roles:
Chief Executive of Taylor Nelson Sofres PLC, having 
also held the positions of Chief Operating Officer 
and Group Finance Director.

Kevin Quinn (55)
Chief Financial Officer 

E  Member

Date appointed to board:
May 2005

Independent:
No

Key strengths:

 a Over ten years in the group with a detailed 
knowledge of operations

 a Significant experience of financing and 
capital raising

 a Extensive experience of international companies

 a Experience of outsourcing and the support 
services sector

 a A strong network

 a Driver of our successful capital efficiency project 
to increase cash deliveries

Current external commitments:
None.

Previous roles:
Senior finance positions within Amersham plc and 
was with PricewaterhouseCoopers, latterly as a 
partner in its Prague office, having also worked 
in the USA and France.

Andrew Wood (64)
Non-executive director 

A  Chairman N  Member R  Member

Date appointed to board:
March 2010

Independent:
Yes

Key strengths:

 a Previously CFO of FTSE 250 plcs for 15 years

 a Strong strategic and commercial understanding

 a Extensive experience of acquisition and disposal 
of businesses in international markets

 a Detailed knowledge of risk assessment and 
management systems

Current external commitments:
Non-executive director of Lavendon Group plc, 
Air Partner plc and Stobart Group Limited.

Previous roles:
Group Finance Director of BBA Aviation plc and also 
Group Finance Director of Racal Electronics PLC.

David Lawler (52)
Company Secretary 

E  Member

Date appointed to board:
May 2005

Independent:
No

Key strengths:

 a Detailed knowledge of the group

 a Good understanding of international business 
having worked extensively outside the UK

 a Extensive knowledge of corporate governance 
and risk management

 a Strong financial skills

 a Significant experience in the acquisition and 
disposal of businesses in both the UK and Europe

Current external commitments:
None.

Previous roles:
Senior finance positions with Thorn EMI plc 
and KPMG.

Key:

A  Audit committee

N  Nomination committee

R  Remuneration committee

E  Executive Board

S  Senior Independent Director 
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The Executive Board is collectively responsible 
for ensuring the successful implementation 

of our strategy and for embedding our 
governance culture. 

Delivering the  
board’s strategy 

The Executive Board
In November 2015, our strategy update to 
the market highlighted our desire to enhance 
business development and capability. 
Our Executive Board will be expanded during 
2016, in response to the evolution of our 
strategic approach. We have already appointed 
three new members: Claude Sada, Niels Peter 
Hansen and Martin Amtoft-Christensen. 

During 2015, our Executive Board formally met 
11 times. To ensure full participation, some of 
these meetings were held by video conference. 
The members of our Executive Board also 
communicate regularly outside of the formal 
scheduled meetings.

1  James Drummond
Chief Executive Officer

Read biography 
Page 56

2  Kevin Quinn 
Chief Financial Officer

Read biography 
Page 57

3  David Lawler 
Company Secretary

Read biography 
Page 57

4  Christian Ellegaard 
Managing Director, Facility

Christian joined the group in 1993 and was 
appointed Managing Director of the Nordic 
Region in 2007, having held a number of senior 
posts, including Managing Director in Denmark. 
Christian holds a BSc in Economics and 
Business Administration from the Copenhagen 
Business School and an MBA from Monterey 
Institute of International Studies. On 1 January 
2012, he was appointed Managing Director, 
Facility.

5  Niels Peter Hansen
Managing Director, Hospitality 

Niels Peter joined the group in 1997 and was 
appointed as Managing Director, Hospitality 
on 1 January 2016. Before his appointment, 
from 2009 to 2015, Niels Peter was Managing 
Director for German Healthcare and German 
Workwear. Prior to joining Berendsen, Niels 
Peter had a career in the Royal Danish Airforce 
followed by management consultancy at  
PwC and senior management roles in logistics. 
He holds a degree from the Royal Danish 
Airforce Officers Academy and from the 
Danish Defence Academy.

6  Peter Havéus
Managing Director, Workwear

Peter joined the group in 1985 and was 
appointed Managing Director for the Continent 
region in 2007. He has held a number of senior 
posts, including Managing Director Sweden, 
Managing Director Denmark and Chief Operating 
Officer, mainland Europe, having started his 
career in the textile rental industry in Sweden 
in 1983. Peter holds a degree in Economics. 
On 1 January 2012, he was appointed Managing 
Director, Workwear.

7  Steve Finch
Managing Director, UK Flat Linen 

Steve joined the group in 1996 through the 
acquisition of Spring Grove Services. He was 
appointed Managing Director of the Sunlight 
Service Group in 2001. Prior to joining Spring 
Grove in 1995, Steve spent 25 years in the 
telecommunications industry. Steve holds an 
MBA from Bath University. On 1 January 2012, he 
was appointed Managing Director, UK Flat Linen. 
Steve will retire from Berendsen in December 
2016. During 2016, we will be searching for 
Steve’s successor who will be appointed as 
Managing Director, Healthcare.

8  Martin Amtoft-Christensen 
Director of Shared Services

Martin joined the group in 2010 as Finance 
Director of the Nordic Region. From 2012 to 
2015, Martin was Finance Director for the Facility 
business line and interim Managing Director 
of the Norwegian business. Martin holds a 
MSc in Economics from Aarhus University. 
From 1 March 2016, he will be appointed Director 
of Shared Services.

9  Claude Sada
Director, Berendsen Excellence

Claude joined the group in 2013 and was 
appointed as Director of Business Excellence 
on 1 January 2016. Claude has held a range 
of senior procurement and supply chain 
transformational roles across Europe. Claude  
is a trained Lean practitioner and a Six Sigma 
Black Belt. He holds a degree in International 
Trade and a Masters in Business Management, 
Procurement & Supply Chain Management. 

 Chris Thrush
Group Director, Human Resources

Chris was appointed Group Director, Human 
Resources in May 2011. He previously held 
HR Director roles with Corporate Express 
N.V., DePuy, Gestetner and the University of 
Lancaster in the UK. He has lived and worked 
extensively outside the UK in Europe, the 
USA and Asia. He holds an MBA and is a 
Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Personnel 
and Development. Chris will be retiring from 
Berendsen in June 2016. We are currently in the 
process of searching for Chris’ successor who 
will be recruited in advance of Chris’ retirement.

11  TBC
Director for Business Development 

During 2016, we will appoint a Director for 
Business Development who will also become  
a member of our Executive Board. 

1 2 3 4

5 6 7 8

9 10

2
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Our board continually monitors 
our governance framework to ensure 

its effectiveness.

Maintaining governance 
standards 

Our board
Role and responsibilities

 a Set strategy and deliver value to shareholders 
and stakeholders

 a Monitor management activity and performance 
against targets 

 a Provide constructive challenge to management 

 a Set parameters for promoting and deepening the interest 
of shareholders

Find out more 
Page 60

Matters reserved for the board’s decision

 a Group strategy, business objectives, long-range plans  
and annual budgets

 a Annual and interim results

 a Material acquisitions, disposals and contracts

 a Major changes to internal controls, risk management  
or financial reporting policies and procedures

 a Determining risk appetite

 a Changes to capital, corporate or management structure 

 a Succession planning for the board and senior  
management 

 a Board composition and independence

Role and responsibilities

 a Monitor the financial 
and internal reporting 
processes including the 
integrity and clarity of the 
financial statements

 a Monitor internal audit

 a Agree the scope of the 
external audit and external 
auditor fees

 a Conduct an annual 
review of external auditor 
independence and quality

  Find out more  
Pages 70–77

Audit*  
committee

Role and responsibilities

 a Recommend to the board 
the overall executive 
remuneration policy

 a Recommend 
Chairman’s fees

 a Review the terms of 
service and remuneration 
of the executive directors 
and other members of the 
Executive Board

  Find out more  
Pages 78–104

Remuneration* 
committee

Role and responsibilities

 a Regularly review 
board composition

 a Lead the process 
for board and 
committee appointments

 a Monitor succession 
planning and 
talent development

  Find out more  
Pages 67–69

Nomination* 
committee

Find out more 
Pages 70–77

Role and responsibilities

 a Develop and 
implement strategy

 a Prioritise investments and 
allocate resources 

  Read biographies  
Page 58

Executive  
Board

Our board, supported  
by its committees,  

is responsible for embedding: 

Vision, Mission and Values

  Find out more  
Page 04

Policies and procedures

  Find out more in our 
Strategic report  
Pages 01–51

Which are  
implemented by

 * The terms of reference of the audit, remuneration and nomination committees 
are available on our website at www.berendsen.com/board-committees.
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Board composition and roles
Our board comprises the Chairman, two executive directors and four independent non-executive directors.  
Their key responsibilities are as set out below:

Key responsibilities
Chairman*
Iain Ferguson

Chief Executive Officer*
James Drummond

Chief Financial Officer
Kevin Quinn

 a Responsible for the leadership of the board, 
ensuring its effectiveness by creating and 
managing a constructive relationship between 
the executive and non-executive directors

 a Promotes a culture of challenge, debate, 
openness and support, ensuring that there is 
adequate time available for discussion

 a Ensures ongoing and effective 
communication between the board and its 
key stakeholders

 a Ensures that the board receives accurate 
and clear information in a timely manner in 
advance of board meetings 

 a Responsible for ensuring that all non-
executive directors receive ongoing 
training and development so that they can 
appropriately perform their duties

  Read biography  
Page 56

 a Responsible for leading and managing the 
business within the authorities delegated by 
the board

 a Develops the group’s objectives and strategy 
and, following board approval, the successful 
execution of strategy

 a Ensures that a sound system of internal  
control is in place

 a Manages the group’s risk profile, including the 
maintenance of appropriate health, safety and 
environmental policies

 a Responsible for the effective and ongoing 
communication with shareholders 

 a Ensures that the board is fully informed of all 
key matters

  Read biography  
Page 56

 a Supports the CEO in developing and 
implementing strategy

 a Oversees the financial delivery and 
performance of the group

 a Establishes strong control processes in a 
complex business environment 

 a Leads the development of the finance 
organisation and related talent management 
in the group

 a Leads treasury activities, ensuring that 
appropriate financing is in place to fund the 
company’s strategic objectives 

 a Leads investor relations activities and 
communication to investors with the CEO

   Read biography  
Page 57

Senior Independent Director
David Lowden

Independent non-executive directors
Maarit Aarni-Sirviö, Lucy Dimes,  
David Lowden, Andrew Wood

Company Secretary
David Lawler

 a An experienced and trusted sounding board 
for the Chairman and CEO

 a Acts as conduit between Chairman, 
non-executives and shareholders

 a Leads the annual evaluation of the 
Chairman with assistance from the non-
executive directors

 a Strengthens understanding of major 
shareholders’ key interests by receiving 
reports from the company’s brokers on 
investor relations 

 a Makes himself available to meet shareholders

  Read biography  
Page 57

 a Promote the highest standards of integrity, 
probity and corporate governance throughout 
the company and particularly at board level

 a Constructively challenge and help develop 
proposals on strategy

 a Scrutinise the performance of management 
in meeting agreed goals and objectives, and 
monitor the reporting of performance

 a Review the integrity of financial information, 
and that financial controls and systems of risk 
management are robust and defensible

 a Determine appropriate levels of remuneration 
for executive directors and have a prime role 
in appointing and, where necessary, removing 
executive directors 

 a Ensure no individual or group dominates the 
board’s decision-making

  Read biographies  
Pages 56–57

 a Secretary to board and committees

 a Develops board and committee agendas, and 
collates and distributes papers 

 a Ensures compliance with board procedures

 a Advises on regulatory compliance and 
corporate governance

 a Facilitates induction programmes

 a Responsible for the organisation of the  
Annual General Meeting (AGM)

 a Makes himself available to all directors

  Read biography  
Page 57

 * The division of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer’s responsibilities is clearly 
established, set out in writing and regularly review by the board.
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We believe that our board  
is diverse, with a good balance  
of skills, experience and  
independence as illustrated  
in the charts below:
Gender

Women 

 29%  

Men 

71%     

Industry experience

Finance

  

FMCG

 

Logistics

  

Sales & marketing

 

Manufacturing/operations

  

Business services

   

Non-executive director tenure

0–2 years

3–5 years

5+ years

 

Board attendance in 2015
Executive directors Independent Board meetings Attendance*

Feb† Apr† May Jun† Jul† Sep Oct† Dec†

James Drummond** No 100%

Peter Ventress*** No 100%

Kevin Quinn No 100%

Non-executive directors   

Lucy Dimes Yes 100%

Iain Ferguson No 100%

David Lowden Yes 100%

Maarit Aarni-Sirviö Yes 100%

Andrew Wood Yes 100%

* % based on the meetings entitled to attend.

** James Drummond joined the board on 1 August 2015. 

*** Peter Ventress attended all meetings until his resignation from the board on 31 July 2015.

† Meeting preceded by a board dinner during which presentations were given by advisers or other invited speakers. 
Topics discussed during 2015 included: a market update from stock brokers, the outcome of the 2015 external board 
performance evaluation and the importance of developing customer relationships via digital media.

 “Visiting the UK Cleanroom 
business was a great way 
for the board to see the 
operations in action, and to 
meet and talk to the local staff 
about their integration into 
the Berendsen family.”
Lucy Dimes
Non-executive director

  Read about the NED site visits and events  
Page 62

Leadership

The governance framework illustrated 
in the chart on page 59 supports the 
development of good governance 
practices throughout our group. 
The Executive Board is responsible for 
ensuring that the policies and behaviours 
set at board level are effectively 
communicated and implemented across 
the group’s business. 

This is achieved through the use of the 
group intranet ‘Berendsen Universe’, 
our monthly corporate newsletter, 
presentations and meetings with 
management teams and effective 
policies and procedural guidelines. 
Regular updates are provided to the 
board and its committees by the Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer, and the board also meets with 
the Executive Board at least twice per 
year to establish how the business is 
progressing and, through discussion 
and debate at those meetings, ensures 
that good governance practices are fully 
embedded within the group.

Based on the feedback received from 
these meetings, the board is comfortable 
that the existing framework continues 
to ensure that the principles of good 
governance are rooted in the Berendsen 
culture and no changes to the framework 
have been required in the year.

During the year, all directors confirmed 
(as they are required to do annually) 
that they have been able to allocate 
sufficient time to discharge their 
responsibilities effectively. Directors are 
also required to notify the Chairman 
and the board of any alterations to their 
external commitments that arise during 
the year with an indication of the time 
commitment involved. 

With effect from 31 December 2015, 
David Lowden became the non-
executive Chairman of Michael Page 
International PLC. David notified our 
Chairman and board in advance of 
his appointment and the board has 
confirmed that it does not believe that 
this change in directorship will effect 
David’s commitment to, or involvement 
with, the Berendsen board.
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What the board did in 2015

 25%  15%
Strategy

 a Held strategy review discussions with the 
Executive Board in May and September

 a Received presentations on the revised 
strategy in October 

 a Reviewed the presentation for the Capital 
Markets Day held on 19 November

 a Received updated presentations from 
business lines on the implementation of the 
strategic opportunities agreed upon in 2014

 a Held a separate meeting with the Chief 
Executive Officer to discuss key strategic 
issues and succession planning

 a Approved the revised strategy for the group

  Find out more  
Page 01–15

Governance and risk
 a Reviewed reports on governance issues, 
including developments in EU audit 
legislation, succession planning and 
executive remuneration

 a Considered the ‘new’ risks or changes in 
existing risks associated with the group’s 
revised strategy 

 a Regularly and robustly reviewed 
principal risks

 a Conducted a review of the company’s 
viability over the next three year period

 a Received internal audit reports 
and monitored implementation 
of recommendations

 a Approved updated audit and nomination 
committee terms of reference

  Find out more  
Pages 24 and 74–76

 20%  15%
People, Vision and Values

 a Approved the appointment of the new 
Chief Executive Officer

 a Met with the Executive Board in May 
and September

 a Met local management teams in Munich, 
Germany (May) and Newbury, UK 
(September) 

 a Carried out individual NED visits

 a Received presentations and provided input 
into the revised ‘Vision and Values’ and 
mission statement

  Find out more  
Page 04 and 47

Shareholder engagement
 a Consulted with shareholders and proxy  
voting bodies on the revised 
remuneration policy

 a Reviewed reports from brokers on 
shareholder feedback from the  
Capital Markets Day and meetings with  
the CEO and CFO

 a Hosted an investor event to meet our new 
CEO in July and a dinner with institutional 
investors in November

 a Reviewed the 2015 AGM proxy voting figures

 a Received an update from stock brokers 
and PR advisers on the market perception 
of Berendsen

  Find out more  
Page 66

 20%  5%
Performance monitoring

 a Reviewed monthly reports on performance 
against budget and forecast

 a Reviewed reports on the financial position of 
the group including treasury management

 a Reviewed regular reports from the 
chairmen of the audit, remuneration and 
nomination committees

 a Approved the year-end and half-year results

  Find out more  
Page 32–35

Other
 a Approved the 2014 Annual Report 
and Accounts

 a Received and reviewed monthly 
shareholders’ analysis

 a Approved the 2015 Notice of AGM

Further details of the board’s key achievements during the year are detailed in the Chairman’s statement on pages 52–54.

Non-executive director  
site visits and events
In order that our non-executive 
directors can meet local management 
teams and strengthen their 
knowledge and understanding of 
our local operations, issues and the 
culture of our group, we require that, 
at least once a year, they visit one of 
our sites or attend one of our group 
events. The sites and events attended 
by our non-executive directors in 2015 
are set out below:
Non-executive Site visited/event

Iain Ferguson  aManagement trainee dinner, 
London (UK)

 aUK Flat Linen management 
dinner, London (UK)

 aFacility management dinner, 
Copenhagen (Denmark) 

Lucy Dimes  aManagement trainee dinner, 
London (UK)

 a“Women in Berendsen” 
workshop & dinner (UK)

David Lowden  aWorkwear management 
dinner, Dublin (Ireland)

Maarit  
Aarni-Sirviö

 aWorkwear management 
dinner, Helsinki (Finland)

 aFacility management dinner, 
Copenhagen (Denmark)

 a“Women in Berendsen” 
workshop & dinner (UK)

Andrew  
Wood

 aWorkwear management 
dinner, Dublin (Ireland)

 aAnnual dinner with business 
line Finance Directors, 
London (UK)

In 2015, the board met with 
the management teams of the 
newly acquired UK Cleanroom 
business and German Workwear 
business. Following the board visit 
to Munich (Germany) in May, the 
board approved plans to build a 
new facility in the Munich area. 
The meetings in September included 
site visits to our new Cleanroom 
facilities in Newbury (UK), and gave 
board members detailed insights 
into the development of our UK 
Cleanroom operations. 

In 2016, the board will meet with the 
management teams from all business 
lines to discuss the implementation 
of our strategy and, will visit our 
garment design facility, Berendsen 
Sourcing, in Gothenburg (Sweden).

Berendsen plc  
Report and Accounts 2015

62 Corporate governance statement (continued)



Effectiveness

Performance evaluation
A comprehensive evaluation of 
the performance of the board, its 
committees and each of its directors is 
carried out annually, a process led by 
the Chairman and supported by the 
Company Secretary. The outcome of the 
performance evaluations are discussed 
in detail at board meetings and any 
key recommendations are considered 
board priorities for the following year. 
The annual evaluation process is an 
important mechanism for ensuring best 
practice is at the forefront of all board 
and committee actions.

Our 2014 performance evaluation 
was externally facilitated by Dr Tracy 
Long of Boardroom Review and 
described in detail in our 2014 Annual 
Report. The results of the evaluation 
were presented and reviewed in April 
2015 with key recommendations (and 
progress to date) detailed in the table 
on page 64.

The review of the Chairman’s 
performance is led by David Lowden, 
our Senior Independent Director, who 
has confidential discussions with the 
non-executive directors whilst taking into 
account the views of executive directors. 
The executive directors are evaluated 
by reference to their executive duties 
through a separate process whereby 
the Chairman and the non-executive 
directors assess the Chief Executive 
Officer, and the Chief Executive Officer 
assesses the Chief Financial Officer and 
other members of the Executive Board.

In accordance with our three-year  
cycle, the board anticipates that the 
2016 board evaluation will be conducted 
internally and led by our Senior 
Independent Director, with the next 
externally facilitated evaluation in 2017. 

Berendsen three-year approach
The 2014/15 externally facilitated evaluation process represented year 1 of our  
three-year approach to board evaluation. The 2015 evaluation process (year 2) was 
an internal board evaluation led by the Chairman, and is summarised below:

Year 3 
Internal board  

evaluation  
led by the Senior  

Independent Director

Year 2 
Internal board  
evaluation led  

by the Chairman

Year 1 
External board  

evaluation

Individual 
meetings

Reporting

2015 
outcomes

2016 
actions

Our Chairman met with each director and held discussions focused on:

 a How the board defines its role and approaches its work

 a Balance of skills, diversity and experience on the board

 a Integration and induction of our new CEO

 a Knowledge about the group

 a Culture and dynamics of the board

 a Committee composition and effectiveness

 a A report summarising the key outcomes was circulated to the board

 a Outcomes were initially discussed by the non-executive directors  
at their meeting on 17 December 2015

 a The board discussed the outcomes and agreed priorities  
at the February 2016 meeting 

 a Key actions were agreed

 a Board and committees continue to operate effectively

 a Our new CEO has integrated well and the positive culture of the 
board continues 

 a All directors continue to contribute effectively and demonstrate 
commitment to their roles

 a Support and monitor the CEO and senior management team in 
seamlessly executing our strategy and the implementation of our new 
organisation structure

 a Support the further development of talent and succession planning 

 a Participate in the review of the group’s advisers 

 a Continue to develop and maintain best practice standards in 
corporate governance
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Information flow  
at board meetings
The board uses an electronic board 
paper system which provides quick, 
easy and secure access to board papers 
and materials (including a ‘Resource 
Centre’ which contains comprehensive 
reference materials). Briefing packs are 
also circulated via this system, at times 
when board meetings are not scheduled. 
The briefing packs ensure that the non-
executive directors are kept informed of 
the latest issues affecting the group. 

The directors indicated in their responses 
to the 2015 performance evaluation that 
the quality of information supplied to 
them remains of a high standard. 

The information flow in advance of, and 
following, board meetings is described in 
the adjacent chart.

The Chief Executive Officer and the 
Chief Financial Officer ensure that the 
board is kept fully aware on a timely 
basis of business issues and prospects 
throughout the group. During 2015, they 
periodically attended individual business 
line board meetings, meeting the 
management teams of each operation, 
and bringing the key issues raised to the 
attention of the board.

Follow-up procedure 
(overseen by the 

Company Secretary) 
ensures actions are 

completed as agreed 
by the board

Chairman agrees  
the agenda 

(with input from 
the CEO and 

Company Secretary)

Agenda and board 
papers are circulated 
to directors at least 
seven days ahead of 
the board meeting

An updated action 
list informs part 
of the agenda 
for the next 

scheduled meeting

Board meeting  
(at least eight 

per year)

Outcomes of our 2014 performance evaluation
Recommendation Progress

Ensure a comprehensive and tailored 
induction programme for the new 
Chief Executive Officer (to include 
meetings with major shareholders).

A comprehensive induction programme was 
completed by James Drummond from  
1 July 2015, with full details on page 55. James 
hosted an investor reception in July and met 
with shareholders representing 20% of our 
share capital. James also met with our major 
shareholders at our Capital Markets Day in 
November. James will attend the 2016 AGM 
where he will be available to meet with our 
private investors.

Review the skills and experience of 
the Executive Board following the 
outcome of the strategic review.

Following the completion of the strategic 
review, the board and James Drummond 
reviewed the composition of the Executive 
Board, which resulted in the creation of four 
new positions to support the new customer-
led strategy. Full biographical details of the 
current and newly appointed members of the 
Executive Board can be found on page 58.

Capital Markets Day
Open communication with our investment 
community is a key priority. We organised 
a Capital Markets event on 19 November 
2015, following the appointment of James 
Drummond as CEO, and this gave 45 of 
our shareholders, investors and advisers 
the opportunity to hear at first-hand our 
medium-term strategy development. 
James and Kevin Quinn (CFO) presented 
our operational and financial ambitions 
with break-out sessions facilitated by 
senior managers from each business line: 
Workwear, Facility, Hospitality and Healthcare. 
Management team representatives from across 
Europe shared information about market 
growth opportunities, new products and 
services and strategic priorities. 
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Induction
We seek to ensure that our induction 
programmes are designed to be 
as comprehensive as possible with 
a focus on the practical delivery of 
information rather than just the supply 
of reading material. Our induction 
programmes (whether for executive or 
non-executive director appointments) 
require significant time commitment 
from the newly appointed director, 
other members of the board and other 
key individuals across the business. 
This commitment is seen by all 
parties as a worthwhile investment of 
resources to ensure new appointees are 
engaged with the business at all levels, 
and was vital in ensuring the smooth 
handover of executive responsibility to 
James Drummond. 

Information about James Drummond’s 
induction process 
Page 55

Training and development
The Chairman is responsible for ensuring 
that all non-executive directors receive 
ongoing training and development 
which is both informative and relevant 
to their role on the Berendsen board 
and its committees. Our non-executive 
directors engage fully in this ongoing 
development, which is discussed at the 
non-executive directors’ meeting each 
year, and was delivered in 2015 in a 
number of ways including:

 a All of our UK-based non-executive 
directors are active members of the 
Deloitte Academy and received a 
programme of briefings and update 
sessions in the year on relevant topics 
including accounting and auditing 
standards, corporate governance and 
the wider economy;

 a Specific tailored training for our 
audit committee delivered by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 
with key themes focused around 
developments in financial and 
narrative reporting, and accounting 
and auditing standards; and

 a Regular updates on regulatory and 
legislative developments which are 
provided to the whole board by the 
Company Secretary.

Conflicts of interest
The board operates procedures to 
identify and manage situations where 
a director has a conflict of interest, and 
each director has confirmed that no 
conflicts of interest arose during 2015.

An element of the procedure, designed 
to safeguard the independence of our 
non-executive directors, restricts a 
director from voting on any matter in 
which they have a material personal 
interest unless the board unanimously 
decides otherwise. Where necessary, 
directors are required to absent 
themselves from a meeting of the board 
while such matters are being discussed, 
although as noted above no such 
situations arose in 2015.

The board also has agreed procedures 
by which directors can, for the purposes 
of discharging their duties, obtain 
independent professional advice at the 
company’s expense. No director had 
reason to use this facility during 2015.

“The Capital Markets Day  
was an example of Berendsen  

at its most transparent,  
with senior management 
giving us a detailed insight  
into market dynamics and 
strategic developments.”

Event attendee
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Relations with shareholders

Shareholder engagement
Led by the Chairman, the board is 
committed to proactive and constructive 
engagement with shareholders 
and recognises the important and 
valuable role that shareholders play in 
safeguarding the group’s governance. 
The board receives regular updates 
on the views of our shareholders 
through briefings and reports from our 
interaction with shareholders during the 
year and from our brokers.

Shareholder engagement activities 
during 2015 included:

CEO introduction
In July, we hosted a drinks reception for 
our major shareholders (representing 
a total of 20% of voting rights) to meet 
our new CEO. James Drummond will 
be available to meet with our private 
shareholders at our 2016 AGM. 

Remuneration policy consultation
The consultation on proposed 
amendments to our remuneration 
policy was led by the remuneration 
committee chairman, and the details 
of the amendments are set out in the 
committee chairman’s statement on 
pages 78–79. All shareholders holding 
1.5% or more of our total voting rights, 
and together representing close to 60% 
of total voting rights, were consulted, 
and we were delighted to receive 
responses from 50% of those consulted. 
We also contacted three of the major 
proxy voting agencies and were 
grateful to receive feedback from two 
of them. The results of the consultation 
were discussed by the remuneration 
committee in October 2015, and the 
policy was updated to reflect the views 
of the respondents.

Major shareholder dinner with our 
Chairman and Senior Independent 
Director 
Held on 26 November 2015, this dinner 
was an opportunity for shareholders 
to meet the Chairman and Senior 
Independent Director without the 
executive directors being present. 
The event was attended by five major 
shareholders and the topics discussed 
included the integration of James 
Drummond as our new CEO, the setting 
of performance targets, and the general 
economic and political outlook. 

The feedback received by the Chairman 
was very positive, with invitees 
expressing their appreciation of the 
dinner which provided an excellent 
opportunity for open dialogue and 
the sincere hope that this event will be 
repeated. We are pleased to confirm that 
our next shareholder dinner will be held 
on 1 November 2016. 

Analyst and investor meetings and 
presentations
Analyst and investor meetings and 
presentations are held following the 
release of our annual, half-year and 
interim results announcements, and 
are also streamed via a live webcast 
for those unable to attend in person. 
The presentations continue to be 
available on our website after broadcast.

Other shareholder meetings
Throughout the year, 128 separate 
meetings and conference calls were held 
with existing and potential shareholders. 
These meetings were attended by either 
the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief 
Financial Officer or sometimes both. 
The meetings focused primarily on 
the group’s trading operations and the 
implementation of the group’s strategy. 
Where significant views were expressed, 
either during or following the meeting 
via our brokers, these were recorded and 
circulated to all directors. The number 
of meetings held is driven by investor 
demand, which was higher in 2015 than 
in 2014 when 87 separate meetings 
were held.

If shareholders have any concerns, which 
the normal channels of communication 
to the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief 
Financial Officer or the Chairman have 
failed to resolve or for which contact 
is inappropriate, then the Senior 
Independent Director is available to 
address them. 

To that end, both the Chairman and 
the Senior Independent Director make 
themselves available, when requested, 
for meetings with shareholders on issues 
relating to the group’s governance and 
strategy. During the year, the Chairman 
of the board and the committee 
chairmen received correspondence from 
shareholders, institutional investors and 
proxy voting agencies which was then 
reviewed by the board and committees 
at their respective next meeting. 

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting takes place 
in London. The 2016 meeting will be held 
on 28 April at the Royal Aeronautical 
Society, 4 Hamilton Place, London, 
W1J 7BQ, and details of the meeting 
and the resolutions to be proposed are 
set out in the Notice of AGM which is 
available to download on our website 
(www.berendsen.com) from 14 March 
2016. The Annual General Meeting 
gives shareholders, in particular our 
private shareholders, an opportunity to 
hear about the general development 
of the business and to ask questions 
to the Chairman and, through him, the 
chairmen of the various committees as 
well as committee members.
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Nomination 
committee report

Iain Ferguson 
Chairman of the nomination committee

2015 Key achievements

 a The successful recruitment of 
James Drummond as Chief 
Executive Officer 

 a Monitored the comprehensive 
handover and induction 
programme designed for James 
to ensure that it was effective and 
carefully tailored to requirements

 a Ensured further development 
of the management succession 
and development plans for 
the Executive Board and 
senior executives 

 a Considered the extension of 
Andrew Wood’s and David 
Lowden’s appointment’s for a 
further three-year term

Areas of focus in 2016

 a Conduct a thorough board 
composition review following the 
completion of the strategy review 

 a Review the findings of the 
group’s second employee 
engagement survey 

 a Continue to focus on succession 
planning and talent development

Dear shareholder
I am pleased to present to you the report of the work of the nomination 
committee during 2015.

2015 has been a busy year for the committee. Having been advised of Peter 
Ventress’ intention to step down as Chief Executive Officer, we instigated 
and oversaw the process to identify his successor. We were delighted to 
welcome James Drummond to the board on 1 August. James has undergone a 
comprehensive induction programme which the nomination committee helped 
to design, and this has underpinned the seamless transfer of responsibility from 
Peter to James. 

More information on James’ recruitment 
Page 68

A full description of James’ induction 
Page 55

Details of James’ remuneration 
Page 91

We have continued to focus on succession planning and talent development 
programmes, as reported last year. We have again been active in monitoring the 
succession planning processes in place across the group for the top 100 senior 
positions and also the continuing success of the ‘Women in Berendsen’ network. 
We believe that these initiatives will provide the foundation for a strong pipeline of 
talent in the years to come. 

I am pleased with the ongoing success of the Berendsen talent development 
programmes. A particular highlight during the year was the internal appointment 
of three new members to the Executive Board. The programmes proved 
invaluable during this appointment process in providing internal candidates for our 
new positions: Managing Director of Hospitality, Director of Shared Services and 
Director of Berendsen Excellence. Biographical information of our new Executive 
Board members can be found on page 58. We intend to retain succession 
planning and talent development as regular focus areas and we will continue to 
monitor and develop our programmes in 2016.

Following the completion of the strategy review, the committee intends to 
conduct a detailed review of the composition of the board and Executive Board. 
The review will consider the knowledge and skill demands of the revised strategy 
and also diversity considerations. 

Finally, the committee has reviewed the appointment’s of Andrew Wood and 
David Lowden as their current term of office was due to expire. The committee is 
pleased to report that it is satisfied with the ongoing performance of both Andrew 
and David and has recommended that their appointments should be extended for 
another three years.

Iain Ferguson
Chairman of the nomination committee
25 February 2016

If you would like to discuss 
any aspect of the committee’s 
activities with me, please 
feel free to email me at 
chairman@berendsen.eu
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Appointment of  
James Drummond
Following Peter Ventress’ decision to 
retire, the committee led the selection 
and appointment process for a new 
Chief Executive Officer, which is 
summarised in the following chart:

Membership and attendance in 2015
Committee members Independent Committee meetings Attendance*

Jan Feb Mar May Dec

Iain Ferguson No 100%

Maarit Aarni-Sirviö Yes 100%

Lucy Dimes Yes 100%

James Drummond** No 100% 

David Lowden Yes 100%

Andrew Wood Yes 100%

Peter Ventress*** No 100%

* % based on the meetings entitled to attend. 

** James Drummond joined the committee on 1 August 2015.

***  Peter Ventress attended all meetings until his resignation from the board on 31 July 2015.

Membership and meetings At the request of the committee 
chairman, other individuals and external 
advisers may be invited to attend all 
or part of any meeting, as and when 
appropriate. The Chief Executive 
Officer’s role on the committee is to 
provide a better understanding of the 
strategic issues facing the company and 
the current skills and experience of the 
Executive Board.

Induction and experience 
Upon appointment to the committee, 
non-executive directors are provided 
with details about the current 
composition of the board, the company’s 
succession planning procedures and 
how the board’s and committees’ annual 
performance reviews are conducted. 

Induction to the committee includes 
detailed briefings with the Chairman 
and Chief Executive Officer in order to 
understand the issues being discussed 
at board and Executive Board level.

Select search 
consultants

Board 
composition 

review

Specification

Interviews

Final  
interviews

Due diligence 
recommendation

The committee chairman conducted a review to identify appropriate 
consultants and proposed the Zygos Partnership* (‘Zygos’), an 
experienced and reputable executive search firm which specialises in 
board level appointments. The committee approved Zygos’ appointment.

The committee reviewed the skills, experience and diversity  
of the board to identify any particular gaps that should be covered  
by the new appointee.

Based on its review of board composition, and discussions with Zygos, 
a specification was produced. The specification was considered by the 
committee and recommended to the board for approval.

A long list of candidates was provided by Zygos and interviews were 
conducted by the Chairman, Senior Independent Director and other 
members of the committee. Following this stage, a short list of three 
preferred candidates was identified.

The committee conducted final stage interviews with the three shortlisted 
candidates. James Drummond was identified as the preferred candidate.

A thorough due diligence and referencing process was conducted. 
Following satisfactory conclusion of this process, the committee 
recommended James’ appointment to the board. * Zygos is a signatory to the voluntary code 

of conduct on gender diversity for external 
search consultants. During 2015, Zygos 
provided no other services to the company. 
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Independence and re-election 
to the board
The composition of our board is 
reviewed annually by the nomination 
committee to ensure that there is an 
effective balance of skills, experience 
and knowledge. 

The committee conducted a specific 
review of the independence of Andrew 
Wood and David Lowden in the year 
as their three-year appointments 
were due to expire on 28 February 
2016. Neither Andrew nor David 
were present during the committee’s 
discussion which took into account the 
following considerations:

 a Performance

 a Length of tenure on the board

 a Board composition

 a Independence 

 a Other external commitments

Having conducted its review, the 
committee was satisfied that it was 
appropriate to recommended to the 
board that Andrew’s and David’s 
appointments should be extended for a 
further three years (subject to re-election 
by shareholders at the 2016 AGM).

In accordance with the Code, all 
directors wishing to continue will retire 
and offer themselves for re-election 
by shareholders at the 2016 Annual 
General Meeting. Further biographical 
information on each of our directors can 
be found on pages 56 and 57, which 
shows the breadth of strategic and 
financial management insight brought to 
our board table.

Succession planning
We have continued to develop and 
monitor extensive succession plans both 
at board and senior management level 
throughout the group. The committee’s 
input and oversight into the succession 
planning process can be summarised 
as follows:

 a In May 2015, Chris Thrush, Group 
Director, Human Resources presented 
to the committee details of the 
succession planning and development 
programmes throughout the 
group for senior management. 
Potential successors, including a mix 
of internal and external candidates 
have been identified for the top 100 
senior management positions and 
the committee again reviewed the 
profiles of all of these positions during 
the year;

 a The board and committee met with 
specifically targeted individuals 
identified as potential executive talent 
during their site visits in the year; and

 a The committee regularly monitored 
the schedule on the length of tenure 
of the Chairman and non-executive 
directors, and reviewed potential 
departure dates assuming the relevant 
directors are not permitted to serve 
more than three three-year terms.

The committee continues to be satisfied 
that adequate succession planning is 
in place for the Executive Board and 
senior executives. Succession planning 
will remain a key ongoing focus of the 
committee in 2016 and beyond.

Diversity
Berendsen has established a number 
of diversity programmes and 
initiatives across the group including 
the ‘Women in Berendsen’ network 
and the company-wide diversity 
policy. The committee is pleased with 
the level of awareness across the 
business and strongly supports and 
receives updates on all of the diversity 
initiatives. Both Lucy Dimes and Maarit 
Aarni-Sirviö attended the ‘Women in 
Berendsen’ workshop and dinner in 
January 2015, which aims to mentor and 
provide guidance and support to the 
development of female executive talent 
within our group. 

Our gender diversity policy ensures that, 
where possible, each time a member 
of senior management or a director is 
recruited at Berendsen at least one of 
the shortlisted candidates is female. 
Although gender diversity is a key area 
of focus throughout the group, the 
board considers all diversity issues in 
the broadest sense including, but not 
limited to, nationality and ethnicity. 
As a multinational business, it is crucial 
that the board considers all diversity 
practices that could affect its efficiency 
and leadership, while ensuring that 
the strongest candidates on merit are 
considered for vacant positions.

The committee was disappointed 
that it was unable to shortlist a female 
candidate for the final stage of the 
appointment of the new Chief Executive 
Officer, although a number of female 
candidates were interviewed at an 
earlier stage in the process. This decision 
was based on the overall quality of 
the candidates considered, with the 
three very best on merit all happening 
to be male in this instance. The board 
continues to comprise 29% female 
directors, in excess of its stated minimum 
target of 25% female directors. We have 
noted the recommendation in Lord 
Davies’ final report on women on boards 
that a target of 33% female board 
representation be achieved by FTSE 
350 companies in the next five years, 
and will review our policy in light of this 
during 2016.
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Audit committee report

Andrew Wood 
Chairman of the audit committee

2015 Key achievements

 a Reviewed the significant financial 
judgements made during the 
year and in the preparation of the 
Annual Report and Accounts

 a At the request of the board, 
conducted a review of the 2015 
Annual Report to confirm that it 
was fair, balanced and capable of 
being understood by shareholders

 a Assisted with the design of the 
process by which the board 
assessed the ongoing viability 
of the company in support of 
the viability statement required 
under the 2014 UK Corporate 
Governance Code

 a Approved improved risk 
management processes to ensure 
these are more responsive to any 
potential changes in activities or 
the business environment 

 a Ensured a comprehensive Internal 
Audit Programme and oversaw the 
recruitment and induction of a new 
Head of Internal Audit 

 a Assisted with the induction of the 
new external audit partner 

 a Conducted a review of the external 
auditor’s work throughout the year 
and made a final recommendation 
to the board to reappoint 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for 
the year ending 31 December 2016

Dear shareholder
I am pleased to present our audit committee report for 2015. 

Throughout the year, we have continued our focus on the integrity of financial 
reporting and internal controls. We were again asked to advise the board whether 
the 2015 Annual Report and Accounts are fair, balanced and understandable 
(in accordance with UK Corporate Governance Code provision C.3.4). 
Having conducted a comprehensive review (described on page 77 of this report), 
the committee was satisfied that the 2015 Annual Report and Accounts are fair, 
balanced and capable of being understood by shareholders and that they include 
all the necessary information to allow our shareholders to assess Berendsen’s 
performance, business model and strategy. We have advised the board of the 
outcome of our assessment. 

As we noted in our 2014 report, we have monitored the implementation of 
procedures to address the revised requirements of the 2014 UK Corporate 
Governance Code around internal control and risk management. The principal 
risks facing the company, which are subject to robust assessment by the board, 
are set out on pages 26 to 31, and the ongoing monitoring, and effectiveness 
review of the group’s risk management and internal control systems are described 
on page 74. We have also assisted the board in designing the process by which 
the directors have assessed the long-term viability of the company as required 
under the new Code provision C.2.2. (this process is described in full on page 75). 
Our viability statement is set out on page 27 and includes the explanation of how 
the assessment has been made and why the period covered by the statement is 
considered appropriate.

Our review of the significant financial judgements made during the year 
and any key financial reporting issues is described on page 72 of this report. 
During 2015, we routinely considered potential for fraud in revenue recognition 
and management override of controls. In addition, we considered three key 
reporting judgements:

 a Goodwill impairment;

 a A potential exposure to an environmental liability in Sweden and Holland; and

 a Quality of earnings.

We have also received regular updates on the work of the internal auditors 
during the year. We were involved in the process for appointing Luke Walker 
as our new Head of Internal Audit, and are pleased to see that he has settled 
well into the role. The primary focus of the comprehensive internal audit 
programme for 2015 was to provide assurance on key internal control activities 
and the control and governance framework. Our procedure for ensuring that 
all of the recommendations made by internal audit are implemented in a timely 
manner continues to operate effectively, and the committee is satisfied with the 
relationship between the internal audit function and executive management.

The committee was actively involved in ensuring a smooth handover to 
Matthew Mullins, our new external PwC audit partner from 2015. This handover 
was considered as part of our comprehensive review of the external auditor’s 
independence and effectiveness (described on page 72), following which the 
committee has made a recommendation to the board that the external auditor is 
reappointed for the year ending 31 December 2016. 

Andrew Wood
Chairman of the audit committee
25 February 2016

If you would like to discuss 
any aspect of the committee’s 
activities with me, please 
feel free to email me at 
auditchairman@berendsen.eu
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Committee attendance in 2015

Committee members Independent
Committee 

meetings Attendance*

Feb Jul Dec

Andrew Wood Yes 100%

Maarit Aarni-Sirviö Yes 100%

Lucy Dimes Yes 100%

David Lowden Yes 100% 

 * % based on the meetings entitled to attend.

Audit committee activity in 2015

 20%  25%
Internal control and risk 
management systems

 a Undertook regular reviews of the schedule 
of key controls documenting how the 
most significant risks facing the group 
are managed

 a Reviewed a risk management update on the 
progress made throughout 2015 and how 
the group is managing cyber risk

 a Reviewed the group delegated authorities

 a Regularly monitored the risk management 
and internal control systems

 a Approved the Risk Management Plan 
for 2016

External audit
 a Reviewed external auditor reports on year-
end and half-year financial statements

 a Met PwC audit partner without 
management present

 a Discussed external auditor strategy, scope 
and fees for 2015

 a Reviewed reports from PwC on the 2015 
year-end audit and agreed 2015 external 
audit fees

 a Assessed qualifications, expertise, resources 
and independence of PwC

 a Assessed effectiveness of external 
audit process

 30%  20%
Integrity of financial statements 
and announcements

 a Reviewed the key accounting judgements 
and significant issues of the 2014 and 2015 
year-end accounts

 a Reviewed preliminary results announcement

 a Carried out a fair, balanced and 
understandable review of the 2015 
Annual Report

 a Approved process for the assessment of the 
Company’s longer-term viability 

 a Reviewed going concern and 
viability statements

 a Reviewed key accounting judgements and 
significant issues associated with the 2015 
half-year results

 a Reviewed half-year results announcement

 a Approved the process for the assessment of 
the company’s longer-term viability 

  Find out more  
Pages 72 and 75 

Internal audit function
 a Oversaw induction of new Head of 
Internal Audit

 a Received reports from Head of Internal 
Audit at each meeting

 a Met Head of Internal Audit without 
management present

 a Agreed 2016 internal audit plan

 5%
Other

 a Reviewed the committee’s performance 
over the year

 a Received a biannual update on the group 
whistleblowing system

 a Reviewed and recommended new 
audit committee terms of reference for 
board approval

Accountability

Membership and meetings
In addition to its members, other 
individuals and external advisers may 
attend each committee meeting at the 
request of the committee chairman. 
At least once a year, the committee 
meets with the external auditor and the 
Head of Internal Audit without executive 
management present. The committee 
chairman also regularly meets with 
the Head of Internal Audit and the 
external auditor, again without any other 
members of management being present.

Andrew Wood is a Chartered 
Management Accountant and has 
over 15 years’ experience as a Group 
Finance Director (at two FTSE 250 listed 
companies). Andrew is also chairman of 
the audit committee at Air Partner plc, 
Lavendon Group plc and Stobart Group 
Limited, and is therefore considered 
by the board to have sufficient recent 
and relevant financial experience to 
discharge his duties as chairman of 
the committee. 

The company provides an induction 
programme for new committee 
members and on at least an annual basis 
also provides ongoing training to enable 
the committee members to carry out 
their duties.

Areas of focus in 2016
 a Review the significant judgements 
applied in the preparation of the 
Annual Report and Accounts

 a Ensure that the key risks identified by 
the board are effectively managed 
during the implementation of the 
new strategy

 a Conduct a review of our policy on 
non-audit services during the first 
six months of 2016

 a Conduct a review of internal controls 
and risk management following the 
completion of the strategy review

 a Review the independence and 
effectiveness of the external auditor 

 a Ensure that there is a comprehensive 
internal audit programme
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External audit
Our terms of reference were amended 
during the year to reflect the increased 
responsibilities for audit committees 
introduced by The Statutory Audit 
Services for Large Companies Market 
Investigation (Mandatory Use of 
Competitive Tender Processes and 
Audit Committee Responsibilities) 
Order 2014 (the CMA Order). Under its 
increased responsibilities, the committee 
has not only managed the relationship 
with the external auditor (currently, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC)) on 
behalf of the board, but was also solely 
responsible for negotiating the scope of 
the external audit and for agreeing the 
auditor’s fee.

Effectiveness of the external 
audit process
Following the publication of the 
Annual Report, the committee reviews 
and considers the effectiveness of 
the external audit process. The 2015 
review (in respect of the audit of our 
2014 Annual Report) is summarised in 
the chart below and the committee’s 
assessment was informed by senior 
management providing feedback on 
the external audit process and any 
comments provided by the Chief 
Financial Officer, the Head of Internal 
Audit and the Company Secretary. 

Independence
An important aspect of managing the 
external auditor relationship, and of the 
annual effectiveness review, is ensuring 
there are adequate safeguards to protect 
auditor objectivity and independence. 
In conducting its annual assessment, the 
committee has considered:

 a Feedback from the Chief Financial 
Officer who monitors the 
independence of the external auditor; 

 a Audit fee benchmarking against other 
comparable companies, both within 
and outside of the group’s sector, 
to ensure ongoing objectivity in the 
audit process;

 a The level and nature of non-audit fees 
accruing to the external auditor; 

 a The external auditor’s formal letter of 
independence; and

 a The length of tenure of the 
external auditor and of the audit 
engagement partner.

External auditor effectiveness review

Qualification  
& expertise

Independence  
& objectivity

Planning  
& organisation

Resources

Non-audit  
services 

Quality

The committee received comments from the 
CFO and management on the objectivity of 
the auditor. 

Non-audit services provided by PwC were 
reviewed and, as described on page 73, 
are not considered to have affected the 
auditor’s independence. 

The committee considered whether the external 
auditor had appropriate resources and expertise 
to conduct the audit. 

The committee considers the effectiveness and 
organisation of the planning process for the audit  
and post-audit evaluation. 

The committee also reviewed the quality 
of reporting from the external auditor and 
their recommendations.

Significant financial judgements in 2015
The key reporting judgements considered by the committee and discussed with 
the external auditor during the year are provided below: 
Issues Judgements 

Goodwill impairment
The committee assessed the carrying value 
of goodwill based on the future cash flow 
projections of the business. 

The committee reviewed the level of headroom 
provided by the business cash flows and 
discount rate utilised and challenged the basis 
of these as appropriate. It concluded in the 
case of the German and Austrian CGU an 
impairment charge of £6.4m was required to 
fully write-off the associated goodwill. For all 
other CGU’s it concluded that significant 
headroom exists and that the application of 
reasonable sensitivities to the cash flows would 
not impact the carrying value of goodwill.

Contingent liabilities
The committee considered the likelihood 
of environmental liabilities crystallising and 
whether a provision should be recognised. 
In addition, the committee reviewed the 
strength of the claim on the warranties received 
for environmental damage when it acquired 
laundry sites in Sweden and Holland.

The committee reviewed the level of 
environmental provision and considered them 
sufficient in light of certain third party reports 
and management estimates. The claim on the 
warranties, which were given in a clear and 
unequivocal manner, was confirmed following 
a review by the company’s lawyers.

Quality of earnings
The committee reviewed the impact of any 
matters that might influence or distort the 
presentation of the accounts and ensured that 
these are appropriately disclosed. 

The committee was presented with an analysis 
of a limited number of immaterial and unusual 
or non-trading items and concluded that the 
effect of these were not material to a fair and 
balanced understanding of the accounts. 
The committee concluded that costs related 
to the implementation of the strategy update 
and the goodwill impairment charge should be 
separately disclosed as an exceptional item.

Potential for fraud in revenue recognition 
and management override of controls
The committee considered the presumed 
risks of fraud in revenue recognition and 
management override of controls as defined 
by auditing standards and the threat to risk. 

The committee considered its risk processes 
and controls and confirmed that these risks are 
appropriately managed.

 * In addition to the above, we discussed the judgements over the key balance sheet areas such as 
fixed assets, inventory and tax.
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Following the effectiveness assessment, 
we are pleased to report that the 
committee is satisfied that PwC 
continues to be independent and 
capable of conducting the external 
audit objectively and professionally. 
Feedback arising from the evaluation 
process has been provided by the 
committee chairman to the audit partner, 
and a formal recommendation has been 
made to the board, for approval by 
shareholders, that the external auditor 
is reappointed and the committee be 
authorised to agree their remuneration 
for the 2016 audit.

Audit tender
We noted in our 2014 Annual Report 
and Accounts that PwC has effectively 
been the company’s incumbent 
external auditor since 1980, and that, 
under the transitional provisions of the 
CMA Order, we are not required to 
conduct a mandatory competitive audit 
tender process until 2020 (taking into 
consideration the flexibility offered by 
the transitional provisions). 

At a time of significant change for the 
group, including the recent internal 
changes to the group’s structure 
and executive management and the 
ongoing strategy review, the committee 

does not believe it is in the best 
interest of shareholders to conduct a 
competitive tender process during 2016. 
The committee believes it would be 
most appropriate to do so during the 
financial year ending 2019 which is at the 
end of the current audit partner’s five-
year engagement and, this approach is 
in line with the transitional provisions of 
both the CMA Order, and the new EU 
audit reform legislation, which will come 
into force in June 2016. This position 
will, however, be kept under review. 
We intend to keep shareholders fully 
updated on our timetable for audit 
tender/rotation and will provide further 
updates when necessary. 

There are no contractual restrictions 
in relation to the company’s choice of 
external auditor.

Non-audit services
The group’s pre-approval policy for the 
provision of non-audit services by the 
external auditor is described below. 
During 2015, other accounting firms 
were used for larger non-audit services, 
including taxation and consultancy 
advice. Details of services provided 
by the auditor and its associates are 
included in note 3 on page 136. 

The focus of the policy is to ensure 
that the independence of the external 
auditor is not compromised, and where 
possible, other accounting firms are 
used. During 2015, the external auditor 
conducted £300,000 of non-audit 
services which were principally related 
to tax compliance and tax advisory 
services. The committee concluded that 
it was in the interest of the company to 
purchase these non-audit services from 
the external auditor, rather than another 
supplier, as it was best placed to provide 
these services due to its knowledge of 
the business.

The committee intends to conduct a 
review of the group’s policy on non-audit 
services during 2016, to ensure that the 
group complies with the new restrictions 
on certain non-audit services as well 
as the proposed cap on non-audit 
services which will be introduced from 
17 June 2016 by the EU Statutory Audit 
Regulation. Under the proposed rules, 
the new restrictions on services will need 
to be implemented by the group by 
1 January 2017.

Policy on non-audit services

 a The objective of maintaining a policy 
on non-audit services is to ensure 
that the provision of such services 
does not impair the external auditor’s 
independence or objectivity

 a The external auditor cannot be 
engaged to perform any assignment 
where the output is then subject to 
its review as external auditor

 a All services provided by the external 
auditor (other than the audit itself) 
are regarded as non-audit services 
(no matter how directly related to or 
consequential upon the audit they 
may be) 

 a The approval of the committee or 
chairman of the committee (should 
an emergency situation occur and 
urgent advice be needed) is required 
in advance of any new engagement 
with the external auditor to provide 
non-audit services in excess of 
£50,000

Permitted non-audit services

 a Advice and assurance on 
financial reporting, interpretation 
and implementation of 
accounting standards, tax and 
governance regulations

 a Advice and assurance in respect 
of direct and indirect tax matters 
including tax compliance, certain 
areas of tax planning advice, tax 
consultancy services and employee 
tax services 

 a Project assurance and advice

Specifically prohibited  
non-audit services

 a Appraisal or valuation services, 
fairness opinions or contribution-in-
kind reports

 a Broker or dealer, investment adviser 
or investment banking services

 a Bookkeeping services related 
to accounting records or 
financial statements

 a Design and implementation of 
financial information systems

 a Internal audit outsourcing services

 a Legal and other services unrelated 
to the audit 

 a Management functions including 
human resources
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Internal audit
Our group internal audit function, 
led by the Head of Internal Audit, 
is appropriately resourced with the 
skills and experience relevant to 
the operations of the group, and is 
supported by specialist resources where 
required. The Head of Internal Audit 
is accountable to the committee, has 
access to the committee members at 
any time, and meets independently with 
the committee chairman regularly during 
the year. Additional meetings between 
the committee chairman and the new 
Head of Internal Audit were held in 2015 
to assist the successful handover to the 
new Head of Internal Audit.

A key focus of internal audit activity in 
2015 has been on providing assurance on 
key internal control activities, along with 
providing assurance around the control 
and governance framework.

The committee receives a report on 
internal audit activity at each meeting, 
and monitors the status of internal audit 
recommendations and management’s 
responsiveness to their implementation. 
The committee also reviews annually the 
adequacy, qualifications and experience 
of the group’s internal audit resources 
and the nature and scope of internal 
audit activity in the context of the 
group’s risk management system as set 
out on pages 24–25.

Internal control and 
risk management 
Board assessment of the effectiveness 
of internal control systems
As Berendsen continues to grow and 
develop, it is a key responsibility of 
the board to ensure that we maintain 
effective internal control procedures 
and adequately manage the risks facing 
the group. The board is dedicated to 
ensuring that there is a strong and 
regularly monitored control environment, 
that aims to minimise financial risk and 
provide assurance that the group’s 
strategic objectives will be achieved 
within the risk tolerance levels set by the 
board. The board, with the assistance of 
the audit committee, regularly monitors 
and reviews the policies and procedures 
making up the group’s internal control 
and risk management system through 
the following:

Control policy/procedure Monitoring

Minimum control framework for 
financial reporting

Core financial reviews conducted by internal 
audit and presented to the audit committee 
(see below)

IT minimum control framework (developed by 
IT steering committee)

IT general control reviews conducted 
by internal audit and presented to the 
audit committee

Incident reporting system identifying all issues 
in respect of health and safety, anti-bribery 
and corruption and all other corporate 
responsibility-related incidents

Issues reported to the audit committee and 
the board, both of which also receive biannual 
reports on:

 a Health and safety incidents and statistics; 
and

 a Corporate responsibility-related incidents 
and CO2 emission statistics.

Group Risk Manager compliance review 
(confirming that all business are in compliance 
with group corporate responsibility and risk 
policies and procedures including (but not 
limited to):

 a Business continuity planning;

 a Health and safety policy;

 a Ethics and anti-bribery and corruption;

 a Incident reporting;

 a Environment and community; and

 a Whistleblowing.

Results from the annual anti-bribery and 
corruption risk assessments, completed 
by our businesses, are reported to the 
audit committee.

The review is conducted biannually in March 
and September and where non-compliance is 
detected, actions are agreed and followed up 
until implementation. 

Outcomes of both reviews, and the follow-
up on outstanding actions, are reported to 
the board.

To support ongoing monitoring activity, the board and audit committee requested, 
received and reviewed reports from senior management, advisers, group internal 
audit and our external auditor. At board level, discussions are held routinely on the 
effectiveness of our internal control mechanism and risk management. An area 
of particular focus at board meetings during 2015 was the management of risk in 
relation to the business model proposed by the strategic review, and our future 
performance, solvency and liquidity. The committee and board are satisfied 
that there are established procedures to identify and manage risks during the 
development and execution of the revised strategy. Further details of the principal 
risks and uncertainties facing the group and risk management processes can be 
found on pages 24 to 31 of the Risk report.

The board considers that the information that it receives is sufficient to enable it 
to review the effectiveness of the group’s internal controls in accordance with the 
FRC’s Guidance on Risk Management, Internal Control and Related Financial and 
Business Reporting. 

Using the ongoing processes outlined on page 25, we continuously identify areas 
where internal controls can be improved and devise action plans as appropriate. 
Progress towards completion of actions is regularly monitored by management and 
the board. The board considers that none of the areas for improvement identified 
constitute a significant failing or weakness.
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Financial reporting
The group’s minimum control framework 
for financial reporting includes clear 
policies and procedures for ensuring that 
the group’s financial reporting processes 
and the preparation of its consolidated 
accounts comply with all relevant 
regulatory reporting requirements. 
These are comprehensively detailed in 
the Group Finance Manual, which is used 
by the businesses in the preparation 
of their results. Financial control 
requirements are also set out in the 
‘Group Finance Manual – Minimum 
Control Framework’ which are:

 a Subject to half-yearly and year-end 
confirmation of compliance as part 
of the interim and half-year and 
year-end reporting;

 a Reviewed as part of the Group 
Balance Sheet Reviews; and

 a Monitored via inclusion in Internal 
Audit Core Financial Reviews.

Detailed accounts for each reporting 
entity are prepared monthly, comprising 
an income statement, cash flow 
statement and balance sheet in a 
manner very similar to the year-end 
and half-yearly reporting processes. 
These are subject to management 
review and analysis in the financial 
review cycle.

Viability statement
The audit committee approved the 
process and advised management of 
the information that would be required 
for the board to sufficiently review the 
company’s viability for the next three 
years. Detailed below is an overview of 
the process, approved by the committee, 
for the assessment of the company’s 
viability. The full viability statement can 
be found in the Risk report on page 27.

Viability statement process
In order to consider the company’s 
viability, risk identification and 
assessments were completed. 
This process was performed with 
assistance from our Group Risk 
Manager. The following factors 
were considered:

 a Our current financial and 
operational position and the current 
economic outlook;

 a The group’s cash flows and other key 
financial ratios over the period;

 a A robust assessment of the principal 
risks currently facing the group 
and the potential impact of them 
actually occurring;

 a How the group’s principal risks could 
threaten our business model, future 
performance, solvency or liquidity in 
severe scenarios; 

 a Risks other than those identified as 
principal risks; and

 a The strength of our internal 
processes to handle a scenario 
where one or more of the principal 
risks occur. 

Wider context of the group
As part of the review, the board also 
considered the wider context of the 
group, including our business model, 
strategy and risk appetite, and how this 
impacts on viability. 

Risk identification
We considered the following:

 a The principal risks to viability (that 
could impair solvency/liquidity);

 a We excluded (for the purpose of 
viability assessment modelling) risks 
that were not sufficiently severe 
over the period of the assessment 
(i.e. the risk would be severe but 
only likely to occur after our three-
year timeframe);

 a We identified other risks on our  
risk register that, while not 
necessarily severe in themselves, 
could become severe in combination 
with other risks; and 

 a We considered risk combinations 
(i.e. are risks casually linked – in order 
that they are grouped together for 
modelling purposes).

Risk assessment
For each risk, we considered: 

 a Our risk appetite: the degree of risk 
the board is willing to take;

 a Our risk tolerance: are we within our 
tolerance level for a particular risk 
or scenario; 

 a Our risk proximity: how far away in 
time it is likely to occur; 

 a Risk velocity: how fast could the 
impact be felt; and

 a Quantum of risk. 

Scenario modelling analysis
For those risks considered sufficiently 
severe so that viability and ‘business as 
usual’ would be at risk, we performed 
the following: 

 a Tested the impact of risks against 
financial modelling over the period of 
assessment (three years);

 a Considered sensitivity analysis/
headroom;

 a Considered reverse stress-testing 
(i.e. how bad does a scenario have 
to be so that the business would not 
be viable); and

 a Conducted a stress-testing exercise 
on our long range plans (LRP). 

The scenarios tested are based on 
aspects of principal risks 3, 4 and 8 
and included:

 a A significant shortfall of sales growth 
in budget and LRP (three years);

 a A significant devaluation of major 
currencies against Sterling; and

 a A significant rise in interest rates.

The risk of the UK leaving the EU 
was also taken into account in the 
viability analysis.

The viability statement can be found in 
the Risk report on page 27.
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Incident reporting
In 2015, the committee monitored 
the work undertaken by the risk 
management function to improve 
the incident reporting procedures. 
The procedure was updated in order to 
provide a more ‘instant’ aspect to the 
reporting process as well as to ensure 
that all possible significant failings or 
weaknesses were identified and that 
appropriate corrective actions are put in 
place. The new procedures also ensure 
that any lessons learnt are shared across 
businesses to further improve systems 
and processes across the entire group.

Whistleblowing
During 2015, the group’s whistleblowing 
procedure was operated in 27 languages 
and 16 countries with systems in place 
to ensure that any concerns were 
addressed confidentially, promptly and 
thoroughly. Concerns were raised by 
employees on eight separate issues 
(2014: three separate issues), which were 
predominantly HR-related, low level in 
nature and did not reveal any significant 
internal control failure. 

The audit committee receives a biannual 
report (February and July) from the 
Company Secretary which includes 
details of any new incidents as well as 
providing updates on the integrity of the 
whistleblowing procedures and the state 
of any ongoing investigations and the 
conclusions reached. Significant issues 
relating to potential fraud are escalated 
to the audit chairman immediately. 
An annual ‘checking’ process was 
conducted in July 2015 by the Company 
Secretary to ensure that all employees 
are aware of the whistleblowing system.

IT and supply chain risk management
During 2015, the committee monitored 
the work undertaken by the risk 
management function to manage  
IT-related risks. An IT risk assessment for 
the group was completed and actions 
were identified to further strengthen the 
IT internal control environment across 
all businesses. The committee will be 
regularly updated on the progress made 
on action implementation throughout 
2016. The committee also monitored 
the measures taken in 2015 to further 
reduce risks to corporate responsibility 
within the supply chain. The measures 
included the review and update of 
the Code of Conduct for suppliers 
as well as strengthening the supplier 
whistleblowing policy and system 
(it is now available in an additional 
22 languages); both measures have 
been communicated to suppliers and 
have been published on Berendsen’s 
corporate website.

Strengthening IT governance
In 2015, we further strengthened our IT 
governance with special focus on IT security 
and resilience of IT infrastructure critical for 
business and service continuity. As part of this, 
we conducted third-party penetration tests 
in selected countries at the end of 2015 to 
determine the strength of our IT systems.

We also hired our first group specialist IT 
Internal Auditor in November 2015 who will be 
working alongside management teams to help 
identify improvements to IT processes and IT 
operations, as well as evaluating our resilience 
to cyber attacks. 

During 2016, we intend to complete a thorough 
risk assessment of information security and 
have a continued focus on IT strategy. Our audit 
committee will receive regular updates on these 
assessments throughout the year.
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Review of the  
2015 Annual Report
At the request of the board, the 
committee was asked to consider 
whether the 2015 Annual Report is 
fair, balanced and capable of being 
understood by shareholders. In order 
to arrive at a position where the 
committee was satisfied with  
the overall fairness, balance  
and clarity of the Annual Report, 
a comprehensive review process 
was followed.

Reporting 
requirements

Dec. 2014 and Feb. 2015

Agreed  
timetable
December 2015

External auditor 
review

January 2016

Audit committee 
review

19 February 2016

Finalised  
report

26 February 2016

The committee received detailed briefings on changes to reporting 
requirements (including the new requirement for a viability statement)  
and key areas to be considered when performing the review.

Agreed an accounts production timetable allowing sufficient time for 
a comprehensive review of early drafts to enable input and involvement 
from the committee.

Considered the external auditor’s review of the Annual Report and 
Accounts and held discussions with management to provide feedback.

The committee conducted a thorough review of the final draft Annual 
Report to ensure that it is fair, balanced and understandable.

The audit committee’s comments are incorporated (and agreed)  
before the Annual Report is finalised.

During the course of the committee’s review, the following questions were considered for debate:

Fairness and balance

 a Is the Annual Report open and 
honest? Does it report on weaknesses, 
difficulties and challenges as well 
as successes?

 a Is there consistency between different 
sections of the Annual Report, 
including between the narrative and 
the financial statements?

 a Does the Annual Report explain our 
key performance indicators (KPIs) and 
their linkage to strategy?

Understandable

 a Does the Annual Report contain 
simple explanations of business 
models, strategies and accounting 
policies, using precise and 
clear language?

 a Is the Annual Report easy to read; for 
example, is the narrative broken up 
by quotes, tables, case studies and 
other graphics?

 a Does the Annual Report have a 
consistent tone across all sections and 
provide clear signposting to where 
additional information can be found?

After careful review, the committee 
was satisfied that, taken as a whole, 
the Annual Report was fair, balanced 
and capable of being understood 
by shareholders, and advised the 
board accordingly. 

This corporate governance statement, 
including the reports of the nomination 
and audit committees, was approved by 
the board on 25 February 2016.

By the order of the board,

David Lawler
Company Secretary
25 February 2016
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This report is structured 
as follows:
78 Annual statement

An overview from our remuneration 
committee chairman, outlining key 
developments and decisions made 
during 2015.

81 Policy report

A description of the policies, 
principles and structures that guide 
the remuneration committee’s 
decision-making process in the area of 
executive remuneration. If approved 
by shareholders at the 2016 AGM, it will 
replace the current policy report.

88 Annual report on remuneration

An explanation of how we have 
implemented our remuneration policy 
during 2015. 

101 Schedules to the annual report

Supplementary information to the above 
Annual report on remuneration.

If you would like to  
discuss any aspect of our 
remuneration strategy,  
please feel free to email me at  
remcochairman@berendsen.eu

“Our simplified and strategically aligned 
remuneration structure means that our 

executives remain completely focused on 
delivering shareholder value”.

David Lowden
Chairman of the remuneration committee

Strategically aligned 
remuneration continues 

to deliver

Annual statement

Dear shareholder
As chairman of the remuneration 
committee and on behalf of the board, 
I am pleased to present our directors’ 
remuneration report for 2015 comprising 
this statement, a remuneration 
policy report and the annual report 
on remuneration.

In 2015 we undertook a comprehensive 
review of our remuneration policy. 
This was conducted on the back of the 
business strategy review to ensure that 
our policy was effectively aligned to the 
company’s evolving business needs. 
As highlighted last year, the committee 
also wanted to ensure that the policy 
was capable of satisfying increased 
investor preference for greater simplicity 
and transparency. 

The key themes and changes to our 
policy are discussed in greater detail 
overleaf but are summarised below:

 a Remuneration linked to strategy: 
Especially, greater emphasis on 
linking annual bonus payouts to 
improved earnings;

 a Simplified remuneration 
arrangements and reduction in 
quantum: In particular, the removal of 
the Co-Investment Plan (CIP) resulting 
in a reduced long-term incentive 
maximum total pay opportunity; and

 a Shareholder alignment: To further 
align the interests of management 
with shareholders, we are doubling 
the executive directors’ share 
ownership requirements from 100% 
of salary to 200% of salary and 
introducing malus and clawback for 
variable remuneration.

Throughout this process we have 
engaged with our major shareholders 
and are pleased to report that 
our proposals were well received. 
I am confident that we now have 
a remuneration framework that is 
appropriately aligned both to our 
business and to the interests and current 
expectations of our shareholders. 
As such, we are asking shareholders to 
approve the new remuneration policy at 
our 2016 Annual General Meeting (AGM) 
including a renewal of the company’s 
Performance Share Plan (PSP) and 
Sharesave Plan.

2016 onwards – changes to the 
remuneration policy

Remuneration linked to strategy
As our Chief Executive Officer outlined 
on pages 01 to 06, the main conclusions 
of the business strategy review were 
that we needed to be more customer 
and market focused, that we should 
continue to challenge ourselves to be 
operationally better organised and that 
we should remain disciplined about using 
capital effectively. In a remuneration 
context, this translates into rewarding 
performance which targets:

 a Revenue growth ahead of GDP;

 a EPS growth ahead of revenue;

 a Strong underlying cash flow and cash 
conversion; and

 a Superior post-tax ROIC, well ahead of 
the company’s cost of capital.
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Accordingly, the committee believes that 
three-year adjusted EPS growth and 
ROIC remain key strategic measures of 
the company’s long-term performance 
and therefore remain appropriate 
measures for the PSP.

By removing the personal multiplier in 
the annual bonus plan, any payout will 
be based exclusively on financial results. 
To ensure these results are coupled with 
satisfactory progress in respect of the 
group’s non-financial strategic priorities, 
the committee will have discretion to 
reduce any annual bonus payment 
to reflect performance against these 
additional priorities.

Simplified remuneration arrangements 
and reduction in quantum
Reflecting recent trends in the market 
and in response to specific feedback 
from shareholders, the committee 
proposes to remove the CIP from the 
remuneration policy and to continue with 
a single long-term incentive plan – the 
PSP. As the PSP will expire in April 2016, 

Management changes
Peter Ventress resigned from his 
position as Chief Executive Officer 
with effect from 31 July 2015 and will 
retire from Berendsen on 28 April 2016. 
The committee discussed and approved 
his retirement arrangements, details of 
which can be found in full on page 91. 
In accordance with contractual terms, no 
compensation was paid for loss of office. 

Following a comprehensive recruitment 
process, James Drummond joined us 
on 1 July 2015 and assumed the role 
of Chief Executive Officer on 1 August 
2015. After careful consideration of all 
relevant market factors and the skills and 
experience that James brings to the role, 
an annual base salary of £525,000 was 
determined, being positioned slightly less 
than Peter’s, for the year commencing 
1 January 2015. Incentive arrangements 
for James are in line with our current 
policy and outlined on page 91.

Performance outcomes for 2015 
and decisions made for 2016 
As the Chief Financial Officer notes 
in his financial review on page 36, 
the company has continued its track 
record of strong performance in 2015. 
The group delivered £102.5m of free 
cash flow (cash conversion of 99% of 
adjusted profit after tax) and its ROIC 
was 10.3% (being our preferred measure 
for assessing how efficient the company 
has been at using shareholder money 
to generate returns). Adverse currency 
translation of over 7% on revenue meant 
that operating profits decreased by 3% 
and adjusted EPS decreased by 3% from 
62.1 pence to 60.4 pence. 

we are seeking shareholder approval to 
renew this plan at the AGM (along with 
the company’s Sharesave Plan which is 
also due to expire).

The committee is proposing that the 
maximum annual award that may be 
granted under the PSP should increase 
to 200% of base salary in normal 
circumstances and to 240% of base 
salary in exceptional circumstances. 
Whilst this represents an increased 
award level under the PSP, the removal 
of the CIP award results in an overall 
decrease in the normal maximum total 
pay opportunity for the executive 
directors of circa 8.8%.

The committee is also proposing to 
remove the annual bonus personal 
performance multiplier. Whilst the 
maximum bonus opportunity will remain 
at 130%, the calculation of any bonus will 
now be completely linked to corporate 
measures (including an EPS underpin) 
thereby ensuring continued focus on 
financial performance. The requirement 
to defer 25% of any bonus into shares 
will remain.

Shareholder alignment
In light of evolving investor views, the 
committee has determined that in future, 
the executive directors will be required 
to build and retain a shareholding of at 
least two times base salary, an increase 
of 100% of base salary on the previous 
shareholding requirements.

In line with current market practice and 
to further strengthen the alignment with 
shareholders, the committee proposes to 
introduce malus and clawback provisions 
for the new PSP and the company’s 
Annual Bonus Plan and Deferred Bonus 
Plan. Further details about malus and 
clawback are given on page 83.
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We have maintained our cash discipline 
to ensure positive cash flow which 
continues to enable us to invest in 
the future and to grow our dividend 
whenever prudent to do so. The interim 
dividend paid to shareholders on 
9 October 2015 was 5% higher than the 
previous year and the proposed 2015 
final dividend of 31.5 pence per share will 
be 5% higher than in 2014. 

Incentive outcomes
Against this backdrop, the key decisions 
made in respect of performance in 2015 
by the remuneration committee are 
as follows:

 a Based upon financial performance, 
annual bonus outcomes for the 
executive directors resulted in payouts 
of 86.5% of salary, representing 
performance between target 
and stretch. Having considered 
achievement against individual non-
financial targets, overall bonuses equal 
to between 108.1% and 112.5% of salary 
were paid; and 

 a Under the company’s long-term 
incentive plans (PSP and CIP), awards 
that were granted in 2013 will vest 
at 47.5%. While target performance 
was achieved based on ROIC, 
currency translation meant that 
the EPS threshold target was only 
just achieved. 

Annual bonus

Adjusted EPS KPI Between target 
and stretch:
86.5% of salary

Free cash flow KPI

Revenue KPI

Long-term incentives (PSP and CIP)

Adjusted EPS KPI Between threshold 
and target:
47.5% vesting ROIC KPI

Further information about the levels 
of executive remuneration earned in 
2015, including performance against the 
relevant targets, are given on pages 90 
and 95 to 97.

Pay review 
As part of the remuneration review, the 
committee considered the salaries and 
fees paid to the executive directors, non-
executive directors and the chairman 
of the board to be effective 1 January 
2016. Having considered individual and 
financial performance, general economic 
conditions and average increases across 
the group it was decided that the base 
salary for the Chief Executive Officer and  
Chief Financial Officer would increase 
by 2.5% broadly in line with the average 
salary increase applied throughout 
the group.

Looking forward
I believe that the company’s 
remuneration policy fully supports 
our corporate objectives and the 
remuneration received by the executive 
directors reflects the consistently 
strong performance of the company 
and management. I hope that you will 
also approve of the measures we have 
taken to reduce complexity and improve 
transparency in our remuneration 
policies and practices.

Ongoing and transparent dialogue 
with our shareholders on the issue 
of executive remuneration is very 
important to us and all feedback helps 
inform the committee’s thinking on 
remuneration matters. We take an 
active interest in your views and hope 
to receive your support at the AGM 
where I will be available to respond to 
any questions shareholders may have 
on this report or in relation to any of the 
committee’s activities.

In the meantime, if you would like to 
discuss any aspect of our remuneration 
strategy, please feel free to email me at 
remcochairman@berendsen.eu.

David Lowden
Chairman of the remuneration committee
25 February 2016
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Policy report

This Policy report describes the policies, principles and structures that guide the remuneration committee’s decision-making 
process in the area of executive remuneration at Berendsen. If approved by shareholders at the 2016 AGM, it will replace the 
current Policy report (as approved by shareholders at the 2014 AGM) and will apply for a period of three years from the date 
of the 2016 AGM unless a revised Policy report is put to shareholders before then. Any existing remuneration commitments or 
contractual arrangements such as historical share awards, agreed prior to the approval and implementation of this Policy report, 
i.e. before 28 April 2016, will be honoured in accordance with their original terms.

Remuneration for executive directors will continue to comprise the following elements:

Fixed pay Variable pay

Performance based

Base salary Benefits Pension Annual bonus Long-term
incentive

Total 
remuneration+ + + + =

Summary of proposed changes
This Policy Report proposes a number of changes to the Policy report it is replacing, namely:

 a It recognises that the company’s existing PSP, that is expiring in April 2016, will be replaced with a new PSP;

 a It simplifies the company’s long-term incentive strategy by dropping the company’s Co-Investment Plan;

 a It reduces remuneration ‘at target’ and the maximum total remuneration opportunity;

 a It removes the annual bonus multiplier and provides greater alignment to strategy with the remuneration committee having 
discretion to reduce any annual bonus for insufficient progress against the non-financial strategic objectives;

 a It increases the shareholding requirements; and

 a It introduces malus and clawback provisions.

Our strategic aim
Our remuneration strategy is to reward executives in line with underlying company performance and the achievement of 
its strategic goals and priorities. The aim is to encourage appropriate leadership behaviours whilst promoting challenging 
performance-based outcomes that are capable of incentivising genuine value creation for our shareholders.

Our principles
The company’s remuneration principles ensure that the structure and levels of executive remuneration remain appropriate for 
Berendsen. This is achieved by having a remuneration policy that:

 a Provides an appropriate mix of rewards, incentives and benefits balanced between:
 – fixed and variable pay; and
 – short and long-term performance.

 a Is weighted towards long-term performance and sustained shareholder value creation; and

 a Recognises and rewards stretching performance and appropriate risk/reward behaviours.
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Summary of remuneration elements for executive directors
Fixed pay

Base salary Benefits Pension

Purpose and link to strategy
To provide a core reward for the role which is set at 
a level appropriate to attract and retain high calibre 
individuals needed to execute and deliver on the 
group’s strategic objectives.

Operation
Base salaries are normally reviewed annually with 
effect from 1 January. Salary levels and increases 
take account of a variety of factors such as:
 – the scope and responsibility of the role;
 – the experience, qualifications and skills of the 
individual director;

 – general economic and market conditions;
 – salary levels for comparable roles at relevant 
comparators; and

 – general increases across the group.

Maximum
There is no prescribed maximum increase. 

In normal circumstances, increases will be broadly 
in line with those awarded to group employees 
taking into account performance and geography. 
In exceptional circumstances, such as a significant 
increase in the complexity/size of the group or the 
scope of an individual’s position and/or role has 
changed or where base salary has been set at a 
level below the desired market level contingent 
on individual performance, the remuneration 
committee can exceed the ‘normal’ level of increase 
including exceeding it, over a phased period.

Performance framework
The performance of both the group and the 
individual are key considerations when determining 
salary increases.

Purpose and link to strategy
To be market competitive for the purpose of 
attracting and retaining high calibre individuals.

Operation
Benefits may be provided as determined by 
the remuneration committee. Typically, this 
includes a company car (or cash allowance), life 
assurance/death in service, permanent health 
insurance and medical insurance.

Executive directors are also eligible to 
participate in all-employee share plans 
operated by the company on the same basis as 
other employees.

Where applicable, relocation costs may be 
provided in line with the company’s relocation 
policy, which may include removal costs, 
accommodation assistance, a cost of living 
allowance, school fees and tax equalisation.

Maximum
There is no formal maximum limit as the cost 
of benefit provision can fluctuate depending 
on changes in provider cost and individual 
circumstances.

Participation in all-employee share plans is 
subject to statutory limits. 

Performance framework
None.

Purpose and link to strategy
To provide a market competitive level of 
retirement benefit.

Operation
Pension contributions not exceeding a 
percentage of the individual’s base salary 
can be made to an appropriate retirement 
funding vehicle (typically, the individual’s 
personal pension scheme) or the contributions 
can be taken as a pension allowance cash 
supplement.

Maximum
The maximum pension contribution/cash 
supplement (in respect of a financial year) is 
20% of base salary.

Performance framework
None.

Variable pay

Annual bonus

Purpose and link to strategy
To incentivise and recognise the achievement of 
specific annual financial and business objectives in 
support of the company’s short to medium-term 
strategy.

The key changes proposed by the remuneration 
committee with regard to annual bonus are set out 
on pages 78 to 79.

Operation
Executive directors may be eligible to receive 
a discretionary annual cash bonus which is not 
pensionable. 

At the start of each financial year, performance 
measures and weightings are determined and 
annual financial targets are set by the committee. 
Bonus outcomes are determined by the committee 
based on performance against those targets. 

A quarter of any bonus that may be paid shall be 
compulsorily deferred into shares that vest after 
three years subject to continued employment. 
Deferred bonus shares are eligible for dividend 
equivalents over the period from the date the 
deferred award is granted, to the date of its 
satisfaction.

In future years, the committee retains the 
discretion to change the deferred amount and/
or vary the deferral period provided that the 
change does not make the deferred amount 
any less or the deferral period any shorter, than 
as outlined in this Policy report.

The committee may apply judgement and 
shall have discretion to make appropriate 
adjustments to an individual’s annual bonus, 
for example, to reduce any potential annual 
bonus if the committee believes that an 
individual has not made satisfactory progress 
in contributing to the group’s non-financial 
strategic objectives.

Malus and/or clawback provisions apply to 
both the cash and the deferred element as 
described on page 83.

Maximum
The maximum annual bonus potential for 
executive directors is 130% of base salary. The 
threshold, target and maximum bonus levels 
are as follows:
Threshold as a 
% of bonus

Target as a 
% of bonus

Stretch as a 
% of bonus

20% 60% 100%

Performance framework
Current measures for financial performance 
are KPI adjusted earnings per share (EPS), 
KPI free cash flow and KPI revenue but 
outcomes will only be determined provided 
that the earnings per share threshold has first 
been achieved. 

The committee retains discretion to annually 
adjust the performance measures/targets/ 
weightings in future years to reflect the 
prevailing operational and strategic aims 
and objectives of the business. However, a 
minimum of 50% of the total will always be 
based on key financial measures.

Further details of the performance measures/
target/weightings are set out in the Annual 
report on remuneration on page 95.
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Variable pay

Long-term incentives

Purpose and link to strategy
To create, incentivise and recognise long-term shareholder value through 
the satisfaction of challenging and stretching performance measures/
targets linked to the company’s strategic objectives.

The key changes proposed by the remuneration committee with regard 
to long-term incentives are set out on page 78 and 79.

Operation
Long-term incentives will only comprise a Performance Share Plan 
(PSP) award.

Awards are normally granted annually with vesting on the third 
anniversary of the grant date dependent on the achievement of stretching 
performance measures/targets over a period of three financial years. 

The performance measures/targets will be determined at the start of 
each performance period in line with the company’s strategic objectives.

Malus and/or clawback provisions apply as described below .

Awards will be eligible for dividend equivalents over the period from the 
date the award is granted, to the date of its satisfaction.

Maximum
The maximum award limit in each financial year will be 200% of base 
salary. In exceptional circumstances, the committee may make awards 
of up to 240% of base salary.

Performance framework
There are two equally weighted performance measures:
 – Adjusted earnings per share (EPS); and KPI
 – Weighted average post-tax return on invested capital (ROIC). KPI

For threshold performance, 25% of the award will vest. For maximum 
performance, 100% will vest. Vesting will operate on a straight-line basis.

The committee retains discretion to include additional or alternative 
financial performance measures/targets and/or adjust the weightings in 
future years to reflect the prevailing operational and strategic aims and 
objectives of the business.

Further details of long-term incentive awards are contained in the 
Annual report on remuneration on pages 97 to 98.

Policy on share ownership
The remuneration committee has a policy of encouraging executive directors and senior management to acquire and retain a 
significant number of shares in the company with the objective of further aligning their long-term interests with those of other 
shareholders. The minimum share ownership requirement for the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer is 200% 
of base salary.

Shares that count towards these guidelines include shares owned outright by the executive director and their immediate family 
and deferred bonus shares and long-term incentive awards (after tax) that have vested.

There is no absolute requirement for non-executive directors to hold shares.

Directors’ shareholdings are included in the Schedules to the annual report on page 101.

Malus and clawback
Awards made under the annual bonus scheme (including deferred bonuses) and the PSP will be subject to malus and clawback.

The remuneration committee has broad discretion to decide how (if at all) malus and clawback should be applied, including 
cancelling, reducing or imposing further conditions in relation to the payment of an annual bonus or the vesting of a deferred 
bonus or PSP award if it determines that:

 a There has been a material misstatement of the company’s financial results; or

 a An individual’s actions amounted to gross misconduct resulting in the group suffering a financial loss or reputational damage.

Furthermore, in such circumstances, the committee can decide at any time prior to the first anniversary of the payment of any 
cash bonus or the vesting of a deferred bonus or PSP award that an amount of value (in cash or shares) should be recovered 
(clawed back) from the individual and whether that amount will take into account any income tax and national insurance 
contributions paid by the relevant individual.
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Illustrating the application of the remuneration policy

James Drummond (£000)

 Fixed Elements  Annual Variable Element  Long-Term Variable Element  Fixed Elements  Annual Variable Element  Long-Term Variable Element

Kevin Quinn (£000)

28%50%

28%

30%

44%

20%

100%

£2,451

£1,364

£676

Minimum Target Maximum

28%50%

28%
30%

44%

20%

100%

£1,653

£927

£468

Minimum Target Maximum

The potential reward opportunities illustrated above were calculated using base salaries effective from 1 January 2016. For the 
annual bonus, the amounts illustrated are those potentially receivable in respect of performance for 2016. It should be noted 
that any awards granted under the PSP do not normally vest until the third anniversary of the date of grant. The projected 
values of PSP awards exclude the impact of share price growth and dividend accrual. Illustrations are intended to provide 
further information to shareholders regarding the pay for performance relationship. However, actual pay delivered will be 
influenced by changes in share price and the vesting period of awards. The assumptions set out below have been made in 
compiling the above charts:
Assumptions Minimum Target Maximum

Fixed pay Base salary and pension provision 
effective 1 January 2016. Benefit 
levels are assumed to be the same 
as the last financial year.

Base salary and pension provision 
effective 1 January 2016. Benefit 
levels are assumed to be the same 
as the last financial year.

Base salary and pension provision 
effective 1 January 2016. Benefit 
levels are assumed to be the same 
as the last financial year.

Annual bonus No annual bonus payable. On target annual bonus of 60% 
of bonus potential.

Maximum annual bonus (100% 
of bonus potential).

PSP Threshold not achieved (zero 
vesting).

Share award of 200% of base salary. 
Threshold vesting (25% of award).

Share award of 200% of base salary. 
Full vesting (100% of award).

 * Pension contributions are 20% of base salary for James Drummond and Kevin Quinn. The Berendsen Sharesave Plan is excluded from the scenarios as the values are negligible.

Performance measures and target setting
The performance measures that apply to annual bonuses (adjusted EPS, free cash flow generation and revenue) were chosen 
because of the company’s ongoing strategic objectives to deliver organic revenue growth ahead of GDP, strong underlying cash 
flow and cash conversion, and EPS growth ahead of revenue.

The performance measures that apply to the PSP (absolute EPS and ROIC) were chosen because the remuneration committee 
considers them to be the most accurate measures of long-term company performance, balancing growth and investor returns.

The reason for selecting each performance measure is as follows:

Remuneration performance measures and how these relate to our strategic objectives
Incentive plan Performance measure Reason for selection

Annual bonus/PSP Adjusted EPS KPI
Captures long-term growth and improving financial 
returns by leveraging operational efficiency

Annual bonus Free cash flow KPI
Encourages operational cash discipline and 
improving capital efficiency

Annual bonus Revenue KPI Delivers sustainable organic growth 

PSP ROIC KPI Improves capital discipline and efficiency

See pages 05 and 32 for a summary of our main KPIs and strategic objectives.

In setting performance targets, the committee takes account of annual budgets set by the board, internal and external forecasts 
as well as the prevailing economic environment. Performance targets are meant to be stretching but achievable.

The committee will keep these performance measures and targets under periodic review and it retains the discretion to alter them 
or their respective weightings to ensure continued alignment with the company’s prevailing strategy. As part of any review, the 
committee would consider the effect of that strategy on existing performance measures and targets. 
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Policy on appointment/recruitment
The company’s approach to remuneration for newly appointed directors (both internal and external) is consistent with that for 
existing directors. It shall similarly apply if it is necessary for the Chairman of the board or any non-executive director to assume 
an executive function on a temporary basis. However, where the company is considering an internal promotion to the board, the 
remuneration committee may, at its discretion, decide that any remuneration commitment agreed or entered into prior to the 
promotion, will continue to be honoured even though that commitment may not be consistent with the prevailing policy.

Whilst new executive directors will participate in the company’s incentive plans, the committee may, subject to the rules of 
the applicable plan, amend certain features if it determines that the circumstances surrounding the recruitment merit such 
changes. The committee will explain to shareholders the reasons for any such changes and an appropriate announcement 
of the appointment and the appointee’s remuneration will be made to the London Stock Exchange and posted on the 
company’s website.

It is not the company’s policy to offer buy-out payments but where the committee considers it reasonable to do so in order 
to recruit a particular individual, it may offer compensation, on a like-for-like basis, for any amounts of variable remuneration 
being forfeited. In doing so, the committee will consider all relevant factors including: expected values, time horizons, delivery 
mechanism, the terms of the forfeited remuneration, any performance conditions attached to the compensation and the 
likelihood of the conditions being met. In order to facilitate such compensation, the committee may rely on any exemptions, 
procedures or provisions contained in the Listing Rules that permit awards to be granted in exceptional circumstances. To ensure 
alignment from the outset with shareholders, malus and clawback provisions may also apply where appropriate and the 
committee may require new directors to acquire company shares up to a pre-agreed level. Shareholders will be informed of any 
buy-out payments at the time of appointment.

The company may offer to pay reasonable relocation expenses for the new executive director in line with the policies described in 
this report.

In recruiting a new non-executive director, the committee will use the policy as set out below. In recruiting a new Chairman of the 
board, the fee offered would be inclusive of serving on any committee.

Summary of remuneration elements for non-executive directors and the Chairman

Purpose and link to strategy
To attract and retain non-executive directors with the appropriate and requisite degree of experience, independence, knowledge 
and skills and to attract and retain a Chairman capable of providing effective leadership of the board.

Operation
Fee levels are reviewed and determined annually by the board (other than fee levels for the Chairman which are reviewed and 
determined by the remuneration committee) under a policy that seeks to recognise the time commitment, responsibilities, the 
technical skills required to make a valuable contribution to the board, and by reference to comparators.

Additional fees may be paid in respect of service as chairman of a committee or for additional duties such as serving as the Senior 
Independent Director.

Participation is not permitted in any incentive or pension arrangement operated by the company and, other than fees, no 
additional or other remuneration is paid. Travel and subsistence for non-executive directors based outside of the UK for company-
related business will be reimbursed by the company.

Maximum
Any fee increases are applied in line with the outcome of the annual review. The maximum aggregate annual fee for all non-
executive directors, including the Chairman, as provided for in the company’s Articles of Association, is £750,000.

Performance framework
None.
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Service contracts and loss of office
The following table summarises the key terms of the current executive directors’ service contracts. It also represents the 
committee’s policy in this area. Service contracts for the executive directors and letters of appointment for the non-executive 
directors are available for inspection at the company’s registered office.

Service contracts for executive directors
Provision Terms

Notice period 12 months’ notice terminable by either the company or the director.

Remuneration and other benefits As described in the ‘Summary of remuneration elements’ table on page 82.

Expenses Reimbursement of reasonably incurred costs in accordance with a director’s duties.

Restrictive covenants Non-compete and non-solicitation provisions.

Termination payments As summarised in the ‘Loss of office’ table below.
No additional compensation would be paid as a result of a change of control in the company.

Letters of appointment for the Chairman and non-executive directors
Notice period Chairman: six months’ notice terminable by either the company or the director.

Other non-executives: one-month notice terminable by either the company or the director.

Remuneration and other benefits As described on page 85.

Expenses Reimbursement of reasonably incurred costs in accordance with a director’s duties.

Termination payments Non-executive directors are not entitled to any compensation for loss of office other than their notice period.

The table below summarises the key provisions from the relevant remuneration documents (such as service contracts and plan 
rules) as they relate to possible payments made for loss of office. It also represents the committee’s policy in this area.

Loss of office
Element Default position Remuneration committee discretion

Salary and pension In specified scenarios as set out in the director’s service contract (e.g. 
incapacitation, insolvency, prohibition by law from being a director, serious 
misconduct or breach of obligations) no payments are due.

Otherwise up to 12 months’ salary and pension contributions subject to 
the duty of mitigation.

None

Other benefits Non-cash benefits will continue to be provided during the notice period.

The committee may take account of, and pay in respect of, accrued but 
unused holiday allowance.

The committee has discretion to approve 
contributions towards outplacement 
services and the legal fees for any 
departing director to the extent it considers 
appropriate.

Annual (and deferred) bonus There is no absolute entitlement to payment of an annual bonus and any 
unvested deferred bonuses would normally lapse on cessation.

If classed as a good leaver (death, ill health, redundancy, retirement etc.), 
the executive could be awarded a bonus or deferred bonus awards 
might vest.

To determine the extent to which good 
leaver status should apply in relation to 
bonuses (including the applicability of time 
pro rating) and unvested deferred bonus 
awards.

PSP awards If the executive director is a good leaver (e.g. ill health, redundancy, 
retirement etc.) awards vest subject to performance at the normal vesting 
date (measured at the end of the performance period) subject to time pro 
rating. If an award takes the form of an option, a six-month exercise period 
will apply (subject to the overall term of the option). In the case of death, 
awards vest in full.

In all other leaver situations, awards will lapse.

To determine the extent to which good 
leaver status applies.

To permit vesting at the point of cessation, 
rather than at the normal vesting date.

To determine the extent to which the 
performance conditions are satisfied and 
the applicability of time pro rating.

One-off awards linked to 
recruitment

No default position. To determine the termination provisions 
prior to the award being made. If such an 
award were made, full details would be 
disclosed following the award being granted.

Fees and benefits for the 
Chairman and non-executive 
directors

No compensation payable in the event of early termination apart from the 
notice period.

None.

The committee reserves the right to make additional payments where such payments are made in good faith; in discharge of an 
existing legal obligation (or by way of damages for breach of such an obligation) or by way of settlement or compromise of any 
claim arising in connection with the termination of a director’s office or employment.
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External appointments
It is a board policy to allow executive directors to accept directorships at other quoted companies and retain any fees linked to the 
appointment. Any such directorships must be formally approved by the Chairman of the board. None of the executive directors 
currently holds an external directorship.

Corporate events
In the event of a takeover or other major corporate event (but excluding an internal reorganisation of the company), all 
outstanding PSP awards would vest subject to the achievement of any performance conditions and any pro rata reduction 
to reflect the unexpired part of the vesting period. The remuneration committee has discretion to disapply time pro rating if it 
considers it appropriate to do so.

Awards granted under any all-employee share plan operated by the company would vest in accordance with the prescribed 
legislation. Payment of any bonuses will not be accelerated unless the committee determines otherwise, taking into account 
a variety of factors including the extent to which any performance conditions have been satisfied. Deferred bonus awards 
may vest in full.

Employee remuneration and engagement
When reviewing and setting executive remuneration, the remuneration committee takes into account the pay and employment 
conditions elsewhere in the group. Specifically, the level of any group pay review is a key determinant when setting the level of any 
salary increase for the executive directors and will be disclosed in the Annual report on remuneration each year.

The company’s approach to reward and remuneration is broadly consistent across the group although, by necessity, executive 
remuneration is more heavily weighted towards those variable elements of remuneration which are conditional upon the 
executive directors achieving performance targets linked to the successful delivery of strategy.

All employees are set objectives at the beginning of each year which are linked to the execution of our strategic priorities. 
Annual bonuses payable to managers across the group depend on the satisfactory completion of these objectives as well as 
performance against local business unit targets which can be a mixture of financial or personal measures. Other employees may 
also participate in a performance-based annual bonus plan.

Approximately 110 senior managers are eligible to participate in the Berendsen Long-Term Incentive Plan which is similarly linked 
to the achievement of strategic priorities. Stretching performance targets that are business unit specific are set and managers 
receive regular performance updates to ensure they are informed about their progress toward the achievement of those targets, 
which are typically measured over two or three years.

All permanent UK employees are invited to participate in the Berendsen Sharesave Plan.

The company does not specifically consult with employees over the appropriateness and effectiveness of director remuneration, 
although it does comply with local regulations and practices regarding employee consultation more broadly. The Group Director, 
Human Resources ensures that the committee is made aware of any relevant employee feedback regarding the company’s 
remuneration policy.

Further information about our engagement with employees across the group is provided in the ‘Our people’ section on page 47.

Consideration of shareholder views
The remuneration committee engages in regular dialogue with shareholders and arranges meetings with the company’s largest 
investors to discuss and receive feedback on its remuneration strategy and wider governance matters. The chairman of the 
committee and the company secretary are available to meet with institutional shareholders to discuss any of the policy related 
disclosures or outcomes contained in this directors’ remuneration report.

Administrative changes to the Policy Report
The Policy report is intended to take effect from 28 April 2016, being the date of the company’s AGM. In addition to the various 
operational discretions that the remuneration committee has (as outlined in this Policy report and including those discretions 
set out in the company’s incentive plans), the committee reserves the right to make non-significant changes to this Policy 
report, for example, for administrative, exchange control, regulatory or tax reasons, without obtaining shareholder approval for 
those changes.
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The financial information in this part of the directors’ remuneration report has been audited where indicated.

Annual report on remuneration

This part of the directors’ remuneration report explains how we have implemented our remuneration policy during 2015. 
The policy in place for the year was approved by shareholders at the 2014 AGM. This annual report on remuneration will be 
subject to an advisory vote at the 2016 AGM.

Role and membership of the remuneration committee
The role of the committee is to determine and recommend to the board a fair and responsible remuneration framework for 
ensuring that the company’s most senior executives are appropriately rewarded and incentivised for their contribution to 
company performance. The committee’s primary purpose is to ensure that there is a clear link between reward and performance 
and that the policy, structure and levels of remuneration for both the executive directors and throughout the group:

 a Reinforce the strategic aims and objectives of the business, whilst mitigating any risk factors;

 a Are aligned to maximise shareholder value on a sustainable basis;

 a Are capable of securing, retaining and motivating high calibre individuals to deliver results for shareholders, customers and 
employees alike;

 a Are market competitive, rewarding individuals in line with genuine group performance; and

 a Encourage and promote appropriate behaviours and outcomes consistent with the culture of the group.

The committee’s composition, responsibilities and operation comply with the principles of good governance (as set out in the 
UK Corporate Governance Code), with the Listing Rules (of the Financial Conduct Authority) and with the Companies Act 2006. 
The revised terms of reference for the committee can be found on the company’s website at www.berendsen.com.

Committee membership in 2015 Appointed to the Committee

Chairman David Lowden March 2010

Committee Maarit Aarni-Sirviö March 2014

Lucy Dimes June 2012

Iain Ferguson March 2010

Andrew Wood March 2010

Management attendees (by invitation)
Chief Executive Officer (from 1 August) James Drummond

Chief Executive Officer (until 31 July) Peter Ventress

Group Director, Human Resources Chris Thrush

Company Secretary David Lawler

Committee attendance in 2015 Independent Committee meetings Attendance*

Feb Apr Jul Sep Oct Dec

David Lowden Yes 100%

Maarit Aarni-Sirviö Yes 100%

Lucy Dimes Yes 100%

Iain Ferguson No 100%

Andrew Wood Yes 100%

 * % based on the meetings entitled to attend.

All members of the committee are considered independent non-executive directors and no member (or attendee) was present 
when their own remuneration was considered.
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Committee activity during 2015
Committee 
meeting date Regular items Remuneration policy review

19 February Approved and provided feedback on the 2014 directors’ 
remuneration report

Appointed Towers Watson to perform a review of executive 
remuneration in advance of the PSP expiring in 2016

Approved the 2015 grant of PSP, CIP and DBSP awards

Reviewed the achievement of performance targets for the year 
ending 31 December 2014 and approved the vesting of PSP, CIP 
and DBSP awards granted in 2012

Reviewed the achievement of performance and personal targets 
for the year ending 31 December 2014 and approved the payment 
of the 2014 annual bonuses to the Executive Board

Approved the 2015 personal targets set for the Executive Board

Reviewed the results of the 2014 committee evaluation, discussed 
the key topics that arose and established key priorities for 2015

Reviewed and approved the committee’s terms of reference

30 April Received a report from Towers Watson on its executive directors’ 
remuneration review

Discussed the proposed changes to the executive directors’ 
remuneration in relation to annual bonuses and LTIPs

29 July Reviewed reports by Towers Watson on investor reactions 
to the 2015 AGM resolutions (for the FTSE 100 and 250) and 
market trends

Reviewed a paper on the results of benchmarking performance 
measures under the LTIPs and Annual Bonus Plan

Reviewed briefing notes on executive remuneration and market 
best practice

Reviewed the draft shareholder consultation letter and recipient list

Approved the grant of a PSP award to James Drummond in 
August 2015

Received an update on the Strategy Review

24 September Agreed the proposed remuneration policy for executive directors 
to be provided to shareholders during the consultation process

Approved the final version of the shareholder consultation letter 
and recipient list

Discussed the potential changes to remuneration for the members 
of the Executive Board following the completion of the review of 
executive remuneration

30 October Received a progress update in respect of the Executive Board’s 
2015 personal targets 

Reviewed the responses from shareholders and proxy agents on 
our proposed remuneration policy

Received an update on the Towers Watson and Willis merger 
and agreed to complete a review of Willis Towers Watson’s 
independence during 2016

Agreed that a feedback letter should be sent to shareholders, 
thanking them for their input into the consultation and providing 
details of the final policy

Reviewed and agreed the structure of the 2016 Executive Board 
annual bonus under the revised remuneration policy

Reviewed and approved the amended Rules of the Sharesave 
(SAYE) Plan which would be voted on by shareholders at the 2016 
AGM

Agreed the fees for the Chairman and non-executive directors 
effective from 1 January 2016

18 December Reviewed the financial targets for awards to be granted in 2016 
under the PSP, in accordance with the revised remuneration policy

Reviewed and approved the final proposed remuneration policy for 
the executive directors which would be voted on by shareholders at 
the 2016 AGM

Reviewed the 2016 annual bonus targets for the Executive Board 
and their base salaries effective from 1 January 2016

Reviewed and approved the amended Rules of the PSP which 
would be voted on by shareholders at the 2016 AGM

Received a progress update in respect of the Executive Board’s 
2015 personal targets 

Approved the remuneration packages proposed for the new 
Executive Board members

Agreed salaries for the executive directors effective from 
1 January 2016

Reviewed and approved the amended Rules of the DBP and 
Annual Bonus Plan
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Total remuneration in 2015 – executive directors (audited)
Executive directors

James Drummond Peter Ventress (i) Kevin Quinn

Fixed pay (£000) 2015 (ii) 2015
2014 (iii) 

(restated) 2015
2014 (iii) 

(restated)

Base salary 263 565 551 350 340

Taxable benefits 20 31 30 37 33

Pension contributions 53 141 138 70 68

Subtotal 336 737 719 457 441

Pay for performance (£000)

Annual bonus (iv) 295 356 567 385 350

Performance LTIPs (v) – 986 2,112 608 1,304

Subtotal 295 1,342 2,679 993 1,654

Other items in the nature of remuneration (£000)

Dividend equivalents on DBSP (vi) – 27 28 16 17

Non-performance LTIPs (vii) – – 4 – 5

Subtotal – 27 32 16 22

Total remuneration (£000) 631 2,106 3,430 1,466 2,117

(i) Peter Ventress resigned as a director on 31 July 2015. In the table above, a proportion of Peter’s fixed pay is related to payments made during his notice period (amounting to £235,417 of base 
salary, £12,810 in taxable benefits and £58,854 in pension contributions). The fixed pay related to Peter’s remaining notice period (from 1 January 2016 to 28 April 2016), will be included in 
the Total remuneration table in the 2016 Annual Report, and will be no more than £250,000. These payments are subject to mitigation if Peter were to start a new executive role at another 
company. Further details of the payments made to Peter, can be found on page 91.

(ii) James Drummond joined Berendsen on 1 July 2015. His 2015 annual base salary was £525,000. His salary and annual bonus have been subject to a pro rata reduction from the date he joined. 
Further details of James’ remuneration package upon appointment is included on page 91.

(iii) 2014: ‘Performance LTIPs’ have been restated using the actual share price on the day of vesting for awards under the PSP and CIP 2012 grants which vested in March and April 2015, 
respectively. In the 2014 annual report on remuneration these awards were valued using the average share price in the three months ending 31 December 2014 being 997 pence. The PSP 
2012 awards have been restated using the actual share price on the day of vesting being 1112.4 pence (a difference in value of 115.4 pence per share – £103,409.94 and £63,851.97 for Peter 
Ventress and Kevin Quinn, respectively). The CIP 2012 awards have been restated using the actual share price on the day of vesting being 1138.3 pence (a difference in value of 141.3 pence per 
share – £188,771.15 and £116,559.78 for Peter Ventress and Kevin Quinn, respectively).

(iv) Including 25% of annual bonus which is deferred for three years under the DBSP. The annual bonus paid to James Drummond and Peter Ventress for 2015 has been pro rated. Peter’s annual 
bonus will be paid in cash and he will not be granted a DBSP award in 2016. Full details can be found on page 95.

(v) 2015: Included within ‘Performance LTIPs’ are PSP 2013 and CIP 2013 awards including dividend equivalents, which will vest on 7 March 2016 and 11 April 2016, respectively. These awards have 
been valued using the average share price in the three months ending 31 December 2015 being 1038 pence and will be restated with the actual vesting values in the 2016 Annual Report.

(vi) 2015: Dividend equivalents arising from the vesting of 2012 DBSP awards on 9 March 2015.

(vii) 2015: Included within ‘Non-performance LTIPs’ are grants under the UK Sharesave Plan made on 23 October 2014. These have been calculated based on the market value on the date of grant 
being 990 pence, minus the value of the awards at the option price which is 792 pence. Further information on the UK Sharesave Plan can be found on page 103.

(viii) Written confirmation has been received from both directors that they have not received any other items in the nature of remuneration.

Advisers to the committee
The committee has authority to obtain the advice of external independent remuneration consultants and is solely responsible 
for their appointment, retention and termination and currently retains Towers Watson (one of the leading remuneration 
consultancies) as its principal external remuneration adviser. Towers Watson, who provided no other services to the company 
(thereby, in the committee’s opinion, validating its credentials for providing appropriate, objective and independent advice), 
received quarterly retainer fees of £8,000 which covered attendance at a set number of committee meetings, general advice, 
benchmarking exercises and updates on remuneration developments. Additional ad hoc work is carried out at an agreed hourly 
rate. The total fee invoiced by Towers Watson during the year ending 31 December 2015 was £70,730. In addition to its general 
responsibilities, Towers Watson assisted with the committee’s remuneration policy review and shareholder consultation, for which 
it received fees of £38,730. The committee is aware of the merger between Towers Watson and the Willis Group (who act as our 
insurance brokers), leading to the creation of Willis Towers Watson with effect from 4 January 2016. The committee have agreed 
that they will conduct a review of the independence of Willis Towers Watson during 2016. 
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Shareholder voting and engagement
The following table shows the results of the advisory vote on the 2014 annual report on remuneration (comprised in the directors’ 
remuneration report), broken down as follows:

Resolution

Votes  
for  
(m)

%  
For

Votes  
against  

(m)
% 

Against

Total  
votes cast  

(m)

Votes  
withheld  

(m)

2)  Approval of the directors’  
remuneration report 139.7 98.4% 2.3 1.6% 143.5 1.4

The committee was extremely pleased with the level of shareholder support at the 2015 AGM, with a 98.4% vote in favour of the 
directors’ remuneration report (2014 AGM: 98.7%).

The committee is committed to engaging with, and listening to, shareholders. During 2015, the committee consulted with circa 
60% of our shareholders and three proxy voting agencies on our revised remuneration policy. The committee considered carefully 
all shareholder feedback and, where necessary, consulted further to better understand shareholders’ views and concerns.

Payments to directors leaving the group (audited)
As announced on 30 April 2015, Peter Ventress resigned as Chief Executive Officer on 31 July and will retire from Berendsen on 
28 April 2016. In accordance with our remuneration policy approved by shareholders at the 2014 AGM, Peter will be treated as 
a ‘good leaver’ by reason of retirement. A summary of the remuneration payable to Peter is provided below (full details can be 
found in the announcement on our website):

Salary and Benefits:  – No compensation for loss of office

 – Salary and benefits to be paid in accordance with Peter’s current service agreement until 28 April 2016

 – Details of Peter’s remuneration in 2015 are set out in the total remuneration table on page 90

Annual Bonus:  – Eligible to receive a pro rated bonus for the 2015 financial year only

Deferred Bonus Share 
Plan (DBSP):

 – Awards granted in 2013 will vest in March 2016 and the number of shares will be calculated on the actual vesting date. 
The dividend equivalents arising from the vesting of the DBSP will be detailed in the 2016 total remuneration table in the 
2016 Annual Report

 – Awards granted in 2014 and 2015 will vest on 28 April 2016 (Peter’s retirement date), and the number of shares will be 
calculated on that date and published in our 2016 Annual Report

Co-Investment Plan (CIP) 
and the Performance 
Share Plan (PSP):

 – Awards granted in 2013 will vest in March 2016 and the number of shares will be calculated on the actual vesting date. 
Estimated vesting values have been calculated on page 97 and included within the total remuneration table on page 90 

 – Awards granted in 2014 will vest in March 2017 and will vest to the extent that the relevant performance conditions have 
been satisfied. Peter will be treated as a ‘good leaver’ by reason of retirement and any vested shares will be subject to a 
pro rata reduction to his retirement date 

 – Awards granted in 2015 will be forfeited

Appointment of James Drummond
Following a comprehensive recruitment process, James Drummond joined Berendsen on 1 July 2015 and was appointed 
Chief Executive Officer with effect from 1 August 2015.

The committee considered a range of factors when setting James’ base salary including market levels, James’ experience, internal 
relativities and cost. The committee agreed that James’ base salary for 2015 would be £525,000 per annum (subject to a pro 
rata reduction from 1 July 2015) and that he should be granted a 2015 award under the PSP equivalent to 100% of his base salary. 
This salary level was below that of his predecessor, Peter Ventress, who upon his retirement received an annual base salary of 
£565,000. No ‘buy out’ awards have been agreed or granted.

James will be eligible to receive an annual bonus for 2015 (subject to a pro rata reduction from 1 July 2015) based on the 
achievement of stretching financial and personal targets as set out on pages 95 and 96, with 25% of any bonus being deferred 
into shares under the DBSP.
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Relative importance of spend on pay
In order to give shareholders an understanding of how: a) total expenditure on remuneration (for all employees) compares to 
certain core financial dispersals of the company; and b) the percentage change in remuneration for the CEO compares to the 
group’s workforce, the tables below demonstrate the relative importance of the company’s spend on employee and CEO pay for 
the period 2012 to 2015.

Expenditure
2015  

£m
Percentage  

change
2014  

£m
Percentage  

change
2013  

£m
Percentage  

change
2012  
£m

Total group employee costs 
(including directors) 390.1 -2% 399.5 –2% 408.1 +6% 383.7

Dividend payments (pence) 31.5 +5% 30.0 +7% 28.0 +10% 25.5

Relativities*      

Revenue KPI 1,006.0 -3%** 1,038.6 –2% 1,054.2 +7% 985.1

Free cash flow KPI 102.5 -16% 122.6 –12% 139.4 +11% 125.1

Adjusted earnings per share 
(EPS) KPI (pence) 60.4 -3% 62.1 +4% 59.8 +18% 50.7

 *  � Revenue, free cash flow and adjusted EPS were chosen because they are considered to be key indicators of the stated strategic objectives. These numbers are as reported in the 
financial statements.

**�+3% underlying – includes a negative currency transition impact of 7% on revenue.

When interpreting the table above, it should be noted that the negative changes in employee costs, revenue, EPS and free cash 
flow are a function of exchange rate movements. The underlying changes in all of these outcomes were positive during the year. 
Please find further details of Berendsen’s underlying performance on page 36. 

Change in CEO and employee pay
2014–2015 2013–2014

Percentage  
change in  

salary

Percentage 
 change in  

taxable benefits

Percentage  
change in  

annual bonus

Percentage  
change in  

salary

Percentage  
change in  

taxable benefits

Percentage  
change in  

annual bonus

CEO +2.5% +3%* +5.2% +1.1% +11.1%* –7.9%

All employees +2.2%
No material 

change** +4.6% +2.0%
No material 

change** –6.0%

 * �No change in the benefits received. Increase is due to the cost of providing life and permanent health insurance.

**�There has been no material change to the benefit policy during 2015. Further details about employee remuneration and engagement are set out on page 87.
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CEO pay for performance comparison
The graph below shows the total shareholder return (TSR) of the company compared with the index over the seven-year period 
to 31 December 2015. Since December 2008, the company’s average TSR has outperformed the FTSE 250 (excluding investment 
trusts). The committee believes that, due to the size of the company, the FTSE Mid 250 Index (excluding Investment Trusts) is the 
most appropriate index against which to compare the historic TSR of the company.

Dec 09Dec 08Source: Thomson Reuters Datastream  Dec 10
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Roger Dye

31/12/2009 
 

Peter Ventress

31/12/2010 
 

Peter Ventress

31/12/2011  
 

Peter Ventress

31/12/2012  
 

Peter Ventress

31/12/2013  
 

Peter Ventress

31/12/2014  
(restated)  

Peter Ventress

  
 

Peter Ventress

 31/12/2015  
(pro rata)  

James DrummondCEO

Total remuneration  
(single figure) (£000) 1,261 1,277 1,297 1,299 2,638 3,152 3,430 2,106 631

Annual variable pay  
(% of maximum) 80.0% 100.0% 84.0% 70.7% 90.8% 87.0% 79.1% 83.2% 86.5%

Long-term variable pay  
(% of maximum)

CIP (non-performance awards) – – 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% – – – –

CIP (performance awards) – – – – 62.5% 77.5% 79.4% 47.5% –

PSP awards 64.1% – – – 62.5% 77.5% 79.4% 47.5% –

Recruitment award – 100.0% – – – – – – –

Notes:

(i) The 2014 total remuneration figure has been restated using the actual share price on the day of vesting for awards under the PSP and CIP 2012 grants which vested in March and April 2015, 
respectively. Further information can be found in the total remuneration table on page 90.

(ii) The CIP guaranteed match (25% of the granted award) is not performance-related and therefore all guaranteed matching awards are achieved at 100% of the potential maximum. The CIP 
awards granted in 2010, 2011 and 2012 all contained a guaranteed matching element. The 2013, 2014 and 2015 CIP awards did not contain a guaranteed match and all awards are performance-
related.

(iii) Peter Ventress joined Berendsen on 1 November 2009 and was appointed to the board as Chief Executive on 1 January 2010. Peter was awarded a share award pursuant to Listing Rule 9.4.2(2) 
of 130,446 shares (non-performance) which were exercised on 8 April 2013 (share price upon vesting was 782.8 pence). Upon joining Berendsen, Peter was awarded a cash bonus of £200,000 
which was paid in March 2010 on the condition that he acquired company shares worth at least £200,000.

(iv) On 5 March 2012, Roger Dye received 53,385 awards (including dividend equivalents) under the PSP 2009 grant. The market price on the day of vesting was 512 pence. There are no further 
outstanding LTIP awards due to Roger Dye.
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Fixed pay in 2015 (audited)

Base salary
The committee took into account the company’s financial results, the satisfaction of challenging personal objectives and the 
overall economic environment when setting base salaries for 2015.

Executive director

2015  
base salary  

(£000)

2014  
base salary  

(£000)
%  

Change

James Drummond 525 – –

Peter Ventress 565 551 2.5

Kevin Quinn 350 340 3.0

(i) James Drummond joined Berendsen on 1 July 2015. His annual base salary for 2015 is £525,000 and was pro rated from 1 July 2015.

Benefits
Executive directors are entitled to a fully expensed car (or cash allowance), life assurance, permanent health and medical 
insurance. Further details of the taxable benefits paid in 2015 can be found in the table below.

Executive director

Car  
allowance  

(£000)

Life  
assurance  

(£000)

Permanent  
health insurance  

(£000)

Medical  
insurance  

(£000)

Total 2015  
taxable benefits  

(£000)

Total 2014  
taxable benefits  

(£000)

James Drummond 10 2 8 <1 20 –

Peter Ventress 16 4 10 1 31 30

Kevin Quinn 26 2 8 1 37 33

(i) Included within their car allowance, Peter Ventress and Kevin Quinn received a cash benefit of £3,800 (2014: £3,800) in respect of their fuel allowance.

Pension
During 2015, pension contributions were 25% of base salary for Peter Ventress. For James Drummond and Kevin Quinn, they were 
20% of base salary.

Executive director

2015  
base  

salary  
(£000) %

2015  
pension 

contributions  
(£000)

2014  
pension 

contributions  
(£000)

James Drummond 525 20% 53 –

Peter Ventress 565 25% 141 138

Kevin Quinn 350 20% 70 68

(i) James Drummond joined Berendsen on 1 July 2015. His annual base salary and pension contributions for 2015 were subject to a pro rata reduction from his date of joining being 1 July 2015.
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Pay for performance

Annual bonus outcomes for 2015
As can be seen from the table below, the annual bonus payment (core award plus performance multiplier) for executive directors 
for 2015 was between 108.1% and 112.5% of salary (2014: 102.9%) and was determined by reference to the following financial 
performance metrics: (a) EPS KPI; (b) the generation of free cash flow (FCF) KPI and (c) revenue KPI, with any bonus payment 
being conditional upon the threshold EPS target having first been achieved. For executive directors in 2015, 25% of any bonus 
earned was paid in the form of deferred shares under the company’s Deferred Bonus Share Plan.

Despite a still challenging external environment in continental Europe, management delivered a good performance for the year 
under review, strengthening our market footprint, delivering £102.5 million of free cash flow (cash conversion of 99% of adjusted 
profit after tax). Group adjusted EPS decreased by 3% due to negative currency translation impact of over 7% on revenue. As a 
result, we continue to be a strong business as evidenced by delivering a 5% increase in the final dividend.

% of base salary

(audited) Threshold Target Maximum

Achievement of annual  
bonus targets in 2015

%  
of bonus

Required 
performance

%  
of bonus

Required 
performance

%  
of bonus

Required 
performance

Actual 
achieved

James 
Drummond  

(pro rata)

Peter 
Ventress  

(pro rata)
Kevin  
Quinn

EPS KPI 10 59.5p 30 62.5p 50 65.5p 64.4p 42.7 42.7 42.7

FCF KPI 5 £90m 15 £95m 25 £105m £110.4m 25.0 25.0 25.0

Revenue KPI 5 £1,035m 15 £1,050m 25 £1,075m £1,059.5m 18.8 18.8 18.8

Subtotal 20  60  100 86.5 86.5 86.5

Effect of personal 
performance multiplier +/–30% +26.0% +21.6% +23.3%

Total 112.5% 108.1% 109.9%

Total bonus paid (£000s) 295.2 356.4 384.7

Bonus paid in cash 
(£000s) 221.4 356.4 288.6

Bonus paid in shares 
(£000s) 73.8 – 96.1

(i) James Drummond’s annual bonus has been subject to a pro rata reduction from 1 July 2015.

(ii)  Peter Ventress’ annual bonus has been subject to a pro rata reduction until 31 July 2015 being his resignation date. Peter’s annual bonus will be paid in cash and he will not be granted a DBSP 
award in 2016.

The targets above have been calculated and assessed on the exchange rates set in the 2015 budget. In comparison to the figures 
disclosed in our strategic report, the effect of exchange rates on the figures above are: 4.0 pence on EPS, £7.9 million on free cash 
flow and £53.5 million on revenue.

The performance multiplier operated to increase the core award for James Drummond, Peter Ventress and Kevin Quinn by 
26.0%, 21.6% and 23.3%, respectively, as a result of the achievement of various strategic and personal performance criteria. 
Each executive director has three strategic performance measures linked to areas that the committee has identified for the year. 
The committee reviews the progress in each area and then makes an assessment as to whether the executive has delivered 
relative to expectations.
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James Drummond
Performance measure Actual performance Outcome 

Below  
expectations

Met  
expectations

Exceed  
expectations

Prepare for the Strategy Review with the 
market in autumn 2015

The Strategy Review has been completed and 
presented to our shareholders at the Capital 
Markets Day on 19 November 2015

Review the organisation structure (including 
sales function) and make appropriate 
recommendations to the board

A part of our new strategy, is a revised 
organisation structure which was presented 
to, and approved by, our board. Details of 
the changes to our organisation structure 
were included in the Capital Markets Day 
presentations and on page 5

Manage the group’s capital allocation, 
including investment in new facilities on the 
basis of agreed priorities

The 2016 budget has been agreed by 
our board, which includes an increased 
investment and capability spend in line with 
our new strategy

Peter Ventress
Performance measure Actual performance Outcome 

Below  
expectations

Met  
expectations

Exceed  
expectations

Implement the actions agreed by the board in 
regards to the interim Strategy Review

Agreed a phasing plan with the board for the 
implementation of business cases. Ensured 
the business cases were implemented in 
accordance with the agreed time plan

Increase the group’s resources, capabilities 
and effectiveness in respect of marketing

Completed a review of the Group Sales and 
Marketing function. Ensured best practice 
in marketing was captured and shared 
throughout the group

Ensure that the group effectively utilises its 
capital in regards to the implementation of 
agreed business cases

Investment priorities were agreed with 
appropriate targeting of returns

Kevin Quinn
Performance measure Actual performance Outcome 

Below  
expectations

Met  
expectations

Exceed  
expectations

Successfully complete the refinancing of the 
RCF in the first half of 2015

A new Revolving Credit Facility (RCF) was 
signed in March 2015

Develop the Strategy Review and the 
presentation of it to the market to enable a 
‘launch’ of the updated strategy to the market 
in Q4 2015

The Strategy Review has been completed and 
presented to our shareholders at the Capital 
Markets Day on 19 November 2015

Ensure that the group effectively utilises its 
capital in regards to the implementation of 
agreed business cases

Investment priorities were agreed with 
appropriate targeting of returns
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LTIPs: outcomes in 2015

Performance targets for the PSP and CIP (performance awards)
As shown in the table below, performance-related awards granted in 2013 will vest at 47.5%. During the three-year period under 
review, EPS has increased by 19.2% and ROIC by 180 bps.

Achievement of performance targets
Performance  

period Weighting
Threshold  

(25%)
Stretch  
(100%) Achieved

% of  
award

Final year EPS KPI
3 years ending 

31/12/15 50% 60 pence 66 pence 60.4 pence 15.0%

Final year ROIC KPI
3 years ending 

31/12/15 50% 9.5% 11% 10.3% 32.5%

Total 47.5%

Summary of LTIP outcomes

2015 (i)
2014 (ii)  

(restated)

(£000)
PSP  
2013

CIP  
2013

Total  
performance  

LTIPs
PSP  
2012

CIP  
2012

Total  
performance  

LTIPs

Peter Ventress 411 575 986 997 1,115 2,112

Kevin Quinn 253 355 608 616 688 1,304

(i) The total performance LTIPs are shown in the total remuneration table on page 90.

(ii) The 2014 ‘Performance LTIPs’ have been restated using the actual share price on the day of vesting for awards under the PSP and CIP 2012 grants which vested in March and April 2015, 
respectively. Further information can be found in the total remuneration table on page 90.

Performance Share Plan – outcomes
PSP awards granted on 7 March 2013 will vest on 7 March 2016 and are dependent upon the achievement of performance targets 
set for the three years ending 31 December 2015. The performance targets, weightings and actual results achieved are detailed in 
the table above.

Executive directors
Awards  
granted

Dividend  
equivalent

Maximum  
available  

awards

Vesting  
awards  
(47.5%)

Share  
price 

(pence)

Value of  
awards  
(£000)

Peter Ventress 76,509 6,802 83,311 39,573 1038 411

Kevin Quinn 47,168 4,193 51,361 24,396 1038 253

Peter Ventress and Kevin Quinn will therefore receive 39,573 and 24,396 shares, respectively (both inclusive of dividend 
equivalents in the form of shares). These awards have been valued in the table above, using the average share price in the three 
months ending 31 December 2015 being 1038 pence. These awards will be restated in the 2016 Annual report on remuneration 
using the share price upon vesting. Further details of awards granted and vested are detailed on page 102.

Co-Investment Plan – outcomes
CIP awards granted on 9 April 2013 will vest on 11 April 2016 and are dependent upon the achievement of performance targets set 
for the three years ending 31 December 2015. The performance targets, weightings and actual results achieved are detailed in the 
table above.

Executive directors
Awards  
granted

Dividend  
equivalent

Maximum  
available  

awards

Vesting  
awards  
(47.5%)

Share  
price 

(pence)

Value of  
awards  
(£000)

Peter Ventress 107,112 9,525 116,637 55,402 1038 575

Kevin Quinn 66,036 5,871 71,907 34,155 1038 355

Peter Ventress and Kevin Quinn will therefore receive 55,402 and 34,155 shares, respectively (both inclusive of dividend 
equivalents in the form of shares). These awards have been valued in the table above, using the average share price in the three 
months ending 31 December 2015 being 1038 pence. These awards will be restated in the 2016 Annual report on remuneration 
using the share price upon vesting. Further details of awards granted and vested are detailed on page 102.
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LTIPs: target setting in 2015

Performance conditions for the PSP and CIP

EPS KPI performance targets to be satisfied in 2017 Awards vesting

Less than 72 pence 0% of award vests

72 pence 25% of award vests

82 pence 100% of award vests

Between 72 pence and 82 pence Straight-line basis

Weighted average ROIC KPI for the 12-month period to 31 December 2017

Less than 10% 0% of award vests

10% 25% of award vests

11% 100% of award vests

Between 10% and 11% Straight-line basis

The 2014 performance (being the base year performance for these grants) was 62.1 pence for adjusted EPS and 9.9% for ROIC. 
The EPS targets above (72 pence to 82 pence) maximise with a growth of 32% over the three-year period and equates to annual 
growth of approximately 5 to 11%.

Details of 2015 grant
The PSP remains the primary long-term incentive plan for senior executives and under the revised remuneration policy will 
become our sole long-term incentive plan. Awards were granted to executive directors equal to 100% of base salary which equals 
50,700 awards (£524,998) for James Drummond, 50,900 awards (£564,990) for Peter Ventress and 31,549 awards (£350,193) 
for Kevin Quinn. Peter’s 2015 awards lapsed on 29 April 2015. James’ 2015 award was granted following his appointment on 
6 August 2015. Vesting of these awards is subject to two performance conditions that operate independently of each other. 
Half of an award was based upon a performance condition relating to adjusted EPS and the other half was based upon weighted 
average post-tax ROIC. Both performance conditions are measured over a three-year performance period. To the extent that 
awards vest, the directors would receive the benefit of any dividends paid over the vesting period in the form of share-based 
dividend equivalents.

In return for ‘investment shares’ (which can be worth up to a maximum of 35% of base salary per annum) being invested into 
the CIP, the director was granted a ‘matching’ award over company shares that matches the number of investment shares on a 
2:1 pre-tax basis. Matching awards were subject to the same performance conditions and with the same right to receive a dividend 
equivalent, as PSP awards. Peter Ventress and Kevin Quinn invested shares amounting to 35% of base salary and were granted 
71,260 and 44,168 matching awards respectively. Peter’s 2015 awards lapsed on 29 April 2015. Under the revised remuneration 
policy, there will be no further grants under the CIP.

Berendsen plc  
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Outside appointments for executive directors
Subject to board approval, the company encourages its executive directors to hold one non-executive position outside of 
the group, thereby broadening their experience and knowledge. Any fees may be retained by the director. Peter Ventress is a 
non-executive director of Premier Farnell plc (since 1 October 2013) and was appointed as non-executive Deputy Chairman of 
Galliford Try Plc with effect from 30 April 2015. Prior to his resignation from the Berendsen board on 31 July 2015, Peter received 
fees of £29,990 and £17,511 respectively, for these external positions.

Total remuneration in 2015 – Chairman and non-executive directors
Policy fees effective 1 January 2015 Actual fees paid in 2015

Non-executive director
Base fee  
(£000)

Chairman of  
committee  

(£000)

Senior  
Independent 

Director  
(£000)

Total fee  
2015  

(£000)

Total fee  
2014  

(£000)

Iain Ferguson 175 – – 175 155

Maarit Aarni-Sirviö* 52 – – 52 39*

Lucy Dimes 52 – – 52 47

David Lowden 52 11 6 69 63

Andrew Wood 52 11 – 63 58

Total remuneration (£000)    411 362

 * Maarit Aarni-Sirviö joined the board from 1 March 2014.

The maximum authority for directors’ fees (in aggregate), as outlined in our Articles of Association, is £500,000 a year. To ensure 
sufficient headroom for the duration of our revised remuneration policy, we propose to increase the maximum authority for 
non-executive directors’ fees to £750,000 (in aggregate) at our 2016 AGM. 
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Implementation of policy in 2016
Our revised remuneration policy is set out in the Policy report on pages 81 to 87. Below we detail how this policy will apply in 2016, 
subject to shareholder approval at our 2016 AGM.

Base salary and fees
Effective from 1 January 2016, the base salary of executive directors will be £538,000 for James Drummond and £359,000 
for Kevin Quinn (increased by approximately 2.5%). These increases are broadly consistent with the average salary increases 
across the broader employee population. Non-executive directors’ base fees were increased by 4.8%. These increases reflect 
the significantly increased workloads in recent years and are also designed to bring them into line with levels paid at similar-sized 
companies. Further details of the fees effective from 1 January 2016 are detailed below:

Changes to policy effective 1 January 2016

Non-executive Chairman fee Base fee Chairman of committee

Senior  
Independent  

Director

£190,000 £54,500 £11,250 £6,300

Annual bonus: target setting for 2016 
In accordance with our revised remuneration policy, the maximum annual bonus potential for executive directors is 130% of 
base salary. The personal target multiplier has been removed and 100% of the performance targets will be based on financial 
metrics. However, the bonus outcome may be reduced if, at the committee’s discretion, progress toward the group’s non-financial 
strategic priorities has not been satisfactory. In addition, bonus outcomes will only be determined provided that the earnings per 
share threshold has first been achieved. 

The annual bonus targets for 2016 will be set in accordance with our remuneration policy and will remain aligned to our current 
strategic goals, namely:
Strategic goals Link to strategic objectives

 – Adjusted earnings per share KPI (50%)  – Captures long-term growth and improving financial returns  
by leveraging operational efficiency

 – The generation of free cash flow KPI (25%)  – Encourages operational cash discipline and improving capital efficiency

 – Revenue KPI (25%)  – Delivers sustainable organic growth

Summary of our main KPIs
Page 32 

The committee will set calibrated targets for each of these three measures and intends to disclose these targets retrospectively 
in next year’s directors’ remuneration report. The actual targets are therefore not being disclosed now as this is considered by the 
committee to be commercially sensitive information because the majority of our competitors are in the private, unquoted sector 
and so are not required to publicly disclose the same level of information as Berendsen.

LTIP: target setting for 2016
In accordance with our proposed new remuneration policy and subject to shareholder approval of the new PSP at the 2016 AGM, 
long-term incentives will only comprise a PSP award with a maximum award limit of 200% of base salary. For awards granted 
under the PSP during 2016, the committee has approved the following targets:

EPS KPI performance targets to be satisfied in 2018 Awards vesting

Less than 72 pence 0% of award vests

72 pence 25% of award vests

85 pence 100% of award vests

Between 72 pence and 85 pence Straight-line basis

Weighted average ROIC KPI to be satisfied for the 12-month period to 31 December 2018

Less than 10% 0% of award vests

10% 25% of award vests

11% 100% of award vests

Between 10% and 11% Straight-line basis

These targets are based on actual 2015 performance (performance for the financial year ending immediately prior to the date of 
grant) being 60.4 pence for adjusted EPS and 10.3% for ROIC. The EPS targets above (72 pence to 85 pence) maximise with a 
growth of approximately 41% over the three-year period and equates to annual growth of approximately 6% to 14%.

Aligning long-term awards with strategic objectives
Both EPS and ROIC measures are main group KPIs and link to two of our strategic objectives, improving financial returns by 
leveraging operational efficiency and improving capital efficiency, respectively.

Summary of our main KPIs
Page 32 

Strategic objectives
Page 05

Strategic objectives
Page 05
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Schedules to the annual report (unaudited unless otherwise indicated) 

Directors’ interests (audited)
The interests (all being beneficial) of the directors and their families in the share capital of the company are shown below:

Number at 31 December 2015 Number at 31 December 2014

30 pence 
ordinary 

shares
Share 

awards
Deferred 

shares
Share 

options
Sharesave 

scheme Total

30 pence 
ordinary 

shares
Share 

awards
Deferred 

awards
Share 

options
Sharesave 

scheme Total

James Drummond (note ii) 10,000 50,700 – – – 60,700 – – – – – –

Kevin Quinn (note iii) 205,473 267,763 30,223 – 2,272 505,731 202,880 343,088 36,078 – 4,865 586,911

Iain Ferguson 110,000 – – – – 110,000 110,000 – – – – 110,000

Maarit Aarni-Sirviö (note iv) 1,400 – – – – 1,400 – – – – – –

Lucy Dimes 10,000 – – – – 10,000 10,000 – – – – 10,000

David Lowden 32,500 – – – – 32,500 32,500 – – – – 32,500

Andrew Wood 25,000 – – – – 25,000 25,000 – – – – 25,000

Previous executive 
directors

Peter Ventress (note v) 167,804 311,389 49,511 – 6,234 534,938 167,804 556,003 59,568 – 6,234 789,609

There have been no other changes to the above interests between 31 December 2015 and 25 February 2016.
Notes

(i) As potential beneficiaries under the company’s employee benefit trust, James Drummond and Kevin Quinn are deemed to have an interest in the company’s ordinary shares held by the trust. 
As at 31 December 2015, the trust held 1,715,142 shares. 

(ii) James Drummond was appointed to the board on 1 August 2015. On 19 November 2015, James acquired 10,000 shares at an average price of 1045 pence per share.

(iii) On 5 January 2015, Kevin Quinn exercised his sharesave option to acquire 2,593 shares, the deemed gain on the exercise of this option was £19,590. The share price at the time of exercise was 
1092.5 pence and the option price was 347 pence. Kevin acquired and immediately sold 55,331 shares (inclusive of dividend equivalents in the form of 5,361 shares) from the PSP 2012 grant 
which vested on 9 March 2015. These shares were sold at an average price of 1112.4 pence per share. Under the DBSP 2012 grant, Kevin Quinn acquired and immediately sold 15,210 shares 
(inclusive of dividend equivalents in the form of 1,472 shares) on 9 March 2015. These shares were sold at an average price of 1112.4 pence per share. Following the vesting of the CIP 2012 grant 
on 10 April 2015, Kevin Quinn acquired and immediately sold 82,491 shares (inclusive of dividend equivalents in the form of 7,996 shares). These shares were sold at an average price of 1138.3 
pence per share. 

(iv) Maarit Aarni-Sirviö acquired 1,400 shares on 1 June 2015 at an average share price of 1024.5 pence per share.

(v) Peter Ventress resigned from the board on 31 July 2015. The remuneration Committee has classified Peter as a ‘good leaver’ and his share awards and sharesave options will be dealt with in 
accordance with our remuneration policy, as described on page 86. Peter’s sharesave options will become exercisable on his retirement date being 28 April 2016. During the year under review, 
Peter acquired and immediately sold 89,610 shares (inclusive of dividend equivalents in the form of 8,684 shares) from the PSP 2012 grant which vested on 9 March 2015. These shares were 
sold at an average price of 1112.4 pence per share. Peter Ventress acquired and immediately sold 25,270 shares (inclusive of dividend equivalents in the form of 2,447 shares) from the DBSP 2012 
grant which vested on 9 March 2015. These shares were sold at an average price of 1112.4 pence per share. Following the vesting of the CIP 2012 grant on 10 April 2015, Peter Ventress acquired 
and immediately sold 133,596 shares (inclusive of dividend equivalents in the form of 12,950 shares). These shares were sold at an average price of 1138.3 pence per share.

The table below provides further analysis of the interests of executive directors and their families in the issued shares of the 
company and rights under the company’s share-based remuneration plans on 31 December 2015:

Total number of shares/options

Owned 
outright

Subject to 
deferral

Subject to 
performance Total

James Drummond Shares 10,000 – –   

Nil cost options – – 50,700  

Market value options – – –  

10,000 – 50,700 60,700

Kevin Quinn Shares 205,473 30,223 –   

Nil cost options – – 267,763  

Market value options – 2,272 –  

205,473 32,495 267,763 505,731

(i) There are no awards subject to deferral or performance conditions for the Chairman or non-executive directors.

Policy on share ownership
The committee recognises the importance and value of having executive directors and other senior employees working towards 
holding shares. Under the revised remuneration policy being proposed to shareholders at our 2016 AGM, our executive directors 
will be required to work towards holding shares with a value equivalent to 200% of their base salary. To achieve this, senior 
management are not permitted to sell any vested shares under the PSP or the CIP (other than to satisfy tax liabilities) until these 
guidelines are satisfied. The current shareholdings as a percentage of base salary, for James Drummond and Kevin Quinn are 20% 
and 633% respectively, based on the closing mid-market share price of 1079 pence on 31 December 2015. As at 31 July 2015, being 
his resignation date from the board, Peter Ventress held 303% of his base salary in shares based on the closing mid-market share 
price of 1023 pence. 

101

Strateg
ic rep

o
rt

G
overnance

F
inancial statem

ents

Berendsen plc  
Report and Accounts 2015



Long-term incentive plans (audited)

Performance Share Plan and Co-Investment Plan
During the year

1 January  
2015  

Number
Granted 
Number

Vested 
Number

Lapsed 
Number

31 December 
2015  

Number

Market price 
at date of 

grant  
(pence)

Value  
vested  
£000

Performance 
conditions

Date of  
award

Exercise 
period/ 
Vesting 

date

Performance Share  
Plan

James Drummond – 50,700 – – 50,700 1035.5 Note (iii) 06/08/15
06/08/18–
06/08/22

– 50,700 – – 50,700

 Peter Ventress 101,922 – 89,610 12,312 – 517.9 997  Note (ii) 07/03/12
07/03/15– 
07/03/19

76,509 – – – 76,509 712.3     07/03/13
07/03/16– 
07/03/20

53,236 – – – 53,236 1035.0   06/03/14
06/03/17–
06/03/21

– 50,900 – 50,900 – 1110.0 Note (vi) 09/03/15 Lapsed

231,667 50,900 89,610 63,212 129,745          

Kevin Quinn 62,934 – 55,331 7,603 – 517.9 616  Note (ii) 07/03/12
07/03/15– 
07/03/19

47,168 – – – 47,168 712.3     07/03/13
07/03/16– 
07/03/20

32,850 – – 32,850 1035.0   06/03/14
06/03/17–
06/03/21

– 31,549 – – 31,549 1110.0 Note (iii) 09/03/15
09/03/18– 
09/03/22

142,952 31,549 55,331 7,603 111,567          

Co-Investment Plan

Peter Ventress 142,692 – 133,596 9,096 – 520.0 1,521 Note (iv)  10/04/12
10/04/15– 
10/04/19

107,112 – – – 107,112 766.2     09/04/13
09/04/16– 
09/04/20

74,532 – – 74,532 1119.8   07/04/14
07/04/17–
07/04/21

– 71,260 – 71,260 – 1110.0 Note (vi) 07/04/15 Lapsed

324,336 71,260 133,596 80,356 181,644          

 Kevin Quinn 88,108 – 82,491 5,617 – 520.0 939  Note (iv)  10/04/12
10/04/15– 
10/04/19

66,036 – – – 66,036 766.2     09/04/13
09/04/16– 
09/04/20

45,992 – – – 45,992 1119.8   07/04/14
07/04/17–
07/04/21

– 44,168 – – 44,168 1110.0 Note (v) 07/04/15
07/04/18– 
07/04/22

200,136 44,168 82,491 5,617 156,196    

Total of awards vested 
in 2015   361,028 4,073  

Notes 

(i) The closing mid-market price of the ordinary shares at 31 December 2015 was 1079 pence and during the year ranged from 969 pence to 1157 pence.

(ii) PSP awards granted on 7 March 2012 were subject to both EPS and post-tax ROIC performance targets. Following the vesting of awards on 9 March 2015 (which vested at a level of 79.4%), 
89,610 and 55,331 shares were transferred to Peter Ventress and Kevin Quinn, respectively (inclusive of dividend equivalents in the form of shares). The market price on the day of vesting was 
1,112.4 pence. 

(iii) PSP awards granted on 9 March 2015 and 6 August 2015 are subject to both EPS and post-tax ROIC performance targets. The EPS target (applying to half of an award) requires EPS of 
72 pence in 2017 for 25% to vest, rising to full vesting for EPS of 82 pence or higher. The ROIC target (applying to the other half of an award) requires average ROIC of 10% for the 12 months 
ending 31 December 2016 for 25% to vest, rising to full vesting for average ROIC of 11% or higher. These EPS targets have been set in accordance with the changes in IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ 
effective from 1 January 2013. 

(iv) CIP matching awards granted on 10 April 2012 were subject to both EPS and post-tax ROIC performance targets. Following the vesting of awards on 10 April 2015 (which vested at a level of 
84.55%), 133,596 and 82,491 shares were transferred to Peter Ventress and Kevin Quinn, respectively (inclusive of dividend equivalents in the form of shares). The market price on the day of 
vesting was 1,138.3 pence. 

(v) CIP awards granted on 7 April 2015 are subject to the same performance conditions as the PSP 2015 awards (see note (iii)). 

(vi) Peter Ventress was awarded 50,900 and 71,260 shares under the PSP and CIP in 2015, respectively. Upon his resignation from the board on 31 July 2015, these awards lapsed. Peter retains 
his awards granted in 2013 and 2014 and these will vest on the normal vesting date (dependent on the achievement of performance conditions) and are subject to a pro rata reduction to his 
retirement date being 28 April 2016. Further information on Peter’s retirement can be found on page 91.
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Deferred Bonus Share Plan
Awards over deferred shares are granted under the Deferred Bonus Share Plan. Awards relate to 25% of the annual bonus that is 
compulsorily deferred into shares and vest after three years.

During the year

1 January 
2015 

Number
Granted 
Number

Vested 
Number

Lapsed 
Number

31 December 
2015 

Number

Market price 
at date 

of grant 
(pence)

Value 
vested 
£000

Performance 
conditions

Date of 
award

Exercise 
period/ 
Vesting 

date

Peter Ventress  22,823 – 22,823 – – 517.9 281  Note (i) 07/03/12 07/03/15

  21,865 – – – 21,865 712.3     07/03/13 07/03/16

  14,880 – – – 14,880 1035.0   06/03/14 28/04/16

– 12,766 – – 12,766 1110.0 Note (ii) 09/03/15 28/04/16

  59,568 12,766 22,823 – 49,511          

 Kevin Quinn 13,738 – 13,738 – – 517.9 169  Note (i) 07/03/12 07/03/15

  13,161 – – – 13,161 712.3     07/03/13 07/03/16

  9,179 – – – 9,179 1035.0     06/03/14 06/03/17

– 7,883 – – 7,883 1110.0 Note (ii) 09/03/15 09/03/18

  36,078 7,883 13,738 – 30,223          

Total of awards 
vested in 2015     36,561       450      

Notes

(i) DBSP awards granted in 2012 vested on 9 March 2015 with Peter Ventress and Kevin Quinn receiving 25,270 and 15,210 shares, respectively (inclusive of dividend equivalents in the form of 
shares). The market price on the day of vesting was 1,112.4 pence. Awards granted in 2013 will vest on 7 March 2016.

(ii) Peter Ventress was granted awards under the DBSP in 2013, 2014 and 2015. The 2013 awards will vest on 7 March 2016. Peter’s remaining DBSP awards will vest on his retirement date being 
28 April 2016. Peter will not be granted a DBSP award in 2016 prior to his retirement date.

UK Sharesave Plan
The UK Sharesave Plan is open to all eligible employees including the executive directors. As is the case with all savings-related 
shares option schemes, there are no performance conditions.

During the year

1 January  
2015 

Number
Granted 
Number

Exercised 
Number

Lapsed 
Number

31 December 
2015 

Number

Exercise  
price  

(pence)

Market price  
at date  

of grant  
(pence)

Value  
vested  
£000

Exercise  
period

Peter Ventress 4,322 – – – 4,322 347.0 433.2
01/12/16–
31/05/17

1,912 – – – 1,912 792.0 990.0
01/12/19–
31/05/20

6,234 – – – 6,234

Kevin Quinn 2,593 – 2,593 – – 347.0 433.2 28
01/12/14–
31/05/15

2,272 – – – 2,272 792.0 990.0
01/12/17–
31/05/18

4,865 – 2,593 – 2,272

(i) Kevin Quinn exercised his option on 5 January 2015 to acquire 2,593 shares. The deemed gain on the exercise of this option was £19,590. The share price at the time of exercise was 
1092.5 pence.
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Managing shareholder dilution
The table below sets out the available dilution capacity for the company’s employee share plans based on the limits set out in the 
rules of those plans that relate to issuing new shares.

2015

Total issued share capital as at 31 December 2015 172.6m

ABI share limits (in any consecutive ten-year period):  

Current dilution for all share plans 2.3%

Headroom relative to 10% limit 7.7%

5% for executive plans – current dilution for discretionary (executive) plans 1.2%

Headroom relative to 5% limit 3.8%

Awards granted under share-based plans, including the UK Sharesave Plan, will be satisfied by shares purchased in the market 
and held in the company’s Employee Benefit Trust. 

Directors’ service agreements
The table below provides details of the directors’ service contracts and unexpired term, as at the date of the 2016 AGM.

Director
Date of last  

contract
Unexpired term as at 

28 April 2016
Notice period  

(months)

James Drummond 24 February 2016 n/a 12

Kevin Quinn 24 February 2016 n/a 12

Iain Ferguson 18 December 2014 2 years 6

Lucy Dimes 30 April 2015 2 years, 1 month 1

David Lowden 18 December 2015 2 years, 10 months 1

Andrew Wood 18 December 2015 2 years, 10 months 1

Maarit Aarni-Sirviö 1 March 2014 10 months 1
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The directors present their Annual Report  
and audited financial statements  

for the year ended 31 December 2015.

This Annual Report contains forward-
looking statements. These forward-
looking statements are not guarantees 
of future performance. Rather they are 
based on current views and assumptions 
and involve known and unknown 
risks, uncertainties and other factors 
that may cause actual results to 
differ from any future results or 
developments expressed in, or implied 
from, the forward-looking statements. 
Each forward-looking statement 
speaks only as of the date of that 
particular statement.

The Directors’ report of the group 
for the year ended 31 December 
2015 is set out on pages 105 to 108 
inclusive. Additional information which 
is incorporated by reference into this 
Directors’ report, including information 
required in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2006 and the Listing 
Rule 9.8.4R of the UK Financial Conduct 
Authority’s Listing Rules, can be located 
as follows:

Disclosure Location

Future business 
developments

Throughout the 
Strategic report 
(pages 01 to 51)

Employee 
involvement

Our people  
(page 47)

Financial risk 
management 
objectives and 
policies (including 
hedging policy 
and use of 
financial 
instruments)

Note 17 to 
the financial 
statements  
(pages 151 to 159)

Details of long-
term incentive 
schemes

Note 21 to 
the financial 
statements  
(pages 163 to 169)

Directors’ 
responsibilities 
statement

Page 109

Both the Directors’ report and the 
Strategic report have been drawn up 
and presented in accordance with, and 
in reliance upon, applicable English 
company law. The liabilities of the 
directors in connection with that report 
shall be subject to the limitations and 
restrictions provided by such law.

Branches outside the UK
The group has branches in Finland.

Results and dividends
The financial statements set out the 
results of the group for the year ended 
31 December 2015 and are shown on 
page 118. The directors recommend a 
final dividend of 21.5 pence per ordinary 
share which, together with the interim 
dividend of 10.0 pence per ordinary 
share paid in October 2015, makes a 
total dividend for the year of 31.5 pence 
(2014: 30 pence) per ordinary share. 
Subject to approval by shareholders 
of the recommended final dividend, 
the dividend award to shareholders for 
2015 will total £53.8 million. If approved, 
the company will pay the final dividend 
on 6 May 2016 to shareholders on the 
register at 8 April 2016.

Changes in composition 
of the group
During the year, the group acquired 
a number of textile maintenance 
businesses. The total consideration 
including net financial liabilities assumed 
and deferred consideration payable for 
these acquisitions was £8.9 million.

Details of the fair value of net assets 
acquired and consideration paid are set 
out in note 25 to the financial statements.

Directors
The current directors of the company, 
including their biographical details, are 
set out on pages 56 and 57. Each served 
throughout the year ended 31 December 
2015 except James Drummond who was 
appointed to the board on 1 August 2015 
and Peter Ventress who resigned from 
the board on 31 July 2015. 

In accordance with the UK 
Corporate Governance Code, the 
company is continuing to follow the 
recommendation that all directors seek 
their election or re-election, as relevant, 
at the AGM this year. 

Copies of executive directors’ service 
contracts are available to shareholders 
for inspection at the company’s 
registered office and at the AGM. 
Details of the directors’ remuneration 
and service contracts and their interests 
in the shares of the company are 
included in the Directors’ remuneration 
report which is set out on pages 78 
to 104.

Directors’ indemnity
Article 133 of the company’s Articles of 
Association (the “Articles”) provides, 
among other things that, insofar as 
permitted by law, every director of the 
company or any associated company 
may be indemnified by the company 
against any liability. 

Deed polls, which include the grant of 
indemnities constituting qualifying third 
party indemnity provisions (as defined 
by Section 234 of the Companies 
Act 2006), were updated during the 
year and were in force for each of the 
Chairman, executive and non-executive 
directors of the company and its 
wholly-owned subsidiaries.

In addition, the company has arranged 
appropriate insurance cover in respect 
of legal action against its directors 
and officers.

Share capital
As at 25 February 2016, the company’s 
issued share capital consisted of 
£51,773,561 divided into 172,578,539 
ordinary shares of 30 pence each 
(no shares are held in treasury).

During the 12 months to 31 December 
2015, 12,695 ordinary shares of 30 pence 
each in the company were issued in 
satisfaction of the exercise of employee 
share options under the terms of the 
Berendsen Sharesave Plan 2006 for a 
total consideration of £57,650.

The share price on 31 December 
2015 was 1,079 pence. Details of the 
movements in the year are set out in 
note 20 to the financial statements.
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Rights and obligations 
attaching to shares
Subject to the Articles, the Companies 
Act 2006 and other shareholders’ rights: 
(i) shares in the company may be issued 
with such rights and restrictions as the 
shareholders may by ordinary resolution 
decide or, if there is no such resolution 
or so far as it does not make specific 
provision, as the board may decide; and 
(ii) unissued shares in the company are 
at the disposal of the board.

Variation of rights
Subject to the Companies Act 2006, 
rights attached to any class of shares 
may be varied with the written consent 
of the holders of not less than three-
fourths in nominal value of the issued 
shares of that class (calculated excluding 
any shares held as treasury shares), or 
with the sanction of a special resolution 
passed at a separate general meeting of 
the holders of those shares. 

Securities carrying 
special rights
No person holds securities in the 
company carrying special rights with 
regard to control of the company.

Restrictions on transfer of 
securities in the company
There are no restrictions on the transfer 
of securities in the company, except:

 a that certain restrictions may from 
time to time be imposed by laws 
and regulations (for example, insider 
trading laws); and

 a pursuant to the Listing Rules of 
the Financial Conduct Authority, 
whereby certain employees of the 
company require the approval of the 
company to deal in the company’s 
ordinary shares.

The company is not aware of any 
agreements between holders of 
securities that may result in restrictions 
on the transfer of securities.

Voting
Every member and every duly appointed 
proxy present at a general meeting 
or class meeting has, upon a show of 
hands, one vote and every member 
present in person or by proxy has, upon 
a poll, one vote for every share held by 
him or her. In the case of joint holders 
of a share, the vote of the senior who 
tenders a vote, whether in person or by 
proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion 
of the vote(s) of the other joint holder(s) 
and, for this purpose, seniority shall be 
determined by the order in which the 
names stand in the register in respect 
of the joint holding.

Restrictions on voting
No member shall be entitled to vote at 
any general meeting or class meeting 
in respect of any share held by him or 
her if any call or other sum then payable 
by him or her in respect of that share 
remains unpaid or if a member has 
been served with a restriction notice 
(as defined in the Articles) after failure 
to provide the company with information 
concerning interests in those shares 
required to be provided under the 
Companies Act 2006.

The company is not aware of any 
agreements between holders of 
securities that may result in restrictions 
on voting rights.

Authority to allot new shares, 
disapply pre-emption rights 
and purchase own shares
At the AGM held on 30 April 2015, 
shareholders authorised the company to 
purchase in the market up to 10% of its 
issued share capital (17,256,784 ordinary 
shares) and, as at 31 December 2015, 
the full extent of this authority remained 
in force and unused. This authority 
is renewable annually, and a special 
resolution will be proposed at the 2016 
AGM to renew it. The directors will only 
purchase the company’s shares in the 
market if they believe it is in the best 
interests of shareholders generally.

The directors were also granted 
authority at the 2015 AGM to allot 
shares up to approximately two-thirds 
of the company’s issued ordinary share 
capital (in accordance with guidelines 
issued by the ABI on 31 December 
2012). The additional one-third authority, 
above the one-third authority which can 
be used for general purposes, may only 
be used for rights issues. 

At 25 February 2016, the company had 
an unexpired authority to allot up to 
115,045,226 shares with a nominal value 
of £34,513,568. The authority granted 
at the 2015 AGM will apply until the 
conclusion of the 2016 AGM, at which 
shareholders will be asked to grant the 
directors renewed authority to allot 
shares up to approximately two-thirds 
of the company’s issued ordinary share 
capital. The renewed authority will apply 
until the conclusion of the 2017 AGM. 
The directors have no present intention 
to exercise this authority, and no issue 
will be made which would effectively 
alter the control of the company without 
the prior approval of shareholders in 
general meeting.

A special resolution will be proposed at 
the 2016 AGM to authorise the directors 
to allot ordinary shares (or sell any 
ordinary shares which the company 
elects to hold in treasury), representing 
up to 5% of the company’s issued 
ordinary share capital, for cash on a 
non-pre-emptive basis. The directors 
confirm that, in any rolling three-year 
period, the company will not issue 
non-pre-emptively for cash equity 
securities that represent more than 7.5% 
of the company’s issued ordinary share 
capital, in accordance with the Pre-
Emption Group Statement of Principles. 
The directors have decided not to seek 
the authority to issue non-pre-emptively 
for cash equity securities representing an 
additional 5% of the company’s issued 
share capital for use only in connection 
with an acquisition or a specified capital 
investment, in accordance with the Pre-
Emption Group Statement of Principles, 
as updated in March 2015. The directors 
will keep this under review during 2016. 
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Substantial shareholdings
The table below shows the holdings in the company’s issued share capital which had been notified to the company pursuant 
to the Financial Conduct Authority’s Disclosure and Transparency Rules. The information below was correct at the date of 
notification; however, the date received may not have been within the current financial year. It should be noted that these holdings 
are likely to have changed since the company was notified. However, notification of any change is not required until the next 
notifiable threshold is crossed. 

31 December 2015 25 February 2016*

 
Direct/ 
indirect

No. of  
shares  

(m) %
Direct/ 
indirect

No. of  
shares  

(m) %

Prudential plc Direct 16.41 9.51 Direct 14.39 8.33

Fidelity Management & Research Company (FMR) Direct 8.65 5.01 Direct 8.65 5.01

BlackRock, Inc – – – Direct 8.64 5.00

 * Being the latest practicable date prior to publication of the Annual Report.
Notifications were also received from Silchester International Investors Limited and Sanderson Asset Management Limited during the year to disclose that they no longer held a notifiable interest.

Rights under the employee 
share scheme
As at 31 December 2015, Appleby 
Trust (Jersey) Limited, as trustee of the 
Berendsen Employee Benefit Trust, held 
1,715,142 shares in trust for the benefit of 
the executive directors and employees of 
the group. A dividend waiver is in place 
in respect of Appleby’s shareholding 
and Appleby currently abstains from 
voting the shares but it may, upon the 
recommendation of the company and 
having taken into account all relevant 
matters including the interests of 
beneficiaries, accept or reject any offer 
relating to the shares in any way it sees 
fit, without incurring any liability and 
without being required to give reasons 
for its decision. 

Amendment of Articles 
of Association
Unless expressly specified to the 
contrary in the Articles, the Articles may 
be amended by a special resolution of 
the company’s shareholders.

Appointment and 
replacement of directors
Directors may be appointed by the 
shareholders by ordinary resolution 
or by the board. A director appointed 
by the board holds office only until 
the following AGM of the company 
and is then eligible for election by the 
members. The board or any committee 
authorised by the board may from time 
to time appoint one or more directors to 
hold any employment or executive office 
for such period and on such terms as 
they may determine and may also revoke 
or terminate any such appointment.

At every AGM of the company, any of 
the directors who have been appointed 
by the board since the last AGM shall 
seek their re-election by the members. 
Notwithstanding provisions in the 
company’s Articles in respect of the 
retirement by rotation of directors, the 

board has agreed, in accordance with 
the UK Corporate Governance Code, 
and in line with previous years, that all 
of the directors wishing to continue will 
offer themselves for re-election by the 
shareholders at the 2016 AGM.

The shareholders may, by special 
resolution, remove any director before 
the expiration of that director’s period 
of office. 

Powers of the directors
Subject to the Articles, the Companies 
Act 2006 and any directions given by 
the shareholders by special resolution, 
the business of the company will be 
managed by the board who may 
exercise all the powers of the company, 
whether relating to the management 
of the business of the company or not. 
In particular, the board may exercise all 
the powers of the company to borrow 
money, to mortgage or charge any 
of its undertakings, property, assets 
(present and future) and uncalled capital, 
to issue debentures and other securities 
and to give security for any debt, liability 
or obligation of the company or of any 
third party.

Significant agreements
There are a number of agreements 
that take effect, alter or terminate upon 
a change of control of the company, 
such as commercial contracts, bank 
loan agreements, property lease 
arrangements and employees’ share 
plans. None of these are deemed to be 
significant in terms of their potential 
impact on the business of the group 
as a whole, except for the following: 
US Private Placement Note Purchase 
Agreements US$200 million dated 
25 May 2006, US$259 million and 
£25 million dated 24 November 2009, 
€80 million and DKK655 million dated 
15 December 2014 and the €510 million 
Multicurrency Revolving Credit Facility 
dated 19 March 2015. These agreements 
contain change of control provisions 

which, if triggered, could limit future 
utilisations, require the repayment 
of existing utilisations or lead to a 
renegotiation of terms.

Employees
The board recognises the importance of 
attracting, developing and retaining the 
right people, as well as maintaining a safe 
working environment for our existing 
employees. Please refer to page 47 for 
further details about group policies 
and procedures on how employee’s 
skills, communication and engagement 
are strengthened; and to pages 48 
to 50 for health and safety policies 
and procedures.

In accordance with best practice, we 
have employment policies in place 
which provide equal opportunities for 
all employees, irrespective of sex, race, 
colour, disability, sexual orientation, 
religious beliefs or marital status. 
We give full and fair consideration to 
applications for employment from 
applicants with disabilities where they 
have the appropriate skills and potential. 
Appropriate arrangements are made for 
the continued employment and training, 
career development and promotion of 
persons with disabilities employed by the 
group. If there were to be any instance of 
an employee becoming disabled during 
their employment with us, every effort 
would be made to make sure that their 
employment with us continues and that, 
where needed, appropriate retraining 
is arranged. 

Greenhouse gas emissions
Disclosures concerning the group’s 
greenhouse gas emissions are contained 
within the Corporate responsibility 
report, which forms part of the Strategic 
report, on page 51.
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Political donations
There were no political donations during 
2015 (2014: nil). 

Auditors and disclosure of 
information to auditors
The company’s auditors, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have 
indicated their willingness to continue 
in office and a resolution that they may 
be reappointed will be proposed at 
the AGM.

As far as each director is aware, there 
is no relevant audit information of which 
the company’s auditors are unaware. 
Each director has taken all the steps that 
they ought to have taken as a director 
in order to make themselves aware of 
any relevant audit information and to 
establish that the company’s auditors 
are aware of that information.

Going concern
The group’s business activities, together 
with the factors likely to affect its future 
development, performance and position 
are set out in the Strategic report on 
pages 1 to 51. The financial position of the 
group, its cash flows, liquidity position 
and borrowing facilities are described 
in the Financial Director’s review on 
pages 36 to 43. In addition, note 17 to the 
financial statements includes the group’s 
objectives, policies and processes for 
managing its capital; its financial risk 
management objectives and policies; 
details of its financial instruments and 
hedging activities; and its exposures to 
price, credit, liquidity and cash flow risk.

The group has considerable financial 
resources together with long-term 
contracts with a number of customers 
and suppliers across different 
geographic areas and industries. 
As a consequence, the directors believe 
that the group is well placed to manage 
its business risks successfully.

Having assessed the principal risks, and 
other matters discussed in connection 
with the viability statement, the directors 
consider it appropriate to adopt the 
going concern basis of accounting in 
preparing the financial statements.

Annual General Meeting
The notice of the AGM to be held at 
11.00 am on Thursday 28 April 2016 is 
being sent separately to shareholders 
with this report. The venue for the 
meeting is the Royal Aeronautical 
Society, 4 Hamilton Place, London 
W1J 7BQ.

David Lawler
Company Secretary
25 February 2016
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Company law requires the directors 
to prepare financial statements for 
each financial year. Under that law, the 
directors have prepared the group and 
parent company financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted 
by the European Union. Under Company 
law, the directors must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are 
satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the group 
and the company and of the profit or 
loss of the group and the company for 
that period.

In preparing these financial statements, 
the directors are required to:

 a select suitable accounting policies and 
then apply them consistently;

 a make judgements and accounting 
estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent;

 a state whether applicable IFRSs as 
adopted by the European Union have 
been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in 
the financial statements; and

 a prepare the financial statements on 
a going concern basis unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the 
company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for 
ensuring that the company keeps 
adequate accounting records which 
are sufficient to show and explain 
the company’s and the group’s 
transactions, disclose with reasonable 
accuracy, at any time, the financial 
position of the company and the group 
and enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements and the report on 
directors’ remuneration comply with the 
Companies Act 2006 and, as regards 
the group financial statements, Article 
4 of the IAS Regulation. The directors 
also have a general responsibility for 
taking such steps as are reasonably 
open to them to safeguard the assets 
of the group and company and hence 
to prevent and detect fraud and 
other irregularities.

This statement, which should be read in 
conjunction with the auditors’ report, is 
made with a view to distinguishing for 
members the respective responsibilities 
of the directors and the auditors in 
relation to the financial statements.

A copy of the Annual Report and the 
financial statements of the company 
are on the company’s website at 
www.berendsen.com. The directors are 
responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial 
information included on the company’s 
website; the work carried out by the 
auditors does not involve consideration 
of these matters. Accordingly, the 
auditors accept no responsibility for 
any changes that may have occurred 
to the financial statements since 
they were placed on the website. 
Information published on the internet 
is accessible in many countries 
with different legal requirements. 
Legislation in the UK governing the 
preparation and dissemination of 
financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

In accordance with DTR 4.1.12, each of 
the directors confirms that, to the best 
of their knowledge:

i)  The financial statements of the 
group and the company, prepared 
in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the EU, give a true and 
fair view of the assets, liabilities, 
financial position and profit or loss 
of the group; and

ii)  The Strategic report and the 
Directors’ report contained in 
this Annual Report, include a fair 
review of the development and 
performance of the business and the 
position of the group, together with a 
description of the principal risks and 
uncertainties they face.

In accordance with the provisions of 
the UK Corporate Governance Code, 
the directors confirm that, to the best 
of their knowledge, the Annual Report 
and Accounts, taken as a whole, are 
fair, balanced and understandable and 
provide the information necessary for 
shareholders to assess the performance, 
business model and strategy of the 
company and the group.

The current directors and their functions 
are listed on pages 56 and 57.

By order of the board,

David Lawler
Company Secretary
25 February 2016

The directors are responsible for preparing  
the Annual Report and Accounts,  

the report on directors’ remuneration  
and the financial statements in accordance  

with applicable law and regulations.

109

Strateg
ic rep

o
rt

G
overnance

F
inancial statem

ents

Berendsen plc  
Report and Accounts 2015

Directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements



Independent auditors’ 
report on the group 
financial statements
Our opinion 

In our opinion, Berendsen plc’s 
Group financial statements (the 
“financial statements”):

 a give a true and fair view of the state of 
the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 
2015 and of its profit and cash flows 
for the year then ended;

 a have been properly prepared in 
accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRSs”) as adopted by the 
European Union; and

 a have been prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 
of the IAS Regulation.

What we have audited

The financial statements, included within 
the Report and Accounts (the “Annual 
Report”), comprise:

 a the Consolidated balance sheet as at 
31 December 2015;

 a the Consolidated income statement 
and Consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income for the year 
then ended;

 a the Consolidated cash flow statement 
for the year then ended;

 a the Consolidated statement of 
changes in equity for the year 
then ended;

 a the accounting policies; and

 a the notes to the financial 
statements, which include other 
explanatory information.

Certain required disclosures have been 
presented elsewhere in the Annual 
Report, rather than in the notes to the 
financial statements. These are cross-
referenced from the financial statements 
and are identified as audited.

The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in the preparation of 
the financial statements is applicable 
law and IFRSs as adopted by the 
European Union.

Our audit approach
Context
Berendsen plc is listed on the London 
Stock Exchange. The Group provides 
services across Europe and the structure 
of our audit continues to reflect this, 
with a considerable amount of time 
spent directing, communicating with 
and visiting component audit teams. 
The business involves a very large 
number of relatively low value items, and 
the accounting for these in inventory and 
fixed assets is an area of focus as a result. 
In terms of developments in the business 
affecting our audit, the performance of 
the German and Austrian Healthcare 
business was a focus of our work on the 
carrying value of goodwill.
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Overview

Overall group materiality: £5.9 million 
which represents 5% of profit before 
tax and exceptional items.

Materiality

Audit scope

Areas 
of focus

 a Overall group materiality: £5.9 million 
(2014:£5.8 million) which represents 
5% of profit before tax and 
exceptional items.

 a We performed an audit of the 
complete financial information of 
eight operating reporting units and 
specified procedures at Sweden 
Sourcing, using a number of overseas 
component audit teams. 

Goodwill impairment assessment:
 a The carrying value of goodwill is 
deemed to be an area of focus 
due to the judgements involved in 
estimating future cash flows and 
applying appropriate assumptions. 
This is particularly relevant to the 
German and Austrian Healthcare cash 
generating unit given the impairment 
taken in the year. 

Misstatement in textile fixed asset and 
inventory valuation and existence:

 a The valuation of textile fixed assets is 
deemed to be an area of focus due 
to the size of the asset on the balance 
sheet and the difficulty in tracking 
individual items and verifying their 
useful economic lives; and

 a The existence and valuation of 
inventory due to the number of 
locations where inventory is held, 
especially at third party locations 
and the absorption of freight costs 
and duty affecting the value at which 
the inventory is held.

Environmental liabilities:
 a The appropriateness of provisions 
recognised and the contingent 
liabilities disclosed in relation to 
historical environmental liabilities 
in a number of locations.

The scope of our audit and our areas of focus
We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing 
(UK and Ireland) (“ISAs (UK & Ireland)”).

We designed our audit by determining 
materiality and assessing the risks of 
material misstatement in the financial 
statements. In particular, we looked at 
where the directors made subjective 
judgements, for example in respect 
of significant accounting estimates 
that involved making assumptions 
and considering future events that 
are inherently uncertain. As in all of 
our audits we also addressed the risk 
of management override of internal 
controls, including evaluating whether 
there was evidence of bias by the 
directors that represented a risk of 
material misstatement due to fraud. 

The risks of material misstatement 
that had the greatest effect on our 
audit, including the allocation of our 
resources and effort, are identified 
as “areas of focus” in the table below. 
We have also set out how we tailored 
our audit to address these specific areas 
in order to provide an opinion on the 
financial statements as a whole, and any 
comments we make on the results of 
our procedures should be read in this 
context. This is not a complete list of all 
risks identified by our audit. 
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Area of focus How our audit addressed the area of focus

Goodwill impairment assessment

We focused on this area due to the size of the 
goodwill balance (£367m as at 31 December 2015) 
and because the directors’ assessment of the “value 
in use” of the Group’s cash generating units (CGUs) 
involves judgement about the future results of the 
business and the discount rates applied to future 
cash flow forecasts.

In particular we focused our audit effort on the 
goodwill recognised in relation to the German and 
Austrian Healthcare CGU due to the impairment 
charge of £6.4m recognised in the current year.

Refer also to note 8 to the financial statements, 
page 70 (Audit Committee report) and page 131 
(critical accounting estimates).

We evaluated the directors’ future cash flow forecasts, and the process 
by which they were drawn up, including comparing them to the latest 
Board approved budgets and testing the underlying calculations. 
We found that management had followed a clear process for drawing 
up the future cash flow forecasts, which were subject to timely oversight 
and challenge by the directors and which were consistent with the 
Board approved budgets. We found no material misstatements in the 
calculations performed.

We challenged the directors’ key assumptions for long term growth rates 
in the cash flows by comparing them to historical results and economic 
forecasts. We compared the current year actual results to the FY15 
figures included in the prior year forecasts to consider whether any 
forecasts included assumptions that, with hindsight, had been optimistic. 

For the discount rate we assessed the cost of capital for the company 
and comparable organisations by performing a benchmark analysis and 
found it to be in line with our expectations.

We performed sensitivity analysis around the key drivers of the cash flow 
forecasts, being:

 a the growth rates;

 a the operating profit applied for the first three years; and

 a the discount rate.

Having ascertained the extent of change in those assumptions that 
either individually or collectively would be required for the goodwill to be 
impaired for all CGUs, we considered the likelihood of such a movement 
in those key assumptions arising. 

Management reassessed the market conditions in German and Austrian 
Healthcare and updated the forecats accordingly, leading to an 
impairment of the goodwill for this CGU.

We found the revised assumptions to be supported by the evidence 
management provided, although note than any change in these 
assumptions would have a direct impact on the value of the 
impairment charge.

We were also able to obtain sufficient evidence to support 
management’s views on the key assumptions in the other CGUs, where 
no impairment charge was recognised.

We considered the appropriateness of the related disclosures in note 8 
to the financial statements. We found that they appropriately explain 
the impairment in German and Austrian Healthcare and describe the 
inherent degree of subjectivity in the estimates and the potential impact 
on future periods of revisions to these estimates.
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Area of focus How our audit addressed the area of focus

Misstatement in textile fixed asset and inventory

Textile fixed asset
Linen and workwear textiles are sold by the UK 
and Sweden Sourcing businesses to the operating 
units within the Group as textile fixed assets and 
depreciated over their useful economic lives.

Other than in certain businesses which have 
introduced the individual tagging of garments in 
order to trace their day-to-day use, textile assets 
are homogeneously depreciated by textile category 
over their estimated useful economic lives (currently 
between 20% and 40% per annum as stated in the 
accounting policies on page 126).

These textiles are significant assets on the balance 
sheet (£221.9 million as at 31 December 2015). 
Therefore, an over or understatement of the useful 
economic lives could lead to a material misstatement 
of depreciation for the year, affecting both the charge 
to the income statement and the valuation of the 
assets on the balance sheet.

In each of the eight operating units where an audit of the complete 
financial information was performed, we carried out:

 a a comparison between asset classes of the carrying value and 
depreciation charge for the year as a percentage of the revenue 
they generate;

 a a substantive analytical review of the depreciation charge by asset 
class (ensuring depreciation is in line with group policy); and

 a a comparison of additions in the year to additions in the prior year, 
within each asset class to check they were reasonably consistent. 

Within the additions testing, we also tested that linen asset additions 
were allocated to the correct linen asset class and depreciated in 
line with other assets of a similar nature and in line with their useful 
life expectancy.

Additionally, at group level, we performed a reasonableness test by 
comparing additions between 2012 and 2015 to depreciation over the 
period to understand whether the assets are being replaced over a 
similar timeframe. We found that capital expenditure on textile assets 
was materially in line with depreciation where there had been no major 
change in the scale and nature of the business. 

Taken together, these procedures gave us the evidence we needed in 
relation to the economic lives and depreciation of the relevant assets.

Inventory
The group holds inventory at many locations, 
including a number that are owned by third parties. 
There is a risk that inventory quantities will be 
misstated at one or more locations, particularly where 
inventory is not under the direct control of the group.

Inventory largely comes into the group through the 
UK and Sweden Sourcing businesses. The allocations 
of freight and duty costs in the standard costing 
system are reviewed regularly but there is a risk 
that the standard cost of inventory items could 
be misstated.

We performed audit procedures for operating reporting units with 
material inventory balances.

Existence – we attended the year-end stock counts that were performed 
by management at six locations and traced the stock count results to the 
inventory system, checking that these were accurately recorded in the 
year-end inventory balance.

We obtained a sample of confirmations of inventory held directly by 
third parties at the balance sheet date and successfully reconciled these 
to the year-end inventory balance.

Where stock counts were not performed at the balance sheet date, we 
tested the records of these counts to the year-end inventory balance via 
a sample of goods in/outwards reports between the date of the count 
and the balance sheet date without noting any significant issues.

Valuation – to address the risk of misstatement in the valuation of 
inventory, a sample of stock items held by the group was traced from 
the inventory system to third party purchase invoices. We also tested 
the absorption of freight and duty costs to check they were incurred and 
appropriately allocated.
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Area of focus How our audit addressed the area of focus

Environmental liabilities

The group operates from laundries across Europe, 
at which historic environmental liabilities may exist. 
Though the group has indemnities from third parties 
and expects to have the warranties confirmed in 
full so as to incur no significant loss, it is currently 
defending legal claims in respect of certain 
sites acquired.

Judgement is required to assess the likelihood of 
these liabilities crystallising, in order to assess whether 
a provision should be recognised and, if so, the 
amount of that provision. The total potential liability 
is uncertain and would be affected by improvements 
in environmental clean-up technology and the future 
use of the sites.

In Sweden, no amounts have been provided 
in the balance sheet with respect to any future 
environmental liability as the value and the timing 
of any cost to Berendsen is still unable to be 
determined. As such, a contingent liability continues 
to be disclosed within the financial statements of 
the group.

In the Netherlands, management have recognised 
a provision on a specific site that is subject to a 
constructive obligation to incur environmental clean-
up costs. The amount recognised is the best estimate 
of the expenditure that will be incurred before any 
related recovery. 

We focused on this area due to the judgement 
associated with assessing the level of provision to 
cover the future obligation. Under the terms of its 
share purchase agreement with a third party on 
the acquisition of the site, the company expects to 
have this amount reimbursed under the terms of its 
warranties and has consequently accounted for the 
estimated receivable at fair value.

There is no change to the treatment in the current 
year compared to the prior year and therefore there 
has been no impact to the income statement.

Refer also to notes 18 and 30 to the financial 
statements, page 70 (Audit Committee report) and 
page 131 (critical accounting estimates).

We examined the group’s latest assessment of the status of the legal 
claims and obtained confirmation from their external legal advisors of 
the likelihood of the group successfully defending its position.

In Sweden we checked that the situation remains unchanged from 
the prior year and determined that the accounting for any potential 
environmental remediation as a contingent liability remains appropriate. 
We read and were satisfied with the level of disclosure in note 30 to the 
financial statements.

In the Netherlands, we re-evaluated and challenged management’s 
rationale for maintaining the level of provision consistent with the prior 
year with respect to clean up of the site. From the evidence obtained 
we consider the level of provision to be acceptable in the context of 
materiality and on the basis that the situation remains consistent with the 
prior year.

We obtained confirmations from external legal counsel and read other 
correspondence supporting the recoverability of the asset recognised 
from third parties under historical warranties. From the evidence 
obtained, we consider the current value of the asset recognised to 
be supportable.
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How we tailored the audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit to 
ensure that we performed enough work 
to be able to give an opinion on the 
financial statements as a whole, taking 
into account the geographic structure of 
the Group, the accounting processes and 
controls, and the industry in which the 
Group operates. 

The Group’s accounting process is 
structured around a local finance 
function in each of the 26 operating 
reporting units under which the Group 
operates. These functions maintain 
their own accounting records and 
controls and report to the head office 
finance function in London through an 
integrated consolidation system.

In our view, due to their significance and/ 
or risk characteristics, eight of these 
units required an audit of their complete 
financial information and we used 
component auditors from PwC network 
firms who are familiar with the local laws 
and regulations in each of the territories 
to perform this audit work.

 In addition, specific audit procedures 
were performed at the Sweden Sourcing 
reporting unit to address the risk 
identified in the existence and valuation 
of inventory area of focus.

Where the work was performed by 
component auditors, we determined the 
level of involvement we needed to have 
in the audit work at those functions to 
be able to conclude whether sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence had been 
obtained as a basis for our opinion on the 
group financial statements as a whole.

The Group engagement team visits 
the component teams on a rotational 
basis. In the current year the group 
engagement leader visited the Denmark, 
Sweden, Netherlands, Germany and 
United Kingdom operating locations. 
In addition, the group engagement team 
visited Norway.

The group consolidation, financial 
statement disclosures and a number 
of complex items were audited by 
the group engagement team at the 
head office. These include goodwill 
impairment, derivative financial 
instruments, hedge accounting, the 
Berendsen plc defined benefit pension 
scheme and share based payments.

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced 
by our application of materiality. 
We set certain quantitative thresholds 
for materiality. These, together with 
qualitative considerations, helped us to 
determine the scope of our audit and 
the nature, timing and extent of our audit 
procedures on the individual financial 
statement line items and disclosures and 
in evaluating the effect of misstatements, 
both individually and on the financial 
statements as a whole. 

Based on our professional judgement, 
we determined materiality for the 
financial statements as a whole 
as follows:

 a Overall group materiality 
£5.9 million (2014: £5.8 million); 

 a How we determined it 
5% of profit before tax and 
exceptional items; and

 a Rationale for benchmark applied 
Profit before tax and exceptional 
items provides a more consistent 
basis for the audit year on year. 

We agreed with the audit committee 
that we would report to them 
misstatements identified during our audit 
above £0.3 million (2014: £0.3 million) 
as well as misstatements below that 
amount that, in our view, warranted 
reporting for qualitative reasons.

Going concern
Under the Listing Rules we are required 
to review the directors’ statement, set 
out on page 108, in relation to going 
concern. We have nothing to report 
having performed our review. 

Under ISAs (UK & Ireland) we are 
required to report to you if we have 
anything material to add or to draw 
attention to in relation to the directors’ 
statement about whether they 
considered it appropriate to adopt the 
going concern basis in preparing the 
financial statements. We have nothing 
material to add or to draw attention to. 

As noted in the directors’ statement, 
the directors have concluded that 
it is appropriate to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the financial 
statements. The going concern basis 
presumes that the Group has adequate 
resources to remain in operation, and 
that the directors intend it to do so, for at 
least one year from the date the financial 
statements were signed. As part of 
our audit we have concluded that the 
directors’ use of the going concern basis 
is appropriate. However, because not 
all future events or conditions can be 
predicted, these statements are not a 
guarantee as to the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.
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Other required reporting

Consistency of other information
Companies Act 2006 opinions

In our opinion:

 a the information given in the Strategic 
report and the Directors’ report for the 
financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent 
with the financial statements; and

 a the information given in the Corporate 
governance statement set out on 
pages 59 to 77 with respect to 
internal control and risk management 
systems and about share capital 
structures is consistent with the 
financial statements.

ISAs (UK & Ireland) reporting
Under ISAs (UK & Ireland) we 
are required to report to you if, 
in our opinion:

 a information in the Annual Report is:
 – materially inconsistent with the 
information in the audited financial 
statements; or

 – apparently materially incorrect 
based on, or materially inconsistent 
with, our knowledge of the Group 
acquired in the course of performing 
our audit; or

 – otherwise misleading.

We have no exceptions to report.

 a the statement given by the directors 
on page 77, in accordance with 
provision C.1.1 of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code (the “Code”), that 
they consider the Annual Report 
taken as a whole to be fair, balanced 
and understandable and provides the 
information necessary for members 
to assess the Group’s position and 
performance, business model and 
strategy is materially inconsistent with 
our knowledge of the Group acquired 
in the course of performing our audit.

We have no exceptions to report.

 a the section of the Annual Report on 
page 70, as required by provision 
C.3.8 of the Code, describing 
the work of the audit committee 
does not appropriately address 
matters communicated by us to the 
audit committee.

We have no exceptions to report.

The directors’ assessment of the 
prospects of the Group and of the 
principal risks that would threaten the 
solvency or liquidity of the Group
Under ISAs (UK & Ireland) we are 
required to report to you if we have 
anything material to add or to draw 
attention to in relation to:

 a the directors’ confirmation on page 26 
of the Annual Report, in accordance 
with provision C.2.1 of the Code, 
that they have carried out a robust 
assessment of the principal risks 
facing the Group, including those 
that would threaten its business 
model, future performance, solvency 
or liquidity.

We have nothing material to add or to 
draw attention to.

 a the disclosures in the Annual Report 
that describe those risks and explain 
how they are being managed 
or mitigated.

We have nothing material to add or to 
draw attention to.

 a the directors’ explanation on page 27 
of the Annual Report, in accordance 
with provision C.2.2 of the Code, as to 
how they have assessed the prospects 
of the Group, over what period they 
have done so and why they consider 
that period to be appropriate, and 
their statement as to whether they 
have a reasonable expectation that 
the Group will be able to continue 
in operation and meet its liabilities 
as they fall due over the period of 
their assessment, including any 
related disclosures drawing attention 
to any necessary qualifications 
or assumptions.

We have nothing material to add or to 
draw attention to.

Under the Listing Rules we are required 
to review the directors’ statement 
that they have carried out a robust 
assessment of the principal risks 
facing the Group and the directors’ 
statement in relation to the longer-term 
viability of the Group. Our review was 
substantially less in scope than an audit 
and only consisted of making inquiries 
and considering the directors’ process 
supporting their statements; checking 
that the statements are in alignment with 
the relevant provisions of the Code; and 
considering whether the statements are 
consistent with the knowledge acquired 
by us in the course of performing our 
audit. We have nothing to report having 
performed our review.
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Adequacy of information and 
explanations received 
Under the Companies Act 2006 we 
are required to report to you if, in our 
opinion, we have not received all the 
information and explanations we require 
for our audit. We have no exceptions to 
report arising from this responsibility.

Directors’ remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we 
are required to report to you if, in our 
opinion, certain disclosures of directors’ 
remuneration specified by law are not 
made. We have no exceptions to report 
arising from this responsibility.

Corporate governance statement
Under the Companies Act 2006 we 
are required to report to you if, in 
our opinion, a corporate governance 
statement has not been prepared by the 
parent company. We have no exceptions 
to report arising from this responsibility. 

Under the Listing Rules we are required 
to review the part of the Corporate 
governance statement relating to ten 
further provisions of the Code. We have 
nothing to report having performed 
our review. 

Responsibilities for the 
financial statements and the 
audit

Our responsibilities and those 
of the directors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ 
responsibilities for the financial 
statements set out on page 109, 
the directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view.

Our responsibility is to audit and express 
an opinion on the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and ISAs 
(UK & Ireland). Those standards require 
us to comply with the Auditing Practices 
Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has 
been prepared for and only for the 
parent company’s members as a body 
in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 
of the Companies Act 2006 and for no 
other purpose. 

We do not, in giving these opinions, 
accept or assume responsibility for any 
other purpose or to any other person to 
whom this report is shown or into whose 
hands it may come save where expressly 
agreed by our prior consent in writing.

What an audit of financial 
statements involves
An audit involves obtaining evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud 
or error. This includes an assessment of: 

 a whether the accounting policies 
are appropriate to the Group’s 
circumstances and have been 
consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed; 

 a the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the 
directors; and 

 a the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

We primarily focus our work in these 
areas by assessing the directors’ 
judgements against available evidence, 
forming our own judgements, and 
evaluating the disclosures in the 
financial statements.

We test and examine information, using 
sampling and other auditing techniques, 
to the extent we consider necessary to 
provide a reasonable basis for us to draw 
conclusions. We obtain audit evidence 
through testing the effectiveness of 
controls, substantive procedures or a 
combination of both. 

In addition, we read all the financial 
and non-financial information in the 
Annual Report to identify material 
inconsistencies with the audited 
financial statements and to identify 
any information that is apparently 
materially incorrect based on, or 
materially inconsistent with, the 
knowledge acquired by us in the 
course of performing the audit. If we 
become aware of any apparent material 
misstatements or inconsistencies we 
consider the implications for our report.

Other matter
We have reported separately on 
the parent company financial 
statements of Berendsen plc for the 
year ended 31 December 2015 and 
on the information in the Directors’ 
remuneration report that is described  
as having been audited.

Matthew Mullins (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London

25 February 2016

Notes:

(a)  The maintenance and integrity of the 
Berendsen plc website is the responsibility 
of the directors; the work carried out by 
the auditors does not involve consideration 
of these matters and, accordingly, the 
auditors accept no responsibility for any 
changes that may have occurred to the 
financial statements since they were initially 
presented on the website.

(b)  Legislation in the United Kingdom governing 
the preparation and dissemination of 
financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 Notes

Year to 
31 December 

2015 
£m

Year to 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Revenue 1 1,006.0 1,038.6

Cost of sales (504.0) (517.7)

Gross profit 502.0 520.9

Other income 4.6 4.3

Distribution costs (187.0) (193.3)

Administrative expenses (161.3) (168.5)

Other operating expenses (26.2) (26.2)

Operating profit 1 132.1 137.2

Analysed as:

Operating profit before exceptional items and amortisation of customer contracts 1 153.8 158.7

Exceptional items 4 (7.3) –

Amortisation of customer contracts 9 (14.4) (21.5)

Operating profit 1 132.1 137.2

Finance costs 2 (20.7) (23.1)

Finance income 2 2.0 2.9

Profit before taxation 3 113.4 117.0

Taxation 5 (24.5) (27.1)

Profit for the year 88.9 89.9

Analysed as:

Profit attributable to non-controlling interest 0.2 0.3

Profit attributable to owners of parent company 88.7 89.6

Earnings per share expressed in pence per share

– Basic 7 51.9 52.6

– Diluted 7 51.8 52.4

The notes on pages 124 to 181 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 Notes

Year to 
31 December 

2015 
£m

Year to 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Profit for the year 88.9 89.9

Other comprehensive income /(expense): 

Items that may be subsequently reclassified into profit or loss:

Currency translation differences (24.1) (46.9)

Gain/(loss) on cash flow hedges 16 3.5 (4.9)

(20.6) (51.8)

Items that cannot be subsequently reclassified into profit or loss:

Actuarial gains/(losses) 7.7 (12.5)

Other comprehensive (expense) for the year, net of tax (12.9) (64.3)

Total comprehensive income for the year 76.0 25.6

Attributable to:

Non-controlling interest 0.2 –

Owners of parent company 75.8 25.6

Items in the statement above are disclosed net of tax. The tax relating to each component of other comprehensive income is 
disclosed in note 5.
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As at 31 December 2015 Notes

As at 
31 December 

2015 
£m

As at  
31 December 

2014 
Restated

(notes 10,11)
£m

Assets

Intangible assets:

– Goodwill 8 367.0 390.2

– Other intangible assets 9 25.9 37.1

Property, plant and equipment 10 477.1 480.8

Deferred tax assets 19 6.9 8.1

Derivative financial instruments 16 51.4 40.4

Pension scheme surplus 27 44.6 35.7

Total non-current assets 972.9 992.3

Assets classified as held for sale – 0.2

Inventories 11 50.2 49.7

Income tax receivable 3.3 1.3

Derivative financial instruments 16 16.3 0.1

Trade and other receivables 12 169.9 163.5

Cash and cash equivalents 13 126.7 96.9

Total current assets 366.4 311.7

Liabilities

Borrowings 15 (88.1) (2.5)

Derivative financial instruments 16 (5.3) (0.6)

Income tax payable (16.5) (12.5)

Trade and other payables 14 (196.8) (200.3)

Provisions 18 (2.9) (3.1)

Total current liabilities (309.6) (219.0)

Net current assets 56.8 92.7

Borrowings 15 (409.5) (468.8)

Derivative financial instruments 16 (5.9) (17.3)

Pension scheme deficits 27 (28.8) (34.7)

Deferred tax liabilities 19 (65.4) (57.6)

Trade and other payables 14 (1.1) (1.2)

Total non-current liabilities (510.7) (579.6)

Net assets 519.0 505.4

Equity

Share capital 20 51.8 51.8

Share premium 99.5 99.4

Other reserves 1.4 (2.4)

Capital redemption reserve 150.9 150.9

Retained earnings 211.3 200.5

Total equity attributable to owners of parent company 514.9 500.2

Non-controlling interest 4.1 5.2

Total equity 519.0 505.4

The financial statements on pages 118 to 181 were approved by the board and signed on its behalf by:

James Drummond Kevin Quinn
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
25 February 2016
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 Notes

Year to 
31 December 

2015 
£m

Year to 
31 December 

2014 
Restated
(note 23)

£m

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 23 308.9 329.8

Interest paid (19.7) (22.2)

Interest received 2.0 2.9

Income tax paid (18.0) (18.2)

Net cash generated from operating activities 273.2 292.3

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 25 (9.2) (12.4)

Purchases of property, plant and equipment 10 (181.5) (180.5)

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment 23 13.3 10.4

Purchases of intangible assets 9 (6.2) (4.6)

Net cash used in investing activities (183.6) (187.1)

Cash flows from financing activities

Net proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital 0.1 0.2

Purchase of own shares by the Employee Benefit Trust (14.2) (11.2)

Payment of loan issue costs (2.1) –

Drawdown of borrowings 199.8 130.1

Repayment of borrowings (172.7) (146.6)

Repayment of finance leases/hire purchase liabilities (5.7) (2.7)

Acquisition of minority interest in a subsidiary 25 (0.9) –

Dividends paid to owners of parent company 6 (52.1) (48.8)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interest (0.1) (0.1)

Net cash used in financing activities (47.9) (79.1)

Net increase in cash 24 41.7 26.1

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 13 96.9 89.2

Exchange losses on cash (11.9) (18.4)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 13 126.7 96.9

Free cash flow 23 102.5 122.6
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Attributable to shareholders of the company

Share 
capital 

£m

Share 
premium 

£m

Other 
reserves 

£m

Capital 
redemption 

reserve 
£m

Retained 
earnings 

£m
Total 

£m

Non-
controlling 

interest 
£m

Total 
equity 

£m

At 1 January 2014 51.8 99.2 2.5 150.9 221.8 526.2 5.3 531.5

Comprehensive income:

Profit for the year – – – – 89.6 89.6 0.3 89.9

Other comprehensive income:

Actuarial losses (note 27) – – – – (16.5) (16.5) – (16.5)

Cash flow hedges – – (6.2) – – (6.2) – (6.2)

Currency translation – – – – (36.7) (36.7) (0.3) (37.0)

Tax on items taken to equity (note 5) – – 1.3 – (5.9) (4.6) – (4.6)

Total other comprehensive income – – (4.9) – (59.1) (64.0) (0.3) (64.3)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) – – (4.9) – 30.5 25.6 – 25.6

Transactions with owners:

Issue of share capital in respect of share 
option schemes – 0.2 – – – 0.2 – 0.2

Purchase of own shares by the Employee 
Benefit Trust – – – – (10.5) (10.5) – (10.5)

Dividends (note 6) – – – – (48.8) (48.8) (0.1) (48.9)

Value of employee service in respect of 
share option schemes and share awards 
(note 21) – – – – 7.5 7.5 – 7.5

Total transactions with owners – 0.2 – – (51.8) (51.6) (0.1) (51.7)

At 31 December 2014 51.8 99.4 (2.4) 150.9 200.5 500.2 5.2 505.4
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Attributable to shareholders of the company

Share 
capital 

£m

Share 
premium 

£m

Other 
reserves 

£m

Capital 
redemption 

reserve 
£m

Retained 
earnings 

£m
Total 

£m

Non-
controlling 

interest 
£m

Total 
equity 

£m

At 1 January 2015 51.8 99.4 (2.4) 150.9 200.5 500.2 5.2 505.4

Comprehensive income:

Profit for the year – – – – 88.7 88.7 0.2 88.9

Other comprehensive income/(expense):

Actuarial gains (note 27) – – – – 8.9 8.9 – 8.9

Cash flow hedges – – 4.3 – – 4.3 – 4.3

Currency translation – – – – (19.7) (19.7) – (19.7)

Tax on items taken to equity (note 5) – – (0.8) – (5.6) (6.4) – (6.4)

Total other comprehensive income/
(expense) – – 3.5 – (16.4) (12.9) – (12.9)

Total comprehensive income – – 3.5 – 72.3 75.8 0.2 76.0

Transactions with owners:

Issue of share capital in respect of share 
option schemes – 0.1 – – – 0.1 – 0.1

Purchase of own shares by the Employee 
Benefit Trust – – – – (14.2) (14.2) – (14.2)

Dividends (note 6) – – – – (52.1) (52.1) (0.1) (52.2)

Value of employee service in respect of 
share option schemes and share awards 
(note 21) – – – – 4.8 4.8 – 4.8

Acquisition of non-controlling interest 
(note 25b) – – 0.3 – – 0.3 (1.2) (0.9)

Total transactions with owners – 0.1 0.3 – (61.5) (61.1) (1.3) (62.4)

At 31 December 2015 51.8 99.5 1.4 150.9 211.3 514.9 4.1 519.0

The group has an Employee Benefit Trust to administer share plans and to acquire company shares, using funds contributed by 
the group, to meet commitments to group employees. At 31 December 2015, the Trust held 1,715,142 (2014: 1,870,186) shares.

Included within retained earnings is an amount of £37.6 million loss (2014: £17.9 million loss) which relates to currency translation.
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Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements 
have been prepared on a going concern 
basis in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the European Union 
(IFRSs as adopted by the EU), IFRSIC 
Interpretations and the Companies 
Act 2006 applicable to companies 
reporting under IFRS. The consolidated 
financial statements have been prepared 
under the historical cost convention, 
as modified by financial assets and 
financial liabilities (including derivative 
instruments) at fair value through the 
income statement. These policies have 
been consistently applied

The preparation of financial statements 
in conformity with IFRS requires the use 
of certain critical accounting estimates. 
It also requires management to exercise 
its judgement in the process of applying 
the group’s accounting policies. 
The areas involving a higher degree 
of judgement or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the consolidated financial 
statements are disclosed on page 131.

During the year the group reclassified 
stocks of textile rental garments awaiting 
delivery to customers from property, 
plant and equipment to inventories. 
Textile asset additions at cost include 
purchases of textile garments held at 
central warehouse reclassified to finished 
goods inventories of £0.4 million in 2015. 
2014 comparatives have been restated 
to reflect the same position; £10.4 million 
has been reclassified from property, 
plant and equipment to inventories. 
Of this balance £2.7 million related to 
purchases in 2014.

Going concern
The group meets its day-to-day 
working capital requirements through 
its bank facilities. The current economic 
conditions continue to create uncertainty 
particularly over (a) the level of demand 
for the group’s products; and (b) the 
availability of bank finance. The group’s 
forecasts and projections, taking 
account of reasonably possible changes 
in trading performance, show that 
the group should be able to operate 
within the level of its current facilities. 
Having assessed the principal risks and 
other matters discussed in connection 

with the viability statement, the directors 
consider it appropriate to adopt the 
going concern basis in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements. 
Further information on the group’s 
borrowings is given in note 15.

Changes in accounting policies 
and disclosures
The following standards have been 
adopted by the group for the first time 
for the financial year beginning on or 
after 1 January 2015:

 a Annual Improvements to IFRS  
2010-2012 cycle

 a Annual Improvements to IFRS  
2011-2013 cycle

Adoption of the above has not led to 
any changes in accounting policies 
or had any material impact on the 
financial statements.

A number of new standards and 
amendments to standards and 
interpretations are effective for annual 
periods beginning after 1 January 2015, 
and have not been applied in preparing 
these consolidated financial statements. 
None of these are expected to have a 
significant effect on the consolidated 
financial statements of the group, except 
the following set out below:

IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, addresses 
the classification, measurement and 
recognition of financial assets and 
financial liabilities. IFRS 9 was issued 
in November 2009 and October 
2010 and it is not yet endorsed by 
the EU. It replaces the parts of IAS 
39 that relate to the classification and 
measurement of financial instruments 
and is effective for accounting periods 
commencing 1 January 2018. IFRS 9 
requires financial assets to be classified 
into two measurement categories: 
those measured as at fair value and 
those measured at amortised cost. 
The determination is made at initial 
recognition. The classification depends 
on the entity’s business model for 
managing its financial instruments and 
the contractual cash flow characteristics 
of the instrument. For financial liabilities, 
the standard retains most of the IAS 39 
requirements. The main change is that, 
in cases where the fair value option is 
taken for financial liabilities, the part of 
a fair value change due to an entity’s 

own credit risk is recorded in other 
comprehensive income rather than the 
income statement, unless this creates 
an accounting mismatch. The group is 
yet to assess IFRS 9’s full impact and 
the group will also consider the impact 
of the remaining phases of IFRS 9 when 
this assessment has been completed by 
the board.

IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts 
with customers’ deals with revenue 
recognition and establishes principles 
for reporting useful information to 
users of financial statements about the 
nature, amount, timing and uncertainty 
of revenue and cash flows arising from 
an entity’s contracts with customers. 
Revenue is recognised when a customer 
obtains control of a good or service 
and thus has the ability to direct the use 
and obtain the benefits from the good 
or service. The standard replaces IAS 
18 ‘Revenue’ and IAS 11 ‘Construction 
contracts’ and related interpretations. 
The standard is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2018 and earlier application is permitted 
subject to EU endorsement. The group is 
assessing the impact of IFRS 15.

In January 2016 IFRS 16 – Leases was 
issued. The group is assessing the 
impact of this IFRS which is mandatory 
for accounting periods commencing 
1 January 2019.

There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC 
interpretations that are not yet effective 
that would be expected to have a 
material impact on the group.

Consolidation
The group financial statements 
consolidate the financial statements 
of the company and all its subsidiaries. 
Subsidiaries are all entities over which 
the group has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies generally 
accompanying a shareholding of more 
than one half of the voting rights. 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from 
the date on which control is transferred 
to the group and are de-consolidated 
from the date on which control ceases. 
All intra-group transactions are 
eliminated as part of the consolidation 
process. Accounting policies of 
subsidiaries have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the 
policies adopted by the group.

Berendsen plc  
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Business combinations
The group uses the acquisition method 
of accounting to account for business 
combinations. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a 
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets 
transferred, the liabilities incurred and 
the equity interests issued by the group. 
The consideration transferred includes 
the fair value of any asset or liability 
resulting from a contingent consideration 
arrangement. Acquisition-related 
costs are expensed as incurred and 
disclosed as exceptional items where 
significant. Identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are 
measured initially at their fair values at 
the acquisition date. The excess of the 
consideration transferred, the amount 
of any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree and the acquisition date fair 
value of any previous equity interest in 
the acquiree over the fair value of the 
group’s share of the identifiable net 
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. 
If this is less than the fair value of the 
net assets of the subsidiary acquired 
in the case of a bargain purchase, the 
difference is recognised directly in the 
consolidated income statement.

Current assets held for sale
Current assets (and disposal groups) 
classified as held for sale are measured 
at the lower of carrying amount and fair 
values less costs to sell.

Current assets (and disposal groups) 
are classified as held for sale if their 
carrying amount will be recovered 
through a sale transaction rather than 
through continuing use. This condition 
is regarded as met only when the 
sale is highly probable and the asset 
(or disposal group) is available for 
immediate sale in its present condition. 
Management must be committed to 
the sale which should be expected to 
qualify for recognition as a completed 
sale within one year from the date 
of classification.

Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in 
a manner consistent with the internal 
reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision-maker. The chief operating 
decision-maker, who is responsible 

for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments, 
has been identified as the Berendsen plc 
Executive Board. 

The Berendsen plc Executive Board 
manages the business under the 
business lines of Workwear, Facility, 
UK Flat Linen, Flat Linen outside 
the UK, and Clinical Solutions and 
Decontamination. The group’s internal 
reporting structure is aligned on the 
same basis and segmental information is 
presented on a basis consistent with this 
reporting structure.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and 
presentation currency
Items included in the financial 
statements of each of the group’s entities 
are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in 
which the entity operates (the functional 
currency). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in sterling, 
which is the company’s functional and 
presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are 
translated into the functional currency 
using the exchange rates prevailing 
at the dates of the transactions. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses 
resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation at 
year end exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are recognised in the 
income statement, except when deferred 
in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges 
and qualifying net investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that 
relate to borrowings and cash and cash 
equivalents are presented in the income 
statement within ‘finance income or 
cost’. All other foreign exchange gains 
and losses are presented in the income 
statement within operating expenses.

Translation differences on non-monetary 
financial assets and liabilities are reported 
as part of the fair value gain or loss. 
Translation differences on non-monetary 
financial assets and liabilities such as 
equities held at fair value through the 
income statement are recognised in 
profit or loss as part of the fair value 

gain or loss. Translation differences on 
non-monetary financial assets such as 
equities classified as available for sale are 
included in other reserves.

(c) Group companies
The results and financial position of all 
the group entities that have a functional 
currency different from the presentation 
currency are translated into the 
presentation currency as follows:

 a assets and liabilities for each balance 
sheet presented are translated at 
the closing rate at the date of that 
balance sheet;

 a income and expenses for each income 
statement are translated at average 
exchange rates (unless this average 
is not a reasonable approximation 
of the cumulative effect of the rates 
prevailing on the transaction dates, in 
which case income and expenses are 
translated at the rate on the dates of 
the transactions); and

 a all resulting exchange differences are 
recognised as a separate component 
of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences 
arising from the translation of the net 
investment in foreign operations, and 
of borrowings and other currency 
instruments designated as hedges 
of such investments, are taken to 
shareholders’ equity. When a foreign 
operation is partially disposed of or 
sold, exchange differences that were 
recorded in equity are recognised in the 
income statement as part of the gain or 
loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments 
arising on the acquisition of a foreign 
entity are treated as assets and liabilities 
of the foreign entity and translated at the 
closing rate.

Pre-contract/bid costs
Pre-contract costs are expensed as 
incurred until the group is appointed 
preferred bidder. Preferred bidder status 
provides sufficient confidence that the 
conclusion of the contract is probable, 
the outcome can be reliably measured 
and is expected to generate sufficient 
net cash inflows to enable recovery. 

Pre-contract costs incurred subsequent 
to appointment as preferred bidder 
are capitalised onto the balance sheet 
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under prepayments and accrued 
income. The prepayment is expensed to 
the income statement over the period 
of the contract. Costs, which have 
been expensed, are not subsequently 
reinstated when a contract award 
is achieved.

Property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings comprise mainly 
factories and offices. All property, plant 
and equipment are shown at cost less 
accumulated depreciation. Cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable 
to the acquisition of the items.

Textile assets such as garments and 
linen and washroom equipment which 
are owned by the group entities where 
substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of such equipment is retained 
by group entities are capitalised as non-
current assets and depreciated over their 
estimated useful lives.

Depreciation of assets is calculated using 
the straight-line method to allocate the 
cost of each asset to its residual value 
over its estimated useful life, as follows:

(a) Land and buildings 
Depreciated at a rate of 2% per annum 
on an estimate of the buildings value 
of freehold properties and leasehold 
properties with 50 or more years 
unexpired at the balance sheet date. 
This rate has been determined having 
regard to the group’s practice to 
maintain these assets in a continual 
state of sound repair and to extend 
and make improvements from time to 
time. Freehold land is not depreciated. 
Short leasehold land and buildings are 
depreciated by equal instalments over 
the period of the lease.

Major renovations are depreciated over 
the remaining useful life of the related 
asset or to the scheduled date of the 
next major renovation, whichever 
is sooner.

(b) Plant and machinery 
Depreciated at rates of 10% to 50% 
per annum, depending on the class of 
the asset.

(c) Textile assets and 
washroom equipment
Depreciated at rates of 20% to 40% 
per annum, depending on the class 
of the asset, and augmented where 
necessary by amounts to cover wastage, 
obsolescence and loss.

When properties, plant or equipment are 
sold, the difference between the sales 
proceeds and net book value is included 
in the income statement. 

Residual values and useful lives of assets 
are reviewed annually and amended 
where necessary. 

Intangible assets

(a) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of 
the cost of an acquisition over the 
fair value of the group’s share of the 
net identifiable assets of the acquired 
subsidiary at the date of acquisition. 
Goodwill net of amortisation prior to 
1 January 2005 in respect of business 
combinations made since 1 January 
1998 is included within intangible 
assets. Goodwill in respect of business 
combinations made on or before 
31 December 1997 remains eliminated 
against reserves.

Goodwill has an indefinite useful life.

Goodwill is tested annually for 
impairment or if there is an indication 
of impairment. Goodwill is allocated 
to groups of cash-generating units for 
the purpose of impairment testing. 
Gains and losses on the disposal of an 
entity include the carrying amount of 
goodwill relating to the entity sold except 
for goodwill eliminated against reserves.

(b) Computer software 
Acquired computer software licences 
are capitalised on the basis of the costs 
incurred to acquire and bring to use 
the specific software. These costs are 
amortised over their estimated useful 
lives (not exceeding three years).

Costs associated with maintaining 
computer software programmes are 
recognised as an expense as incurred. 
Development costs that are directly 
attributable to the design and testing 
of identifiable and unique software 
products controlled by the group are 
recognised as intangible assets when the 
following criteria are met:

 a it is technically feasible to complete 
the software product so that it will be 
available for use;

 a management intends to complete the 
software product and use or sell it;

 a there is an ability to use or sell the 
software product;

 a it can be demonstrated how the 
software product will generate 
probable future economic benefits;

 a adequate technical, financial and 
other resources to complete the 
development and to use or sell the 
software product are available; and

 a the expenditure attributable  
to the software product during 
its development can be 
reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are 
capitalised as part of the software 
product include the software 
development employee costs 
and an appropriate portion of 
relevant overheads.

Other development expenditures 
that do not meet these criteria 
are recognised as an expense 
as incurred. Development costs 
previously recognised as an expense 
are not recognised as an asset in a 
subsequent period.

Computer software development costs 
recognised as assets are amortised over 
their estimated useful lives, which does 
not exceed five years.
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(c) Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets includes the cost 
associated with the internal development 
of textile related products for future sale. 
Development costs that are directly 
attributable to the testing of identifiable 
and products controlled by the group 
are recognised as intangible assets when 
the following criteria are met:

 a it is technically feasible to complete 
the product so that it will be available 
for use;

 a management intends to complete the 
product and use or sell it;

 a there is an ability to use or sell 
the product;

 a it can be demonstrated how the 
product will generate probable future 
economic benefits;

 a adequate technical, financial and 
other resources to complete the 
development and to sell the product 
are available; and

 a the expenditure attributable to 
product during its development can 
be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are 
capitalised as part of the product include 
the product development employee 
costs and an appropriate portion of 
relevant overheads.

Other development expenditures 
that do not meet these criteria 
are recognised as an expense 
as incurred. Development costs 
previously recognised as an expense 
are not recognised as an asset in a 
subsequent period.

Other intangible assets development 
costs recognised as assets are amortised 
over their estimated useful lives, which 
does not exceed five years.

(d) Customer contracts 
Intangible assets arising either from 
legal or contractual rights which have 
been purchased are required to be 
separately identified from goodwill and 
are stated at historical cost, or in the 
case of intangible assets acquired as 
part of a business combination, at fair 
value. The fair value attributable to the 
customer contracts is determined by 
discounting the expected future cash 
flows to be generated from that asset at 
the risk adjusted weighted average cost 
of capital for the entity. This amount is 
amortised over the period in which the 
company is expected to benefit from the 
contracts acquired, over periods ranging 
from two to five years.

Impairment of non-financial 
assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life 
– for example, goodwill – are not subject 
to amortisation and are tested annually 
for impairment. 

Assets that are subject to amortisation 
or depreciation are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. An impairment loss is 
recognised for the amount by which 
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 
value less costs to sell and value in 
use. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at 
the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash flows 
(cash-generating units). Non-financial 
assets other than goodwill that suffered 
impairment are reviewed for possible 
reversal of the impairment at each 
reporting date.

Financial assets
The group classifies its non-derivative 
financial assets as loans and receivables. 
The classification depends on the 
purpose for which the financial assets 
were acquired. Management determines 
the classification of its financial assets at 
initial recognition.

Loans and receivables are non-
derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. 

Derivative financial 
instruments and 
hedging activities
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair 
value on the date a derivative contract 
is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured at their fair value at each 
balance sheet date. The method of 
recognising the resulting gain or loss 
depends on whether the derivative is 
designated as a hedging instrument, 
and if so, the nature of the item 
being hedged. 

The group designates certain derivatives 
as either (i) hedges of the fair value of 
recognised assets or liabilities (fair value 
hedge); or (ii) hedges of a particular risk 
associated with a recognised asset or 
liability, or a highly probable forecast 
transaction (cash flow hedge); or (iii) 
hedges of net investments in foreign 
operations (net investment hedge). 

The group documents at the inception of 
the transaction the relationship between 
hedging instruments and hedged items 
and its assessment, both at hedge 
inception and on an ongoing basis, of 
whether the derivatives that are used 
in the hedging transactions are highly 
effective in offsetting changes in fair 
values of hedged items.

The fair values of various derivative 
instruments used for hedging purposes 
are shown in note 16. Movements on the 
hedging reserve are shown within the 
statement of changes in equity as part 
of other reserves. The group holds no 
trading derivatives.
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(a) Fair value hedge 
Changes in the fair value of the 
derivatives that are fully designated and 
qualify as fair value hedges are recorded 
in the income statement, together 
with any changes in the fair value of 
the hedged asset or liability that are 
attributable to the hedged risk.

The group has no fair value hedges at 
31 December 2015 (2014: nil).

(b) Net investment hedge 
Any gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument relating to the effective 
portion of the hedge is recognised 
directly against reserves. The gain or 
loss relating to any ineffective portion 
is recognised immediately in the 
income statement.

Gains and losses accumulated in equity 
are included in the income statement 
when the foreign operation is partially 
disposed of or sold. 

(c) Cash flow hedge
The effective portion of changes in 
the fair value of derivatives that are 
designated to qualify as cash flow 
hedges are recognised in equity. 
The group’s cash flow hedges which 
are in respect of cross-currency interest 
rate swaps, interest rate swaps and 
forward foreign exchange contracts 
result in recognition in either profit 
and loss reserve, reflecting the foreign 
currency translation element, or in the 
hedging reserve which forms part of 
other reserves.

When a hedging instrument expires or is 
sold, or when the hedge no longer meets 
the criteria for hedge accounting, any 
cumulative gain or loss in equity at that 
time remains in equity and is recognised 
when the forecast transaction ultimately 
occurs. When a forecast transaction 
is no longer expected to occur, the 
cumulative gain or loss that was reported 
in equity will be transferred to the 
income statement.

(d) Derivatives that do not qualify for 
hedge accounting 
Changes in the fair value of any 
derivative instruments that do not qualify 
for hedge accounting are recognised 
immediately in the income statement.

(e) Energy contracts and 
textile procurement
The group occasionally takes out energy 
contracts in relation to the supply of gas 
and electricity. In addition, from time to 
time, the group may enter into forward 
contracts to buy cotton based textiles 
at a future date. Such contracts are 
not recognised as derivative financial 
instruments as they are held with the 
purpose of the receipt or delivery of a 
non-financial item in accordance with 
the entity’s expected purchase, sale or 
usage requirements.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of 
cost and net realisable value. Cost is 
determined using the first in, first out 
(FIFO) method. The cost of finished 
goods comprises of raw materials, direct 
labour, other direct costs and related 
production overheads. Net realisable 
value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business, less 
applicable variable selling expenses. 
Full provision is made for obsolete, 
defective and slow moving stock. 
During the year the group reclassified 
stocks of textile rental garments awaiting 
delivery to customers from property, 
plant and equipment to inventories. 
(See note 10).

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are recognised 
initially at fair value less provision for 
impairment. They are subsequently 
held at amortised cost less provision for 
impairment. A provision for impairment 
of trade receivables is established 
when there is objective evidence that 
the group will not be able to collect all 
amounts due according to the original 
terms of the receivables. The amount of 
the change in provision is recognised in 
the income statement. 

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are stated 
net of bank overdrafts, where the group 
has a legal right of set off and includes 
cash in hand, deposits held at call with 
banks and other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of 
three months or less.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity 
and are recorded at par value of 
proceeds received, net of direct issue 
costs. Where shares are issued above 
par value, the proceeds in excess of 
par value are recorded in the share 
premium account.

Where any group company purchases 
the company’s equity share capital, 
the consideration paid, including any 
directly attributable incremental costs, 
is deducted from equity attributable 
to the company’s shareholders until 
the shares are cancelled, reissued or 
disposed of. Where such shares are 
subsequently sold or reissued, any 
consideration received, net of any 
directly attributable incremental costs, 
is included in equity attributable to the 
company’s shareholders.

Trade payables
Trade payables are obligations 
to pay for goods or services that 
have been acquired in the ordinary 
course of business from suppliers. 
Accounts payable are classified as 
current liabilities if payment is due 
within one year or less (or in the normal 
operating cycle of the business if longer). 
If not, they are presented as non-
current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at 
fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.
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Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair 
value, net of transaction costs incurred. 
Any difference between the amount 
initially recognised (net of transaction 
costs) and the redemption value is 
recognised in the income statement over 
the period of the borrowings using the 
effective interest method. 

Borrowing costs which are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of a 
qualifying asset (one that takes a 
substantial period of time to get ready 
for use or sale) are capitalised as part of 
the cost of that asset, until such time as 
the assets are ready for their intended 
use or sale.

Commitment and borrowing fees are 
capitalised as part of the loan and 
amortised over the life of the relevant 
agreement. All other borrowing costs are 
recognised in the income statement in 
the period in which they are incurred.

Borrowings are classified as non-current 
liabilities where the group has an 
unconditional right to defer settlement 
of the liability for at least 12 months after 
the balance sheet date.

Current and deferred 
income tax
The current income tax charge is 
calculated on the basis of the tax laws 
enacted or substantively enacted at 
the balance sheet date in the countries 
where the group’s subsidiaries operate 
and generate taxable income.

Deferred income tax is recognised, 
using the liability method, on temporary 
differences arising between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts in the consolidated 
financial statements. However, the 
deferred income tax is not accounted 
for, if it arises from initial recognition 
of an asset or liability in a transaction 
other than a business combination that 
at the time of the transaction affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit or 
loss. Deferred income tax is determined 
using tax rates (and laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the 
balance sheet date and are expected to 
apply when the related deferred income 
tax asset is realised or the deferred 
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary 
differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided 
on temporary differences arising 
on investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, except where the timing of 
the reversal of the temporary difference 
is controlled by the group and it is 
probable that the temporary difference 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
are offset when there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities 
and when the deferred income taxes 
assets and liabilities relate to income 
taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority on either the taxable entity or 
different taxable entities where there is 
an intention to settle the balances on a 
net basis.

Tax is recognised in the income 
statement except to the extent that it 
relates to items recognised directly in 
equity, in which case it is recognised 
in equity.

Employee benefits

(a) Pension obligations 
The group operates various pension 
schemes. The schemes are funded 
through payments to insurance 
companies or a trustee administered 
fund, determined by periodic actuarial 
calculations. The group has both defined 
benefit and defined contribution plans. 
A defined benefit plan is a pension 
plan that defines an amount of pension 
benefit that an employee will receive on 
retirement, usually dependent on one 
or more factors such as age, years of 
service and compensation. A defined 
contribution plan is a pension plan under 
which the group pays fixed contributions 
into a separate entity. The group has 
no legal or constructive obligations to 
pay further contributions if the fund 
does not hold sufficient assets to pay 
all employees the benefits relating to 
employee service in the current and 
prior periods. 

The net asset recognised in the balance 
sheet in respect of defined benefit 
pension plans is the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation at the balance 
sheet date less the fair value of plan 
assets, together with adjustments for 
unrecognised actuarial gains or losses 
and past service costs. The defined 
benefit obligation is calculated annually 
by independent actuaries using 
the projected unit credit method. 
The present value of the defined benefit 
obligation is determined by discounting 
the estimated future cash outflows using 
interest rates of high quality corporate 
bonds that are denominated in the 
currency in which the benefits will be 
paid, and that have terms to maturity 
approximating to the terms of the related 
pension liability.

The group recognises the surplus arising 
on its deferred benefit schemes to the 
extent that it has a legal right to do so 
under the scheme rules.

Current and past service costs, to the 
extent they have vested, are recognised 
in operating costs in the income 
statement together with interest costs 
on plan liabilities and the expected return 
on plan assets.

Cumulative actuarial gains and losses 
arising from experience adjustments 
and change in actuarial assumptions are 
credited or charged to the statement of 
comprehensive income and expense net 
of deferred tax.

For defined contribution plans, the 
group pays contributions to publicly or 
privately administered pension insurance 
or trustee administered plans on a 
mandatory, contractual or voluntary 
basis. The group has no further payment 
obligations once the contributions 
have been paid. The contributions are 
recognised as employee benefit expense 
when they are due. Prepaid contributions 
are recognised as an asset to the extent 
that a cash refund or a reduction in the 
future payments is available.

Strateg
ic rep

o
rt

G
overnance

Financial statem
ents

Berendsen plc  
Report and Accounts 2015

129



(b) Share-based payment plans 
The group’s management awards 
employees share options, from time to 
time, both on a discretionary and non-
discretionary basis which are subject 
to vesting conditions. The economic 
cost of awarding the share options to its 
employees is recognised as an employee 
benefit expense in the income statement 
equivalent to the fair value of the benefit 
awarded. The fair value is determined by 
reference to the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model. The charge is recognised 
in the income statement over the vesting 
period of the award.

The proceeds received are credited to 
share capital (nominal value) and share 
premium when the options are exercised.

(c) Termination benefits 
Termination benefits are payable 
when an employment is terminated 
before the normal retirement date, 
or whenever an employee accepts 
voluntary redundancy in exchange for 
these benefits. The group recognises 
termination benefits when it is shown 
to be committed to either: terminating 
the employment of current employees 
according to a detailed formal plan 
without possibility of withdrawal; or 
providing termination benefits as a 
result of an offer made to encourage 
voluntary redundancy. 

(d) Holiday pay 
Paid holidays are regarded as an 
employee benefit and as such are 
charged to the income statement as the 
benefits are earned. An accrual is made 
at the balance sheet date to reflect the 
fair value of holidays earned but not 
yet taken. 

Provisions
Provisions for vacant properties, 
restructuring costs, legal and 
environmental claims are recognised 
when the group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of past 
events and it is more likely than not that 
an outflow of resources will be required 
to settle the obligation; and the amount 
has been reliably estimated.

A provision for onerous contracts is 
recognised when the expected benefits 
to be derived by the group from a 
contract are lower than the unavoidable 
cost of meeting its obligations under 
the contract.

Revenue recognition 
Group revenue comprises the fair value 
for the rendering of services, net of 
value added tax and other similar sales 
based taxes, rebates and discounts and 
after eliminating sales within the group. 
Revenue is recognised as follows:

(a) Service income
Income received or receivable in respect 
of service income is credited to revenue 
as and when services are rendered 
in respect of mats, linen, washroom 
and decontamination services. 
Revenue is recognised on a per item 
basis for delivery of laundered textiles 
to hotels and hospitals. Revenue for 
supply and laundering of workwear 
is recognised on a regular, periodic 
basis in accordance with the terms of 
the contract.

(b) Sale of goods revenue 
For non-contract based business, 
revenue represents the value of 
goods delivered. 

Accrued income comprises revenue 
contractually earned for services 
performed that are invoiced to 
the customer primarily in the 
following month.

Leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment 
where the group has substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership 
are classified as finance leases. 
Finance leases are capitalised at the 
lease’s commencement at the lower 
of the fair value of the leased property 
and the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. Each lease payment 
is allocated between the liability and 
finance charges so as to achieve a 
constant rate on the finance balance 
outstanding. The corresponding lease 
obligations, net of finance charges, are 
included in other long-term payables. 
The interest element of the finance cost 
is charged to the income statement 
over the lease period so as to produce 

a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability for each 
period. Property, plant and equipment 
acquired under finance leases are 
depreciated over the shorter of the 
asset’s useful life and the lease term.

Leases where the lessor retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as operating 
leases. Payments made under operating 
leases (net of any incentives received 
from the lessor) are charged to the 
income statement on a straight-line basis 
over the period of the lease.

Dividend distribution
Final dividend distribution to the 
company’s shareholders is recognised 
as a liability in the group’s financial 
statements in the period in which 
the dividends are approved by 
the company’s shareholders. 
Interim dividends are recognised 
when paid.

Income statement 
presentation

(a) Exceptional items
Items that are non-recurring and 
material in size or non-operating in 
nature are presented as exceptional 
items in the income statement. 
The directors are of the opinion that 
separate recording of exceptional 
items provides helpful information 
about the group’s underlying business 
performance. Examples of events, 
which may give rise to the classification 
of items as exceptional include, inter 
alia, restructuring of businesses, gains 
and losses on disposal of properties, 
strategy related costs, acquisition costs, 
impairment of goodwill and non-
recurring income.

(b) Amortisation of customer contracts 
These are presented separately in 
the income statement as they arise 
from acquisitions.

(c) Other operating expenses
These comprise the group’s intangible 
asset amortisation and exceptional items.
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Key assumptions and sources 
of estimation uncertainty
The preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements in conformity 
with IFRS requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of policies 
and reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income, expenses and 
related disclosures. The estimates and 
underlying assumptions are based on 
historical experience and other relevant 
factors. This approach forms the basis 
of making the judgements about 
carrying values of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Changes in accounting 
estimates may be necessary if there are 
changes in the circumstances on which 
the estimate was based, or as a result 
of new information. Such changes are 
recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised.

The key assumptions about the 
future and key sources of estimation 
uncertainty that have a risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying value 
of assets and liabilities within the next 
12 months are described below. 

(a) Property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets, including goodwill 
The group has property, plant and 
equipment with a carrying value of 
£477.1 million (note 10), goodwill with 
a carrying value of £367.0 million 
(note 8) and intangible assets with a 
carrying value of £25.9 million (note 9). 
These assets are reviewed annually for 
impairment by comparing the carrying 
value of the assets with the higher of 
the value in use or the sales values less 
costs of disposal. Under the value in use 
method estimates are made of the future 
cash flows expected to result from the 
use. If the carrying value of the assets 
exceeds the higher of the value in use 
or fair value less costs of disposal then 
any impairment is taken to the income 
statement. Actual outcomes could vary 
from such estimates of discounted future 
cash flows. Factors such as changes in 
the planned use of buildings, machinery 
or equipment, or closure of facilities, 

the presence of competition, or lower 
than anticipated sales could result in 
shortened useful lives or impairment.

(b) Pensions and other post-
employment benefits 
The group operates a number of defined 
benefit schemes within the UK and 
Europe (note 27). As at 31 December 
2015 the present value of the group’s 
defined benefit obligation for funded 
plans was a surplus of £44.6 million 
and a deficit of £28.8 million for 
unfunded plans. The calculations of the 
recognised assets and liabilities from 
such plans are based upon statistical 
and actuarial calculations. In particular 
the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation is impacted by assumptions 
on discount rates used to arrive at the 
present value of future pension liabilities, 
and assumptions on future increases 
in salaries and benefits. Furthermore, 
the group’s independent actuaries use 
statistically based assumptions covering 
areas such as future withdrawals of 
participants from the plan and estimates 
on life expectancy. The actuarial 
assumptions used may differ materially 
from actual results due to changes in 
market and economic conditions, higher 
or lower withdrawal rates or longer or 
shorter life spans of participants and 
other changes in the factors being 
assessed. These differences could 
impact the assets or liabilities recognised 
in the balance sheet in future periods. 
The last triennial valuation of the main 
UK pension scheme took place in 
February 2013 and a further valuation 
will be carried out during 2016.

(c) Income taxes 
At 31 December 2015, the net 
liability for current income taxes is 
£13.2 million and the net liability for 
deferred income taxes is £58.5 million 
(note 19). Estimates may be required 
in determining the level of current and 
deferred income tax assets and liabilities, 
which management believes are 
reasonable and adequately recognises 
any income tax related uncertainties.

Various factors may have favourable 
or unfavourable effects on the income 
tax assets and liabilities. These include 
changes in tax laws in the jurisdiction 
we operate in, tax rates, interpretations 
of existing tax laws, future levels 
of spending and in overall levels of 
future earnings.

(d) Share-based payments
The economic cost of awarding shares 
and share options to employees is 
reflected by recording a charge in the 
income statement equivalent to the fair 
value of the benefit awarded over the 
vesting period. The fair values of the 
awards are determined by use of the 
Black-Scholes model. 

(e) Provisions
Provisions for vacant properties, 
restructuring costs, legal and 
environmental claims are recognised 
when the group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of past 
events and it is more likely than not that 
an outflow of resources will be required 
to settle the obligation, and the amount 
has been reliably estimated. 

Strateg
ic rep

o
rt

G
overnance

Financial statem
ents

Berendsen plc  
Report and Accounts 2015

131



1 Segmental information
The results for the year ended 31 December 2015 under the business line structure are as follows: 

Core Growth Manage for Value

Unallocated 
£m

Group 
£m

Workwear  
£m

Facility 
£m 

UK Flat  
Linen 

£m

Total Core 
Growth 

£m

Flat Linen 
outside 

UK 
£m

Clinical 
Solutions and 

Decontamination 
£m

Total  
Manage  

for Value 
£m

Total segment revenue 306.3 225.2 210.1 741.6 197.3 75.8 273.1 – 1,014.7

Inter-segment revenue (1.7) (0.9) – (2.6) (2.3) (3.8) (6.1) – (8.7)

Revenue from external 
customers 304.6 224.3 210.1 739.0 195.0 72.0 267.0 – 1,006.0

Operating profit before 
exceptional items and 
amortisation of customer 
contracts  65.3 58.1 22.8 146.2 13.7 5.2 18.9 (11.3) 153.8

Exceptional items (0.2) – – (0.2) (6.4) – (6.4) (0.7) (7.3)

Amortisation of customer 
contracts (0.5) (13.7) – (14.2) (0.2) – (0.2) – (14.4)

Segment result 64.6 44.4 22.8 131.8 7.1 5.2 12.3 (12.0) 132.1

Net finance costs (18.7)

Profit before taxation 113.4

Taxation (24.5)

Profit for the year 88.9

Profit attributable to 
non-controlling interest 0.2

Profit attributable 
to owners of parent 
company 88.7

Capital expenditure 77.3 34.9 44.4 156.6 42.0 3.3 45.3 (3.9) 198.0

Depreciation (note 10) 63.0 28.3 38.9 130.2 34.8 4.2 39.0 (3.8) 165.4

Amortisation (note 9) 2.3 14.1 1.5 17.9 0.6 0.1 0.7 0.1 18.7

From 1 January 2015 the Workwear element of the group’s Irish Manage for Value businesses is reported under the core 
Workwear Business Line. In addition, from 1 January 2015 the group’s internally focused procurement activities have been 
reported within central operations. Central operations also include the cost of the group’s marketing and communication 
functions. Consequently, in accordance with IFRS 8, the 2015 segmental analysis, as set out below, has been adjusted to 
reflect the position had these changes been in place throughout the year ended 31 December 2014.

Unallocated costs includes group marketing, central procurement and communication functions.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, including additions resulting 
from acquisitions through business combinations.

Sales between business line segments are carried out at arms-length. The company is domiciled in the UK.

Flat linen outside the UK comprises, Germany and Austria Healthcare, Direct sale, Scandinavia flat linen and Ireland 
excluding workwear.
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1 Segmental information (continued)
The results for the year ended 31 December 2014 under the business line structure are as follows:

Core Growth Manage for Value

Unallocated 
£m

Group 
£m

Workwear  
£m

Facility 
£m 

UK Flat  
Linen 

£m

Total Core 
Growth 

£m

Flat Linen 
outside 

UK 
£m

Clinical 
Solutions and 

Decontamination 
£m

Total  
Manage  

for Value 
£m

Total segment revenue 342.6 238.4 207.5 788.5 209.8 75.0 284.8 0.3 1,073.6

Inter-segment revenue (28.2) (0.7) – (28.9) (2.6) (3.5) (6.1) – (35.0)

Revenue from external 
customers 314.4 237.7 207.5 759.6 207.2 71.5 278.7 0.3 1,038.6

Operating profit before 
exceptional items and 
amortisation of customer 
contracts 65.7 61.6 26.5 153.8 13.1 5.5 18.6 (13.7) 158.7

Exceptional items – – – – – – – – –

Amortisation of customer 
contracts (1.1) (20.1) – (21.2) (0.1) (0.1) (0.2) (0.1) (21.5)

Segment result 64.6 41.5 26.5 132.6 13.0 5.4 18.4 (13.8) 137.2

Net finance costs (20.2)

Profit before taxation 117.0

Taxation (27.1)

Profit for the year 89.9

Profit attributable to 
non-controlling interest 0.3

Profit attributable 
to owners of parent 
company 89.6

Capital expenditure 65.0 49.2 41.3 155.5 50.1 3.5 53.6 (4.7) 204.4

Depreciation (note 10) 58.6 29.2 38.5 126.3 45.1 4.5 49.6 (3.3) 172.6

Amortisation (note 9) 2.9 20.8 1.4 25.1 0.7 0.3 1.0 0.2 26.3
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1 Segmental information (continued)
The changes by business line, to the disclosures previously made for the year ended 31 December 2014 may be summarised 
as follows:

Core Growth Manage for Value

Unallocated 
£m

Group 
£m

Workwear  
£m

Facility 
£m 

UK Flat  
Linen 

£m

Total Core 
Growth 

£m

Flat Linen 
outside 

UK 
£m

Clinical 
Solutions and 

Decontamination 
£m

Total  
Manage  

for Value 
£m

Total segment revenue 19.1 – – 19.1 (19.4) – (19.4) 0.3 –

Revenue from external 
customers 19.1 – – 19.1 (19.4) – (19.4) 0.3 –

Operating profit before 
exceptional items and 
amortisation of customer 
contracts 3.4 – – 3.4 (2.6) – (2.6) (0.8) –

Segment result 3.4 – – 3.4 (2.6) – (2.6) (0.8) –

Capital expenditure 1.4 – – 1.4 3.8 – 3.8 (5.2) –

Depreciation 0.3 – 0.3 3.3 – 3.3 (3.6) –

The segment assets and liabilities at 31 December 2015 under the business line structure are as follows:

Core Growth Manage for Value

Unallocated 
£m

Group 
£m

Workwear  
£m

Facility 
£m 

UK Flat  
Linen 

£m

Total Core 
Growth 

£m

Flat Linen 
outside 

UK 
£m

Clinical 
Solutions and 

Decontamination 
£m

Total  
Manage  

for Value 
£m

Operating assets 368.6 301.6 156.8 827.0 185.6 61.4 247.0 16.1 1,090.1

Operating liabilities (65.3) (39.4) (38.1) (142.8) (28.0) (15.5) (43.5) (14.5) (200.8)

The segment assets and liabilities at 31 December 2014 under the business line structure are as follows:

Core Growth Manage for Value

Unallocated 
£m

Group 
£m

Workwear  
£m

Facility 
£m 

UK Flat  
Linen 

£m

Total Core 
Growth 

£m

Flat Linen 
outside 

UK 
£m

Clinical 
Solutions and 

Decontamination 
£m

Total  
Manage  

for Value 
£m

Operating assets 364.1 345.3 146.2 855.6 190.6 59.7 250.3 15.4 1,121.3

Operating liabilities (62.5) (38.8) (39.7) (141.0) (34.2) (14.9) (49.1) (14.5) (204.6)

The changes by business line, to the disclosures previously made for the year ended 31 December 2014 may be summarised 
as follows:

Core Growth Manage for Value

Unallocated 
£m

Group 
£m

Workwear  
£m

Facility 
£m 

UK Flat  
Linen 

£m

Total Core 
Growth 

£m

Flat Linen 
outside 

UK 
£m

Clinical 
Solutions and 

Decontamination 
£m

Total  
Manage  

for Value 
£m

Operating assets 11.9 – (6.8) 5.1 (18.2) (0.4) (18.6) 13.5 –

Operating liabilities (1.3) – 0.5 (0.8) 4.5 – 4.5 (3.7) –
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1 Segmental information (continued)
Business line operating assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and trade and 
other receivables.

Business line operating liabilities consist primarily of trade and other payables and provisions.

Unallocated assets include operating assets relating to corporate segments.

Unallocated liabilities include operating liabilities for corporate segments.

Year to 
31 December 

2015 
£m

Year to 
31 December 

2014
Restated
(note 10)

£m

Analysis of external revenue by category:

Sale of goods 42.8 41.8

Provision of services 963.2 996.8

1,006.0 1,038.6

Analysis of external revenue by country:

UK 396.9 391.8

Sweden 148.6 159.1

Germany 131.6 135.2

Denmark 125.4 133.2

Holland 75.9 83.3

Norway 47.4 57.2

Other 80.2 78.8

1,006.0 1,038.6

Analysis of non-current assets other than financial instruments, deferred tax assets 
and retirement benefit assets by country are:

UK 220.2 216.9

Sweden 116.0 120.0

Germany 135.2 149.0

Denmark 93.1 93.5

Holland 35.3 39.2

Norway 19.4 24.3

Other 250.8 265.2

870.0 908.1
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2 Net finance costs
Year to 

31 December 
2015 

£m

Year to 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Interest payable on bank borrowings (19.1) (20.7)

Interest payable on finance leases – (0.1)

Interest payable on other borrowings (0.6) (1.3)

Amortisation of issue costs of bank loans (note i) (1.0) (1.0)

Fair value loss on interest rate swaps (fair value hedge) – (0.5)

Fair value adjustment of bank borrowings attributable to interest rate risk – 0.5

Finance costs (20.7) (23.1)

Finance income 2.0 2.9

Net finance costs (18.7) (20.2)

(i) This relates to loan issue costs arising on the 2015 €510 million Revolving Credit Facility and on the 2009 $259 million and £25 million US Private 
Placements and 2015 DKK 654.8 million and €79.7 million US Private Placements. The costs have been capitalised and are being amortised over the 
shortest period of the loans being four years, seven years and ten years respectively.

3 Expenses by nature
Year to 

31 December 
2015 

£m

Year to 
31 December 

2014 
£m

The following items have been included in arriving at operating profit before exceptional items:

Staff costs (note 26) 390.1 399.5

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 10):

– Owned assets 163.9 170.0

– Under finance leases 1.5 2.6

Amortisation of intangible assets (included within other operating expenses) (note 9):

– Customer contracts 14.4 21.5

– Computer software 4.3 4.8

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (2.8) (3.3)

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense in ‘cost of sales’ 8.8 7.9

Net cost of inventories written off/(back) 0.1 (0.2)

Other operating lease rentals payable:

– Plant and machinery 16.5 13.4

– Property 8.1 7.6

Services provided by the company’s auditors and its associates

Fees payable to the company’s auditors’ for the audit of the parent company and consolidated 
financial statements 0.2 0.2

Fees payable to the company’s auditors’ and its associates for other services:

– The audit of the company’s subsidiaries 0.7 0.7

– Tax advisory services 0.2 0.2

– Tax compliance services 0.1 0.2

Total services 1.2 1.3
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4 Exceptional items
Included within operating profit are the following items which the group consider to be exceptional:

Year to 
31 December 

2015 
£m

Year to 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Goodwill impairment (note 8) 6.4 –

Strategy implementation costs 0.9 –

Total 7.3 –

The goodwill impairment charge is in relation to the German Healthcare business. The tax credit on this is £1.9 million (See note 8).

The group incurred £0.9 million costs associated with the implementation of its strategic review announced in November 2015. 
This includes £0.2 million restructuring costs incurred in the Swedish Workwear business to realign with the new strategic 
priorities. The tax credit on these costs is £0.2 million.

5 Taxation
Year to 

31 December 
2015 

£m

Year to 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Analysis of tax charge for the year

Current tax:

Tax on profits for the current year 22.6 23.5

Adjustments in respect of previous years (0.2) 0.7

22.4 24.2

Deferred tax (note 19):

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 4.0 4.5

Changes in statutory tax rates (1.7) (0.5)

Adjustments in respect of previous years (0.2) (1.1)

2.1 2.9

Total tax charge 24.5 27.1

The amount of overseas tax included in the total tax charge is £22.4 million (2014: £23.8 million).

The tax charge for the year is different from the effective UK statutory rate of 20.25% (2014: 21.5%). The difference is 
explained below:

Year to 
31 December 

2015 
£m

Year to 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Profit before taxation 113.4 117.0

Multiplied by the effective rate of corporation tax in the UK of 20.25% (2014: 21.5%) 23.0 25.2

Effects of:

Items not deductible for tax purposes 0.7 0.7

Non-taxable income (0.9) (1.0)

Taxable profit different to profit on disposal of assets (0.1) (0.2) 

Overseas tax rate differences 2.6 2.2

Changes in statutory tax rates (1.7) (0.5)

Unrecognised tax gains/(losses) – 0.2

Other 1.3 0.9

Adjustments in respect of prior years (0.4) (0.4)

Total tax charge 24.5 27.1
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5 Taxation (continued)
The main rate of corporation tax as at 31 December 2015 was 20%. Legislation to reduce the main rate of corporation tax by 1% to 
19% from 1 April 2017, and by a further 1% to 18% from 1 April 2020 was substantively enacted on 26 October 2015.

The tax (charge) relating to components of other comprehensive income and equity is as follows:

Year to 
31 December 

2015 
£m

Year to 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Currency translation differences (4.4) (9.9)

Actuarial (gains)/losses (1.2) 4.0

Cash flow hedges (0.8) 1.3

Total (charged) to comprehensive income (6.4) (4.6)

Tax credit relating to share-based payments 0.2 1.9

Total (charged) to equity (6.2) (2.7)

Analysed as:

Current tax 2.1 3.3

Deferred tax (note 19) (8.3) (6.0)

(6.2) (2.7)

6 Dividends
Year to 

31 December 
2015 

£m

Year to 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Equity dividends paid during the year

Final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2014 of 20.5 pence per share (2013: 19.2 pence) 35.0 32.6

Interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2015 of 10.0 pence per share (2014: 9.5 pence) 17.1 16.2

52.1 48.8

Proposed final equity dividend for approval at the AGM

Proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2015 of 21.5 pence per share 
(2014: 20.5 pence) 36.7 35.0

The directors recommend a final dividend for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 of 21.5 pence per ordinary share to 
be paid on 6 May 2016 to shareholders who are on the register at 8 April 2016. This dividend is not reflected in these financial 
statements as it does not represent a liability at 31 December 2015.
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7 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per ordinary share are based on the group profit for the year and a weighted average of 170,852,995 
(2014: 170,250,581) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share are based on the group profit for the year and a weighted average of ordinary shares in issue during 
the year calculated as follows:

31 December 
2015 

Number 
of shares

31 December 
2014 

Number 
of shares

In issue 170,852,995 170,250,581

Dilutive potential ordinary shares arising from unexercised share options 429,842 588,063

171,282,837 170,838,644

An adjusted earnings per ordinary share figure has been presented to eliminate the effects of exceptional items, amortisation 
of customer contracts and non-recurring tax items. This presentation shows the trend in earnings per ordinary share that is 
attributable to the underlying trading activities of the total group.

The reconciliation between the basic and adjusted figures for the group is as follows: 

Year to 31 December 2015 Year to 31 December 2014

£m

Earnings 
per share 

pence £m

Earnings 
per share 

pence

Profit attributable to owners of parent company for basic earnings per 
share calculation 88.7 51.9 89.6 52.6

Exceptional items – goodwill impairment (after taxation) 4.5 2.6 – –

Exceptional items – strategy costs (after taxation) 0.7 0.4 – –

Amortisation of customer contracts (after taxation) 11.1 6.5 16.6 9.8

Impact of tax rate reductions: UK, Sweden and other tax items (1.7) (1.0) (0.5) (0.3)

Adjusted earnings 103.3 60.4 105.7 62.1

Diluted basic earnings 51.8 52.4

Diluted adjusted earnings 60.3 61.9
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8 Goodwill
2015 

£m
2014 

£m

Cost

At 1 January 460.0 496.4

Acquisitions (note 25) 0.8 –

Currency translation (19.5) (36.4)

At 31 December 441.3 460.0

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

At 1 January 69.8 73.0

Impairment 6.4 –

Currency translation (1.9) (3.2)

At 31 December 74.3 69.8

Net book amount at 31 December 367.0 390.2

Composition of CGUs 

The group’s business lines are managed and controlled at the operating segment level and each of the operating segments has 
their own dedicated management team. The internal group reporting reflects this business line structure. Management monitors 
goodwill at operating segment level and goodwill has been allocated on this basis. Goodwill that is specific to a particular 
operating segment has been included in the operating segment directly. All other goodwill has been reallocated to the 
appropriate operating segments prospectively using the three-year average forecast operating cash flow of the time of 
the change of composition of CGUs in 2012.

Under the existing business line structure, we have 23 CGUs which represent the smallest identifiable group of assets that 
generate independent cash flows from other groups of assets. For the purpose of a goodwill impairment review, acquired 
goodwill has been allocated to nine groups of CGUs being the operating segments. The operating segments are Workwear, 
Facility, UK Flat Linen, Scandinavian Flat Linen, Germany & Austria Healthcare, Ireland, Direct Sales, Clinical Solutions 
and Decontamination. 

For reporting purposes, the goodwill has been allocated to the operating segments as outlined below: 

2015 2014

Impairment  
charge 

£m

Net book 
amount of 

goodwill 
£m

Impairment  
charge 

£m

Net book 
amount of 

goodwill 
£m

Core Growth: –

 Workwear – 137.6 – 144.9

 Facility – 152.4 – 160.4

 UK Flat Linen – 19.9 – 19.9

Manage for Value:

 Scandinavian Flat Linen – 36.5 – 37.5

 Germany and Austria Healthcare (6.4) – – 6.8

 Ireland – 2.1 – 2.2

 Direct Sales – 4.5 – 4.5

 Clinical Solutions – 14.0 – 14.0

 Decontamination – – – –

Total (6.4) 367.0 – 390.2
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8 Goodwill (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

The group reviews at each reporting date whether there is an indication that any of the CGU that contains the operating assets 
may be impaired in accordance with IAS 36 ‘Impairment of assets’. An annual goodwill impairment test is then carried out by 
comparing the carrying amount of the group of CGUs to which the goodwill relates to its recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount of each operating segment is based on value-in-use calculations which management develop from forecast cash flows 
based on past performance, market data and its expectation of future market development. These calculations require the use 
of estimates and the pre-tax cash flow projections are based on the group’s current three-year strategic plan. The key target 
assumptions within the strategic plan for each of the CGU’s may be summarised as follows: 

 a Sustainable revenue growth, prior to currency impacts, of at least GDP +2%;

 a Continued margin improvement; and

 a Strong underlying cash flow reflecting the group target range of 75%-90% cash conversion after targeted investments. 

Cash flows beyond the three-year period have been extrapolated using an estimated growth rate of 2% (2014: 2%) and are 
appropriate because these are long-term businesses. The growth rate of 2% (2014: 2%) does not exceed long-term GDP 
estimates for countries that the group operates within. Projected cash flows have been discounted using pre-tax discount rates 
of 11% (2014: 11%) except in respect of Germany and Austria Healthcare as referred to below where a rate of 13.75% has been used. 
The discount rates reflect market assumptions for the Risk Free-rates and Equity Risk Premiums and also take into account the 
net cost of debt. No reasonably foreseeable change in these assumptions would cause an impairment except as set out below 
because the remaining CGU’s have clear headroom under the modelling assumptions.

Impairment tests are carried out annually or when indicators show that assets may be impaired. As part of our Strategy 
Update we reviewed the market structure of each of our businesses and the opportunities for growth and profit improvement. 
We characterised the market structure in Germany Healthcare to be aggressively competitive and, while we have a good 
management and are making significant progress in our growth and profit improvement plans, there remains substantial free 
capacity within our plants, which we believe will take some time to fill. Following this review we announced at the beginning of 
2016, the closure of one of our German Healthcare plants where the services provided did not meet the requirements of our 
core portfolio and profit improvement agenda. Accordingly, in evaluating the goodwill related to this business for impairment for 
2015, we applied a higher risk factor, via an increased discount rate resulting in an impairment charge of £6.4 million, after which 
the goodwill in this part of the business has been fully written down. No other class of assets has been impaired as their value is 
supported by their value in use calculation. The key assumptions used for the value in use calculation are:

 a Modest revenue growth on a like-for-like basis in excess of the long-term growth rate, 2%, for each of the next three years;

 a Continued margin improvement to higher single digits over the next three years; and

 a More than 75% of profit converting to operating cash flow over the next three years.

If the above revenue and margin assumptions are not achieved then an impairment of other assets may become necessary.

The value of the goodwill impairment in the year is £6.4 million (2014:£nil) and is shown within the income statement as part of 
exceptional items – see note 4.
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9 Other intangible assets

Computer 
software 

£m

Other 
intangible 

assets 
£m

Customer 
contracts 

£m
Total 

£m

Cost

At 1 January 2015 42.9 1.4 184.8 229.1

Acquisitions (note 25) – – 2.8 2.8

Additions at cost 5.1 1.1 – 6.2

Disposals (0.1) – – (0.1)

Currency translation (1.5) – (9.5) (11.0)

At 31 December 2015 46.4 2.5 178.1 227.0

Accumulated depreciation 

At 1 January 2015 33.2 1.4 157.4 192.0

Charge for the year 4.3 – 14.4 18.7

Disposals – – – –

Currency translation (1.3) – (8.3) (9.6)

At 31 December 2015 36.2 1.4 163.5 201.1

Net book amount at 31 December 2015 10.2 1.1 14.6 25.9

Net book amount at 31 December 2014 9.7 – 27.4 37.1

Computer 
software 

£m

Other 
intangible 

assets 
£m

Customer 
contracts 

£m
Total 

£m

Cost

At 1 January 2014 40.3 1.4 189.0 230.7

Acquisitions – – 11.0 11.0

Additions at cost 4.5 – 0.1 4.6

Disposals (0.1) – – (0.1)

Reclassified from plant and machinery 0.2 – – 0.2

Currency translation (2.0) – (15.3) (17.3)

At 31 December 2014 42.9 1.4 184.8 229.1

Accumulated depreciation 

At 1 January 2014 30.2 1.4 148.6 180.2

Charge for the year 4.8 – 21.5 26.3

Disposals (0.1) – – (0.1)

Currency translation (1.7) – (12.7) (14.4)

At 31 December 2014 33.2 1.4 157.4 192.0

Net book amount at 31 December 2014 9.7 – 27.4 37.1

Net book amount at 31 December 2013 10.1 – 40.4 50.5

All amortisation charges have been charged through other operating expenses.
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10 Property, plant and equipment

Land and 
buildings  

£m 

Plant and 
machinery  

£m

Textile  
assets and 
washroom 
equipment 

Restated*
£m

Total 
£m

Cost

At 1 January 2015 238.7 462.8 674.6 1,376.1

Additions at cost 6.2 32.7 144.5 183.4

Acquisitions (note 25) 2.0 3.6 – 5.6

Disposals (8.0) (34.7) (253.2) (295.9)

Reclassified to inventories* – – (0.4) (0.4)

Currency translation (10.6) (16.8) (31.3) (58.7)

At 31 December 2015 228.3 447.6 534.2 1,210.1

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2015 105.3 333.6 456.4 895.3

Charge for the year 6.8 28.1 130.5 165.4

Disposals (6.2) (28.7) (250.7) (285.6)

Currency translation (5.2) (13.0) (23.9) (42.1)

At 31 December 2015 100.7 320.0 312.3 733.0

Net book amount at 31 December 2015 127.6 127.6 221.9 477.1

Net book amount at 31 December 2014 133.4 129.2 218.2 480.8

2015 
£m

2014 
£m

Plant and machinery net book amount includes:

Assets held under finance leases 1.2 5.3

Finance lease additions 1.5 2.2

Split of depreciation:

Owned assets (163.9) (170.0)

Leased assets (1.5) (2.6)

(165.4) (172.6)

 * As set out in the Accounting policies – Basis of preparation, during the year the group reclassified stocks of textile rental garments awaiting delivery 
to customers from property, plant and equipment to inventories. Textile asset additions at cost include purchase of textile garments held at central 
warehouse reclassified to finished goods inventories of £0.4 million in 2015. In 2014, £10.4 million was reclassified from property, plant and equipment to 
inventories, of this balance £2.7 million related to purchases in 2014.
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10 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Land and 
buildings  

£m 

Plant and 
machinery  

£m

Textile  
assets and 
washroom 
equipment 

Restated*
£m

Total 
£m

Cost

At 1 January 2014 249.1 482.1 660.8 1,392.0

Additions at cost 4.8 30.7 149.9 185.4

Acquisitions 1.7 0.1 1.6 3.4

Disposals (1.6) (21.8) (86.8) (110.2)

Reclassified to computer software – (0.2) – (0.2)

Reclassified to inventories* – – (10.4) (10.4)

Currency translation (15.3) (28.1) (40.5) (83.9)

At 31 December 2014 238.7 462.8 674.6 1,376.1

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2014 105.9 341.5 436.6 884.0

Charge for the year 7.4 31.1 134.1 172.6

Disposals (0.5) (18.6) (86.1) (105.2)

Currency translation (7.5) (20.4) (28.2) (56.1)

At 31 December 2014 105.3 333.6 456.4 895.3

Net book amount at 31 December 2014 133.4 129.2 218.2 480.8

Net book amount at 31 December 2013 143.2 140.6 224.2 508.0

11 Inventories

As at 
31 December 

2015 
£m

As at 
31 December 

2014
Restated*

£m

Raw materials 12.0 12.3

Finished goods* 38.2 37.4

50.2 49.7

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense in ‘cost of sales’ during the year amounted to £8.8 million (2014: £7.9 million). 
During the year a net cost of £0.1 million of inventories was written off (2014: £0.2 million written back).

 * 2014 inventories have been restated for the reclassification of textile garment stocks from property, plant and equipment to finished goods as set out in 
note 10 and Accounting policies – Basis of preparation. 
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12 Trade and other receivables
As at 

31 December 
2015 

£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Current:

Trade receivables 129.9 127.1

Less: Provision for impairment of trade receivables (3.2) (3.4)

126.7 123.7

Other receivables 3.9 5.5

Prepayments 13.5 12.7

Accrued income 25.8 21.6

169.9 163.5

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and generally have a 30-day term. Due to their short maturities, the fair value of trade 
and other receivables approximate to their book value. All other receivables are recorded at amortised cost.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables for financial assets are denominated in the following currencies, which in 
most instances are the functional currencies of the respective subsidiaries. We do not have any significant exposure to currency 
risk on these amounts.

As at 
31 December 

2015 
£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Sterling 37.7 30.5

Euro 37.1 40.5

Swedish krona 27.5 28.6

Danish krone 16.8 17.2

Other 11.5 12.4

130.6 129.2

Provision for impairment of trade receivables
As at 

31 December 
2015 

£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
£m

At 1 January 3.4 4.2

Currency translation (0.1) (0.2)

Charge for the year 0.4 0.9

Uncollectable amounts written off, net of recoveries (0.5) (1.5)

At 31 December 3.2 3.4

The charge for the year is recognised as an expense in administrative expenses.
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12 Trade and other receivables (continued)
As at 31 December 2015, trade receivables of £46.4 million (2014: £45.2 million) were past due but not impaired. The ageing 
analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

As at 
31 December 

2015 
£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Up to one month 36.7 35.4

One to three months 7.7 5.9

Over three months 2.0 3.9

46.4 45.2

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

13 Cash and cash equivalents
As at 

31 December 
2015 

£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Cash at bank and in hand 126.7 96.9

126.7 96.9

Cash at bank and in hand earns interest at floating rates based on bank deposit rates. 

14 Trade and other payables 
As at 

31 December 
2015 

£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Non-current:

Accruals 1.1 1.2

1.1 1.2

Current:

Trade payables 61.3 64.0

Other tax and social security payable 29.9 28.6

Other payables 8.7 8.8

Deferred consideration payable on acquisitions 0.1 0.5

Accruals 89.6 91.0

Deferred income 7.2 7.4

196.8 200.3
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15 Borrowings
As at 

31 December 
2015 

£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Current

Private placement notes – unsecured 87.7 –

Bank loans – unsecured – 1.2

87.7 1.2

Finance lease obligations 0.4 1.3

88.1 2.5

Non-current

Private placement notes – unsecured 370.1 320.5

Bank loans – unsecured 38.7 144.0

408.8 464.5

Finance lease obligations 0.7 4.3

409.5 468.8

Bank loans are denominated in a number of currencies and bear interest based on LIBOR or foreign equivalents appropriate to 
the currency in which the borrowing is incurred together with a margin as appropriate.

The effective interest rates (EIR) for the group’s bank borrowings (including interest rate swaps) by currency at the balance sheet 
date were as follows:

As at 31 December 2015 As at 31 December 2014

£m EIR % £m EIR %

Borrowings under the revolving credit facilities

Euro – – 11.0 0.94

Danish krone – – 52.5 1.14

Swedish krona 40.1 0.18 79.8 1.11

40.1 0.18 143.3 1.11

Borrowings under the private placement (2006)

Euro 55.3 4.52 58.7 4.52

Danish krone 12.2 4.63 13.0 4.63

Swedish krona 56.5 4.49 58.1 4.49

Currency translation 11.1 – (1.0) –

135.1 4.52 128.8 4.52

Borrowings under the private placement (2009)

Sterling 25.0 5.74 25.0 5.74

Euro 127.3 5.22 135.2 5.22

Currency translation 47.6 – 31.5 –

199.9 5.30 191.7 5.30

Borrowings under the private placement (2015)

Euro 58.7 2.03 – –

Danish krone 64.6 2.21 – –

123.3 2.12 – –

Unamortised loan costs (1.9) – (0.8) –

Other bank borrowings

Danish krone – – 0.6 3.45

Euro – – 0.8 5.25

Sterling – – 1.3 1.88

496.5 3.72 465.7 3.68
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15 Borrowings (continued)
On 19 March 2015, the group refinanced its existing revolving credit facility for €535 million to a new revolving credit facility for 
€510 million. This facility expires on 19 March 2020.

On 19 February 2015, the group issued further private placement notes to existing US investors for DKK654.8 million and 
€79.7 million repayable in 2025 at fixed coupon rate.

In December 2009, the group issued private placement notes of US$259 million and £25 million. The US$259 million was 
immediately swapped into euros.

In May 2006, the group issued private placement notes of US$250 million which were immediately swapped into a basket of 
Danish krone, Swedish krona and euros. In 2014, US$50 million private placement notes and the associated Danish krone swap 
were repaid.

For further details of the group’s derivative financial instruments against its borrowings see note 16.

As underlying currencies have been swapped from US dollars via derivative contracts, the group has a gain on financial 
instruments (see note 16) which is offset by the currency translation loss on the underlying borrowings noted above. 
The borrowing under the US private placements (2006 and 2009) of £335.0 million reflects the £25 million and the 
US$459 million translated at the year end sterling to dollar rate.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
As at 31 December 2015 As at 31 December 2014

Book value 
£m

Fair value 
£m

Book value 
£m

Fair value 
£m

Long-term borrowings (409.5) (434.2) (468.8) (496.1)

Fair value of other financial assets and liabilities:

Short-term borrowings (88.1) (88.1) (2.5) (2.5)

Trade and other payables (note 14) (70.1) (70.1) (73.3) (73.3)

Trade and other receivables (note 12) 130.6 130.6 129.2 129.2

Cash at bank and in hand (note 13) 126.7 126.7 96.9 96.9

The fair value of the group’s fixed rate loans are based on available market information at the balance sheet date and are 
calculated by discounting expected future cash flows using the appropriate yield curve. The book values of floating rate 
borrowings approximate their fair value.

All financial instruments are in level 2 of the IFRS 13 fair value hierarchy. Fair value for financial instruments held at amortised cost 
has been estimated by discounting cash flows at prevailing interest rates and by applying year end exchange rates.

Maturity of financial liabilities
As at 31 December 2015 As at 31 December 2014

Borrowings 
£m

Finance leases 
£m

Total 
£m

Borrowings 
£m

Finance leases 
£m

Total 
£m

Within one year 87.7 0.4 88.1 1.2 1.3 2.5

In more than one year but not more than 
two years – 0.3 0.3 226.3 1.5 227.8

Over two years but not more than 
five years 218.4 0.4 218.8 173.1 2.8 175.9

Over five years 190.4 – 190.4 65.1 – 65.1

496.5 1.1 497.6 465.7 5.6 471.3
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15 Borrowings (continued)
Borrowing facilities

The group has the following undrawn committed borrowing facilities available at 31 December and on which it incurs 
commitment fees at market rates:

As at 
31 December 

2015 
£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Expiring in more than one year but not more than two years – 255.7

Expiring in over two years but not more than five years 335.6 –

335.6 255.7

The minimum lease payments under finance leases fall due as follows:

As at 
31 December 

2015 
£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Not later than one year 0.5 1.5

Later than one year but not more than five 0.7 4.4

1.2 5.9

Future finance charges on finance leases (0.1) (0.3)

Present value of finance lease liabilities 1.1 5.6

16 Derivative financial instruments
The derivatives the group has used qualify for one or more hedge type designations under IAS 39. The fair values of 
the group’s derivatives have been determined based on available market information at the balance sheet date and the 
following methodologies:

 a the fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts are calculated by discounting the contracted forward values and 
translating at the balance sheet rates; and

 a the fair value of both interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps are calculated by discounting expected future 
principal and interest cash flows derived from appropriate yield curves.

The fair value measurements of the derivatives are classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as defined by IFRS 13 
‘Fair value measurement’:

The fair value and the notional amounts by designated hedge type are as follows: 

As at 31 December 2015 As at 31 December 2014

Assets 
fair value 

£m

Liabilities 
fair value 

£m
Notional 

£m

Assets 
fair value 

£m

Liabilities 
fair value 

£m
Notional 

£m

Cash flow hedges

Cross-currency interest rate swaps 38.9 – 310.0 20.1 – 295.5

Forward foreign exchange contracts 0.6 – 31.7 0.4 – 21.9

39.5 – 20.5 –

Net investment hedges

Cross-currency interest rate swaps 28.2 (11.2) 310.8 20.0 (17.9) 328.5

28.2 (11.2) 20.0 (17.9)

Total 67.7 (11.2) 40.5 (17.9)
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16 Derivative financial instruments (continued)
The maturity of all derivative financial instruments is as follows (excluding break clauses):

As at 31 December 2015 As at 31 December 2014

In one  
year  

or less
1–2  

years
2–3  

years
3–4  

years
4–5  

years

Over  
5  

years

In one 
year  

or less
1–2 

 years
2–3  

years
3–4  

years
4–5  

years

Over  
5  

years

Cash flow hedges

Asset 13.1 – 11.6 8.3 – 6.5 0.4 8.7 – 8.3 2.2 0.9

Liability – – – – – – – – – – – –

Net investment hedges

Asset 3.2 – – 14.2 – 10.8 (0.3) 2.6 – – 10.1 7.6

Liability (5.3) – (5.9) – – – (0.6) (8.2) – (9.1) – –

Total

Asset 16.3 – 11.6 22.5 – 17.3 0.1 11.3 – 8.3 12.3 8.5

Liability (5.3) – (5.9) – – – (0.6) (8.2) – (9.1) – –

The group’s derivative financial instrument contracts include break clauses which may be exercised at the discretion of the 
group’s counterparties ahead of maturity. Were these break clauses to be enforced then the maturity of derivative financial 
instruments existing at the balance sheet date would be as follows:

As at 31 December 2015 As at 31 December 2014

In one  
year  

or less
1–2  

years
2–3  

years
3–4  

years
4–5  

years

Over  
5  

years

In one 
year  

or less
1–2 

 years
2–3  

years
3–4  

years
4–5  

years

Over  
5  

years

Cash flow hedges

Asset 24.8 3.1 – 11.1 – 0.5 0.4 16.9 0.6 – 2.1 0.5

Liability – – – – – – – – – – – –

Net investment hedges

Asset 3.2 5.4 – 19.1 – 0.5 (0.3) 2.6 3.8 – 13.4 0.5

Liability (11.2) – – – – – (0.6) (17.3) – – – –

Total

Asset 28.0 8.5 – 30.2 – 1.0 0.1 19.5 4.4 – 15.5 1.0

Liability (11.2) – – – – – (0.6) (17.3) – – – –

Background

At 31 December 2015, the group has in issue US$459 million long-term senior guarantee notes under private placements in 
the US which have been swapped into other currencies: Danish krone, Swedish krona and euro. In May 2006 the group placed 
US$250 million at fixed rates for periods between eight and twelve years, in 2014 US$50 million of this debt was repaid. 
In December 2009 the group undertook a further placement of US$259 million at fixed rates for periods between seven and 
twelve years. In both placements the foreign currency amounts were immediately swapped into other currencies: Danish krone, 
Swedish krona and euros. This is to offset the foreign exchange rate exposure arising on the group’s foreign currency assets. 

The conversion from US dollars into currency was achieved in two stages. In the first stage swaps were taken out to convert 
US dollars to sterling. All of these swaps have been designated as cash flow hedges, with the exception of one swap from the 
2006 placement, which has been designated as a fair value hedge, this swap was repaid in 2014. In the second stage further 
swaps were taken out to convert sterling to the required currencies. These have been designated as hedges of net investment in 
foreign subsidiaries. 

The fixed interest rate cross-currency contracts entered into have options exercisable by either party to terminate after five years 
and ten years if relevant. The value of the swap at the time would then be cash settled.
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16 Derivative financial instruments (continued) 
During the year in accordance with group policy, the group entered into several forward foreign exchange contracts for the 
purchase of US dollars in the future at fixed rates. These forward contracts reduce the foreign exchange exposure on the 
procurement of textiles and capital equipment from Far East suppliers. 

Cash flow hedges
The derivative asset recognised on these 15 instruments is £38.9 million, of which the currency component is a gain of 
£14.5 million and a gain of £4.3 million taken to the hedging reserve.

The total exchange component of the cash flow hedge derivatives movement has been accounted for within the statement of 
comprehensive income (£14.5 million gain). The £4.3 million gain has been taken to the hedging reserve and will be continuously 
released to the income statement until the repayment of the private placement.

The forward foreign exchange contracts have resulted in the recognition of a derivative asset of £0.6 million (2014: derivative asset 
of £0.4 million). During the year a gain of £0.2 million (2014: gain of £1.1 million) was recognised in equity. This equity transfer will 
then be recognised in the income statement in line with the hedged transaction.

Net investment hedges
The second stage of the US private placement swaps results in sterling being exchanged into Danish krone, Swedish krona and 
euros. At 31 December 2015 the fixed rate borrowings vary between rates of 4.45% and 5.57% on the fixed European swaps.

These swaps are accounted for as hedges of the group’s assets in the relevant countries. The movement on the derivative asset 
arising has been accounted for as a component part of currency translation (£14.9 million gain).

The group’s borrowings under its revolving credit facilities are designated as a hedge of its European operations. The carrying 
value of the borrowings as at 31 December 2015 was £40.1 million (2014: £143.3 million). The foreign exchange gain of £8.9 million 
on translation is taken to reserves as a component part of currency translation. 

The further issue of US private placement notes in February 2015 for DKK654.8 million and €79.7 million are also designated as 
a hedge of its European operations. The carrying value of the borrowings as at 31 December 2015 was £123.3 million. The foreign 
exchange gain of £0.7 million on translation from inception is taken to reserves as a component part of currency translation.

Fair value hedges
The group had no fair value hedges in 2015.

17 Financial risk management
17.1 Financial risk factors
The group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk; fair value interest rate risk; cash 
flow interest rate risk and price risk); credit risk and liquidity risk. The group’s overall risk management programmes focus on 
the unpredictability of financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the group’s financial performance. 
The group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures.

Risk management is carried out by the group finance team under the supervision of the Chief Financial Officer under policies 
approved by the board of directors. The Chief Financial Officer identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-
operation with the group’s operating units. The board approves written principles for foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and 
credit risk, and the use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments, and receives regular reports on 
such matters.

a) Market risk

i) Foreign exchange risk
The group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily 
with respect to the euro, Swedish krona and Danish krone. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, 
recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations.

The majority of operations in the group bill their revenues and incur their costs in the same functional currency. The group faces 
some currency exposure in respect of the procurement of textiles and capital equipment from Far East suppliers. The group 
policy is to enter forward contracts to purchase US dollars based upon the expected purchases. These derivatives are classified 
as cash flow hedges.
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17.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
The group’s policy is not to hedge foreign currency exposures on the translation of its overseas profit to sterling. Where appropriate, 
borrowings are effectively arranged in currencies so as to provide a natural hedge against the investment in overseas net assets.

During 2015 and 2014, derivative financial instruments were used to manage foreign currency risk as follows:

As at 31 December 2015

Sterling  
£m

Euro  
£m

US dollar  
£m

Danish krone  
£m

Swedish 
krona  

£m
Other  

£m
Total  

£m

Cash and cash equivalents 104.0 70.3 – 12.6 51.1 17.6 255.6

Bank overdrafts (125.0) (2.0) – – – (1.9) (128.9)

Net cash and cash equivalents 
(note 13) (21.0) 68.3 – 12.6 51.1 15.7 126.7

Borrowings, excluding finance lease 
liabilities (note 15) (23.1) (64.6) (310.0) (58.7) (40.1) – (496.5)

Finance lease liabilities (note 15) (0.2) (0.2) – – (0.7) – (1.1)

Pre-derivative net debt position (44.3) 3.5 (310.0) (46.1) 10.3 15.7 (370.9)

Derivative effect (note 16) 0.6 (185.1) 310.0 (12.3) (56.7) – 56.5

Post-derivative net debt position (43.7) (181.6) – (58.4) (46.4) 15.7 (314.4)

As at 31 December 2014

Sterling  
£m

Euro  
£m

US dollar  
£m

Danish krone  
£m

Swedish 
krona  

£m
Other  

£m
Total  

£m

Cash and cash equivalents 37.4 72.5 – 19.1 95.2 38.1 262.3

Bank overdrafts (120.4) (43.6) – – – (1.4) (165.4)

Net cash and cash equivalents 
(note 13) (83.0) 28.9 – 19.1 95.2 36.7 96.9

Borrowings, excluding finance lease 
liabilities (note 15) (25.5) (11.8) (295.5) (53.1) (79.8) – (465.7)

Finance lease liabilities (note 15) (0.6) (0.2) – – (4.6) (0.2) (5.6)

Pre-derivative net debt position (109.1) 16.9 (295.5) (34.0) 10.8 36.5 (374.4)

Derivative effect (note 16) 0.3 (201.6) 295.5 (13.1) (58.5) – 22.6

Post-derivative net debt position (108.8) (184.7) – (47.1) (47.7) 36.5 (351.8)

The exposure to euro, Swedish krona and Danish krone largely relate to our net investment hedge activities as described and 
shown in note 16.

ii) Price risk
The group is not exposed to any equity securities price risk. The group may from time to time be exposed to changes in the price 
of cotton. To mitigate against this risk the group may enter into forward contracts to buy cotton based textiles at a future date. 
Such contracts are not recognised as derivative financial instruments as they are held with the purpose of the receipt or delivery 
of a non-financial item in accordance with the entity’s expected purchase, sale or usage requirements.

iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The group’s interest bearing assets include cash and cash equivalents which earn interest at floating rates. The group’s income 
and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates.

The group’s interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the group to cash flow 
interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the group to fair value interest rate risk. Group policy is to maintain a 
majority of its borrowings at fixed rate using interest rate swaps to achieve this when necessary. During 2015 and 2014, the group’s 
borrowings at variable rate were denominated in sterling, euro, Swedish krona and Danish krone.
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17.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
The following table sets out the carrying amount, by contractual repricing date (or maturity where there is no repricing), of fixed 
rate borrowings that are exposed to interest rate risk before taking into account interest rate swaps:

As at 
31 December 

2015 
£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Fixed interest rate borrowings

In one year or less 88.1 2.5

In more than one year, but not more than two years 0.3 84.5

In more than two years but not more than five years 178.7 175.9

In more than five years 190.4 65.1

457.5 328.0

Floating interest rate borrowings 40.1 143.3

Total borrowings 497.6 471.3

During 2015 and 2014, net debt was managed using derivative instruments to hedge interest rate risk as follows:

As at 31 December 2015 As at 31 December 2014

Fixed-rate 
£m

Floating-rate 
£m

Total 
£m

Fixed-rate 
£m

Floating-rate 
£m

Total 
£m

Cash and cash equivalents – 126.7 126.7 – 96.9 96.9

Borrowings (457.5) (40.1) (497.6) (328.0) (143.3) (471.3)

Pre-derivative net debt position (457.5) 86.6 (370.9) (328.0) (46.4) (374.4)

Derivative effect (note i) 55.9 – 55.9 22.2 – 22.2

Post-derivative net debt position (401.6) 86.6 (315.0) (305.8) (46.4) (352.2)

(i) Excludes the forward foreign exchange contract derivatives.

b) Credit risk
Credit risk is managed on a group or local basis as appropriate. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative 
financial instruments and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to customers, including 
outstanding receivables and committed transactions.

The majority of banks and financial institutions accepted are independently rated parties with a minimum rating of ‘A’. 
Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers spread across geographical areas. If there is no independent rating, 
management assesses the credit quality of the customer taking into account its financial position, past experience and other 
factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal ratings. Management monitors the utilisation of credit limits regularly.

Management believes there is no further credit risk provision required in excess of the normal provision for doubtful debts.

Treasury related credit risk
Counterparty risk arises from the investment of surplus funds and from use of derivative instruments.

As at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014, we had a number of exposures to individual counterparties. In accordance with 
our treasury policies and exposure management practices, counterparty credit exposure limits are continually monitored and 
no individual exposure is considered significant in the ordinary course of treasury management activity. Management does not 
expect any significant losses from non-performance by these counterparties.

The counterparty exposure under all financial assets including trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents and 
derivative financial contracts were £325.0 million (2014: £266.6 million). The group does not hold any collateral as security. 

c) Liquidity risk
Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating entities of the group and is aggregated by group finance. Group finance 
monitors rolling forecasts of the group’s liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs while 
maintaining sufficient headroom on its undrawn committed borrowing facilities (note 15) at all times so that the group does 
not breach borrowing limits or covenants (where applicable) on any of its borrowing facilities. Such forecasting takes into 
consideration the group’s debt financing plans, covenant compliance, and compliance with internal balance sheet ratio targets.
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17.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
The table below analyses the group’s financial liabilities, excluding break clauses, which will be settled on a net basis into relative 
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet to the contract maturity date. The amounts disclosed 
in the table are contractual undiscounted cash flows using spot interest and foreign exchange rates at 31 December 2015. 
Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of the discount is not significant.

As at 31 December 2015

Due within 
one year 

£m

Due between 
one and 

two years 
£m

Due between 
two and 

five years 
£m

Due five years 
and beyond 

£m
Total  

£m

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Borrowings, excluding finance lease liabilities 87.7 – 218.4 190.4 496.5

Interest payments on borrowings 4.1 4.1 10.9 10.8 29.9

Finance lease liabilities 0.4 0.3 0.4 – 1.1

Other non-interest bearing liabilities 165.4 – – – 165.4

Derivative financial liabilities

Derivative contracts – payments 10.5 8.7 15.6 2.6 37.4

Total at 31 December 2015 268.1 13.1 245.3 203.8 730.3

As at 31 December 2014

Due within 
one year 

£m

Due between 
one and 

two years 
£m

Due between 
two and 

five years 
£m

Due five years 
and beyond 

£m
Total  

£m

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Borrowings, excluding finance lease liabilities 1.2 226.3 173.1 65.1 465.7

Interest payments on borrowings 3.0 2.3 4.3 – 9.6

Finance lease liabilities 1.3 1.5 2.8 – 5.6

Other non-interest bearing liabilities 170.2 – – – 170.2

Derivative financial liabilities

Derivative contracts – payments 12.9 11.1 22.9 5.5 52.4

Total at 31 December 2014 188.6 241.2 203.1 70.6 703.5

d) Sensitivity analysis
Financial instruments affected by market risk include borrowings, deposits and derivative financial instruments. The following 
analysis is intended to illustrate the sensitivity to changes in market variables, being UK, euro, Swedish krona and Danish krone 
interest rates and sterling exchange rate on our financial instruments. We have excluded from this analysis the impact of 
movements in market variables on the carrying values of trade receivables and payables, since these are not exposed to risk from 
the market variables.

This analysis excludes the impact of movements in market variables on the carrying value of pension and other post-retirement 
obligations, provisions and on the non-financial assets and liabilities of overseas subsidiaries.

The sensitivity analysis has been prepared on the basis that the amount of net debt, the ratio of fixed to floating interest rates of 
the debt and derivatives portfolio and the proportion of financial instruments in foreign currencies are all constant and on the 
basis of the hedge designations in place at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014. As a consequence, this sensitivity analysis 
relates to the positions at those dates and is not representative of the years then ended, as all of these varied.
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17.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
The following assumptions were made in calculating the sensitivity analysis:

 a financial derivatives in net investment hedging relationship will not influence interest or foreign exchange sensitivity analysis;

 a the sensitivity of accrued interest to movements in interest rates is calculated on net floating rate exposures on debt, deposits 
and derivative instruments;

 a the sensitivity of accrued interest to movements in interest rates is recorded fully within the income statement; and

 a changes in the carrying value of financial instruments from movements in exchange rates are recorded fully within equity.

The following table shows the group’s exposure to foreign exchange risk as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014, which is 
a result of increase/decrease of 10% movement in foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of foreign currency denominated 
borrowings. The foreign exchange risk is naturally hedged against the net assets of our operations in Continental Europe. 
All foreign exchange on both the borrowings and net assets is taken to reserves where it will offset.

As at 
31 December 

2015 
Equity  

£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
Equity  

£m

Euro exchange rate + 10% 16.5 16.8

Euro exchange rate –10% (20.2) (20.5)

Danish krone exchange rate +10% 5.3 4.3

Danish krone exchange rate –10% (6.5) (5.2)

Swedish krona exchange rate +10% 4.2 4.3

Swedish krona exchange rate –10% (5.2) (5.3)

The table below shows the sensitivity of post-tax profit to interest rates as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014, due to an 
increase/decrease in interest rates of 100 basis points (bp) with all other variables held constant. Post-tax profit for the year would 
have been mainly affected through interest expense on floating rate cash and cash equivalents and borrowings.

As at 
31 December 

2015 
Income 

statement 
£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
Income 

statement 
£m

UK interest rates +100bp (0.2) (0.8)

UK interest rates –100bp 0.2 0.8

Euro interest rates +100bp 0.7 0.2

Euro interest rates –100bp (0.7) (0.2)

Danish krone interest rates +100bp 0.1 (0.3)

Danish krone interest rates –100bp (0.1) 0.3

Swedish krona interest rates +100bp 0.1 0.2

Swedish krona interest rates –100bp (0.1) (0.2)
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17.2 Capital management
The group’s objectives when managing its capital structure are to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern, to 
provide appropriate returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return 
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or take other steps to increase share capital or reduce debt.

The group manages its capital structure using a number of measures and taking into account its future strategic plans. 
Such measures include its net interest cover and leverage ratios, which are included in its banking covenants. The group continues 
to remain compliant with all its banking covenants.

Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated balance sheet plus net debt. Net debt is calculated as 
total borrowings (including ‘current and non-current borrowings’ as shown in the consolidated balance sheet) less cash and 
cash equivalents.

As at 
31 December 

2015 
£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Total borrowings 497.6 471.3

Less cash and cash equivalents (126.7) (96.9)

Net debt 370.9 374.4

Total equity 519.0 505.4

Total capital 889.9 879.8

17.3 Fair value estimation
The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method (see notes 15 and 16). The different levels 
have been defined as follows:

 a Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);

 a Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as 
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2); and

 a Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (Level 3). 

The following table presents the group’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31 December 2015:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Derivatives used for hedging
Cross-currency interest rate swaps – 67.1 – 67.1

Forward foreign exchange contracts – 0.6 – 0.6

Total assets – 67.7 – 67.7

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Liabilities

Derivatives used for hedging
Cross-currency interest rate swaps – (11.2) – (11.2)

Forward foreign exchange contracts – – – –

Total liabilities – (11.2) – (11.2)
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17.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
The following table presents the group’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31 December 2014:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Derivatives used for hedging
Cross-currency interest rate swaps – 40.1 – 40.1

Forward foreign exchange contracts – 0.4 – 0.4

Total assets – 40.5 – 40.5

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Liabilities

Derivatives used for hedging
Cross-currency interest rate swaps – (17.9) – (17.9)

Forward foreign exchange contracts – – – –

Total liabilities – (17.9) – (17.9)

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is 
determined by using valuation techniques. The valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is 
available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are 
observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Specific techniques used to value financial instruments include:

 a quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments;

 a the fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows based on observable 
yield curves;

 a the fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange rates at the balance sheet date, 
with the resulting value discounted back to present value; and

 a other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to determine fair value for the remaining 
financial instruments. 
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17.4 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
a) Financial assets 
The following financial assets are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements:

Related amounts not set off in 
the balance sheet

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial assets

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial 
 liabilities set off 
 in the balance 

sheet

Net amounts of 
financial assets 

presented in 
the balance 

sheet
Financial 

 instruments
Cash collateral 

received Net amount

At 31 December 2015

Derivative financial assets 67.7 – 67.7 (11.2) – 56.5

Cash and cash equivalents 255.6 (128.9) 126.7 – – 126.7

Total 323.3 (128.9) 194.4 (11.2) – 183.2

Related amounts not set off in 
the balance sheet

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial assets

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial 
 liabilities set off 
 in the balance 

sheet

Net amounts of 
financial assets 

presented in 
the balance 

sheet
Financial 

 instruments
Cash collateral 

received Net amount

At 31 December 2014

Derivative financial assets 40.8 – 40.8 (17.6) – 23.2

Cash and cash equivalents 262.3 (165.4) 96.9 – – 96.9

Total 303.1 (165.4) 137.7 (17.6) – 120.1

b) Financial liabilities
The following financial liabilities are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements:

Related amounts not set off in 
the balance sheet

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial 
liabilities

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial assets 
set off in the 

 balance sheet

Net amounts 
of financial 

liabilities 
presented in 
the balance 

sheet
Financial 

instruments
Cash collateral 

received Net amount

At 31 December 2015

Derivative financial liabilities (11.2) – (11.2) 11.2 – –

Bank overdrafts (128.9) 128.9 – – – –

Total (140.1) 128.9 (11.2) 11.2 – –
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17.4 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

Related amounts not set off in 
the balance sheet

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial 
liabilities

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial assets 
set off in the 

 balance sheet

Net amounts 
of financial 

liabilities 
presented in 
the balance 

sheet
Financial 

instruments
Cash collateral 

received Net amount

At 31 December 2014

Derivative financial liabilities (17.6) – (17.6) 17.6 – –

Bank overdrafts (165.4) 165.4 – – – –

Total (183.0) 165.4 (17.6) 17.6 – –

For the financial assets and liabilities subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or similar arrangements above, each 
agreement between the group and the counterparty allows for net settlement of the relevant financial assets and liabilities when 
both elect to settle on a net basis. In the absence of such an election, financial assets and liabilities will be settled on a gross basis, 
however, each party to the master netting agreement or similar agreement will have the option to settle all such amounts on a net 
basis in the event of default of the other party. Per the terms of each agreement, an event of default includes failure by a party to 
make payment when due; failure by a party to perform any obligation required by the agreement (other than payment) if such 
failure is not remedied within a period of 30 to 60 days after notice of such failure is given to the party; or bankruptcy.

18 Provisions

Restructuring 
£m

Onerous 
contract 
provision 

£m
Other 

£m
Total 

£m

At 1 January 2015 0.9 0.2 2.0 3.1

Charged in the year 0.5 – – 0.5

Released in the year – (0.2) – (0.2)

Utilised in the year (0.3) – – (0.3)

Currency translation – – (0.2) (0.2)

At 31 December 2015 1.1 – 1.8 2.9

Represented by:

�Non-current – – – –

�Current 1.1 – 1.8 2.9

1.1 – 1.8 2.9

Restructuring 
Restructuring provisions comprise largely of employee termination payments and are not recognised for future operating losses.

Onerous contract provision
The group previously held a provision for future losses on two decontamination contracts which were considered to be onerous. 
The release of the provision in 2015 is shown as part of administrative expenses within the income statement.

Other 
Other represents a provision for the historic environmental clean-up costs at a plant in Holland (see also note 30) which the 
group believes is covered by an indemnity from a third party. The company is currently defending a legal claim to the warranties 
received for any environmental damage that might have existed when it purchased this site. The company expects to have this 
warranty confirmed in full and consequently has accounted for the receivable, at fair value, within other debtors. The charge and 
related income are shown within administrative expenses. 
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19 Deferred tax
Deferred tax is calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using the tax rate applicable to the territory in 
which the difference arises.

(a) The movement on the net deferred tax account is as shown below:

2015 
£m

2014 
£m

At 1 January (49.5) (42.0)

Acquisitions (note 25) (0.2) (1.7)

(Charged) to income (note 5) (2.1) (2.9)

(Charged) to equity (note 5) (8.3) (6.0)

Currency translation 1.6 3.1

At 31 December (58.5) (49.5)

The balance sheet presentation shown below is after the offsetting of deferred tax balances within the same tax jurisdiction. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset where there is a legally enforceable right of offset and there is an intention to 
settle the balances net.

Balance sheet presentation
As at 

31 December 
2015 

£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Deferred tax assets

– due after more than one year 6.9 8.1

Deferred tax liabilities 

– due after more than one year (65.4) (57.6)

(58.5) (49.5)

(b) The individual movements in deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities, before the offsetting of balances within the same 
jurisdiction, are shown below:

Deferred tax liabilities
Accelerated tax 

depreciation 
£m

Pensions 
£m

Derivatives 
£m

Other 
£m

Total 
£m

At 1 January 2015 (50.8) (7.2) (4.1) (9.0) (71.1)

Acquisition of subsidiary (0.2) – – – (0.2)

Credited/(charged) to income (2.9) (0.5) 0.2 0.4 (2.8)

Credited to equity – (0.3) (5.6) – (5.9)

Currency translation 2.5 – – 0.2 2.7

At 31 December 2015 (51.4) (8.0) (9.5) (8.4) (77.3)
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19 Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets
Provisions 

£m
Pensions 

£m
Tax losses 

£m
Derivatives 

£m
Other 

£m
Total 

£m

At 1 January 2015 1.3 3.6 6.1 – 10.6 21.6

(Charged)/credited to income (0.1) (0.1) (1.2) – 2.1 0.7

(Charged) to equity – (1.0) – – (1.4) (2.4)

Currency translation (0.1) (0.1) (0.3) – (0.6) (1.1)

At 31 December 2015 1.1 2.4 4.6 – 10.7 18.8

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of tax losses and other temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax 
assets where it is considered probable that these assets will be recovered.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised as follows:

As at 
31 December 

2015 
£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Unused tax losses 1.4 1.9

Included in unused tax losses is an amount of £0.4 million (2014: £0.6 million) which will expire between 2016 and 2025 if the 
relevant losses are not used.

No deferred tax is recognised on unremitted earnings from overseas subsidiaries. 
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20 Share capital
Ordinary 

shares 
millions

Ordinary 
shares 

£m

Allotted and fully paid

At 1 January 2015 172.6 51.8

Allotted in respect of share option schemes – –

At 31 December 2015 172.6 51.8

Fully paid ordinary shares have a par value of 30 pence.

Potential issues of ordinary shares 
Share options

Options on 27,564 shares were exercised in 2015 (8,528 at an exercise price of £3.23, 15,360 at an exercise price of £3.47 and 
3,271 at an exercise price of £7.26 and 405 at an exercise price of £7.92). For arrangements granted since October 2002, which 
were exercised in the year, the weighted average market price at the time of exercise was £10.38. The number of shares subject 
to options is given below:

Not exercised at
31 December

2015

Not exercised at
31 December

2014

Price 
per share

pence

Berendsen Sharesave Plan 2006

Date of grant 29 October 2009 – 8,182 323.00

 27 October 2011 78,900 99,737 347.00

 24 October 2013 235,483 267,760 726.00

 23 October 2014 321,266 362,548 792.00

Berendsen Irish SAYE Scheme 2009

Date of grant 29 October 2009 – 346 323.00

635,649 738,573
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20 Share capital (continued)
Share awards

As at 31 December 2015, the following conditional share awards granted to directors and staff remain outstanding:

31 December 
2015

31 December 
2014

Performance Share Plan

Date of grant 7 March 2012 – 450,639

 7 March 2013 319,494 319,494

 6 March 2014 222,004 222,004

 9 March 2015 161,492 –

 6 August 2015 50,700 –

Co-Investment Plan

Date of grant 10 April 2012 – 707,572

 9 April 2013 447,292 447,292

 7 April 2014 310,816 310,816

 7 April 2015 226,092 –

Deferred Bonus Share Plan

Date of grant 7 March 2012 – 84,208

 7 March 2013 92,726 92,726

 6 March 2014 57,645 57,645

 9 March 2015 51,548 –

Berendsen Long-term Incentive Plan (three years)

Date of grant 7 March 2012 – 186,356

 7 March 2013 143,894 143,894

 6 March 2014 93,500 93,500

 9 March 2015 76,500 –

Berendsen Long-term Incentive Plan (two years)

Date of grant 7 March 2013 – 309,821

 6 March 2014 174,800 186,400

 9 March 2015 218,500 –

One-off Share award

Date of grant 2 April 2012 – 19,730

2,647,003 3,632,097

21 Share-based payments
The following share-based expenses charged in the year are included within administration expenses:

Year to 
31 December 

2015 
£m

Year to 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Performance share plans 1.2 1.7

Executive incentive plan – 0.1

Co-Investment plan 1.5 2.8

Berendsen Long-term Incentive Plans 1.5 0.6

Executive and Sharesave option schemes 0.4 0.4

4.6 5.6
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21 Share-based payments (continued)
Share options

During the year the group had eight share-based payment arrangements granted since October 2009, outstanding with 
employees to grant share options. The schemes are equity settled. The details of the arrangements are set out below:

Number of  
options 

originally 
granted

Contractual 
 life

Exercise 
price 

(pence)

Share 
price at 
date of 

grant

Number of 
employees 

at grant
Expected 

volatility

Expected 
remaining 

life
Risk free 

rate

Expected 
dividend 

yield

Fair value 
 per  

option 
(pence)

Berendsen 
Sharesave Plan 2006

29 October 2009 301,044 5.5 years 323.0 402.6 152 27% 0 years 2.0% 4.8% 65.32

27 October 2011 360,278 3.5 years 347.0 433.2 458 29% 0 years 0.6% 4.2% 75.26

27 October 2011 118,964 5.5 years 347.0 433.2 92 27% 1.5 years 1.2% 4.2% 74.02

24 October 2013 225,323 3.5 years 726.0 907.0 585 23% 1.5 years 0.8% 4.3% 1.70

24 October 2013 98,475 5.5 years 726.0 907.0 140 25% 3.5 years 1.5% 4.3% 1.89

23 October 2014 242,528 3.5 years 792.0 990.0 573 20% 2.5 years 1.0% 4.8% 1.64

23 October 2014 124,268 5.5 years 792.0 990.0 121 22% 4.5 years 1.5% 4.8% 1.70

Berendsen Irish 
SAYE Scheme 2009

29 October 2009 20,639 5.5 years 323.0 418.0 11 27% 0.5 years 2.0% 4.8% 65.35

The group has used the Black-Scholes model to value its share option awards.

The volatility measured at the standard deviation of continuously compounded share returns is based on statistical analysis of 
daily share prices over the length of the option period.

The options granted under the Sharesave Plan are available to all UK employees. The options granted under the Irish scheme are 
available to all Republic of Ireland employees. The exercise price of the granted options is equal to the average market price of 
the shares less 20% at the date of invitation. Options are conditional on the employee completing three or five years service (the 
vesting period). There are no other conditions. The options are exercisable for a period of six months after vesting.
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21 Share-based payments (continued)
A reconciliation of movements in the number of share options for the group can be summarised as follows:

Berendsen Sharesave Plan 2006

1 January 2015

Number of shares
31 December 

2015
Exercise price 

(pence) Exercise periodGranted Exercised Lapsed

29 October 2009 8,182 – (8,182) – – 323.0 Dec 2014 – May 2015

27 October 2011 10,810 – (10,189) (621) – 347.0 Dec 2014 – May 2015

27 October 2011 88,927 – (5,171) (4,856) 78,900 347.0 Dec 2016 – May 2017

24 October 2013 185,245 – (2,936) (20,875) 161,434 726.0 Dec 2016 – May 2017

24 October 2013 82,515 – (335) (8,131) 74,049 726.0 Dec 2018 – May 2019

23 October 2014 239,045 – (405) (25,886) 212,754 792.0 Dec 2017 – May 2018

23 October 2014 123,503 – – (14,991) 108,512 792.0 Dec 2019 – May 2020

1 January 2014

Number of shares
31 December 

2014
Exercise price 

(pence) Exercise periodGranted Exercised Lapsed

29 October 2009 230,793 – (215,468) (7,143) 8,182 323.0 Dec 2014 – May 2015

27 October 2011 274,907 – (237,940) (26,157) 10,810 347.0 Dec 2014 – May 2015

27 October 2011 98,914 – (1,522) (8,465) 88,927 347.0 Dec 2016 – May 2017

24 October 2013 223,067 – (1,740) (36,082) 185,245 726.0 Dec 2016 – May 2017

24 October 2013 98,475 – (782) (15,178) 82,515 726.0 Dec 2018 – May 2019

23 October 2014 – 242,528 – (3,483) 239,045 792.0 Dec 2017 – May 2018

23 October 2014 – 124,268 – (765) 123,503 792.0 Dec 2019 – May 2020

Berendsen Irish SAYE Scheme 2009

1 January  
2015

Number of shares
31 December 

2015
Exercise price 

(pence) Exercise periodGranted Exercised Lapsed

29 October 2009 346 – (346) – – 323.0 Dec 2014 – May 2015

1 January 2014

Number of shares
31 December 

2014
Exercise price 

(pence) Exercise periodGranted Exercised Lapsed

29 October 2009 9,810 – (8,093) (1,371) 346.0 323.0 Dec 2014 – May 2015
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21 Share-based payments (continued)
Share awards

During the year the group had 21 conditional share awards granted to directors and staff. The schemes are equity settled. 
The details of the arrangements are set out below:

Number of  
options 

originally 
granted

Contractual 
 life

Share 
price at 
date of 

grant

Number of 
employees 

at grant
Expected 

volatility
Average 

correlation
Expected 

life
Risk free 

rate

Expected 
dividend 

yield

Fair value 
 per  

option 
(pence)

Performance 
Share Plan
Date of grant
7 March 2012 450,639 3 years 517.9 7 29% n/a 3 years 0.6% 7.3% 416.56

7 March 2013 319,494 3 years 712.0 7 24% n/a 3 years 0.4% 5.8% 598.16

6 March 2014 222,004 3 years 1035.0 7 23% n/a 3 years 1.1% 4.4% 907.07

9 March 2015 212,392 3 years 1110.0 7 19% n/a 3 years 1.0% 4.5% 971.27

6 August 2015 50,700 3 years 1035.5 1 19% n/a 3 years 1.0% 4.8% 896.48

Deferred Bonus 
Share Plan
Date of grant
7 March 2012 84,208 3 years 517.9 7 26% n/a 3 years 0.6% 7.3% 44.01

7 March 2013 92,726 3 years 712.0 7 24% n/a 3 years 0.4% 5.8% 60.91

6 March 2014 57,645 3 years 1035.0 7 23% n/a 3 years 1.1% 4.4% 106.7

9 March 2015 51,548 3 years 1110.0 7 19% n/a 3 years 1.0% 4.5% 88.22

Co-Investment Plan
Date of grant
10 April 2012 707,572 3 years 518.0 11 25% n/a 3 years 0.5% 7.3% 416.54

9 April 2013 447,292 3 years 768.0 7 24% n/a 3 years 0.3% 5.4% 653.45

7 April 2014 310,816 3 years 1035.0 7 23% n/a 3 years 1.1% 4.4% 907.07

7 April 2015 297,352 3 years 1124.0 7 19% n/a 3 years 0.7% 4.4% 985.15

One-off Share 
Award
Date of grant
2 April 2012 19,730 3 years 523.0 1 25% n/a 3 years 0.6% 7.3% 421.53

Berendsen Long-
term Incentive Plan
Date of grant 
7 March 2012 209,624 3 years 517.9 11 26% n/a 3 years 0.6% 7.3% 416.56

7 March 2013 143,894 3 years 712.0 11 24% n/a 3 years 0.4% 5.8% 598.16

7 March 2013 324,383 2 years 712.0 83 24% n/a 2 years 0.2% 5.8% 633.92

6 March 2014 93,500 3 years 1035.0 11 23% n/a 3 years 1.1% 4.4% 907.07

6 March 2014 191,400 2 years 1035.0 94 19% n/a 2 years 0.7% 4.4% 948.07

9 March 2015 76,500 3 years 1110.0 9 19% n/a 3 years 1.0% 4.5% 971.27

9 March 2015 230,700 2 years 1110.0 98 19% n/a 2 years 0.6% 4.5% 1015.5
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21 Share-based payments (continued)
The Performance Share Plan (PSP) provides for the grant of awards in the form of conditional free shares or nil costs options. 
Shares in relation to the award will be released to participants at the end of a three-year performance period, dependent upon the 
extent to which the performance conditions (adjusted EPS and ROIC) have been satisfied. 

The Co-Investment Plan (CIP) provides for the grant of awards in the form of nil cost options. Under this scheme, certain senior 
executives can invest up to 35% of their salary in shares annually, which is then matched on a gross basis with a granted award. 
The awards will be released to participants at the end of a three-year performance period, dependent upon the extent to which 
the performance conditions (adjusted EPS and ROIC) have been satisfied. Awards granted before 2013 had a guaranteed match, 
where a proportion of the awards granted were not dependent upon performance conditions. 

The Deferred Bonus Share Plan (DBSP) provides for the grant of awards that equal a quarter of an executive director’s annual 
bonus. Awards are conditional free shares which are dependent on the employee completing three years’ service from the date of 
the grant. 

The Berendsen Long-Term Incentive Plan (BLTIP) provides for the grant of awards in the form of nil cost options which 
are conditional on the employee achieving relevant, stretching three or two-year performance targets which are business 
unit specific.

The Executive Incentive Plan (EIP) awards are conditional on the employee achieving relevant, stretching, three year performance 
targets. Awards are no longer granted under this scheme. 

A one-off share award was granted on 2 April 2012 following the purchase of the Decontam business in Germany. The award is 
not performance related and vested on 1 April 2015.

The group has used the Black-Scholes model to value its share awards.

The volatility at the standard deviation of continuously compounded share returns is based on statistical analysis of daily share 
prices over the length of the award period. 

A reconciliation of movements in the number of share awards for the group can be summarised as follows:

Performance Share Plan

1 January  
2015

Number of shares
31 December 

2015 Vesting period/dateGranted Vested Lapsed

7 March 2012 450,639 – (357,807) (92,832) – 7 March 2015 – 7 March 2019

7 March 2013 319,494 – – – 319,494 7 March 2016 – 7 March 2020

6 March 2014 222,004 – – – 222,004 6 March 2017 – 6 March 2021

9 March 2015 – 212,392 – (50,900) 161,492 9 March 2018 – 9 March 2022

6 August 2015 – 50,700 – – 50,700 6 August 2018 – 6 August 2022

1 January  
2014

Number of shares
31 December 

2014 Vesting period/dateGranted Vested Lapsed

3 March 2011 435,097 – (337,197) (97,900) – 3 March 2014

7 March 2012 450,639 – – – 450,639 7 March 2015 – 7 March 2019

7 March 2013 319,494 – – – 319,494 7 March 2016 – 7 March 2020

6 March 2014 – 222,004 – – 222,004 6 March 2017 – 6 March 2021
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21 Share-based payments (continued)
Co-Investment Plan

1 January  
2015

Number of shares
31 December 

2015 Vesting period/dateGranted Vested Lapsed

10 April 2012 707,572 – (597,750) (109,822) – 10 April 2015 – 10 April 2019

9 April 2013 447,292 – – – 447,292 9 April 2016 – 9 April 2020

7 April 2014 310,816 – – – 310,816 7 April 2017 – 7 April 2021

7 April 2015 – 297,352 – (71,260) 226,092 7 April 2018 – 7 April 2022

1 January  
2014

Number of shares
31 December 

2014 Vesting period/dateGranted Vested Lapsed

12 April 2011 677,912 – (563,509) (114,403) – 12 April 2014

10 April 2012 707,572 – – – 707,572 10 April 2015 – 10 April 2019

9 April 2013 447,292 – – – 447,292 9 April 2016 – 9 April 2020

7 April 2014 – 310,816 – – 310,816 7 April 2017 – 7 April 2021

Deferred Bonus Share Plan

1 January  
2015

Number of shares
31 December 

2015 Vesting dateGranted Vested Lapsed

7 March 2012 84,208 – (84,208) – – 7 March 2015

7 March 2013 92,726 – – – 92,726 7 March 2016

6 March 2014 57,645 – – – 57,645 7 March 2017

9 March 2015 – 51,548 – – 51,548 9 March 2018

1 January  
2014

Number of shares
31 December 

2014 Vesting dateGranted Vested Lapsed

3 March 2011 81,179 – (81,179) – – 3 March 2014

7 March 2012 84,208 – – – 84,208 7 March 2015

7 March 2013 92,726 – – – 92,726 7 March 2016

6 March 2014 – 57,645 – – 57,645 6 March 2017
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21 Share-based payments (continued)
Berendsen Long-term Incentive Plan

1 January  
2015

Number of shares
31 December 

2015 Vesting period/dateGranted Vested Lapsed

7 March 2012 186,356 – (116,791) (69,565) – 7 March 2015

7 March 2013 143,894 – – – 143,894 7 March 2016

6 March 2013 309,821 – (115,750) (194,071) – 7 March 2015

6 March 2014 93,500 – – – 93,500 6 March 2017

6 March 2014 186,400 – – (11,600) 174,800 6 March 2016

9 March 2015 – 76,500 – – 76,500 9 March 2018

9 March 2015 – 230,700 – (12,200) 218,500 9 March 2017

1 January  
2014

Number of shares
31 December 

2014 Vesting period/dateGranted Vested Lapsed

7 March 2012 186,356 – – – 186,356 7 March 2015

7 March 2012 396,848 – (220,246) (176,602) – 7 March 2014

7 March 2013 143,894 – – – 143,894 7 March 2016

7 March 2013 324,383 – – (14,562) 309,821 7 March 2015

6 March 2014 – 93,500 – – 93,500 6 March 2017

6 March 2014 – 191,400 – (5,000) 186,400 6 March 2016

Executive Incentive Plan

1 January  
2014

Number of shares
31 December 

2014 Vesting dateGranted Vested Lapsed

4 March 2011 736,891 – (415,654) (321,237) – 4 March 2014

One-off Share Award

1 January  
2015

Number of shares
31 December 

2015 Vesting dateGranted Vested Lapsed

2 April 2012 19,730 – (19,730) – – 1 April 2015

1 January  
2014

Number of shares
31 December 

2014 Vesting dateGranted Vested Lapsed

2 April 2012 19,730 – – – 19,730 1 April 2015
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22 Principal subsidiary undertakings

Company Class of shares held Country of incorporation

UK and Ireland

Berendsen UK Limited1 Ordinary England

Berendsen Ireland Limited Ordinary Republic of Ireland

Berendsen Northern Ireland Limited Ordinary Northern Ireland

IHSS Limited Ordinary England

Berendsen Finance Limited1.2 Ordinary England

Berendsen Cleanroom Services Limited Ordinary England

Continental Europe

Berendsen A/S1.2 Ordinary Denmark

Berendsen Textil Service A/S1 Ordinary Denmark

Berendsen Textil Service AB Ordinary Sweden

Berendsen Sourcing AB Ordinary Sweden

Berendsen Textil Service AB – Filial I Finland Ordinary Sweden

Berendsen Tekstil Service AS Ordinary Norway

AS ‘Berendsen Tekstila Serviss’ Ordinary Latvia

‘Berendsen Textile Service’, UAB Ordinary Lithuania

Berendsen Beteiligungs GmbH Ordinary Germany

Berendsen GmbH Ordinary Austria

Berendsen Textiel Service BV Ordinary Holland

Groene Team B.V. Ordinary Holland

Berendsen Textile Service Sp.z.o.o. Ordinary Poland

Berendsen Textile Servis s.r.o. Ordinary Czech Republic

Berendsen Textile Service A/S Ordinary Estonia

AS Svarmil Ordinary Estonia

1 Owned directly by Berendsen plc. All principal subsidiary undertakings are 100% owned and consolidated. 

2 The principal activity of these companies is that of a holding company. The principal activity of all other companies is that of textile maintenance.

Details of non-principal group undertakings are set out in note 32.
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23 Cash flow from operating activities
Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash inflow from operating activities:

Cash generated from operations

Year to 
31 December 

2015 
£m

Year to 
31 December 

2014
Restated* 

£m

Profit for the year 88.9 89.9

Adjustments for:

Taxation 24.5 27.1

Goodwill impairment 6.4 –

Amortisation of intangible assets 18.7 26.3

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 165.4 172.6

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (2.8) (3.3)

Finance income (2.0) (2.9)

Finance costs 20.7 23.1

Special pension contribution payments (note 27) (3.7) (5.0)

Other movements 3.7 4.0

Changes in working capital (excluding effect of acquisitions, disposals and exchange  
differences on consolidation):

Inventories* (1.9) (8.4)

Trade and other receivables (11.5) (5.8)

Trade and other payables 2.5 14.3

Provisions – (2.1)

Cash generated from operations* 308.9 329.8

In the cash flow statement, proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment (including assets held for sale) comprise:

Year to 
31 December 

2015 
£m

Year to 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Net book amount 10.5 7.1

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment 2.8 3.3

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 13.3 10.4

Year to 
31 December 

2015 
£m

Year to 
31 December 

2014
Restated 

£m

Free cash flow 102.5 122.6

Analysis of free cash flow

Net cash generated from operating activities 273.2 292.3

Add back special pension contribution payments 3.7 5.0

Purchases of property, plant and equipment* (181.5) (180.5)

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment 13.3 10.4

Purchases of intangible assets (6.2) (4.6)

Free cash flow 102.5 122.6

 * In 2015, the group reclassified the carrying values of textile rental garments awaiting delivery to customers from property, plant and equipment to finished 
goods as part of inventory. Although the impact is not significant the following items have been reclassified in 2014 to aid comparison. Cash generated 
from operations, decrease of £2.7 million, and purchases of property, plant and equipment, reduction of £2.7 million, have been restated in 2014 to reflect 
this reclassification in the prior years also. There is no impact on total cash flows in 2014. 
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24 Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt
Year to 

31 December 
2015 

£m

Year to 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Net increase in cash 41.7 26.1

Cash (inflow)/outflow from movement in debt and lease financing (19.3) 19.2

Decrease in net debt resulting from cash flows 22.4 45.3

Net finance leases (1.5) (2.2)

Bank loans and lease obligations acquired with subsidiaries – (1.3)

Currency translation (17.4) (27.2)

Decrease in net debt during the year 3.5 14.6

Net debt at beginning of year (374.4) (389.0)

Net debt at end of year (370.9) (374.4)

25 Acquisitions and disposals

a) Acquisitions
During the year the group made a number of small acquisitions including a UK Flat Linen business in the hospitality sector, 
DelfinVask a Healthcare business in Denmark and Scott Tvatt AB a Workwear business in Sweden.

Details of the provisional fair values of the assets and liabilities are set out below:

Total 
Provisional fair  

values 
£m

Intangible assets (note 9) 2.8

Property, plant and equipment (note 10) 5.6

Trade and other receivables 0.8

Cash and cash equivalents 0.3

Trade and other payables (0.9)

Deferred tax liabilities (note 19) (0.2)

Net assets acquired 8.4

Goodwill (note 8) 0.8

Consideration 9.2

Consideration satisfied by:

Cash 9.1

Deferred consideration 0.1

9.2

Acquisition related costs of £0.5 million (2014: £0.2 million) are included in the income statement.

Shown below are the revenues and profit for the year after tax as if the above acquisitions had been made at the beginning of the 
period. The information is not indicative of the results of operations that would have occurred had the purchase been made at the 
beginning of the period presented or the future results of the combined operations.

2015 
£m

Revenue 4.2

Profit after tax 0.5
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25 Acquisitions and disposals (continued)
From the date of acquisition to 31 December 2015, the above acquisitions contributed £2.0 million to revenue and £0.1 million to 
profit after tax for the year.

During the year the group paid deferred consideration on previous acquisitions. A reconciliation of the total net cash paid for 
acquisitions is provided:

£m

Cash consideration, net of cash acquired 8.8

Deferred consideration paid for previous acquisitions 0.4

9.2

b) Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary
On 16 July 2015, the company acquired the remaining 10% of the issued shares of Frederiksborg Linnedservice A/S (FLS) for a 
purchase consideration of £0.9 million. The group now holds 100% of the equity share capital of FLS. The carrying amount of the 
non-controlling interests in FLS on the date of acquisition was £1.2 million. The group derecognised non-controlling interests of 
£1.2 million and recorded an increase in equity attributable to owners of the parent of £0.3 million. The effect of changes in the 
ownership interest of FLS on the equity attributable to owners of the company during the year is summarised as follows:

2015 
£m

Carrying amount of non-controlling interests acquired 1.2

Consideration paid to non-controlling interests (0.9)

Deficit of consideration paid recognised in parent’s equity 0.3

26 Employees and directors
Staff costs for the group during the year:

Year to 
31 December 

2015 
£m

Year to 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Wages and salaries 328.1 334.6

Social security costs 44.0 46.1

Other pension costs 13.4 13.2

Share-based payment charges (note 21) 4.6 5.6

390.1 399.5

Average monthly number of people (including directors) employed
2015 

Number
2014 

Number

By business line:

Workwear 3,479 3,497

Facility 2,251 2,116

UK Flat Linen 4,621 4,121

Total Core 10,351 9,734

Clinical Solutions and Decontamination 1,224 1,200

Flat Linen outside UK 3,425 3,308

Total Manage for Value 4,649 4,508

Central 667 390

Group 15,667 14,632
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26 Employees and directors (continued)
Key management compensation

Year to 
31 December 

2015 
£m

Year to 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Salaries and short-term employee benefits 5.6 5.3

Post-employment benefit contributions 0.6 0.5

Share-based payments 2.8 4.3

9.0 10.1

The key management compensation above includes eight (2014: seven) Berendsen plc directors and five (2014: five) Executive 
Board members who are not Berendsen plc directors.

Directors
Year to 

31 December 
2015 

£m

Year to 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Salaries and short-term employee benefits 2.3 2.2

Post-employment benefit contributions 0.3 0.2

Share-based payments 0.9 1.7

3.5 4.1

As at 31 December 2015, three (2014: two) directors were accruing retirement benefits under money purchase schemes, in 
respect of their services to the company.

Further details of the directors’ emoluments, including benefits received by the highest paid director, are disclosed in the 
Remuneration report on page 90. 

27 Pension commitments

Defined contribution schemes 
Pension costs for defined contribution schemes are as follows:

Year to 
31 December 

2015 
£m

Year to 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Defined contribution schemes (note i) 12.2 12.5

i Total included within staff costs (note 26).

Defined benefit plans 
The Group operates a number of defined benefit schemes and unfunded schemes. Of these, the principal schemes are the 
defined benefit plans in the UK and the unfunded scheme in Sweden.

Within the United Kingdom, the group now operates only the one registered defined benefit pension scheme (Berendsen 
DB (UK) Retirement Benefits Scheme (formerly known as the Davis Service Group Retirement Benefits Scheme)), following a 
merger with the one other smaller scheme on 1 February 2013. The triennial valuation of the newly merged scheme at that date 
required that, as well as the employer contributions for the 110 active members of the scheme, Berendsen continue contributions 
to cover the past service deficit, arising under the technical provisions, of £1.25 million per quarter until August 2015. A further 
triennial valuation is being carried out at 1 February 2016 and once finalised any further contributions required to be made by the 
Company will be assessed at that time. This valuation is expected to be completed in late 2016 and no additional contributions are 
expected to be made by the company in 2016.
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27 Pension commitments (continued)
The level of benefits provided depends on each member’s length of scheme membership and salary in the final years 
leading up to retirement. In the UK plan, the pensions in payment are generally increased by 5% in respect of pre-1 February 
1999 membership, and by the retail price index for membership from that date. Benefit payments are made from trustee 
administered funds. Plan assets are governed by regulations in the UK, as is the nature of the relationship between the group and 
the trustees and their composition. Responsibility for governance of the plan, including investment decisions and contribution 
schedules, lies jointly with the company and the trustees. The trustees must comprise of representatives of the company and plan 
members in accordance with legislation. Overseas, there is a comparatively small defined benefit scheme operated in Ireland. 

Along with the scheme in Sweden, further unfunded schemes exist within Germany, Norway and Poland. Under all 
unfunded schemes the group discharges its pension obligations through schemes administered by insurance companies or 
government agencies.

The overall surplus on the plans is £15.8 million of which £44.6 million surplus is in respect of the UK plan. There is a deficit of 
£28.8 million on other funded and unfunded plans, of which £25.4 million relates to Sweden.

Where a defined benefit scheme is administered by an insurance company with a collective of other companies and the insurance 
company is unable to assess the share of the group’s pension obligation, the pension scheme has been accounted for as a defined 
contribution pension scheme.

At the last valuation date the present value of the defined benefit obligation was comprised of 588 active employees, 2,516 
deferred members and 1,561 members in retirement. 

Expected contributions, including special contributions, to post employment benefit schemes for the year ended 31 December 
2016 are £1.0 million (2015: £6.4 million).

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation across all schemes is 17.6 years (2014: 18.4 years).

The actuarial valuations of the UK scheme, together with the other defined benefit schemes operated by the group have been 
updated as at 31 December 2015 by qualified actuaries using revised assumptions that are consistent with the requirements of 
IAS19. The principal assumptions made by the actuaries were:

2015 
%

2014 
%

Rate of increase in pensionable salaries 2.8 2.8

Rate of increase in pensions in payment and deferred pensions 2.8 2.8

Discount rate 3.8 3.5

Inflation rate – RPI 2.8 2.8

Inflation rate – CPI 1.8 2.0

Mortality rate
Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are set based on advice, published statistics and experience in each territory. 
The average life expectancy in years of a pensioner retiring at age 65 on the balance sheet date is as follows:

2015 2014

Male 23.3 23.3

Female 24.3 24.2

The average life expectancy in years of a pensioner retiring at age 65, 20 years after the balance sheet date, is as follows:

2015 2014

Male 23.6 23.6

Female 26.2 26.1
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27 Pension commitments (continued)
As at 

31 December 
2015 

£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
£m

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are determined as follows:

Present value of obligations (319.2) (338.1)

Fair value of plan assets 335.0 339.1

Net asset recognised in balance sheet 15.8 1.0

Analysed as:

Pension scheme surplus 44.6 35.7

Pension scheme deficit and unfunded schemes (28.8) (34.7)

15.8 1.0

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets are as follows:

2015 
%

2014 
%

European equities 13 13

North American equities 5 5

Asia Pacific equities 5 5

European bonds 42 43

European gilts 3 3

Other 32 31

100 100

Other assets consist principally of investments in managed multi-asset growth funds. In the case of the funded plans, the group 
ensures that the investment position is managed within a framework that considers the Scheme’s liability profile, funding position, 
expected return of the various asset classes and the need for diversification. Within this framework, the group’s objective is to 
ensure that sufficiently liquid assets are available to meet benefit payments and the Scheme’s assets achieve a return that is 
consistent with the assumptions made by the Trustees in determining the funding of the Scheme. 

A large portion of assets in 2015 consists of equities and bonds, although the Scheme also invests in diversified growth funds and 
a small amount of cash. The majority of equities are invested in a globally diversified portfolio of international blue chip entities 
with a target of 35% UK and 65% overseas. The other growth assets are the diversified growth funds which have a target of 32% 
of the overall portfolio. The remainder of the Scheme’s assets are invested in corporated bonds.

The trustees sought the employer’s agreement to implement a Liability Driven Investment portfolio. This will use specialist assets 
that employ leverage, to match more of the Scheme’s liabilities, for a given asset value, than a conventional bond. This portfolio 
will be implemented when market conditions become more favourable.

The group agreed that it would aim to eliminate the deficit on a technical provisions basis by the end of 2015 and deficit 
contributions of £1.25 million per quarter have been made to achieve this. Funding levels are monitored on a quarterly basis and 
the current agreed contribution rate in respect of active members is 29.5% of pensionable salaries. These contribution rates were 
set following the completion of the latest triennial valuation of the scheme as at 1 February 2013. The next triennial valuation is due 
later in 2016 after which further contribution rates will be assessed.

Year to 
31 December 

2015 
£m

Year to 
31 December 

2014 
£m

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:

Current service cost 1.7 1.8

Interest cost 11.6 12.9

Return on plan assets (12.1) (14.0)

Curtailment gain – –

Total included within staff costs (note 26) 1.2 0.7
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27 Pension commitments (continued)
2015 

£m
2014 

£m

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

Present value of obligations as at 1 January 338.1 302.2

Current service cost 1.7 1.8

Interest cost 11.6 12.9

Actuarial (gain)/loss (17.9) 37.3

Benefits paid (11.8) (11.2)

Contributions by members 0.1 0.1

Currency translation (2.6) (5.0)

Present value of obligations as at 31 December 319.2 338.1

2015 
£m

2014 
£m

Changes in the fair value of the plan assets are as follows:

Fair value of plan assets as at 1 January 339.1 309.3

Return on plan assets 12.1 14.0

Employer special contributions 3.7 5.0

Contributions – employee and employer 1.1 1.4

Benefits paid (10.9) (10.2)

Actuarial (loss)/gain (9.0) 20.8

Currency translation (1.1) (1.2)

Fair value of plan assets as at 31 December 335.0 339.1

Actuarial gains and losses in the year may be further analysed as follows:

2015 
£m

2014 
£m

Return on plan assets (9.0) 20.7

Gain from changes in demographic assumptions – 9.0

Gain/(loss) from changes in financial assumptions 16.5 (47.1)

Experience gain 1.4 0.9

Net actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in the year 8.9 (16.5)

Cumulative actuarial gains and losses recognised in equity
2015 

£m
2014 

£m

1 January (121.2) (104.7)

Net actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in the year 8.9 (16.5)

31 December (112.3) (121.2)

The actual return on plan assets was a gain of £3.1 million (2014: gain of £34.7 million).

The pension surplus is recognised in the balance sheet as the company has the right to any surplus after settlement of all liabilities 
under the terms of the trust deed.

Sensitivities
The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the weighted principal assumptions is set out below for the defined 
benefit schemes and unfunded schemes. The tables set out the impact on the benefit obligation due to an increase or decrease in 
the key assumptions.
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27 Pension commitments (continued)

Defined benefit schemes
Change in  

assumption
Increase in  

assumption
Decrease in 
assumption

Discount rate 0.5% (8)% 9%

Salary growth rate 0.5% – –

Pension growth rate 0.5% 2% (2)%

Life expectancy Change by 1 year 3% (3)%

Unfunded schemes
Change in  

assumption
Increase in  

assumption
Decrease in 
assumption

Discount rate 0.5% (8)% 10%

Salary growth rate 0.5% 5% (4)%

Pension growth rate 0.5% 7% (7)%

Life expectancy Change by 1 year 4% (4)%

The above sensitivity analysis are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, 
this is unlikely to occur and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined 
benefit to significant actuarial assumptions the same method has been applied when calculating the pension liability recognised 
within the statement of financial position.

28 Operating lease commitments – minimum lease payments
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2015 2014

Property 
£m

Vehicles,  
plant  
and  

equipment 
£m

Property 
£m

Vehicles,  
plant  
and  

equipment 
£m

Within one year 5.9 11.0 6.7 11.8

Later than one year and less than five years 18.4 19.6 16.9 22.7

After five years 10.0 0.5 10.7 0.9

34.3 31.1 34.3 35.4

The group leases various offices and warehouses under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The leases have various 
terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights.
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29 Capital commitments
As at 

31 December 
2015 

£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Contracts placed for future capital expenditure not provided in the financial statements:

Property, plant and equipment 31.7 19.1

30 Contingent liabilities
The group operates from a number of laundries across Europe. Some of the sites have operated as laundry sites for many years, 
and historic environmental liabilities may exist, although the group has indemnities from third parties in respect of a number of 
sites. The extent of these liabilities and the cover provided by the indemnities are reviewed where appropriate with the relevant 
third party. The company is currently defending a legal claim to the warranties received for any environmental damage that might 
have existed when it purchased laundry sites in Sweden. The company expects to have its warranties, which were contractually 
received in a clear and unequivocal manner, to be confirmed in full. The company does not expect to incur any significant loss in 
respect of these or any other sites.

31 Related parties
There have been no significant related party transactions in the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: nil), except for key 
management compensation as set out in note 26. 

32 Non-principal subsidiary undertakings
The following entities complete the full list of the company’s subsidiary undertakings. See also note 22.

The following subsidiaries represent the company’s non-principal subsidiary undertakings. All subsidiaries are 100% owned and 
consolidated, unless otherwise stated.

Company Class of shares held Country of incorporation

UK and Ireland

Acorn Services (North West) Limited Ordinary England

Berendsen Finance (DKK) Limited** Ordinary England

Berendsen Finance (Euro 2) Limited Ordinary England

Berendsen Finance (Euro) Limited** Ordinary England

Berendsen Nominees Limited** Ordinary England

Camborne-Redruth Laundry Company Limited Ordinary England

Cavendish Laundry Limited Ordinary England

Charnwood Laundry Limited Ordinary England

Combined Linen Service Limited Ordinary England

Davis (BIM) Limited** Ordinary England

Davis (FH) Limited Ordinary England

Davis (JH) Limited** Ordinary England

Eamont Vale Laundry and Cleaners Limited Ordinary England

Fabricare Limited Ordinary England

Fakenham Laundry Services Limited Ordinary England

Guardline Newbury Ltd Ordinary England

Hall & Letts Limited Ordinary England

IH Decontamination Services (Cardiff) Limited Ordinary England

Lakeland Pennine Group Limited Ordinary England

Lakeland Pennine Limited Ordinary England

Laundrycraft Limited Ordinary England

Midland Laundry Group Holdings Limited Ordinary England
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32 Non-principal subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Company Class of shares held Country of incorporation

UK and Ireland

Midland Laundry Group Limited Ordinary England

Mitre Furnishing (Ireland) Limited Ordinary England

Mitre Furnishing Group Limited Ordinary England

National Sunlight Laundries Limited Ordinary England

Rocialle Limited Ordinary England

Salop Textile Solutions Limited Ordinary England

Society Linen Limited Ordinary England

Spring Grove Services Group Limited Ordinary England

Spring Grove Services Limited Ordinary England

St. Helens Laundry Limited Ordinary England

Sunlight (72078) Limited Ordinary England

Sunlight (Lyndale) Limited Ordinary England

Sunlight (New Era Linen) Limited Ordinary England

Sunlight (Newbury) Limited Ordinary England

Sunlight Clinical Solutions Limited Ordinary England

Sunlight Service Group (Shop Investments) Limited Ordinary England

Sunlight Services Limited Ordinary England

Sunlight Textile Services Limited Ordinary England

Sunlight Workwear Services Limited Ordinary England

The Lizard and District Hygienic Steam Laundry Company Limited Ordinary England

The Sunlight Group Limited Ordinary England

The Sunlight Service Group Limited Ordinary England

West Kent Laundry Limited Ordinary England

Berendsen Supply Chain (Northern Ireland) Limited Ordinary Northern Ireland

Berendsen Finance Ireland (DKK) Limited Ordinary Republic of Ireland

Berendsen Finance Ireland (Euro) Limited** Ordinary Republic of Ireland

Berendsen Finance Ireland (PLN) Limited** Ordinary Republic of Ireland

Berendsen Ireland Holdings Limited Ordinary Republic of Ireland

Nanoclean Limited Ordinary Republic of Ireland

Steri-tex Limited Ordinary Republic of Ireland

BDF Healthcare Ltd Ordinary Scotland

BDF Holdings Limited Ordinary Scotland

BDF Limited Ordinary Scotland

Dunfermline and West Fife Laundry Limited Ordinary Scotland

New Wave Laundries Limited Ordinary Scotland

Continental Europe

Frederiksborg Linnedservice A/S Ordinary Denmark

Berendsen Textile Service Oy Ordinary Finland

Askulta Nord Textilpflege GmbH & Co KG Ordinary Germany

Berendsen GmbH Ordinary Germany

Berendsen GmbH Füssen Ordinary Germany

Berendsen GmbH Glückstadt Ordinary Germany
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32 Non-principal subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Company Class of shares held Country of incorporation

Continental Europe

Berendsen GmbH Meßkirch Ordinary Germany

Berendsen GmbH Nordost Ordinary Germany

Berendsen GmbH Schleswig Ordinary Germany

Berendsen GmbH West Ordinary Germany

Berendsen Group Services GmbH Ordinary Germany

Berendsen Textilservice GmbH Ordinary Germany

Decontam GmbH Ordinary Germany

Glückstadter Textilservice GmbH & Co oHG Ordinary Germany

Klarner-Textilservice GmbH Ordinary Germany

Mietex GmbH Berufsbekelidung und Schmutzmattenleasing Ordinary Germany

PTS Pinneberger Textil-Service GmbH Ordinary Germany

Saniwo Textil-Gesellschaft mbH Ordinary Germany

TSL Textilservice – und Logistik GmbH Ordinary Germany

S Berendsen (Netherlands) BV Ordinary Holland

S Berendsen AB Ordinary Sweden

Berendsen Textil Servis s.r.o Ordinary Slovakia

OOO Berendsen Ordinary Russian Federation

The following non-principal undertakings are not owned 100% but are included within the group’s consolidated results unless 
otherwise stated.

Company Class of shares held % of shares held
Country of 

incorporation

UK and Ireland

Guardline Technology Ltd Ordinary 50% England

Micronclean Ltd Ordinary 50% England

Micronclean Moss Ltd Ordinary 50% England

Guardtech Cleanrooms Ltd Ordinary 15% England

Continental Europe

Jysk Linnedservice A/S Ordinary 70% Denmark

AKK-Service GmbH Ordinary 10% Germany

Jentex GmbH Ordinary 49% Germany

RK-Waschereinigung Süd GmbH i.L Ordinary 50% Germany

Westtex Textilservice und Logistik GmbH i.L Ordinary 50% Germany

** Owned directly by Berendsen Plc.
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Report on the parent company 
financial statements
Our opinion 

In our opinion, Berendsen plc’s parent 
company financial statements (the 
“financial statements”):

 a give a true and fair view of the state 
of the parent company’s affairs as 
at 31 December 2015 and of its cash 
flows for the year then ended;

 a have been properly prepared in 
accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRSs”) as adopted by the European 
Union and as applied in accordance 
with the provisions of the Companies 
Act 2006; and

 a have been prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006.

What we have audited

The financial statements, included within 
the Report and Accounts (the “Annual 
Report”), comprise:

 a the parent company balance sheet as 
at 31 December 2015;

 a the parent company cash flow 
statement for the year then ended;

 a the parent company statement 
of changes in equity for the year 
then ended;

 a the accounting policies; and

 a the notes to the financial 
statements, which include other 
explanatory information.

The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in the preparation of 
the financial statements is applicable law 
and IFRSs as adopted by the European 
Union and as applied in accordance 
with the provisions of the Companies 
Act 2006.

Other required reporting
Consistency of other information
Companies Act 2006 opinion

In our opinion, the information given in 
the Strategic Report and the Directors’ 
Report for the financial year for which 
the financial statements are prepared is 
consistent with the financial statements.

ISAs (UK & Ireland) reporting

Under International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“ISAs (UK & 
Ireland)”) we are required to report to 
you if, in our opinion, information in the 
Annual Report is:

 a materially inconsistent with the 
information in the audited financial 
statements; or

 a apparently materially incorrect based 
on, or materially inconsistent with, our 
knowledge of the parent company 
acquired in the course of performing 
our audit; or

 a otherwise misleading.

We have no exceptions to report arising 
from this responsibility.

Adequacy of accounting records and 
information and explanations received

Under the Companies Act 2006 
we are required to report to you if, 
in our opinion:

 a we have not received all the 
information and explanations 
we require for our audit; or

 a adequate accounting records have 
not been kept by the parent company, 
or returns adequate for our audit have 
not been received from branches not 
visited by us; or

 a the financial statements and the part 
of the Directors’ Remuneration Report 
to be audited are not in agreement 
with the accounting records 
and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising 
from this responsibility.

Directors’ remuneration

Directors’ remuneration report – 
Companies Act 2006 opinion

In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report to be audited has 
been properly prepared in accordance 
with the Companies Act 2006.

Other Companies Act 2006 reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we 
are required to report to you if, in our 
opinion, certain disclosures of directors’ 
remuneration specified by law are not 
made. We have no exceptions to report 
arising from this responsibility. 

Responsibilities for the 
financial statements and 
the audit
Our responsibilities and those 
of the directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ 
Responsibilities for the financial 
statements set out on page 109, 
the directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view.

Our responsibility is to audit and express 
an opinion on the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and ISAs 
(UK & Ireland). Those standards require 
us to comply with the Auditing Practices 
Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has 
been prepared for and only for the 
parent company’s members as a body 
in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 
of the Companies Act 2006 and for no 
other purpose. We do not, in giving these 
opinions, accept or assume responsibility 
for any other purpose or to any other 
person to whom this report is shown 
or into whose hands it may come save 
where expressly agreed by our prior 
consent in writing.

Independent auditors’ report to the members of Berendsen plc
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What an audit of financial statements 
involves

We conducted our audit in accordance 
with ISAs (UK & Ireland). An audit 
involves obtaining evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement, 
whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes an assessment of: 

 a whether the accounting policies 
are appropriate to the parent 
company’s circumstances and 
have been consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed; 

 a the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the 
directors; and 

 a the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

We primarily focus our work in these 
areas by assessing the directors’ 
judgements against available evidence, 
forming our own judgements, and 
evaluating the disclosures in the 
financial statements.

We test and examine information, using 
sampling and other auditing techniques, 
to the extent we consider necessary to 
provide a reasonable basis for us to draw 
conclusions. We obtain audit evidence 
through testing the effectiveness of 
controls, substantive procedures or a 
combination of both. 

In addition, we read all the financial 
and non-financial information in the 
Annual Report to identify material 
inconsistencies with the audited 
financial statements and to identify 
any information that is apparently 
materially incorrect based on, or 
materially inconsistent with, the 
knowledge acquired by us in the 
course of performing the audit. If we 
become aware of any apparent material 
misstatements or inconsistencies we 
consider the implications for our report.

Other matter
We have reported separately on 
the group financial statements of 
Berendsen plc for the year ended 
31 December 2015.

Matthew Mullins (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London

25 February 2016
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The parent company statements are prepared under IFRS and relate to the company and not to the group. The statement of 
accounting policies which have applied to these accounts can be found on pages 187 to 190 and a separate independent auditors’ 
report on page 182.

Company balance sheet

As at 31 December 2015 Notes

As at  
31 December 

2015 
£m

As at  
31 December 

 2014  
£m

As at
1 January

2014
£m

Assets

Investments 4 894.4 827.9 859.9

Intangible assets 3 – 0.1 0.1

Property, plant and equipment 2 0.1 0.2 0.4

Deferred tax assets 7 0.9 2.0 7.7

Derivative financial instruments 10 51.4 40.3 21.0

Pension scheme surplus 8 40.2 34.6 35.5

Other receivables 5 125.2 223.1 285.5

Total non-current assets 1,112.2 1,128.2 1,210.1

Derivative financial instruments 10 16.3 0.2 1.8

Other receivables 5 11.0 18.9 30.1

Cash and cash equivalents 56.0 1.6 0.1

Total current assets 83.3 20.7 32.0

Liabilities

Borrowings 9 (87.7) – (30.8)

Derivative financial instruments 10 (5.3) (0.6) (6.9)

Trade and other payables 6 (16.6) (116.1) (122.2)

Total current liabilities (109.6) (116.7) (159.9)

Net current liabilities (26.3) (96.0) (127.9)

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 9 (408.8) (463.0) (437.7)

Derivative financial instruments 10 (5.9) (17.4) (33.2)

Deferred tax liabilities 7 (16.9) (11.7) (8.5)

Provisions – – (2.5)

Other payables 6 (64.7) (69.0) (140.7)

Total non-current liabilities (496.3) (561.1) (622.6)

Net assets 589.6 471.1 459.6

Equity

Share capital 12 51.8 51.8 51.8

Share premium 99.5 99.4 99.2

Other reserves 17.0 13.5 18.4

Capital redemption reserve 150.9 150.9 150.9

Retained earnings 270.4 155.5 139.3

Total equity 589.6 471.1 459.6

The financial statements on pages 184 to 214 were approved by the board and signed on its behalf by.

James Drummond Kevin Quinn
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
25 February 2016
Berendsen plc 
Registered no. 1480047

Berendsen plc  
Report and Accounts 2015

184 Parent company balance sheet



Company cash flow statement 

For the year ended 31 December 2015 Notes

Year to 
31 December 

2015 
£m

Year to 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 13 7.6 7.4

Interest paid (18.7) (20.2)

Interest received 5.2 4.7

Income tax received 7.2 5.7

Net cash generated from operating activities 1.3 (2.4)

Cash flows from investing activities

Investment in subsidiary undertakings 4 (0.1) –

Purchases of property, plant and equipment 2 (0.1) (0.1)

Dividends received 200.5 89.2

Net cash used in investing activities 200.3 89.1

Cash flows from financing activities

Net proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital 0.1 0.2

Purchase of own shares by the Employee Benefit Trust (14.2) (11.2)

Payment of loan issue costs (2.1) –

Drawdown of borrowings 199.9 120.7

Repayment of borrowings (170.1) (145.0)

Dividends paid to company’s shareholders (52.1) (48.8)

Net cash used in financing activities (38.5) (84.1)

Net increase in cash 163.1 2.6

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year (104.3) (103.3)

Exchange losses on cash (2.8) (3.6)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 56.0 (104.3)
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Parent company statement of changes in equity 
Attributable to the shareholders of the company

Share capital 
£m

Share premium 
£m

Other reserves
£m

Capital 
redemption 
reserve £m

Retained 
earnings £m

Total equity 
£m

At 1 January 2014 as previously reported 51.8 99.2 18.4 150.9 97.3 417.6

IFRS conversion adjustments – – – – 42.0 42.0

As at 1 January 2014 under IFRS 51.8 99.2 18.4 150.9 139.3 459.6

Profit for the financial year (note 1) – – – – 73.6 73.6

Dividends paid* – – – – (48.8) (48.8)

Actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in 
pension scheme net of deferred tax – – – – (4.6) (4.6)

Issue of share capital in respect of share 
option schemes* – 0.2 – – – 0.2

Purchase of own shares by the 
Employee Benefit Trust* – – – – (10.5) (10.5)

Hedging reserve net of deferred tax – – (4.9) – – (4.9)

Value of employee service in respect of 
share options* – – – – 7.5 7.5

Corporation tax charged through equity – – – – (1.0) (1.0)

At 31 December 2014 51.8 99.4 13.5 150.9 155.5 471.1

Profit for the financial year (note 1) – – – – 174.9 174.9

Dividends paid* – – – – (52.1) (52.1)

Actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in 
pension scheme net of deferred tax – – – – 1.5 1.5

Issue of share capital in respect of share 
option schemes* – 0.1 – – – 0.1

Purchase of own shares by the 
Employee Benefit Trust* – – – – (14.2) (14.2)

Hedging reserve net of deferred tax – – 3.5 – – 3.5

Value of employee service in respect of 
share options* – – – – 4.8 4.8

At 31 December 2015 51.8 99.5 17.0 150.9 270.4 589.6

The company has an Employee Benefit Trust to administer the share plans and to acquire company shares, using funds 
contributed by the group, to meet commitments to group employees. At 31 December 2015, the Trust held 1,715,142 
(2014: 1,870,186) shares.

Value of employee service in respect of share options is £4.8 million in 2015 (2014: £7.5 million). This includes the group charge of 
£4.6 million (2014: £5.6 million) and deferred tax of £0.2 million (2014: £1.9 million).

Included within retained earnings is a gain of £13.4 million (2014: gain of £13.4 million) which relates to currency translation.

Within profit for the year, there is a loss of £9.4 million relating to a fair value hedge net of deferred tax (2014: loss of £1.8 million)

 * Transactions with owners.

Berendsen plc  
Report and Accounts 2015

186 Parent company statement of changes in equity



Basis of preparation
The company has adopted the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IFRIC interpretations 
endorsed by the European Union (EU) and those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under 
IFRS for the first time for the purpose of preparing financial statements for the period ending 31 of December 2015. The financial 
statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of assets held for sale, and 
relate to the company as a single entity.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies, set out below, which have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented except for those detailed below where IFRS 1 permits companies adopting IFRS 
for the first time to take exemptions. These accounting policies comply with applicable IFRS standards and IFRIC interpretations 
issued and effective at the time of preparing these statements.

The rules for the first time adoption of IFRS are set out in IFRS 1, ‘First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting 
Standards’. IFRS 1 requires use of the same accounting policies in the IFRS transition balance sheet and for all periods presented 
thereafter. Restated balance sheets as required under IFRS are included in notes 17 and 18 to these financial statements.

IFRS 1 permits companies adopting IFRS for the first time to take exemptions from the full requirements of IFRS in the transition 
period. In preparing these financial statements the company has elected to take the following exemptions:

 a IFRS 2 ‘Shared-based payments’ has not been applied to equity instruments granted before 7 November 2002.

Going concern
The company meets its day-to-day working capital requirements through its bank facilities. The company’s forecasts and 
projections, taking account of reasonably possible changes in trading performance, show that the company should be able to 
operate within the level of its current facilities. After having assessed the principal risks and other matters in connection with the 
viability statement, the directors consider it appropriate to adopt the going concern statement basis of accounting in preparing 
the financial statements. Further information on the company’s borrowings is given in note 9.

Key assumptions and sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions about the future and key sources of estimation uncertaintly that have a risk of causing a material adustment 
to the carrying value of assets and liabilities within the next 12 months are pensions and other postemployment benefits, income 
taxes and share based payments. The nature of these risks is discussed further within the consolidated financial statements on 
page 131 of this report.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in sterling, which is the company’s functional and presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at 
year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised within profit, except 
when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities such as foreign equity investments held at fair value 
through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss. 

Investments
Investments are initially stated at cost. Investments denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing on the 
balance sheet date, only to the extent that they are hedged by foreign currency borrowings. All such exchange differences are 
offset directly in the income statement. Investments are tested for impairment when an event that might affect asset value has 
occurred. An impairment loss is recognised to the extent that the carrying amount cannot be recovered either by selling the asset 
or by the discounted future cash flows from the investment.
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Intangible assets

Computer software
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific 
software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives (not exceeding three years).

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. 

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are shown at cost less depreciation. Costs include the original purchase price of the asset and the 
costs attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use.

Depreciation and Amortisation
Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write-off the cost or valuation, less estimated residual value, of each asset on a 
straight-line basis over its expected useful life, as follows:

Straight-line  
%

Plant and machinery 20–33

Short leasehold property 16.7

Amortisation of intangible assets 33

Deferred taxation 
Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the individual financial statements. Deferred income tax is determined using tax 
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the 
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences can be recovered.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the group and it is probable that the temporary difference will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

Tax is recognised within profit except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is 
recognised in equity.

Dividend distribution
Final dividend distribution to the company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability to the company’s financial statements in the 
period in which the dividends are approved by the company’s shareholders. Interim dividends are recognised when paid.

Pension obligations
The company participates in a defined benefit scheme with a subsidiary undertaking and also has a defined contribution plan. 
A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, 
usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation. A defined contribution plan is a 
pension plan under which the group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The group has no legal or constructive 
obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to 
employees’ service in the current and prior periods.

The net asset recognised in the balance sheet in respect of the defined benefit pension plan is the present value of the 
company’s share of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of the company’s share of plan 
assets, together with adjustments for unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past service costs. The defined benefit obligation 
is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit 
obligation is determined by discounting the estimated rates of high quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency 
in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension liability.
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The company recognises the surplus arising on its identifiable share of the deferred benefit scheme to which it belongs, to the 
extent that it has a legal right to do so under the scheme rules. 

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are stated net of bank overdrafts, where the company has a legal right of set off, and includes cash in 
hand and bank deposits repayable on demand.

Trade payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from 
suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal course of 
the business cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value less provision for impairment. They are subsequently held at 
amortised cost less any provision for impairment. The amount of change in provision for impairment is included within the 
income statement. 

Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Any difference between the amount initially 
recognised (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the 
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Commitment and borrowing fees are capitalised as part of the loan and amortised over the life of the relevant agreement. 
All other borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

Borrowings are classified as non-current liabilities where the company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability 
for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events and it is more 
likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount has been reliably estimated. 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and subsequently remeasured at 
fair value at each balance sheet date. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is 
designated as a hedging instrument and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. 

The company designates certain derivatives as either hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities (fair value hedge): 
or hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability, or a highly probable forecast transaction (cash 
flow hedge). 

The company documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items 
and its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in the hedging 
transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values of hedged items.

The fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes are shown in note 10. Movements on the hedging 
reserve are shown within the statement of changes in equity as part of other reserves. The company holds no trading derivatives. 

(a) Fair value hedge
Changes in the fair value of the derivatives that are fully designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income 
statement together with any changes in fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.
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(b) Cash flow hedge
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated to qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised 
in equity. The company’s cash flow hedges which are in respect of cross-currency interest rate swaps, interest rate swaps and 
forward foreign exchange contracts result in the recognition in either profit and loss reserve, reflecting the foreign currency 
translation element, or in the hedging reserve which forms part of other reserves. 

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting any 
cumulative gain or loss in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction ultimately occurs. 
When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity will be 
transferred to the income statement.

(c) Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting.
Changes in the fair value of any derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the 
income statement.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity and are recorded at par value of proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 
Where shares are issued above par value, the proceeds in excess of par value are recorded in the share premium account. 

Share-based payments
In accordance with IFRS 2 ‘Share-based payments’, an expense is recognised in the profit and loss account for the award to 
employees of shares in the company’s UK HMRC approved Sharesave Scheme.

The company operates an Employee Benefit Trust to hold shares in the company for certain of the group’s employees. 
These employees, who are members of the group’s various share-based schemes are entitled to receive shares as compensation 
for their performance. The trust ensures that the obligation of these share issuances to employees through the purchase of the 
shares with finance provided by Berendsen plc or the employee. 

The company accounts for share-based payments as set out on page 130. Detail of the company’s share-based payments 
schemes are set out in full in note 20 of the consolidated financial statements.

Operating leases
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases. 
Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 
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1 Parent company income statement and statement of comprehensive income

a) Profit for the year 
As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the company has not presented its own income statement or 
statement of comprehensive income. The profit of the company for the year attributable to shareholders was £174.9 million 
(2014 restated: £73.6 million profit). 

b) A reconciliation of the restated profit for the year ended 31 December 2014 is as follows:
£m

Reconciliation of profit for the year ending 2014

Profit as previously reported 93.1

Reallocation of hedging exchange differences on fair value investments following a review of hedge accounting 
(note 18) (19.5)

Profit for the year (restated 2014) 73.6

2 Property, plant and equipment
Short  

leasehold 
property  

£m

Plant and 
machinery 

owned  
£m

Total  
£m

Cost

At 1 January 2015 0.3 0.5 0.8

Additions – 0.1 0.1

Disposals – – –

At 31 December 2015 0.3 0.6 0.9

Depreciation

At 1 January 2015 0.3 0.3 0.6

Charge – 0.2 0.2

At 31 December 2015 0.3 0.5 0.8

Net book value

At 31 December 2015 – 0.1 0.1

At 31 December 2014 – 0.2 0.2

3 Intangible assets
Computer 
Software  

£m
Total  

£m

Cost

At 1 January 2015 0.4 0.4

Additions – –

At 31 December 2015 0.4 0.4

Depreciation – –

At 1 January 2015 0.3 0.3

Charge 0.1 0.1

As at 31 December 2015 0.4 0.4

Net book value

As at 31 December 2015 – –

As at 31 December 2014 0.1 0.1
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4 Investments
Interests 
in group 

undertakings 
2015 

£m

Interests 
in group 

undertakings 
2014 

£m

Cost or valuation

As at 1 January 834.3 860.8

Additions 0.1 –

Capitalisation of intercompany loan 93.3 –

Currency translation (26.9) (26.5) 

At 31 December 900.8 834.3

Amounts provided

At 1 January (6.4) (0.9)

Provided in the year – (5.5)

At 31 December (6.4) (6.4)

Net book amount

At 31 December 894.4 827.9

Disclosure of the company’s subsidiaries is given in notes 22 and 32 of the group financial statements.

The directors believe that the carrying value of the investments is supported by their underlying net assets.

During 2014 the company wrote down its investments in non-trading entities to £nil.

5 Other receivables
As at 

31 December 
2015 

£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Current assets:

Amounts due from group undertakings 3.8 10.6

Other receivables 0.4 0.4

Taxation 6.2 7.4

Deferred tax asset 0.2 0.2

Prepayments 0.4 0.3

11.0 18.9

Non-current assets:

Amounts due from group undertakings 125.2 223.1

125.2 223.1

Full disclosures relating to the company’s derivative financial instruments and financial risk management strategies are given in 
notes 10 and 11.

Deferred tax asset comprises deferred tax asset on capital allowances and provisions of £0.2 million (2014: £0.2 million).
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6 Trade and other payables
As at 

31 December 
2015 

£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 (restated) 
£m

Current liabilities:

Overdrafts – 105.9

Trade payables 0.2 –

Amounts owed to group undertakings 8.8 2.8

Other creditors 2.7 2.3

Other tax and social security payable 0.2 0.3

Accruals 4.7 4.8

16.6 116.1

Non-current liabilities

Amounts due from group undertakings 64.7 69.0

64.7 69.0

Full disclosures relating to the company’s derivative financial instruments and financial risk management strategies are given in 
notes 10 and 11.

All creditors are unsecured.

7 Deferred tax
Deferred tax is calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using the tax rate applicable to the territory 
in which the difference arises.

(a) The movement on the net deferred tax account is as shown below:

2015 
£m

2014 
£m

At 1 January (9.7) (0.8)

Charged to income statement (5.2) (10.0)

(Charged)/credited to equity (1.1) 1.1

At 31 December (16.0) (9.7)

The balance sheet presentation shown below is after the offsetting of deferred tax balances within the same tax jurisdiction. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset where there is a legally enforceable right of offset and there is an intention to 
settle the balances net.

Balance sheet presentation
As at  

31 December 
2015  

£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Deferred tax assets

– due after more than one year 0.9 2.0

Deferred tax liabilities 

– due after more than one year (16.9) (11.7)

(16.0) (9.7)
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7 Deferred tax (continued)
(b) The individual movements in deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities, before the offsetting of balances within the same 
jurisdiction, are shown below:

Deferred tax liabilities
Share  

options  
£m

Derivatives  
£m

Other  
£m

Total  
£m

At 1 January 2015 (0.2) (3.8) (7.7) (11.7)

Charged to income statement - (4.8) (0.2) (5.0)

Charged to equity – (0.8) 0.6 (0.2)

At 31 December 2015 (0.2) (9.4) (7.3) (16.9)

Deferred tax assets
Share  

options  
£m

Derivatives  
£m

Other  
£m

Total  
£m

At 1 January 2015 2.0 – – 2.0

Charged to income (0.2) – – (0.2)

Charged to equity (0.9) – – (0.9)

At 31 December 2015 0.9 – – 0.9

Other includes deferred tax balances related to pensions. Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of tax losses and 
other temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax assets where it is considered probable that these assets will be recovered.

8 Pension commitments

Defined contribution schemes 
Pension costs for defined contribution schemes are as follows:

Year to  
31 December 

2015  
£m

Year to 
31 December 

2014  
£m

Defined contribution schemes 0.3 0.2

Defined benefit plans 
The company participates in a defined benefit scheme with a subsidiary undertaking and a defined contribution plan. 
The following describes the UK defined benefit scheme, of which the company is a part. Where separately identifiable , the 
company’s share of the assets and liabilities and other related pension information are separately identified.

Within the United Kingdom, the group now operates only the one registered defined benefit pension scheme (Berendsen DB 
(UK) Retirement Benefits Scheme (formerly known as the Davis Service Group Retirement Benefits Scheme), following a merger 
with the one other smaller scheme on 1 February 2013. The triennial valuation of the newly merged scheme at that date required 
that, as well as the employer contributions for the 110 active members of the scheme, Berendsen continue contributions to cover 
the past service deficit, arising under the technical provisions, of £1.25 million per quarter until August 2015. A further triennial 
valuation is being carried out at 1 February 2016 and once finalised any further contributions required to be made by the company 
will be assessed at the time. This valuation is expected to be in late 2016 and no additional contributions are expected to be made 
by the company in 2016.
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8 Pension commitments (continued)
The level of benefits provided depends on each member’s length of scheme membership and salary in the final years 
leading up to retirement. In the UK plan, the pensions in payment are generally increased by 5% in respect of pre-1 February 
1999 membership, and by the retail price index for membership from that date. Benefit payments are made from trustee 
administered funds. Plan assets are governed by regulations in the UK, as is the nature of the relationship between the group and 
the trustees and their composition. Responsibility for governance of the plan, including investment decisions and contribution 
schedules, lies jointly with the company and the trustees. The trustees must comprise representatives of the company and plan 
members in accordance with legislation. 

The overall surplus on the UK plan £43.8 million, of which £40.2 million is attributable to the company.

At the last valuation date the present value of the defined benefit obligation was comprised of 110 active employees, 1,780 
deferred members and 1,225 members in retirement. 

Expected contributions by the company, including special contributions, to post employment benefit schemes for the year ended 
31 December 2016 are £nil (2015: £3.3 million).

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation in the UK scheme is 17 years (2016: 18 years).

The actuarial valuation of the UK scheme, has been updated as at 31 December 2015 by qualified actuaries using revised 
assumptions that are consistent with the requirements of IAS 19. The principal assumptions made by the actuaries were:

2015 

%
2014 

%

Rate of increase in pensionable salaries 2.8 2.8

Rate of increase in pensions in payment and deferred pensions 2.9 2.9

Discount rate 3.9 3.7

Inflation rate – RPI 3.0 3.0

Inflation rate – CPI 2.0 2.3

Mortality rate
Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are set based on advice, published statistics and experience in each territory. 
The average life expectancy in years of a pensioner retiring at age 65 on the balance sheet date is as follows:

2015 2014

Male 23.3 23.3

Female 24.3 24.2

The average life expectancy in years of a pensioner retiring at age 65, 20 years after the balance sheet date, is as follows:

2015 2014

Male 23.6 23.6

Female 26.2 26.1
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8 Pension commitments (continued)
PLC share  

as at  
31 December 

2015  
£m

Scheme Total  
as at  

31 December 
2015  

£m

PLC share  
as at  

31 December 
2014  

£m

Scheme Total  
as at  

31 December 
2014  

£m

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are determined 
as follows:

Present value of obligations (152.2) (272.7) (159.1) (284.2)

Fair value of plan assets 192.4 316.5 193.7 319.9

Net asset recognised in balance sheet 40.2 43.8 34.6 35.7

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets are as follows:

2015 

%
2014 

%

European equities 13 12

North American equities 5 5

Asia Pacific equities 5 5

European bonds 45 46

Other 32 32

100 100

Other assets consist principally of investments in managed multi-asset growth funds. The company ensures that the investment 
position is managed within a framework that considers the Scheme’s liability profile, funding position, expected return of the 
various asset classes and the need for diversification. Within this framework, the company’s objective is to ensure that sufficiently 
liquid assets are available to meet benefit payments and the Scheme’s assets achieve a return that is consistent with the 
assumptions made by the Trustees in determining the funding of the Scheme. 

A large portion of assets in 2015 consists of equities and bonds, although the Scheme also invests in diversified growth funds and 
a small amount of cash. The majority of equities are invested in a globally diversified portfolio of international blue chip entities 
with a target of 35% UK and 65% overseas. The other growth assets are the diversified growth funds which have a target of 32% 
of the overall portfolio. The remainder of the Scheme’s assets are invested in corporate bonds.

The trustees sought the employer’s agreement to implement a Liability Driven Investment portfolio. This will use specialist assets 
that employ leverage, to match more of the Scheme’s liabilities, for a given asset value, than a conventional bond. This portfolio 
will be implemented when market conditions become more favourable.
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8 Pension commitments (continued)
PLC share  

as at  
31 December 

2015  
£m

Scheme Total  
as at  

31 December 
2015  

£m

PLC share  
as at  

31 December 
2014  

£m

Scheme Total  
as at  

31 December 
2014  

£m

The amounts recognised within profit for the year are as follows:

Current service cost – 0.6 – 0.7

Interest cost 5.8 10.3 6.5 11.5

Return on plan assets (7.2) (11.8) (7.6) (13.4)

Curtailment gain – – – –

Total included within profit (note 1) (1.4) (0.9) (1.1) (1.2)

PLC share  
as at  

31 December 
2015  

£m

Scheme Total  
as at  

31 December 
2015  

£m

PLC share  
as at  

31 December 
2014  

£m

Scheme Total  
as at  

31 December 
2014  

£m

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are 
as follows:

Present value of obligations as at 1 January 159.1 284.2 142.5 253.8

Current service cost – 0.6 – 0.7

Interest cost 5.8 10.3 6.5 11.5

Actuarial (gain)/loss (7.1) (12.6) 15.5 27.7

Benefits paid (5.6) (9.9) (5.4) (9.6)

Contributions by members – 0.1 – 0.1

Present value of obligations as at 31 December 152.2 272.7 159.1 284.2

PLC share  
as at  

31 December 
2015  

£m

Scheme Total  
as at  

31 December 
2015  

£m

PLC share  
as at  

31 December 
2014  

£m

Scheme Total  
as at  

31 December 
2014  

£m

Changes in the fair value of the plan assets are as follows:

Fair value of plan assets as at 1 January 193.7 319.9 178.0 292.0

Return on plan assets 7.2 11.8 7.6 13.4

Employer special contributions 2.5 3.8 3.3 5.0

Contributions – employee and employer – 0.7 – 0.8

Benefits paid (5.6) (9.9) (5.4) (9.6)

(Gain)/Actuarial loss (5.4) (9.8) 10.2 18.3

Fair value of plan assets as at 31 December 192.4 316.5 193.7 319.9
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8 Pension commitments (continued)
Actuarial gains and losses in the year may be further analysed as follows:

PLC share  
as at  

31 December 
2015  

£m

Scheme Total  
as at  

31 December 
2015  

£m

PLC share  
as at  

31 December 
2014  

£m

Scheme Total  
as at  

31 December 
2014  

£m

Return on plan assets (5.4) (9.6) 10.2 18.3

Gain from changes in demographic assumptions – – 5.6 10.0

Gain/(loss) from changes in financial assumptions 7.1 12.4 (21.1) (37.7)

Net actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in the year 1.7 2.8 (5.3) (9.4)

Cumulative actuarial gains and losses recognised in equity
PLC share  

as at  
31 December 

2015  
£m

Scheme Total  
as at  

31 December 
2015  

£m

PLC share  
as at  

31 December 
2014  

£m

Scheme Total  
as at  

31 December 
2014  

£m

1 January (22.7) (30.4) (17.4) (21.0)

Net actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in the year 1.7 2.8 (5.3) (9.4)

31 December (21.0) (27.6) (22.7) (30.4)

The actual return on plan assets was a gain of £2.1 million (2014: gain of £31.7 million).

The pension surplus is recognised in the balance sheet as the company has the right to any surplus after settlement of all liabilities 
under the terms of the trust deed.

Sensitivities
The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the weighted principal assumptions is set out below for the defined 
benefit schemes and unfunded schemes.

Defined benefit scheme
Impact on scheme liability

Change in 
assumption

Increase in 
assumption

Decrease in 
assumption

Discount rate 0.5% (9%) (9%)

Salary growth rate 0.5% 2% (2%)

Pension growth rate 0.5% no change no change

Life expectancy
Change by  

1 year 3% (3%)

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, 
this is unlikely to occur and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined 
benefit to significant actuarial assumptions the same method has been applied when calculating the pension liability recognised 
within the statement of financial position. 
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9 Borrowings

Current

As at 
31 December 

2015 
£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Private placement notes – unsecured 87.7 –

87.7 –

Non-current

As at 
31 December 

2015 
£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Private Placement notes – unsecured 370.1 320.5

Bank loans – unsecured 38.7 142.5

408.8 463.0

Bank loans are denominated in a number of currencies and bear interest based on LIBOR or foreign equivalents appropriate to 
the currency in which the borrowing is incurred together with a margin as appropriate.

The effective interest rates (EIR) for the group’s bank borrowings (including interest rate swaps) by currency at the balance sheet 
date were as follows:

As at 31 December 2015 As at 31 December 2014

£m EIR % £m EIR %

Borrowings under the revolving credit facilities

Euro – – 11.0 0.94

Danish krone – – 52.5 1.14

Swedish krona 40.1 0.18 79.8 1.11

40.1 0.18 143.3 1.11

Borrowings under the private placement (2006)

Euro 55.3 4.52 58.7 4.52

Danish krone 12.2 4.63 13.0 4.63

Swedish krona 56.5 4.49 58.1 4.49

Currency translation 11.1 – (1.0) –

135.1 4.52 128.8 4.52

Borrowings under the private placement (2009)

Sterling 25.0 5.74 25.0 5.74

Euro 127.3 5.22 135.2 5.22

Currency translation 47.6 – 31.5 –

199.9 5.30 191.7 5.30

Borrowings under the private placement (2015)

Euro 58.7 2.03 – –

Danish krone 64.6 2.21 – –

123.3 2.12 – –

Unamortised loan costs (1.9) – (0.8) –

496.5 3.72 463.0 3.68
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9 Borrowings (continued)
On 19 March 2015, the company refinanced its existing revolving credit facility for €535 million to a new revolving credit facility for 
€510 million. This facility expires on 19 March 2020.

On 19 February 2015, the company issued further private placement notes to existing US investors for DKK 654.8 million and 
€79.7 million repayable in 2025 at fixed coupon rate.

In December 2009, the company issued private placement notes of US$259 million and £25 million. The US$259 million was 
immediately swapped into euros.

In May 2006, the company issued private placement notes of US$250 million which were immediately swapped into a basket 
of Danish krone, Swedish krona and euros. In 2014, US$50 million private placement notes and the associated Danish krone swap 
were repaid.

For further details of the company’s derivative financial instruments against its borrowings see note 10.

As underlying currencies have been swapped from US dollars via derivative contracts, the company has a gain on financial 
instruments (see note 10) which is offset by the currency translation loss on the underlying borrowings noted above. 
The borrowing under the US private placements of £336.0 million reflects the £25 million, the US$459 million translated 
at the year end sterling to dollar rate.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
As at 31 December 2015 As at 31 December 2014

Book value  
£m

Fair value  
£m

Book value  
£m

Fair value  
£m

Long-term borrowings (408.8) (433.5) (463.0) (490.3)

Fair value of other financial assets and liabilities:

Short-term borrowings (87.7) (87.7) – –

Trade and other payables (note 6) (2.9) (2.9) (2.3) (2.3)

Other receivables (note 5) 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4

Cash at bank and in hand 56.0 56.0 1.6 1.6

The fair value of the company’s fixed rate loans are based on available market information at the balance sheet date and 
are calculated by discounting expected future cash flows using the appropriate yield curve. The book values of floating rate 
borrowings approximate their fair value.

All financial instruments are in level 2 of the IFRS 13 fair value hierarchy. Fair value for financial instruments held at amortised cost 
has been estimated by discounting cash flows at prevailing interest rates and by applying year end exchange rates.

Maturity of financial liabilities
As at 

31 December 
2015 

Borrowings 
£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
Borrowings 

£m

Within one year 87.7 –

In more than one year but not more than two years – 226.3

Over two years but not more than five years 218.4 172.4

Over five years 190.4 64.3

496.5 463.0
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9 Borrowings (continued)

Borrowing facilities 
The company has the following undrawn committed borrowing facilities available at 31 December and on which it incurs 
commitment fees at market rates:

As at 
31 December 

2015 
£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Expiring in more than one year but not more than two years – 255.7

Expiring in over two years but not more than five years 335.6 –

335.6 255.7

10 Derivative financial instruments
The derivatives we have used qualify for one or more hedge type designations under IAS 39. The fair values of the 
company’s derivatives have been determined based on available market information at the balance sheet date and the 
following methodologies:

 a the fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts are calculated by discounting the contracted forward values and 
translating at the balance sheet rates; and

 a the fair value of both interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps are calculated by discounting expected future 
principal and interest cash flows derived from appropriate yield curves.

The fair value measurements of the derivatives are classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as defined by IFRS 13: Fair 
value measurement.

The fair value and the notional amounts by designated hedge type are as follows:

As at 31 December 2015 As at 31 December 2014

Assets 
fair value 

£m

Liabilities 
fair value 

£m
Notional 

£m

Assets 
fair value 

£m

Liabilities 
fair value 

£m
Notional 

£m

Cash flow hedges

Cross-currency interest rate swaps 38.9 – 310.0 20.1 – 295.5

Forward foreign exchange contracts 0.6 – 31.7 0.4 – 21.9

39.5 – 20.5 –

Fair value hedges

Cross-currency interest rate swaps 28.2 (11.2) 310.8 20.0 (18.0) 328.5

28.2 (11.2) 20.0 (18.0)

Total 67.7 (11.2) 40.5 (18.0)
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10 Derivative financial instruments (continued)
The maturity of all derivative financial instruments is as follows (excluding break clauses):

As at 31 December 2015 As at 31 December 2014

In one 
year  

or less
1–2  

years
2–3  

years
3–4 

years
4–5  

years
Over 5 

years

In one 
year  

or less
1–2  

years
2–3  

years
3–4 

years
4–5  

years
Over 5  

years

Cash flow hedges

Asset 13.1 – 11.6 8.3 – 6.5 0.4 8.7 – 8.3 2.2 0.9

Liability – – – – – – – – – – – –

Fair value hedges

Asset 3.2 – – 14.2 – 10.8 (0.2) 2.5 – – 10.1 7.6

Liability (5.3) – (5.9) – – – (0.6) (8.3) – (9.1) – –

Total

Asset 16.3 – 11.6 22.5 – 17.3 0.2 11.2 – 8.3 12.3 8.5

Liability (5.3) – (5.9) – – – (0.6) (8.3) – (9.1) – –

The company’s derivative financial instrument contracts include break clauses which may be exercised at the discretion of the 
company’s counterparties ahead of maturity. Were these break clauses to be enforced then the maturity of derivative financial 
instruments existing at the balance sheet date would be as follows:

As at 31 December 2015 As at 31 December 2014

In one 
year  

or less
1–2  

years
2–3  

years
3–4 

years
4–5  

years
Over 5 

years

In one 
year  

or less
1–2  

years
2–3  

years
3–4 

years
4–5  

years

Over  
5  

years

Cash flow hedges

Asset 24.8 3.1 – 11.1 – 0.5 0.4 16.9 0.6 – 2.1 0.5

Liability – – – – – – – – – – – –

Fair value hedges

Asset 3.2 5.4 – 19.1 – 0.5 (0.3) 2.6 3.8 – 13.4 0.5

Liability (11.2) – – – – – (0.6) (17.3) – – – –

Total

Asset 28.0 8.5 – 30.2 – 1.0 0.1 19.5 4.4 – 15.5 1.0

Liability (11.2) – – – – – (0.6) (17.3) – – – –

Background
At 31 December 2015, the company has in issue US$459 million long-term senior guarantee notes under private placements in 
the US which have been swapped into other currencies: Danish krone, Swedish krona and euro. In May 2006 the company placed 
US$250 million at fixed rates for periods between eight and 12 years, in 2014 US$50 million of this debt was repaid. In December 
2009 the company undertook a further placement of US$259 million at fixed rates for periods between seven and 12 years. 
In both placements the foreign currency amounts were immediately swapped into other currencies: Danish krone, Swedish krona 
and euros. This is to offset the foreign exchange rate exposure arising on the company’s foreign currency assets. 

The conversion from US dollars into currency was achieved in two stages. In the first stage swaps were taken out to convert US 
dollars to sterling. All of these swaps have been designated as cash flow hedges, with the exception of one swap from the 2006 
placement, which has been designated as a fair value hedge, this swap was repaid in 2014. In the second stage further swaps 
were taken out to convert sterling to the required currencies. These have been designated as fair value hedges. 

The fixed interest rate cross-currency contracts entered into have options exercisable by either party to terminate after five years 
and ten years if relevant. The value of the swap at the time would then be cash settled.

During the year in accordance with group policy, the company entered into several forward foreign exchange contracts on behalf 
of related undertakings for the purchase of US dollars in the future at fixed rates. These forward contracts reduce the foreign 
exchange exposure on the procurement of textiles and capital equipment from Far East suppliers. 
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10 Derivative financial instruments (continued)

Cash flow hedges
The derivative asset recognised on these 15 instruments is £38.9 million, of which the currency component is a gain of 
£14.5 million and a gain of £4.3 million taken to the hedging reserve.

The total exchange component of the cash flow hedge derivatives movement has been accounted for within the statement of 
comprehensive income (£14.5 million gain). The £4.3 million gain has been taken to the hedging reserve and will be continuously 
released to the income statement until the repayment of the private placement.

The forward foreign exchange contracts have resulted in the recognition of a derivative asset of £0.6 million (2014: derivative asset 
of £0.4 million). 

Fair value hedges
The second stage of the US private placement swaps results in sterling being exchanged into Danish krone, Swedish krona and 
euros. At 31 December 2015 the fixed rate borrowings vary between rates of 4.45% and 5.57% on the fixed European swaps.

These swaps are accounted for as hedges of the company’s assets in the relevant countries. The movement on the derivative 
asset arising has been accounted for as a component part of currency translation (£14.9 million gain).

The company’s borrowings under its revolving credit facilities are designated as a hedge of its European operations. The carrying 
value of the borrowings as at 31 December 2015 was £40.1 million (2014: £143.3 million). The foreign exchange gain of £8.9 million 
on translation is taken to the income statement as a component part of currency translation. 

The further issue of US private placement notes in February 2015 for DKK 654.8 million and €79.7 million are also designated as 
a hedge of its European operations. The carrying value of the borrowings as at 31 December 2015 was £123.3 million. The foreign 
exchange gain of £0.7 million on translation from inception is taken to the income statement.

11 Financial risk management
11.1 Financial risk factors
The company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk; fair value interest rate risk 
and cash flow interest rate risk); credit risk and liquidity risk. The company’s overall risk management programmes focus on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the company’s financial performance. 
The company uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures.

Risk management is carried out by the group finance team under the supervision of the Chief Financial Officer under policies 
approved by the board of directors. The Chief Financial Officer identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-
operation with the group’s operating units. The board approves written principles for foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and 
credit risk, and the use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments, and receives regular reports on 
such matters.

a) Market risk

i) Foreign exchange risk
The company is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from currency exposure on its foreign currency denominated 
investments in related undertakings, primarily with respect to the Euro, Swedish krona and Danish krone. Borrowings and 
derivatives are arranged in currencies to provide a hedge against these investments. These borrowings and derivative hedges are 
classified as cash flow and fair value hedges.
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11.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
During 2015 and 2014, derivative financial instruments were used to manage foreign currency risk as follows:

As at 31 December 2015

Sterling  
£m

Euro  
£m

US dollar  
£m

Danish  
krone  

£m

Swedish  
krona  

£m
Other  

£m
Total  

£m

Cash and cash equivalents 55.5 0.1 0.4 – – – 56.0

Bank overdrafts – – – – – – –

Net cash and cash equivalents 55.5 0.1 0.4 – – – 56.0

Inter-company receivables 64.9 38.1 – – – 22.2 125.2

Inter-company payables – – – (64.7) – – (64.7)

Net inter-company 64.9 38.1 – (64.7) – 22.2 60.5

Borrowings (note 9) (23.1) (64.6) (310.0) (58.7) (40.1) – (496.5)

Pre-derivative position 97.3 (26.4) (309.6) (123.4) (40.1) 22.2 (380.0)

Derivative effect (note 10) (0.1) (185.1) 310.0 (12.3) (56.7) – 55.8

Post-derivative position 97.2 (211.5) 0.4 (135.7) (96.8) 22.2 (324.2)

As at 31 December 2014

Sterling  
£m

Euro  
£m

US dollar  
£m

Danish  
krone  

£m

Swedish  
krona  

£m
Other  

£m
Total  

£m

Cash and cash equivalents 0.6 0.8 0.1 0.1 – – 1.6

Bank overdrafts (120.4) (41.7) – 2.5 43.2 10.5 (105.9)

Net cash and cash equivalents (119.8) (40.9) 0.1 2.6 43.2 10.5 (104.3)

Inter-company receivables 158.2 39.9 – – – 25.0 223.1

Inter-company payables – – – (69.0) – – (69.0)

Net inter-company 158.2 39.9 – (69.0) – 25.0 154.1

Borrowings (note 9) (24.2) (11.0) (295.5) (52.5) (79.8) – (463.0)

Pre-derivative position 14.2 (12.0) (295.4) (118.9) (36.6) 35.5 (413.2)

Derivative effect (note 10) – (201.6) 295.5 (13.1) (58.6) – 22.2

Post-derivative position 14.2 (213.6) 0.1 (132.0) (95.2) 35.5 (391.0)

The exposure to euro, Swedish krona and Danish krone largely relate to our net investment hedge activities as described and 
shown in note 10.

Berendsen plc  
Report and Accounts 2015

204 Notes to the parent company financial statements (continued)



11.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The company’s interest bearing assets include cash and cash equivalents which earn interest at floating rates. 

The company’s interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings, including inter-company borrowings. Borrowings issued at 
variable rates expose the company to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the group to fair value 
interest rate risk. Company policy is to maintain a majority of its borrowings at fixed rate using cross-currency interest rate swaps 
to achieve this when necessary. During 2015 and 2014, the company’s borrowings at variable rate were denominated in sterling, 
euro, Swedish krona and Danish krone.

The following table sets out the carrying amount, by contractual repricing date (or maturity where there is no repricing), of fixed 
rate borrowings that are exposed to interest rate risk before taking into account cross-currencyinterest rate swaps:

As at 
31 December 

2015 
£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Fixed interest rate borrowings

In one year or less 87.7 –

In more than one year, but not more than two years – 83.0

In more than two years but not more than five years 178.3 172.4

In more than five years 190.4 64.3

456.4 319.7

Floating interest rate borrowings 40.1 143.3

Total external borrowings 496.5 463.0

Floating interest rate inter-company borrowings 64.7 (69.0)

During 2015 and 2014, net debt was managed using derivative instruments to hedge interest rate risk as follows:

As at 31 December 2015 As at 31 December 2014

Fixed-rate  
£m

Floating-rate 
£m

Total  
£m

Fixed-rate  
£m

Floating-rate 
£m

Total  
£m 

Cash and cash equivalents – 56.0 56.0 – 1.6 1.6

Bank overdrafts – – – – (105.9) (105.9)

Inter-company receivables 64.9 60.3 125.2 158.2 64.9 223.1

Inter-company payables – (64.7) (64.7) – (69.0) (69.0)

Borrowings (456.4) (40.1) (496.5) (319.7) (143.3) (463.0)

Pre-derivative net debt position (391.5) 11.5 (380.0) (161.5) (251.7) (413.2)

Derivative effect (note i) 55.8 – 55.8 22.2 – 22.2

Post-derivative net debt position (335.7) 11.5 (324.2) (139.3) (251.7) (391.0)

(i) Excludes the forward foreign exchange contract derivatives.

b) Credit risk
Credit risk is managed on a group or local basis as appropriate. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative 
financial instruments and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to customers, including 
outstanding receivables and committed transactions.

The majority of banks and financial institutions are independently rated parties with a minimum rating of ‘A’. 
Management monitors the utilisation of credit limits regularly.
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11.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Treasury related credit risk
Counterparty risk arises from the investment of surplus funds and from use of derivative instruments.

As at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014, we had a number of exposures to individual counterparties. In accordance with 
our treasury policies and exposure management practices, counterparty credit exposure limits are continually monitored and 
no individual exposure is considered significant in the ordinary course of treasury management activity. Management does not 
expect any significant losses from non-performance by these counterparties.

The total counterparty exposure under all financial assets including trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents and 
derivative financial contracts were £124.1 million (2014: £(63.4) million). The company does not hold any collateral as security. 

c) Liquidity risk
Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating entities of the group and is aggregated by group finance. Group finance 
monitors rolling forecasts of the company’s liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs 
while maintaining sufficient headroom on its undrawn committed borrowing facilities (note 9) at all times so that the company 
does not breach borrowing limits or covenants (where applicable) on any of its borrowing facilities. Such forecasting takes into 
consideration the company’s debt financing plans, covenant compliance, and compliance with internal balance sheet ratio targets.

The table below analyses the company’s financial liabilities, excluding break clauses, which will be settled on a net basis into 
relative maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet to the contract maturity date. The amounts 
disclosed in the table are contractual undiscounted cash flows using spot interest and foreign exchange rates at 31 December 
2015. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of the discount is not significant.

As at 31 December 2015

Due within  
one year  

£m

Due between 
one and  

two years  
£m

Due between 
two and  

five years  
£m

Due five years 
and beyond 

£m Total £m

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Borrowings 87.7 – 218.4 190.4 496.5

Interest payments on borrowings 4.1 4.1 10.9 10.8 29.9

Inter-company payables – – – 64.7 64.7

Interest payments on inter-company payables 2.3 2.3 6.8 11.3 22.7

Other non-interest bearing liabilities 6.2 – – – 6.2

Derivative financial liabilities

Derivative contracts – payments 10.5 8.7 15.6 2.6 37.4

Total at 31 December 2015 110.8 15.1 251.7 279.8 657.4

As at 31 December 2014

Due within  
one year  

£m

Due between 
one and  

two years  
£m

Due between 
two and  

five years  
£m

Due five years 
and beyond 

£m Total £m

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Borrowings – 226.3 172.4 64.3 463.0

Interest payments on borrowings 3.0 2.3 4.3 – 9.6

Inter-company payables – – – 69.0 69.0

Interest payments on inter-company payables 2.4 2.4 7.2 14.5 26.5

Other non-interest bearing liabilities 5.9 – – – 5.9

Derivative financial liabilities

Derivative contracts – payments 12.9 11.1 22.9 5.5 52.4

Total at 31 December 2014 24.2 242.1 206.8 153.3 626.4
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11.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

d) Sensitivity analysis
Financial instruments affected by market risk include borrowings, deposits and derivative financial instruments. The following 
analysis is intended to illustrate the sensitivity to changes in market variables, being UK, euro, Swedish krona and Danish krone 
interest rates and sterling exchange rate on our financial instruments. We have excluded from this analysis the impact of 
movements in market variables on the carrying values of trade receivables and payables, since these are not exposed to risk from 
the market variables.

This analysis excludes the impact of movements in market variables on the carrying value of pension and other post-retirement 
obligations, provisions and on the non-financial assets of the company.

The sensitivity analysis has been prepared on the basis that the amount of net debt, the ratio of fixed to floating interest rates of 
the debt and derivatives portfolio and the proportion of financial instruments in foreign currencies are all constant and on the 
basis of the hedge designations in place at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014. As a consequence, this sensitivity analysis 
relates to the positions at those dates and is not representative of the years then ended, as all of these varied.

The following assumptions were made in calculating the sensitivity analysis:

 a financial derivatives in fair value hedging relationship will not influence interest or foreign exchange sensitivity analysis;

 a the sensitivity of accrued interest to movements in interest rates is calculated on net floating rate exposures on debt, deposits 
and derivative instruments;

 a the sensitivity of accrued interest to movements in interest rates is recorded fully within the income statement; and

 a changes in the carrying value of financial instruments from movements in exchange rates are recorded fully within equity.

The following table shows the company’s exposure to foreign exchange risk as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014, 
which is a result of increase/decrease of 10% movement in foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of foreign currency 
denominated borrowings. 

As at 
31 December 

2015 
Equity 

£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
Equity 

£m

Euro exchange rate +10% 19.2 19.4

Euro exchange rate –10% (23.5) (23.7)

Danish krone exchange rate +10% 12.3 12.0

Danish krone exchange rate –10% (15.1) (14.7)

Swedish krona exchange rate +10% 8.8 8.7

Swedish krona exchange rate –10% (10.8) (10.6)

The table below shows the sensitivity of post-tax profit to interest rates as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014, due to an 
increase/decrease in interest rates of 100 basis points (bp) with all other variables held constant. Post-tax profit for the year would 
have been mainly affected through interest expense on floating rate cash and cash equivalents and borrowings.

As at 
31 December 

2015 
Income 

statement 
£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
Income 

statement 
£m

UK interest rates +100bp 0.6 (1.2)

UK interest rates –100bp (0.6) 1.2

Euro interest rates +100bp – (0.5)

Euro interest rates –100bp – 0.5

Danish krone interest rates +100bp – (0.5)

Danish krone interest rates –100bp – 0.5

Swedish krona interest rates +100bp (0.4) (0.4)

Swedish krona interest rates –100bp 0.4 0.4
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11.2 Capital management
The company’s objectives when managing its capital structure are to safeguard the company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, to provide appropriate returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return 
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or take other steps to increase share capital or reduce debt.

The company manages its capital structure using a number of measures and taking into account its future strategic plans. 
Such measures include its net interest cover and leverage ratios, which are included in its banking covenants. The company 
continues to remain compliant with all its banking covenants.

Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the balance sheet plus net debt. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings 
(including ‘current and non-current borrowings’ as shown in the balance sheet) less cash and cash equivalents.

As at 
31 December 

2015 
£m

As at 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Total borrowings 496.5 463.0

Less cash and cash equivalents (56.0) 104.3

Net debt 440.5 567.3

Total equity 589.6 471.1

Total capital 1,030.1 1,038.4

11.3 Fair value estimation
The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have been defined 
as follows:

 a Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);

 a Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as 
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2); and

 a Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (Level 3). 

The following table presents the group’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31 December 2015:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Derivatives used for hedging

Cross-currency interest rate swaps – 67.1 – 67.1

Forward foreign exchange contracts – 0.6 – 0.6

Total assets – 67.7 – 67.7

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Liabilities

Derivatives used for hedging

Cross-currency interest rate swaps – (11.2) – (11.2)

Forward foreign exchange contracts – – – –

Total liabilities – (11.2) – (11.2)
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11.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
The following table presents the group’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31 December 2014:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Derivatives used for hedging

Cross-currency interest rate swaps – 40.1 – 40.1

Forward foreign exchange contracts – 0.4 – 0.4

Total assets – 40.5 – 40.5

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Liabilities

Derivatives used for hedging

Cross-currency interest rate swaps – (18.0) – (18.0)

Forward foreign exchange contracts – – – –

Total liabilities – (18.0) – (18.0)

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is 
determined by using valuation techniques. The valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is 
available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are 
observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Specific techniques used to value financial instruments include:

 a quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments;

 a the fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows based on observable 
yield curves;

 a the fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange rates at the balance sheet date, 
with the resulting value discounted back to present value; and

 a other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to determine fair value for the remaining 
financial instruments.
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11.4 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
a) Financial assets 
The following financial assets are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements:

Related amounts not set off in 
the balance sheet

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial assets

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial 
liabilities set off 
in the balance 

sheet

Net amounts of 
financial assets 

presented in 
the balance 

sheet
Financial 

instruments
Cash collateral 

received Net amount

At 31 December 2015

Derivative financial assets 67.7 – 67.7 (11.2) – 56.5

Cash and cash equivalents 56.0 – 56.0 – – 56.0

Total 123.7 – 123.7 (11.2) – 112.5

Related amounts not set off in 
the balance sheet

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial assets

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial 
liabilities set off 
in the balance 

sheet

Net amounts of 
financial assets 

presented in 
the balance 

sheet
Financial 

instruments
Cash collateral 

received Net amount

At 31 December 2014

Derivative financial assets 40.5 – 40.5 (18.0) – 22.5

Cash and cash equivalents 1.6 (105.9) (104.3) – – (104.3)

Total 42.1 (105.9) (63.8) (18.0) – (81.8)
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11.4 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

b) Financial liabilities
The following financial liabilities are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements:

Related amounts not set off in 
the balance sheet

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial 
liabilities

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial assets 
set off in the 

balance sheet

Net amounts 
of financial 

liabilities 
presented in 
the balance 

sheet
Financial 

instruments

Cash  
collateral 
received Net amount

At 31 December 2015

Derivative financial liabilities (11.2) – (11.2) 11.2 – –

Bank overdrafts – – – – – –

Total (11.2) – (11.2) 11.2 – –

Related amounts not set off in 
the balance sheet

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial 
liabilities

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial assets 
set off in the 

balance sheet

Net amounts 
of financial 

liabilities 
presented in 
the balance 

sheet
Financial 

instruments

Cash  
collateral 
received Net amount

At 31 December 2014

Derivative financial liabilities (18.0) – (18.0) 18.0 – –

Bank overdrafts (105.9) 105.9 – – – –

Total (123.9) 105.9 (18.0) 18.0 – –

For the financial assets and liabilities subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or similar arrangements above, each 
agreement between the company and the counterparty allows for net settlement of the relevant financial assets and liabilities 
when both elect to settle on a net basis. In the absence of such an election, financial assets and liabilities will be settled on a gross 
basis, however, each party to the master netting agreement or similar agreement will have the option to settle all such amounts 
on a net basis in the event of default of the other party. Per the terms of each agreement, an event of default includes failure by a 
party to make payment when due; failure by a party to perform any obligation required by the agreement (other than payment) 
if such failure is not remedied within a period of 30 to 60 days after notice of such failure is given to the party; or bankruptcy.

12 Share capital
Ordinary 

shares 
millions

 Ordinary 
shares 

£m

Allotted and fully paid

At 1 January 2015 172.6 51.8

Allotted in respect of share option schemes – –

At 31 December 2015 172.6 51.8
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13 Cash flow from operating activities
Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash inflow from operating activities:

Cash generated from operations

Year to  
31 December 

2015 
£m

Year to 
31 December 

2014 
£m

Profit for the year (note 1) 174.9 73.6

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 0.3 0.3

Taxation (5.4) (8.3)

Finance income 19.9 21.3

Finance costs (5.2) (4.9)

Special pension contribution payments (2.5) (3.3)

Decrease in other receivables 9.6 15.7

Increase /(decrease) in trade payable and other payables 6.6 (10.3)

(Decrease)/increase in accruals and deferred income (0.2) 0.7

Currency retranslation 10.1 4.8

Investment write down (note 4) – 5.5

Dividend income (200.5) (94.8)

Other – 7.1

Cash generated from operations 7.6 7.4

14 Contingent liabilities
The company has guaranteed the liabilities of its subsidiaries, Berendsen Ireland Holdings Limited, Berendsen Ireland Limited and 
Steri-Tex Limited pursuant to Section 357 of the Irish Companies Act 2014.

The company has considered the fair value of this arrangement under IAS 39 and assessed the value to be nil. This is due to the 
profitable nature of the underlying business and a considerable financial deposit held by the company from the Irish subsidiaries.

15 Operating lease commitments – minimum lease payments
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2015
Land and 
buildings  

£m

2014
Land and 
buildings  

£m

Within one year 0.2 0.3

0.2 0.3

16 Related party transactions
Other than for key management compensation and transactions with group undertakings, there are no related party transactions. 
See note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.
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17 Reconciliation of net assets under UK GAAP to IFRS as at 1 January 2014

As at 1 January 2014

UK GAAP as 
previously 

reported 
(reformatted 

for IFRS 
purposes) 

£m

IFRS 
adjustments 

and 
reallocations  

£m

Restated  
under IFRS  

£m

Assets

Investments 845.8 14.1 1 859.9

Intangible assets – 0.1 2 0.1

Property, plant and equipment 0.5 (0.1) 2 0.4

Deferred tax asset 7.7 7.7

Derivative financial instruments 21.0 21.0

Pension scheme surplus – 35.5 3 35.5

Other receivables 216.1 69.4 4 285.5

Total non-current assets 1,091.1 1,210.1

Derivative financial instruments 1.8 1.8

Other receivables 30.1 30.1

Cash and cash equivalents 0.1 0.1

Total current assets 32.0 32.0

Liabilities

Borrowings – (30.8) 4 (30.8)

Derivative financial instruments (6.9) (6.9)

Trade and other payables (113.9) (8.3) 4 (122.2)

Total current liabilities (120.8) (159.9)

Net current liabilities (88.8) (127.9)

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings (468.5) 30.8 4 (437.7)

Derivative financial instruments (33.2) (33.2)

Deferred tax liabilities (0.9) (7.6) 3 (8.5)

Provisions (2.5) (2.5)

Other payables (79.6) (61.1) 4 (140.7)

Total non-current liabilities (584.7) (622.6)

Net assets 417.6 459.6

Equity

Share capital 51.8 51.8

Share premium 99.2 99.2

Other reserves 18.4 18.4

Capital redemption reserve 150.9 150.9

Retained earnings 97.3 42.0 1,3 139.3

Total equity 417.6 459.6

1)  Reallocation of exchange differences on fair value hedged investments following a review of hedge accounting.

2)  Reallocation on intangible assets previously reported within property plant and equipment.

3)  Recognition of pension surplus within non current assets and deferred tax thereon.

4)  Ageing allocation of external borrowings and intercompany balances to better reflect the nature of these balances.

213

Strateg
ic rep

o
rt

G
overnance

Financial statem
ents

Berendsen plc  
Report and Accounts 2015



18 Reconciliation of net assets under UK GAAP to IFRS as at 31 December 2014

As at 31 December 2014

UK GAAP as 
previously 

reported 
(reformatted 

for IFRS 
purposes) 

£m

IFRS
adjustments

and
reallocations

£m

Restated  
under IFRS  

£m

Assets

Investments 805.7 22.2 1 827.9

Intangible assets – 0.1 2 0.1

Property, plant and equipment 0.3 (0.1) 2 0.2

Deferred tax asset 2.0 2.0

Derivative financial instruments 40.3 40.3

Pension scheme surplus – 34.6 3 34.6

Other receivables 156.7 66.4 4 223.1

Total non-current assets 1,005.0 1,128.2

Derivative financial instruments 0.2 0.2

Other receivables 14.9 4.0 4 18.9

Cash and cash equivalents 1.6 1.6

Total current assets 16.7 20.7

Liabilities

Borrowings – –

Derivative financial instruments (0.6) (0.6)

Trade and other payables (113.4) (2.7) 4 (116.1)

Total current liabilities (114.0) (116.7)

Net current liabilities (97.3) (96.0)

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings (463.0) (463.0)

Derivative financial instruments (17.4) (17.4)

Deferred tax liabilities (4.0) (7.7) 3 (11.7)

Provisions – –

Other payables (1.2) (67.8) 4 (69.0)

Total non-current liabilities (485.6) (561.1)

Net assets 422.1 471.1

Equity

Share capital 51.8 51.8

Share premium 99.4 99.4

Other reserves 13.5 13.5

Capital redemption reserve 150.9 150.9

Retained earnings 106.5 49.0 1,3 155.5

Total equity 422.1 471.1

1)  Reallocation of exchange differences on fair value hedged investments following a review of hedge accounting.

2)  Reallocation on intangible assets previously reported within property plant and equipment.

3)  Recognition of pension surplus within non current assets and deferred tax thereon.

4)  Ageing allocation of external borrowings and intercompany balances to better reflect the nature of these balances.
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2015 
£m

2014 
£m

2013 
£m

2012* 
Restated  

£m
2011 
£m

Revenue 1,006.0 1,038.6 1,054.2 985.1 992.0

Operating profit 132.1 137.2 135.0 117.3 107.3

Analysed as:

Operating profit before exceptional items and 
amortisation of customer contracts 153.8 158.7 158.9 142.4 139.8

Exceptional items (7.3) – 1.8 – (8.5)

Amortisation of customer contracts (14.4) (21.5) (25.7) (25.1) (24.0)

Operating profit 132.1 137.2 135.0 117.3 107.3

Finance costs (20.7) (23.1) (25.0) (27.8) (29.7)

Finance income 2.0 2.9 2.4 2.2 1.7

Profit before taxation 113.4 117.0 112.4 91.7 79.3

Taxation (24.5) (27.1) (27.2) (21.3) (21.8)

Profit for the year 88.9 89.9 85.2 70.4 57.5

Profit attributable to non-controlling interest 0.2 0.3 0.5 0.5 0.5

Profit attributable to owners of parent company 88.7 89.6 84.7 69.9 57.0

88.9 89.9 85.2 70.4 57.5

Shareholders’ equity 519.0 500.2 526.2 489.2 454.1

Earnings per share expressed in pence per share

– Basic 51.9 52.6 49.8 41.3 33.8

– Adjusted 60.4 62.1 59.8 50.7 48.4

Dividend per ordinary share expressed in pence 31.5 30.0 28.0 25.5 23.4

Dividend times covered –  on profit attributable to 
owners of parent company 1.6 1.8 1.8 1.6 1.4

– on adjusted earnings 1.9 2.1 2.1 2.0 2.1

 * 2012 restated for impact of IAS19 Employee Benefits reducing EPS by 1.5p. Earlier years have not been restated.
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Advisers
Stockbrokers JPMorgan Cazenove

HSBC

Solicitors Slaughter and May

Auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors, London

Registrars Equiniti

Financial calendar – 2016
Final results announced 26 February

Annual General Meeting 28 April

Interim results announced 29 July

Dividend calendar – 2016
Final dividend: Interim dividend:

Ex-Dividend date 7 April 8 September

Record date 8 April 9 September

Dividend paid 6 May 7 October

Shareholder information
Enquiries relating to shareholders, such as queries concerning notification of change of address, dividend payments and lost 
share certificates, should be made to the company’s registrars. The company has a share account, management and dealing 
facility for all shareholders via Equiniti Limited Shareview. This offers shareholders secure access to their account details held on 
the share register to amend address information and payment instructions directly, as well as providing a simple and convenient 
way of buying and selling the company’s ordinary shares. For internet services visit www.shareview.co.uk or the investor relations 
sections of the company’s website www.berendsen.com. The Shareview Dealing service is also available by telephone on  
03456 037037 between 8.00 am and 4.30 pm, Monday to Friday (excluding Bank Holidays).

The best way to ensure that dividends are received as quickly as possible is to instruct the company’s registrars to pay them 
directly into a bank or building society account; tax vouchers are then mailed to shareholders separately. This method also 
avoids the risk of dividend cheques being delayed or lost in the post. Dividend mandate forms are available from the registrars, 
either from their website www.shareview.co.uk or by telephone on the Equiniti General Shareholder Helpline number below. 

Calling from the UK: 0371 384 2179 or if calling from overseas: +44 (0) 121 415 7047

Lines are open 8.30am to 5.30pm, Monday to Friday (excluding Bank Holidays).

Website
Financial information about the company, including Annual Reports, public announcements and share price data, is available 
from the company’s website at www.berendsen.com, which also contains further information about the group and links  
to the websites of its subsidiaries.
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www.berendsen.com

Registered office: 

Berendsen plc 
4 Grosvenor Place  
London SW1X 7DL 

Registered number: 1480047 

Telephone: 020 7259 6663  
E-mail: reception@berendsen.eu 


	Front cover
	Strategic report
	Chief Executive Officer’s introduction
	Unlocking our world of opportunity
	Our business model
	Business line review
	Hospitality
	Healthcare
	Workwear
	Facility

	Risk management
	Principal risks and uncertainties
	Key performance indicators
	Financial review
	Corporate responsibility
	Stakeholder engagement
	People and Health and Safety
	Innovative and efficient solutions
	A responsible supply chain
	Operational environmental efficiency


	Governance
	Chairman’s address
	Board of directors
	The Executive Board
	Corporate governance statement
	Leadership
	Effectiveness
	Accountability

	Report on directors’ remuneration
	Annual statement
	Policy report
	Annual report on remuneration
	Schedules to the annual report (unaudited unless otherwise indicated)

	Directors’ report
	Directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements

	Financial statements
	Independent auditors’ report to the members of Berendsen plc
	Consolidated income statement
	Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
	Consolidated balance sheet
	Consolidated cash flow statement
	Consolidated statement of changes in equity
	Accounting policies to the consolidated financial statements
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements
	Independent auditors’ report to the members of Berendsen plc
	Parent company balance sheet
	Parent company cash flow statement
	Parent company statement of changes in equity
	Accounting policies to the parent company financial statements
	Notes to the parent company financial statements
	Group five year record

	Shareholder information



